
 

  REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 

City of Black Hawk City Council 
211 Church Street, Black Hawk, CO 

December 10, 2014 
     3:00 p.m. 

 
 
 
RINGING OF THE BELL: 

1. CALL TO ORDER: 
RECESS: 
PRESENTATION & RECEPTION:  Retirement of Jeffrey Young, IT Director  
RECONVENE: 

2. ROLL CALL & PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE: 

3. AGENDA CHANGES: 

4. CONFLICTS OF INTEREST: (Council disclosures are on file w/City Clerk & Sec. of State) 

5. PUBLIC COMMENT: Please limit comments to 5 minutes 

(Notify the City Clerk if you wish to address Council on items not on the agenda) 

6. APPROVAL OF MINUTES: November 12, 2014 

7. PUBLIC HEARINGS: 

A. Recreational Marijuana Center Business License Application – 5B1S, LLC, 
d/b/a 1859 at 231 Gregory Street 

B. Resolution 92, A Resolution Summarizing Expenditures and Revenues for Each Fund 
and Adopting a Budget for the City of Black Hawk, Colorado for the Calendar Year 
Beginning on the First Day of January 2015 and Ending on the Last Day of December 
2015, and Appropriating Sums of Money to Various Funds and Spending Agencies in 
the Amount, and for the Purposes Set Forth within the Attached 2015 Budget 

C. CB26, An Ordinance Levying General Property Taxes for the Year 2014 to Help Defray 
the Costs of Government for the City of Black Hawk, Colorado for the 2015 Budget 
Year 

D. Resolution 93, A Resolution Approving a Certificate of Appropriateness for full exterior 
rehabilitation and site work for the property located at 301 High Street 

E. Resolution 94, A Resolution Approving a Certificate of Appropriateness for full exterior 
rehabilitation and site work for the property located at 401 Chase Street 

8. ACTION ITEMS: 

F. Resolution 95, A Resolution Authorizing the Change of Use of the Sanitary Sewer Tap on 
City-Owned Property Located on 211 Gregory Street and Described as Lots 3 - 5, Block 28, 
City of Black Hawk 
 

G. Resolution 96, A Resolution Authorizing the Change of Use  of the Sanitary Sewer Tap 
on City-Owned Property Located on 260 Gregory Street and Described as Lots 2 - 7, 
Block 33, City of Black Hawk 

H.  Resolution 97, A Resolution Adopting the 2015 Holiday Schedule 

I. Resolution 98, A Resolution Adopting the 2015 City Council Regular Meeting Schedule 

J. Resolution 99, A Resolution Establishing a Designated Public Place for the Posting of 
2015 Meeting Notices as Required by the Colorado Open Meetings Law 

K. Resolution 100, A Resolution Authorizing the Placement of a Veteran’s Memorial Plaque 
at Dory Hill Cemetery  



L. Resolution 101, A Resolution Approving the Agreement for the Management and 
Operation of the Transportation Services for the Black Hawk Tramway between MV 
Public Transportation and the City of Black Hawk 

M. Resolution 90, A Resolution Adopting and Entering into the Trust Agreement for the 
Colorado Firefighter Health and Circulatory Benefits Trust and Taking Other Actions in 
connection Therewith (Continued from November 12, 2014, recommend tabling 
indefinitely)  

9.  RECESS TO BLACK HAWK URBAN RENEWAL AUTHORITY: 

N. Resolution 102, A Resolution Approving the Commercial Lease for the Property 
Located at 211 and 221 Gregory Street Between 5B1S, LLC and the Black Hawk 
Urban Renewal Authority 

10. RECONVENE: 

11. CITY MANAGER REPORTS:  

12. CITY ATTORNEY: 

13. EXECUTIVE SESSION: 

14. ADJOURNMENT: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

MISSION STATEMENT 
The mission of the City of Black Hawk is to progressively provide cost effective programs and services 

of the highest quality to the community 



 

 City of Black Hawk 
City Council 

 
November 12, 2014 

 
MEETING MINUTES 

 
 

 
Weekly Register Call Reporter Stacy McBrayer rang the bell.       
       
1. CALL TO ORDER: The regular meeting of the City Council was called to order on 

Wednesday, November 12, 2014 at 3:00 p.m. by Mayor Spellman. 
 
 
2. ROLL CALL: Present were: Mayor Spellman, Aldermen Armbright, Bennett, 

Johnson, Midcap, and Moates. 
 
 Absent:  Alderman Torres 
  
 Staff present:  City Attorney Hoffmann, City Manager Lewis, Police Chief Cole, City 

Clerk/Administrative Services Director Greiner, Finance Director 
Hillis, Public Works Director Isbester, Community Planning and 
Development Administrator Linker, Fire Chief Taylor, and Deputy City 
Clerk Martin. 

 
 PLEDGE OF  
 ALLEGIANCE: Mayor Spellman led the meeting in the recitation of the Pledge of 

Allegiance. 
 
 
3. AGENDA CHANGES: Deputy City Clerk Martin stated there was one revision made: added 

Holiday and Annual Bonus to the City Manager Reports. 
 
 
4. CONFLICTS OF  
 INTEREST: City Attorney Hoffmann asked Council to declare any Conflicts of 

Interest on any issue appearing on the agenda this afternoon other than 
those previous disclosures and conflicts that have already been 
disclosed and are on file with the City Clerk and Secretary of State.  
There were no conflicts noted from City Council. 

 
  City Attorney Hoffmann asked the audience if there were any 

objections to any member of Council voting on any issue on the agenda 
this afternoon. The audience had no objections.  

 
 
5. PUBLIC COMMENTS: Deputy City Clerk Martin stated no one had signed up for public 

comments. 
1 

 



 

6.  APPROVAL OF 
 MINUTES   October 22, 2014 and November 5, 2014. 
 
MOTION TO 
APPROVE Alderman Bennett MOVED and was SECONDED by Alderman 

Armbright to approve the Minutes of both meetings as presented.   
 
MOTION PASSED There was no discussion and the motion PASSED unanimously. 
 
 

7.  PUBLIC HEARINGS: 
  A. CB23, An Ordinance  
  Approving a Mutual Aid  
  Agreement Between the  
  City of Black Hawk and  
  the Gilpin Ambulance  
  Authority Mayor Spellman read the title and opened the public hearing. 
 
   City Attorney Hoffmann stated that this was a standard form of 

memorialization of the relationship between the Black Hawk Fire 
Department and the Gilpin Ambulance Authority.  

 
PUBLIC HEARING:  Mayor Spellman declared a Public Hearing on CB23, An Ordinance 

Approving a Mutual Aid Agreement Between the City of Black Hawk 
and the Gilpin Ambulance Authority open and invited anyone wanting 
to address the Board either “for” or “against” the proposed ordinance to 
come forward. 

 
No one came forward to speak and Mayor Spellman declared the Public 
Hearing closed. 
 

MOTION TO 
APPROVE Alderman Johnson MOVED and was SECONDED by Alderman 

Bennett to approve Ordinance 2014-23, An Ordinance Approving a 
Mutual Aid Agreement Between the City of Black Hawk and the Gilpin 
Ambulance Authority. 

 
MOTION PASSED There was no discussion and the motion PASSED unanimously. 
 
 
 B. CB24, An Ordinance  
 Amending the Black  
 Hawk Municipal Code  
 by the Addition thereto  
 of a New Section 2-134  
 Concerning the Creation  
  of a Violations Bureau Mayor Spellman read the title and opened the public hearing. 
 

2 
 



 

   Police Chief Cole said that the Police Department and Municipal Court 
were looking for ways to streamline operations to reduce work load in 
the court and to better serve the public.  He said they have identified 
several minor violations for first time offenders that could better be 
served through a penalty assessment with a fee structure, than having to 
appear in court.  

 
PUBLIC HEARING:  Mayor Spellman declared a Public Hearing on CB24, An Ordinance 

Amending the Black Hawk Municipal Code by the Addition thereto of 
a New Section 2-134 Concerning the Creation of a Violations Bureau 
open and invited anyone wanting to address the Board either “for” or 
“against” the proposed ordinance to come forward. 

 
No one came forward to speak and Mayor Spellman declared the Public 
Hearing closed. 

 
MOTION TO 
APPROVE Alderman Armbright MOVED and was SECONDED by Alderman 

Moates to approve Ordinance 2014-24, An Ordinance Amending the 
Black Hawk Municipal Code by the Addition thereto of a New Section 
2-134 Concerning the Creation of a Violations Bureau. 

 
MOTION PASSED There was no discussion and the motion PASSED unanimously. 
 
 
 C. CB25, An Ordinance  
 Amending Section 304  
 of the City of Black  
 Hawk Employee  
  Handbook Mayor Spellman read the title and opened the public hearing. 
 
   City Clerk/Administrative Services Director Greiner explained that 

Council’s earlier decision to change from Columbus Day Holiday to an 
Employee Birthday Holiday had created an unforeseen issue of having 
to pay premium pay if the employee is required to work on that day.  
Staff is recommending changing the Employee Birthday Holiday to a 
regular Floating Holiday, which will save the City money, yet still 
allow the employee to take their full 8 hours off.   

 
   City Manager Lewis told Council that he will be looking at all the 

holidays from a Manager’s and Employee’s perspective and come back 
to Council with future recommendations. 

 
   Mayor Spellman noted a gender specific description on the first page, 

last paragraph. Staff will make the change. 
 
PUBLIC HEARING:  Mayor Spellman declared a Public Hearing on CB25, An Ordinance 

Amending Section 304 of the City of Black Hawk Employee Handbook 

3 
 



 

open and invited anyone wanting to address the Board either “for” or 
“against” the proposed ordinance to come forward. 

 
No one came forward to speak and Mayor Spellman declared the Public 
Hearing closed. 

 
MOTION TO 
APPROVE Alderman Johnson MOVED and was SECONDED by Alderman 

Armbright to approve Ordinance 2014-25, An Ordinance Amending 
Section 304 of the City of Black Hawk Employee Handbook, noting the 
one correction. 

 
MOTION PASSED There was no discussion and the motion PASSED unanimously. 
 
 
8. ACTION ITEMS: 
   
  D. Resolution 82, A  
  Resolution Approving  
  the License Agreement  
  Between the City of  
  Black Hawk and Edward  
  E. Smith, Shirley J. Smith,  
  Sherell J. Smith, Gregory  
  Street LLC, and Smithloch  
  LLC, as Owners of the  
  Properties located at 125,  
  131, 135, and 141 Gregory  
  Street (Recommend  
  Tabling Indefinitely) Mayor Spellman noted the recommendation to table the public hearing 

indefinitely until the applicant is ready to move forward. 
   

MOTION TO 
TABLE  
INDEFINITELY  Alderman Bennett MOVED and was SECONDED by Alderman 

Johnson to table this agenda item indefinitely. 
 
MOTION PASSED There was no discussion and the motion PASSED unanimously. 
 
 
  E. Resolution 88, A  
  Resolution Making  
  Findings of Fact in  
  Support of the Decision  
  to Deny the Appeal of  
  the Decision by the  
  Community Planning  
  and Development  

4 
 



 

  Administrator Regarding  
 101 Hillside Street Mayor Spellman read the title. 
 

MOTION TO 
APPROVE Alderman Moates MOVED and was SECONDED by Alderman 

Johnson to approve Resolution 88, A Resolution Making Findings of 
Fact in Support of the Decision to Deny the Appeal of the Decision by 
the Community Planning and Development Administrator Regarding 
101 Hillside Street. 

 
MOTION PASSED There was no discussion and the motion PASSED unanimously. 
 
 
  F. Resolution 89, A  
  Resolution Making  
  Findings of Fact in  
  Support of the Decision  
  to Deny the Appeal of  
  the Decision by the  
  Community Planning  
  and Development  
  Administrator Regarding  
 171 Marchant Street Mayor Spellman read the title. 
 

MOTION TO 
APPROVE Alderman Armbright MOVED and was SECONDED by Alderman 

Johnson to approve Resolution 89, A Resolution Making Findings of 
Fact in Support of the Decision to Deny the Appeal of the Decision by 
the Community Planning and Development Administrator Regarding 
171 Marchant Street. 

 
MOTION PASSED There was no discussion and the motion PASSED unanimously. 
 
 
  G. Resolution 90, A  
  Resolution Adopting  
  and Entering into the  
  Trust Agreement for  
  the Colorado Firefighter  
  Health and Circulatory  
  Benefits Trust and  
  Taking Other Actions  
  in the Connection  
 Therewith Mayor Spellman read the title. 
 

   City Manager Lewis recommended tabling this item until the December 
10 meeting as there were still some outstanding details that Colorado 
Municipal League (CML) is working on.  

5 
 



 

   City Attorney Hoffmann noted that this was a requirement by the State 
for the City to provide this benefit and then be reimbursed through the 
Department of Local Affairs (DOLA). 

 
MOTION TO 
APPROVE Alderman Midcap MOVED and was SECONDED by Alderman 

Moates to table Resolution 90, A Resolution Adopting and Entering 
into the Trust Agreement for the Colorado Firefighter Health and 
Circulatory Benefits Trust and Taking Other Actions in the connection 
Therewith to the December 10, 2014 meeting. 

 
MOTION PASSED There was no discussion and the motion PASSED unanimously. 
 
 
  H. Resolution 91, A  
  Resolution Approving  
  the Restructuring of the  
  Information Technology  
  Division and Approving  
  the Associated Job  
 Description Mayor Spellman read the title. 
 

   Finance Director Hillis explained that after much research it was clear 
that the existing title of Network Administrator did not correlate with 
surveyed cities or with the duties this position oversees. Staff has 
recommended a title of IT Manager along with a new job description. 

    
MOTION TO 
APPROVE Alderman Bennett MOVED and was SECONDED by Alderman 

Armbright to approve Resolution 91, A Resolution Approving the 
Restructuring of the Information Technology Division and Approving 
the Associated Job Description 

 
MOTION PASSED There was no discussion and the motion PASSED unanimously. 
 
 
9.  CITY MANAGER 
 REPORTS: City Manager Lewis had a request from the Fire Department to ask for 

Council approval to dispose of some outdated fitness equipment.   A 
MOTION was made by Alderman Johnson to approve the request, 
SECONDED by Alderman Bennett, and approved unanimously. 

 
  Lewis said the auditors like to see a motion for the Holiday bonus and 

annual bonus for employees since these expenditures fall under 
Council’s budget.  A MOTION was made by Alderman Moates to 
approve an annual Holiday bonus of $300 for boards, commission staff 
and employees and for an annual bonus of 3% for all Black Hawk 

6 
 



 

working staff, SECONDED by Alderman Johnson, and approved 
unanimously.  

 
  Lewis reminded Council there were two meetings scheduled in 

December on the 3rd and 10th. He suggested cancelling the 3rd if there 
was no need from the Council to meet.  A MOTION was made by 
Alderman Bennett to cancel December 3, 2014 Regular Council 
Meeting, SECONDED by Alderman Moates, and approved 
unanimously. 

 
  Lastly, Lewis informed Council of a survey being conducted by Fire 

Chief Taylor, who is also the City’s Emergency Operations Manager. In 
preparing his Emergency Operations Plan, Taylor is requesting some 
data. The surveys were handed out to Council with the request to return 
to Chief Taylor. 

 
 
10. CITY ATTORNEY:  City Attorney Hoffmann informed Council that he had received a 

recorded copy of the final rule and order related to the Burton property.  
 
OTHER BUSINESS:  Alderman Midcap brought up the residential holiday light contest that 

the City used to have and asked for Council feedback to reinstate it.  
Discussion ensued around previous problems the City encountered to 
other forms of incentives rather than money.  A straw poll was taken, 
and Council was not for reinstating it at this time. It was suggested that 
different ideas could be considered in advance for next year. 

 
 
11. EXECUTIVE SESSION:  City Attorney Hoffmann recommended item numbers 1 and 5 for 

Executive Session. 
 
  MOTION TO 
 ADJOUN INTO  
 EXECUTIVE  
 SESSION Alderman Bennett MOVED and was SECONDED by Alderman 

Johnson to adjourn into Executive Session at 3:35 p.m. to consider the 
purchase, acquisition, lease, transfer, or sale of real personal or other 
property, pursuant to C.R.S., § 24-6-402(4)(a) and to determine 
positions relative to matters that may be subject to negotiations, develop 
a strategy for negotiations, and/or instruct negotiators, pursuant to 
C.R.S., § 24-6-402(4)(e). 

 
MOTION PASSED There was no discussion and the motion PASSED unanimously. 

 
MOTION TO  

 ADJOURN Alderman Bennett MOVED and was SECONDED by Alderman 
Johnson to adjourn the Executive Session at 4:30 p.m. 

 

7 
 



 

MOTION PASSED There was no discussion and the motion PASSED unanimously. 
 
 
12. ADJOURNMENT: Mayor Spellman declared the Regular Meeting of the City Council 

closed at 4:30 p.m. 

 

 

 
 

____________________________          
Melissa Greiner      David D. Spellman 
City Clerk       Mayor 
 
 
 

8 
 



RECREATIONAL
MARIJUANA CENTER

BUSINESS LICENSE
APPLICATION FOR 5B1S,

LLC DBA 1859 AT 231
GREGORY STREET



CITY OF BLACK HAWK
REQUEST FOR COUNCIL ACTION

SUBJECT: Recreational Marijuana Center Business License Application – 5B1S, LLC, d/b/a
1859

RECOMMENDATION: Staff recommends the following motion to the Mayor and Board of
Aldermen:

MOTION OF APPROVAL for the conditional approval of the Recreational Marijuana
Business License Application – 5B1S, LLC, d/b/a 1859 with the following conditions:

1. All other required permits or licenses related to the operation of the recreational
marijuana store are approved;

2. Completed background investigation on all employees; and

3. Inspection by the City of the proposed licensed premises.

SUMMARY AND BACKGROUND OF SUBJECT MATTER:

Please see attached Preliminary Findings and Facts

AGENDA DATE: December 10, 2014

FUNDING SOURCE: N/A

WORKSHOP DATE: N/A

ESTIMATED DATE OF PROJECT COMPLETION: N/A

ORIGINATED BY: Melissa Greiner, City Clerk

STAFF PERSON RESPONSIBLE: Melissa Greiner, City Clerk

RECORD: [ ]Yes [x]No

CITY ATTORNEY REVIEW: [ x ]Yes [ ]No [ ]N/A INITIALS

SUBMITTED BY: REVIEWED BY:

_________
Melissa Greiner, City Clerk Jack D. Lewis, City Manager



1

City of Black Hawk
Marijuana Licensing Authority

IN THE MATTER OF THE APPLICATION FOR A )
RECREATIONAL MARIJUANA CENTER LICENSE )

PRELIMINARY
5B1S, LLC ) FINDINGS AND REPORT
d/b/a 1859 )
1640 Logan Street, Suite 200 )
Denver, Colorado 80203 )

Pursuant to Black Hawk Municipal Code ("Code") Section 6-557, you are hereby advised
that with regard to the above named application for a Recreational Marijuana Center License, an
investigation has been made, and based on the results thereof, the following has been
determined:

1. 5B1S, LLC d/b/a 1859 (the "Applicant") has submitted a complete
application, all required identity documentation and the requisite operating fee, as
required by Code Section 6-557 to open a recreational marijuana center located at 231
Gregory Street.

2. Pursuant to Code Section 6-557, the Applicant has submitted all required
forms and documentation identifying the employees and proposed managers of the
recreational marijuana center as well as documentation for all persons having a ten
percent (10%) or more financial interest in the Applicant entity.

3. The Applicant has completed a background investigation
acknowledgement pursuant to Code Section 6-557.

4. The Applicant has submitted all required information relating to the legal
status and registration of 5B1S, LLC d/b/a 1859 pursuant to Code Section 6-557.

5. Pursuant to Code Section 6-557, the Applicant has submitted a copy of a
lease demonstrating that the Applicant is entitled to possession of the proposed
recreational marijuana center premises. The property owner has also filed a notarized
affidavit authorizing the use of the property for a recreational marijuana center.

6. The Applicant has submitted a valid sales tax license for the business
pursuant to Code Section 6-557.

7. The Applicant has submitted an acceptable "to scale" diagram of the
premises pursuant to Code Section 6-557.

8. The Applicant has submitted an acceptable comprehensive business
operation plan pursuant to Code Section 6-557.



2

9. The zoning of the premises is within the appropriate zone district
(HARD), and is one (1) of the four (4) identified Gregory Street addresses within the
district, to allow the proposed use.

10. Within the corporate limits of the City of Black Hawk, there are no
marijuana businesses currently in operation.

11. The Applicant is not prohibited from being a licensee pursuant to Code
Section 6-564.

12. In light of the foregoing, the City of Black Hawk Marijuana Licensing
Authority preliminarily finds that the Applicant is eligible to operate as a recreational
marijuana center within the City of Black Hawk, subject to the following conditions:

a. A hearing before the Black Hawk Marijuana Licensing Authority;
b. All other required permits or licenses related to the operation of the

recreational marijuana center are approved;
c. Completed background investigations on all employees; and
d. Inspection by the City of the proposed licensed premises.

On behalf of The Black Hawk Marijuana Licensing Authority, this report is hereby issued to the
applicant and other interested parties this 4th day of December, 2014.

Melissa Greiner
City Clerk



RESOLUTION 92-2014
A RESOLUTION SUMMARIZING
EXPENDITURES AND REVENUES
FOR EACH FUND AND ADOPTING

A BUDGET FOR THE CITY OF
BLACK HAWK, COLORADO, FOR

THE CALENDAR YEAR
BEGINNING ON THE FIRST DAY
OF JANUARY 2015 AND ENDING

ON THE LAST DAY OF
DECEMBER 2015, AND

APPROPRIATING SUMS OF
MONEY TO VARIOUS FUNDS AND

SPENDING AGENCIES IN THE
AMOUNT, AND FOR THE

PURPOSES SET FORTH WITHIN
THE ATTACHED 2015 BUDGET



STATE OF COLORADO
COUNTY OF GILPIN

CITY OF BLACK HAWK

Resolution No. 92-2014

TITLE: A RESOLUTION SUMMARIZING EXPENDITURES AND REVENUES FOR
EACH FUND AND ADOPTING A BUDGET FOR THE CITY OF BLACK
HAWK, COLORADO, FOR THE CALENDAR YEAR BEGINNING ON THE
FIRST DAY OF JANUARY 2015 AND ENDING ON THE LAST DAY OF
DECEMBER 2015, AND APPROPRIATING SUMS OF MONEY TO VARIOUS
FUNDS AND SPENDING AGENCIES IN THE AMOUNT, AND FOR THE
PURPOSES SET FORTH WITHIN THE ATTACHED 2015 BUDGET.

WHEREAS, upon due and proper notice, published or posted in accordance with the law, the
proposed Budget for 2015 was open for inspection by the public at a designated place, a public hearing
was held on December 10, 2014, and interested taxpayers were given the opportunity to file or register
any objections to said proposed Budget, and;

WHEREAS, whatever increases may have been made in the expenditures, like increases were
added to the revenues or planned to be expended from reserves and/or fund balances so that the Budget
remains in balance, as required by law.

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF ALDERMEN OF THE
CITY OF BLACK HAWK, COLORADO, THAT:

SECTION 1. That the Budget as submitted and summarized by Fund, hereby is approved and adopted
as the Budget of the City of Black Hawk for the year stated above.

SECTION 2. That the budget hereby approved and adopted shall be signed by the Mayor and made a
part of the public records of the City.

SECTION 3. That the sums for 2015, on the attached budget, are hereby appropriated from the revenue
of each fund, for purposes stated.

RRESOLVED AND PASSED this 10 day of December 2014.

David D. Spellman, Mayor

ATTEST:

By:
Melissa Greiner, City Clerk



Account Account Proposed Proposed Revised
Department Number Description Budget Adjustment Budget Comments/Notes

FINANCE 010-0000-3110100 Real Property / Property Tax 0 8,500 8,500 Reflect Final Valuations

TOTAL REVENUE ADJUSTMENTS 8,500

REQUESTED GENERAL FUND REVENUES 22,165,500

REVISED GENERAL FUND REVENUES 22,174,000

MAYOR & COUNCIL 010-1101-4113101 Legal Services/City Attorney 0 350,000 350,000 From City Manager

MAYOR & COUNCIL 010-1101-4113102 Legal Services/Other Legal 0 100,000 100,000 From City Manager

MAYOR & COUNCIL 010-1101-4113103 Lobbying Services 0 150,000 150,000 From City Manager

MAYOR & COUNCIL 010-1101-4115808 Community Goodwill Promotions 0 5,000 5,000 From City Clerk

MAYOR & COUNCIL 010-1101-4115812 Live Entertainment (Gazebo) 62,400 (37,400) 25,000 Only Saturday & Holidays

MAYOR & COUNCIL 010-1101-4115813 Residential Paint Program 0 100,000 100,000 Move From Capital

MAYOR & COUNCIL 010-1101-4115825 Summer Flowers 0 30,000 30,000 From PW Admin

MAYOR & COUNCIL 010-1101-4115826 Flags 0 10,000 10,000 New Account

MAYOR & COUNCIL 010-1101-4115827 Holiday Decorations 0 130,000 130,000 From PW Admin

CITY MANAGER 010-1301-4133101 Legal Services/City Attorney 350,000 (350,000) 0 To Council

CITY MANAGER 010-1301-4133109 Legal Services/Other Legal 100,000 (100,000) 0 To Council

CITY MANAGER 010-1301-4133316 Lobbying Services 150,000 (150,000) 0 To Council

CITY MANAGER 010-1301-4135101 Insurance 225,000 (225,000) 0 To Clerk

CLERK 010-1302-4135101 Insurance 0 225,000 225,000 From City Manager

CLERK 010-1302-4135809 Community Goodwill Promotions 5,000 (5,000) 0 To Council

PW ADMIN 010-3101-4315830 Holiday Decorations 160,000 (160,000) 0 To Council

PW ADMIN 010-3101-4315831 Summer Flowers 35,000 (35,000) 0 To Council

TOTAL EXPENDITURE ADJUSTMENTS 37,600

REQUESTED GENERAL FUND EXPENDITURES 27,960,586

REVISED GENERAL FUND EXPENDITURES 27,998,186

PRES. & RESTORATION 203-0000-5025801 Dory Hill Cemetery 0 10,000 10,000 From Cemetery

TOTAL EXPENDITURE ADJUSTMENTS 10,000

REQUESTED PRES & REST FUND EXPENDITURES 7,191,025

REVISED PRES & REST FUND EXPENDITURES 7,201,025

CAPITAL PROJECTS 305-3101-New Account Residential Paint Program 72,000 (72,000) 0 To Council

TOTAL EXPENDITURE ADJUSTMENTS (72,000)
REQUESTED CAPITAL FUND EXPENDITURES 9,562,000

REVISED CAPITAL FUND EXPENDITURES 9,490,000

DORY HILL CEMETERY 702-0000-3610100 Interest Income 240 (240) 0 Eliminate Fund

DORY HILL CEMETERY 702-0000-3611000 Sale of Plots 100 (100) 0 Eliminate Fund

TOTAL REVENUE ADJUSTMENTS (340)
REQUESTED CEMTERY FUND REVENUE 340

REVISED CEMETERY FUND REVENUES 0

DORY HILL CEMETERY 501-3151-4607413 Plot Maintenance 10,000 (10,000) 0 To Preservation

TOTAL EXPENDITURE ADJUSTMENTS (10,000)
REQUESTED CEMETERY FUND EXPENDITURES 10,000

REVISED CEMETERY FUND EXPENDITURES 0

CITY OF BLACK HAWK, COLORADO

BUDGET REVISIONS

2015 REQUESTED BUDGET

12/5/2014



2015 PROPOSED ANNUAL BUDGET
Revised Dec. 4, 2014



Office of the City Manager
201 Selak Street
P.O. Box 68
Black Hawk, CO 80422
www.cityofblackhawk.org
303-582-2219 Office
303-582-0429 Fax

Mayor
David D. Spellman

Aldermen
Linda Armbright
Paul G. Bennett
Hal Midcap
Jim Johnson
Greg Moates
Benito Torres

City Attorney
Corey Y. Hoffmann

City Manager
Jack D. Lewis

City Clerk /
Administrative Services Director
Melissa A. Greiner

Finance Director
Lance R. Hillis

Fire Chief
Donald E. Taylor

Police Chief
Stephen N. Cole

Public Works Director
Thomas Isbester

Community Planning & Development
Administrator
Cynthia L. Linker

December 4, 2014

Dear Mayor and City Council:

We are pleased to present to you the 2015 Annual Operating &

Capital Budget. Council is required to adopt an annual budget for

each fiscal year in accordance with the procedure set forth in the

Local Government Budget Law of Colorado (CRS 29-1-101).

This message is intended to cover the highlights and significant

changes to the 2015 Budget when compared to 2014. Each

Department’s budget is similar to 2014 with the exception of the

items listed in the following paragraphs. Due to ambitious capital

projects proposed and/or incurred for 2014 and 2015, the General

Fund, Capital Projects Fund, Preservation & Restoration Fund and the

Water Fund are projected to have significant deficit spending.

The 2015 budget includes a total revenue projection (excluding inter-

fund transfers and debt proceeds) of $25.9 million for all funds. This

is a decrease of 1.9% compared to the estimated revenue for 2014.

We project 2015 Gaming Tax revenue to be flat compared to 2014.

Device Fee revenue is budgeted to be up slightly with roughly 8,500

devices currently in use to maintain into 2015. City staff expects sales

tax revenue to be flat for 2015. The 2015 budget includes no increase

in water rates or device fees and no increase in property tax revenue.

The 2015 budget includes total expenditures (excluding inter-fund

transfers) of $39.2 million. No new positions have been proposed for

2015. The 2015 Budget also includes funding for an estimated 3%

adjustment pending market comparisons and funding for a City-wide

bonus of up to 3.00%. City staff, with assistance from our benefits

consultant, has estimated an increase in medical insurance premiums

of 16% for the final six months of 2015. Other benefits including

Dental and Vision insurance have been increased by 10% for the final

six months of 2015. The 2015 Budget also includes the continuation

of the City contributing 50% of the deductible to each employee’s

HSA, plus an additional $1,500 per employee.

Capital Fund projects proposed for 2015 include the following:

$6,300,000 for the construction of a commercial building on Gregory

Street and $2,805,000 for a parking structure on Gregory Street (with

another $1,500,000 from Parking Impact Funds). New capital projects



within the Preservation & Restoration Fund include the rehabilitation of two residential homes, Dory Hill

Cemetery improvements and a transfer to the General Fund for reimbursement of the Maryland

Mountain purchase.

The 2015 Budget, as currently presented, does not include any revenue or associated expenses for large

scale casino construction projects.

Respectfully submitted,

Jack D. Lewis Lance R. Hillis

City Manager Finance Director



2015 PROPOSED BUDGET

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Revenue, Expenditure & Fund Balance Analysis-All Funds 1
General Fund Summary 2
General Fund Revenue Detail 6
Mayor & Council 7
Municipal Court 9
City Manager 11
City Clerk 13
Information Technology 15
Finance 17
Planning & Zoning 19
Police Department 21
Fire Department 24
Public Works Administration 26
Street Maintenance 28
Fleet Maintenance 29
Facilities Maintenance 30
Transportation 31
Transfer - General Fund 32

Impact Fee Fund Summary 33
Impact Fee Fund Revenue Detail 34
Impact Fee Fund Expenditure Detail 35

Preservation & Restoration Fund Summary 36
Preservation & Restoration Fund Revenue Detail 37
Preservation & Restoration Fund Expenditure Detail 38

Transportation Device Fee Trust Fund Summary 39
Transportation Device Fee Trust Fund Revenue Detail 40
Transportation Device Fee Trust Fund Expenditure Detail 41

Capital Projects Fund Summary 42
Capital Projects Fund Revenue Detail 43
Capital Projects Fund Expenditure Detail 44

Debt Service Fund Summary 45
Debt Service Fund Revenue Detail 46
Debt Service Fund Expenditure Detail 47
Debt Service Amortization Schedules 48

Water Fund Summary 49
Water Fund Revenue Detail 50
Water Fund Expenditure Detail 51

Dory Hill Cemetery Fund Summary 54
Dory Hill Cemetery Fund Revenue Detail 55
Dory Hill Cemetery Fund Expenditure Detail 56

Conservation Trust Fund Summary 57
Conservation trust Fund Revenue Detail 58
Conservation Trust Fund Expenditure Detail 59

CITY OF BLACK HAWK



GENERAL IMPACT FEE PRES & REST. TRANS DEVICE CAPITAL DEBT WATER CEMETERY CON TRUST TOTAL ALL FUNDS

FUND FUND FUND FUND FUND FUND FUND FUND FUND ALL FUNDS LESS TRNFS

FUND BALANCE - JAN. 1, 2013 9,349,669 1,739,207 6,197,842 55,263 2,906,577 963,890 653,765 118,459 21,875 22,006,547 22,006,547

ACTUAL REVENUES 28,520,228 3,552 3,684,702 647,106 3,815,159 2,354,716 3,001,433 500 1,325 42,028,721 37,281,198

ACTUAL EXPENDITURES 18,593,777 250,000 5,662,462 643,000 6,468,254 1,688,967 3,267,585 6,800 0 36,580,844 31,833,321

ACTUAL GAIN (LOSS) 9,926,451 (246,448) (1,977,760) 4,106 (2,653,095) 665,749 (266,152) (6,300) 1,325 5,447,877 5,447,877

FUND BALANCE - DEC. 31, 2013 19,276,120 1,492,759 4,220,082 59,369 253,482 1,629,639 387,613 112,159 23,200 27,454,424 27,454,424

FUND BALANCE - JAN. 1, 2014 19,276,120 1,492,759 4,220,082 59,369 253,482 1,629,639 387,613 112,159 23,200 27,454,424 27,454,424

ESTIMATED REVENUES 31,877,791 2,000 3,655,443 651,100 12,955,300 4,393,597 11,428,000 340 1,250 64,964,821 39,420,774

ESTIMATED EXPENDITURES 40,152,116 0 3,262,878 650,650 12,954,287 3,359,074 9,436,873 112,499 0 69,928,377 44,384,330

ESTIMATED GAIN (LOSS) (8,274,325) 2,000 392,565 450 1,013 1,034,523 1,991,127 (112,159) 1,250 (4,963,556) (4,963,556)

FUND BALANCE - DEC. 31, 2014 11,001,795 1,494,759 4,612,647 59,819 254,495 2,664,162 2,378,740 0 24,450 22,490,868 22,490,868

FUND BALANCE - JAN. 1, 2015 11,001,795 1,494,759 4,612,647 59,819 254,495 2,664,162 2,378,740 0 24,450 22,490,868 22,490,868

PROPOSED REVENUES 22,174,000 241 3,410,000 654,950 9,345,500 2,904,944 2,902,500 0 1,250 41,393,385 25,934,141

PROPOSED EXPENDITURES 27,998,186 1,495,000 7,201,025 654,500 9,490,000 2,962,677 4,933,207 0 0 54,734,595 39,275,351

PROPOSED GAIN (LOSS) (5,824,186) (1,494,759) (3,791,025) 450 (144,500) (57,733) (2,030,707) 0 1,250 (13,341,210) (13,341,210)

FUND BALANCE - DEC. 31, 2015 5,177,609 0 821,622 60,269 109,995 2,606,429 348,033 0 25,700 9,149,658 9,149,658

CITY OF BLACK HAWK REVENUE, EXPENDITURE & FUND BALANCE ANALYSIS

12/5/2014
1



2013 2014 2014 June 30, 2014 2014 2015
Year-End Adopted Amended Y-T-D Year-End City Manager

Actual Budget Budget Actual Estimate Request

BEGINNING FUND BALANCE 9,349,669 19,276,120 19,276,120 19,276,120 19,276,120 11,001,795

REVENUES 28,520,228 31,513,450 31,513,450 15,134,326 31,877,791 22,174,000

MAYOR & COUNCIL 2,468,876 2,245,423 2,245,423 1,116,495 2,426,095 3,135,786

MUNICIPAL COURT 59,632 64,913 64,913 22,191 56,521 62,633

CITY MANAGER 1,220,590 1,338,702 1,338,702 655,003 1,374,902 272,315

ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES 223,666 222,619 222,619 161,101 312,443 777,887

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY 406,236 436,192 436,192 203,638 438,292 403,864

FINANCE 335,104 352,336 352,336 173,123 330,720 351,830

PLANNING 602,974 643,533 643,533 217,403 652,401 701,323

POLICE 2,964,706 3,097,401 3,097,401 1,369,922 2,951,762 3,134,241

DISPATCH 474,691 506,442 506,442 233,774 509,128 522,138

FIRE 2,362,564 2,503,780 2,503,780 1,178,695 2,512,625 2,555,687

PUBLIC WORKS ADMIN 1,061,280 1,222,703 1,222,703 454,909 1,191,703 1,099,238

STREET 895,483 1,134,530 1,134,530 377,087 978,925 1,128,175

FLEET 577,394 628,391 628,391 257,991 604,391 607,942

FACILITIES 308,727 334,361 334,361 150,982 318,811 358,883

TRANSPORTATION 527,332 623,000 623,000 201,707 600,000 681,500

TRANSFERS 4,104,523 24,641,156 24,641,156 1,361,751 24,893,397 12,204,744

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 18,593,777 39,995,482 39,995,482 8,135,771 40,152,116 27,998,186

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) 9,926,451 (8,482,032) (8,482,032) 6,998,555 (8,274,325) (5,824,186)

ENDING FUND BALANCE 19,276,120 10,794,088 10,794,088 26,274,675 11,001,795 5,177,609

GENERAL FUND SUMMARY

CITY OF BLACK HAWK
2015 BUDGET

12/5/20142



Statewide Black Hawk

1992 $911,473 $263,783
1993 $3,047,939 $1,138,405
1994 $3,773,830 $1,862,385
1995 $4,167,267 $2,155,457
1996 $4,800,795 $2,518,849
1997 $5,169,774 $2,788,369
1998 $5,887,967 $3,226,488
1999 $7,018,050 $4,308,662
2000 $7,159,980 $4,745,778
2001 $8,418,384 $5,871,402
2002 $8,969,622 $6,472,838
2003 $9,098,212 $6,599,843
2004 $9,240,149 $6,710,104
2005 $9,293,021 $6,587,172
2006 $10,014,747 $7,110,170
2007 $10,635,671 $7,530,055
2008 $10,059,170 $7,172,188
2009 $8,528,108 $6,056,663
2010 $9,674,240 $7,180,228
2011 $9,532,735 $7,112,194
2012 $9,119,738 $6,770,143
2013 $9,268,680 $6,864,191
2014 $9,221,937 $6,957,400
2015 $9,164,000 $6,900,000

CITY OF BLACK HAWK

STATE GAMING FUND DISTRIBUTIONS

1992-2015

$0

$2,000,000

$4,000,000

$6,000,000

$8,000,000

$10,000,000

$12,000,000

Gaming Fund Distribution Trends

Statewide Black Hawk

3



Statewide Black Hawk Device Fee General Device Revenue

1992 2,867 733 $800 $1,480,740
1993 10,027 3,183 $800 $2,027,995
1994 11,020 4,624 $800 $2,727,452
1995 12,152 4,395 $750 $2,713,864
1996 12,327 4,926 $750 $2,743,826
1997 13,338 5,400 $750 $3,038,684
1998 12,959 5,370 $750 $5,562,157
1999 14,252 7,269 $750 $5,979,246
2000 13,471 7,166 $750 $7,102,867
2001 14,774 8,584 $750 $7,225,642
2002 15,818 10,068 $750 $7,306,763
2003 15,303 9,389 $750 $7,133,652
2004 15,400 9,578 $750 $6,279,049
2005 15,797 9,339 $750 $6,460,593
2006 16,375 9,558 $750 $6,899,268
2007 17,168 10,168 $750 $7,528,250
2008 16,470 9,942 $750 $7,372,750
2009 16,574 9,750 $750 $7,029,875
2010 15,758 9,125 $750 $6,689,188
2011 14,885 8,609 $750 $6,412,938
2012 15,064 8,460 $750 $6,380,188
2013 14,595 8,589 $750 $6,325,000
2014 14,321 8,485 $945 $8,000,000
2015 14,340 8,500 $945 $8,032,500

CITY OF BLACK HAWK

DEVICE COUNT & GENERAL DEVICE REVENUES

1990-2015

0
2,000
4,000
6,000
8,000

10,000
12,000
14,000
16,000
18,000
20,000

Device Count Trends

Statewide Black Hawk

$0
$1,000,000
$2,000,000
$3,000,000
$4,000,000
$5,000,000
$6,000,000
$7,000,000
$8,000,000
$9,000,000

Device Revenue Trends

General Device Revenue

4



Black Hawk (4.00%) Gilpin School District (1.5%)

1992 $256,772 -
1993 $413,647 -
1994 $639,607 -
1995 $625,086 -
1996 $636,575 -
1997 $599,012 -
1998 $672,746 -
1999 $884,370 -
2000 $899,934 -
2001 $965,930 -
2002 $1,059,584 -
2003 $1,009,955 -
2004 $1,314,668 -
2005 $1,726,490 -
2006 $1,624,216 -
2007 $1,372,318 -
2008 $1,328,229 -
2009 $1,301,362 $481,326
2010 $1,662,283 $618,731
2011 $1,890,175 $699,969
2012 $1,996,592 $748,621
2013 $2,127,300 $798,377
2014 $2,020,000 $750,000
2015 $2,020,000 $750,000

CITY OF BLACK HAWK

SALES TAX TRENDS

1992-2015

$0

$500,000

$1,000,000

$1,500,000

$2,000,000

$2,500,000

Sales Tax Trends

Black Hawk (4.00%) Gilpin School District (1.5%)

5



2013 2014 2014 June 30, 2014 2014 2015

Account Number Account Description Year-End Adopted Amended Year To Date Year-End City Manager
Actual Budget Budget Actual Estimate Request

GENERAL FUND

010-0000-3110100 Real Property / Property Taxes 8,740 8,600 8,600 6,191 8,600 8,500
010-0000-3110200 Real Property / Specific Owner 273 400 400 123 300 300
010-0000-3110300 Commercial Improvements Tax 12,634 12,000 12,000 4,928 9,200 8,700
010-0000-3130100 Sales & Use Tax / Sales Tax-City 2,127,300 2,000,000 2,000,000 529,075 2,020,000 2,020,000
010-0000-3130101 Sales Tax-City / Sales Tax-School District 798,377 725,000 725,000 198,376 750,000 750,000
010-0000-3130200 Sales & Use Tax / Use Tax 129,893 10,000 10,000 12,088 25,000 10,000
010-0000-3140200 Occupational Tax / Businesses 17,033 17,000 17,000 5,670 17,000 17,000
010-0000-3180100 Other Taxes / Device Fees 6,340,500 8,007,000 8,007,000 1,993,871 8,000,000 8,032,500
010-0000-3180200 Other Taxes / Franchise Fees 170,728 160,000 160,000 58,175 170,000 170,000
010-0000-3180400 Other Taxes / Ambulance Fee (Non SDMD) 9,305 9,200 9,200 2,348 9,200 9,200
010-0000-3180500 Other Taxes / Lodging Tax 222,439 205,000 205,000 57,630 225,000 225,000
010-0000-3210100 Business Licenses / Sales Tax 737 700 700 238 800 800
010-0000-3210200 Business Licenses / Business 1,755 1,500 1,500 485 1,600 1,600
010-0000-3210300 Business Licenses / Liquor 4,195 3,500 3,500 600 7,500 6,000
010-0000-3210500 Business Licenses / Hotel License 55 400 400 0 400 400
010-0000-3220100 Permits / Building 109,824 50,000 50,000 8,370 135,000 50,000
010-0000-3220200 Permits / Sign 1,150 1,000 1,000 1,240 1,500 1,000
010-0000-3220300 Permits / Shuttle 300 200 200 300 300 300
010-0000-3350200 State Shared Revenues / Cigarette 10,933 10,000 10,000 3,256 10,000 10,000
010-0000-3350300 State Shared Revenues / Highway Users 12,847 12,500 12,500 4,071 12,800 12,800
010-0000-3350400 County Shared Revenues / Road & Bridge 93,117 95,000 95,000 23,240 90,000 90,000
010-0000-3350500 State Shared Revenues / Gaming 6,864,191 6,900,000 6,900,000 0 6,957,400 6,900,000
010-0000-3410300 Miscellaneous Fees / Plan Review 70,630 20,000 20,000 5,440 90,000 20,000
010-0000-3410800 Miscellaneous Fees / Services Billed Out 115,463 100,000 100,000 76,680 125,000 100,000
010-0000-3510100 Court Fines / Municipal Court 28,106 30,000 30,000 12,692 30,000 30,000
010-0000-3510200 Court Fines / County Court 6,505 8,000 8,000 4,454 8,000 8,000
010-0000-3510300 Court Fines / Parking 2,215 5,000 5,000 810 1,500 1,500
010-0000-3510600 Court Fines / Victim Service Surcharge 8,618 8,000 8,000 4,625 8,000 8,000
010-0000-3610100 Revenue / Int Income On Investments 20,390 20,000 20,000 15,058 60,000 20,000
010-0000-3610300 Revenue / Interest/Penalties 210 100 100 24 100 100
010-0000-3610900 Revenue / Other 299,717 50,000 50,000 47,040 100,000 50,000
010-0000-3611100 Revenue / Copies 583 200 200 0 200 200
010-0000-3611200 Revenue / Police Dept Revenue 2,079 1,000 1,000 1,162 1,625 1,500
010-0000-3611500 Revenue / Gilpin Ambulance Maintenance IGA 39,117 35,000 35,000 12,679 25,000 25,000
010-0000-3612000 Revenue / Silver Dollar Ambulance 215,821 226,100 226,100 0 226,116 226,100
010-0000-3630201 Commercial Buildings / Sewer Charges 192 400 400 0 0 0
010-0000-3630202 Commercial Buildings / Other Commercial Revenue 131,256 130,000 130,000 43,387 100,000 105,000
010-0000-3640000 Miscellaneous Revenues / Inception Of Debt 10,000,000 12,000,000 12,000,000 12,000,000 12,000,000 0
010-0000-3950400 Transfer In / Preservation Fund 0 0 0 0 0 2,600,000
010-0000-3951300 Transfer In / Transportation Device Fee Fund 643,000 650,650 650,650 0 650,650 654,500

TOTAL GENERAL FUND 28,520,228 31,513,450 31,513,450 15,134,326 31,877,791 22,174,000

CITY OF BLACK HAWK
2015 BUDGET
GENERAL FUND

12/5/2014

6



2013 2014 2014 2015

MAYOR & COUNCIL Year-End Amended Year-End Proposed

Actual Budget Estimate Budget

STAFFING PLAN

Mayor 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

Alderman 6.00 6.00 6.00 6.00

TOTAL STAFF 7.00 7.00 7.00 7.00

EXPENDITURES BY TYPE

Personnel 205,950 259,823 256,938 267,586

Professional Services 0 0 0 600,000

General Services 387 0 0 0

Program Expenses 2,261,647 1,983,500 2,167,057 2,266,100

Supplies 891 2,100 2,100 2,100

Capital Outlay 0 0 0 0

Debt Service 0 0 0 0

Transfers 0 0 0 0

MAYOR & COUNCIL 2,468,876 2,245,423 2,426,095 3,135,786

CITY OF BLACK HAWK
2015 BUDGET

GENERAL FUND

7



2013 2014 2014 June 30, 2014 2014 2015
Account Number Account Description Year-End Adopted Amended Year To Date Year-End City Manager

Actual Budget Budget Actual Estimate Request

010-1101-4111201 Regular Salaries/Wages / Full-Time 75,857 76,440 76,440 49,225 97,457 99,616
010-1101-4111202 Regular Salaries/Wages / Medical Stipend 114,482 153,300 153,300 68,180 137,045 144,615
010-1101-4112100 Council / Group Health Insurnce 153 147 147 75 151 151
010-1101-4112200 Council / Fica & Medicare Expense 12,876 16,583 16,583 8,075 16,415 17,074
010-1101-4112301 Retirement / 401A 2,194 13,006 13,006 2,694 5,446 5,739
010-1101-4112600 Council / Workers Compensation 389 347 347 424 424 391
010-1101-4113101 Legal Services / City Attorney 0 0 0 0 0 350,000
010-1101-4113102 Legal Services / Other Legal 0 0 0 0 0 100,000
010-1101-4113103 Lobbying Services 0 0 0 0 0 150,000
010-1101-4115058 Other Purchased Services / Travel & Training 387 0 0 0 0 0
010-1101-4115806 Council Discretionary-Other 52,346 275,000 10,000 20,600 22,000 30,600
010-1101-4115808 Community Goodwill - Promotions 0 0 0 0 0 5,000
010-1101-4115809 Community Goodwill - Parades 14,210 14,000 14,000 1,592 3,000 3,000
010-1101-4115811 Program Expenses / Marketing 35,081 100,000 100,000 13,258 15,000 100,000
010-1101-4115812 Program Expenses / Live Entertainment 60,000 0 50,000 31,525 62,400 25,000
010-1101-4115813 Program Expenses / Residential Paint Program 0 0 0 0 36,855 100,000
010-1101-4115815 Program Expenses / Annual Bonus 0 0 215,000 0 215,000 215,000
010-1101-4115825 Program Expenses / Flowers 0 0 0 0 0 30,000
010-1101-4115826 Program Expenses / Flags 0 0 0 0 0 10,000
010-1101-4115827 Program Expenses / Holiday Decorations 0 0 0 0 0 130,000
010-1101-4115828 Program Expenses / Fireworks 75,700 80,000 80,000 78,850 83,052 85,000
010-1101-4115830 Program Expenses / Scholarship Fund 33,000 50,000 50,000 10,500 25,000 50,000
010-1101-4115831 Program Expenses / Sales Tax-School District 798,377 750,000 750,000 196,342 750,000 750,000
010-1101-4115832 Program Expenses / Ambulance 479,602 502,500 502,500 293,113 502,500 502,500
010-1101-4115833 Program Expenses / Preservation/Restoration/Acquis 535,601 0 0 6,253 6,250 0
010-1101-4115834 Program Expenses / Sales Tax Rebate 12,528 12,000 12,000 2,579 5,000 5,000
010-1101-4115835 Gregory St Redevelopment (Lodging Tax) 165,201 200,000 200,000 116,995 225,000 225,000
010-1101-4115836 Program Expenses / Device Tax Rebate 0 0 0 216,000 216,000 0
010-1101-4116206 Operating Supplies / Uniforms 891 2,100 2,100 214 2,100 2,100

TOTAL MAYOR & COUNCIL 2,468,876 2,245,423 2,245,423 1,116,495 2,426,095 3,135,786

CITY OF BLACK HAWK
2015 BUDGET
GENERAL FUND

MAYOR & COUNCIL

12/4/2014

8



2013 2014 2014 2015

MUNICIPAL COURT Year-End Amended Year-End Proposed

Actual Budget Estimate Budget

STAFFING PLAN

Municipal Court Clerk 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25

Municpal Judge 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

TOTAL STAFF 1.25 1.25 1.25 1.25

EXPENDITURES BY TYPE

Personnel 37,234 39,013 38,921 40,033

Professional Services 17,888 19,000 11,000 22,000

General Services 4,510 6,900 6,600 600

Program Expenses 0 0 0 0

Supplies 0 0 0 0

Capital Outlay 0 0 0 0

Debt Service 0 0 0 0

Transfers 0 0 0 0

MUNICIPAL COURT 59,632 64,913 56,521 62,633

CITY OF BLACK HAWK
2015 BUDGET

GENERAL FUND

9



2013 2014 2014 June 30, 2014 2014 2015
Account Number Account Description Year-End Adopted Amended Year To Date Year-End City Manager

Actual Budget Budget Actual Estimate Request

010-1201-4121201 Regular Salaries/Wages / Full-Time 32,831 34,363 34,363 15,717 34,363 35,268
010-1201-4121400 Judicial / Overtime 22 200 200 5 100 200
010-1201-4122100 Judicial / Group Health Insurance 787 792 792 430 800 812
010-1201-4122200 Judicial / Social Security 2,510 2,546 2,546 1,204 2,546 2,613
010-1201-4122301 Retirement / 401A 931 959 959 425 959 983
010-1201-4122500 Judicial / Unemployment Compensation 99 100 100 72 100 102
010-1201-4122600 Judicial / Workers Compensation 55 53 53 45 53 55
010-1201-4123109 Legal Services / Other (Translators) 17,010 18,000 18,000 4,144 10,000 21,000
010-1201-4123304 Professional Services / Software/Hardware Support 878 1,000 1,000 0 1,000 1,000
010-1201-4125058 Other Purchased Services / Travel & Training 0 500 500 140 500 500
010-1201-4125501 Dues, & Membership / Memberships 0 100 100 0 100 100
010-1201-4126401 Court Fees / Jury/Witness 4,510 6,300 6,300 10 6,000 0

TOTAL MUNICIPAL COURT 59,632 64,913 64,913 22,191 56,521 62,633

CITY OF BLACK HAWK
2015 BUDGET
GENERAL FUND

MUNICIPAL COURT

12/4/2014

10



2013 2014 2014 2015

CITY MANAGER Year-End Amended Year-End Proposed

Actual Budget Estimate Budget

STAFFING PLAN

Administrative Assistant 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.00

Asst to the CM for Administration 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.00

City Manager 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

TOTAL STAFF 3.00 3.00 3.00 1.00

EXPENDITURES BY TYPE

Personnel 417,134 436,902 435,902 231,415

Professional Services 551,385 643,000 686,000 30,000

General Services 244,164 253,000 247,600 10,100

Program Expenses 0 0 0 0

Supplies 7,907 5,800 5,400 800

Capital Outlay 0 0 0 0

Debt Service 0 0 0 0

Transfers 0 0 0 0

CITY MANAGER 1,220,590 1,338,702 1,374,902 272,315

CITY OF BLACK HAWK
2015 BUDGET

GENERAL FUND

11



2013 2014 2014 June 30, 2014 2014 2015
Account Number Account Description Year-End Adopted Amended Year To Date Year-End City Manager

Actual Budget Budget Actual Estimate Request

010-1301-4131201 Regular Salaries/Wages / Full-Time 347,627 339,235 339,235 153,408 339,235 192,159
010-1301-4131400 Administration / Overtime 854 1,000 1,000 0 0 0
010-1301-4132100 Administration / Group Health Insurance 27,740 51,066 51,066 18,022 51,066 15,746
010-1301-4132200 Administration / Social Security 20,973 24,480 24,480 11,352 24,480 11,320
010-1301-4132301 Retirement / 401A 17,471 17,985 17,985 8,100 17,985 9,645
010-1301-4132500 Administration / Unemployment Compensation 983 899 899 443 899 482
010-1301-4132600 Administration / Workers Compensation 1,486 2,237 2,237 2,009 2,237 2,063
010-1301-4133101 Legal Services / City Attorney 425,564 350,000 350,000 146,881 350,000 0
010-1301-4133109 Legal Services / Other (Legal) 0 100,000 100,000 0 150,000 0
010-1301-4133316 Professional Services / Lobbying 95,000 140,000 140,000 68,333 148,000 0
010-1301-4133317 Professional Services / Public Relations 7,413 25,000 25,000 1,692 13,000 25,000
010-1301-4133319 Professional Services / Other (Consultants) 23,408 28,000 28,000 8,700 25,000 5,000
010-1301-4135058 Other Purchased Services / Travel & Training 20,940 15,000 15,000 7,900 15,000 5,000
010-1301-4135101 Insurance / Property & Casualty 215,162 230,000 230,000 219,603 225,000 0
010-1301-4135409 Advertising / Other (Advertising) 300 0 0 0 0 0
010-1301-4135501 Dues, & Membership / Memberships 7,584 7,500 7,500 6,394 7,500 5,000
010-1301-4135502 Dues, & Membership / Subscriptions 179 500 500 95 100 100
010-1301-4136101 General Supplies / Office 3,359 4,000 4,000 1,791 4,000 500
010-1301-4136102 General Supplies / Stationary/Forms 55 100 100 0 0 0
010-1301-4136104 General Supplies / Coffee 571 800 800 120 500 0
010-1301-4136110 General Supplies / Small Equipment 3,330 0 0 0 0 0
010-1301-4136206 Operating Supplies / Uniforms 592 900 900 161 900 300

TOTAL CITY MANAGER 1,220,590 1,338,702 1,338,702 655,003 1,374,902 272,315

CITY OF BLACK HAWK
2015 BUDGET
GENERAL FUND

CITY MANAGER

12/4/2014

12



2013 2014 2014 2015

CITY CLERK Year-End Amended Year-End Proposed

Actual Budget Estimate Budget

STAFFING PLAN

City Clerk/Admin. Services Director 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

Deputy City Clerk 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

Executive Administrative Assistant 0 0.00 0.00 1.00

HR Generalist 0 0.00 0.00 1.00

TOTAL STAFF 2.00 2.00 2.00 4.00

EXPENDITURES BY TYPE

Personnel 166,434 166,602 168,402 425,187

Professional Services 0 0 14,000 30,000

General Services 50,014 46,317 122,441 309,500

Program Expenses 0 0 0 0

Supplies 7,218 9,700 7,600 13,200

Capital Outlay 0 0 0 0

Debt Service 0 0 0 0

Transfers 0 0 0 0

CITY CLERK 223,666 222,619 312,443 777,887

CITY OF BLACK HAWK
2015 BUDGET

GENERAL FUND

13



2013 2014 2014 June 30, 2014 2014 2015
Account Number Account Description Year-End Adopted Amended Year To Date Year-End City Manager

Actual Budget Budget Actual Estimate Request

010-1302-4131201 Regular Salaries/Wages / Full-Time 142,512 140,383 140,383 70,042 140,383 314,387
010-1302-4131400 Administration / Overtime 136 200 200 1,000 2,000 1,000
010-1302-4132100 Administration / Group Health Insurance 4,298 6,670 6,670 2,563 6,670 68,379
010-1302-4132200 Administration / Social Security 10,924 10,491 10,491 5,469 10,491 22,457
010-1302-4132301 Retirement / 401A 7,984 8,228 8,228 3,414 8,228 17,613
010-1302-4132500 Administration / Unemployment Compensation 426 411 411 213 411 881
010-1302-4132600 Administration / Workers Compensation 154 219 219 185 219 470
010-1302-4133319 Professional Services / Other (Consultants) 0 0 0 733 14,000 30,000
010-1302-4133400 Administration / Elections Expense 2,723 2,000 2,000 1,849 1,849 0
010-1302-4134506 Repairs & Maintenance / Equipment Maintenance 3,435 3,500 3,500 1,468 3,000 3,000
010-1302-4135058 Other Purchased Services / Travel & Training 2,335 1,600 1,600 1,222 14,000 40,000
010-1302-4135101 Insurance / Property & Casualty 0 0 0 0 0 225,000
010-1302-4135302 Communications / Postage 7,132 8,500 8,500 3,781 7,500 7,500
010-1302-4135401 Advertising / Legal 0 75 75 0 0 0
010-1302-4135402 Advertising / Classifieds 21,490 14,000 14,000 13,397 24,000 25,000
010-1302-4135409 Advertising / Other (Advertising) 0 50 50 0 0 0
010-1302-4135501 Dues, & Membership / Memberships 355 360 360 255 360 2,500
010-1302-4135502 Dues, & Membership / Subscriptions 32 32 32 32 32 500
010-1302-4135809 Program Expenses / Community Good Will 4,370 10,000 10,000 50,862 66,000 0
010-1302-4135901 Other Purchased Services / Records Preservation 2,429 700 700 677 700 500
010-1302-4135902 Other Purchased Services / Codification 3,028 3,000 3,000 0 3,000 3,000
010-1302-4135903 Other Purchased Services / Filing Fees 1,953 2,000 2,000 354 1,500 2,000
010-1302-4135905 Other Purchased Services / Fingerprinting 732 500 500 77 500 500
010-1302-4136101 General Supplies / Office 6,140 8,500 8,500 3,507 7,000 12,000
010-1302-4136110 General Supplies / Small Equipment 503 600 600 0 0 0
010-1302-4136206 Operating Supplies / Uniforms 575 600 600 0 600 1,200

TOTAL CITY CLERK (ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES) 223,666 222,619 222,619 161,101 312,443 777,887

CITY OF BLACK HAWK
2015 BUDGET
GENERAL FUND

CITY CLERK (ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES)

12/4/2014

14



2013 2014 2014 2015

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY Year-End Amended Year-End Proposed

Actual Budget Estimate Budget

STAFFING PLAN

Information Technology Director 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.00

Information Technology Manager 0.00 0.00 0.00 1.00

Network Administrator 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

TOTAL STAFF 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00

EXPENDITURES BY TYPE

Personnel 213,625 242,492 242,592 200,164

Professional Services 2,652 5,000 1,500 5,000

General Services 140,956 147,100 156,100 157,100

Program Expenses 0 0 0 0

Supplies 49,003 41,600 38,100 41,600

Capital Outlay 0 0 0 0

Debt Service 0 0 0 0

Transfers 0 0 0 0

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY 406,236 436,192 438,292 403,864

CITY OF BLACK HAWK
2015 BUDGET

GENERAL FUND

15



2013 2014 2014 June 30, 2014 2014 2015
Account Number Account Description Year-End Adopted Amended Year To Date Year-End City Manager

Actual Budget Budget Actual Estimate Request

010-1303-4131201 Regular Salaries/Wages / Full-Time 172,707 182,002 182,002 83,148 182,002 139,435
010-1303-4131400 Administration / Overtime 679 0 0 48 100 100
010-1303-4132100 Administration / Group Health Insurance 16,923 34,503 34,503 14,255 34,503 40,687
010-1303-4132200 Administration / Social Security 12,355 13,174 13,174 6,185 13,174 10,110
010-1303-4132301 Retirement / 401A 9,516 10,333 10,333 4,693 10,333 7,929
010-1303-4132500 Administration / Unemployment Compensation 504 517 517 242 517 396
010-1303-4132600 Administration / Workers Compensation 940 1,963 1,963 1,784 1,963 1,507
010-1303-4133304 Professional Services / Software/Hardware Support 2,652 5,000 5,000 1,112 1,500 5,000
010-1303-4134506 Repairs & Maintenance / Equipment Maintenance 25,740 30,000 30,000 17,147 35,000 35,000
010-1303-4134701 Vehicle Maintenance 0 2,100 2,100 0 2,100 2,100
010-1303-4135058 Other Purchased Services / Travel & Training 2,651 2,500 2,500 7,732 8,000 7,500
010-1303-4135301 Communications / Telephone 103,812 105,000 105,000 52,610 105,000 105,000
010-1303-4135501 Dues, & Membership / Memberships 173 0 0 0 0 0
010-1303-4135502 Dues, & Membership / Subscriptions 8,580 7,500 7,500 894 6,000 7,500
010-1303-4136101 General Supplies / Office 568 1,000 1,000 246 500 1,000
010-1303-4136103 General Supplies / Software 10,328 10,000 10,000 1,030 9,000 10,000
010-1303-4136110 General Supplies / Small Equipment 37,657 30,000 30,000 12,300 28,000 30,000
010-1303-4136206 Operating Supplies / Uniforms 450 600 600 213 600 600

TOTAL INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY 406,236 436,192 436,192 203,638 438,292 403,864

CITY OF BLACK HAWK
2015 BUDGET
GENERAL FUND

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY

12/4/2014

16



2013 2014 2014 2015

FINANCE Year-End Amended Year-End Proposed

Actual Budget Estimate Budget

STAFFING PLAN

Finance Director 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

Senior Acountant 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.00

Accountant 0.00 0.00 0.00 1.00

TOTAL STAFF 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00

EXPENDITURES BY TYPE

Personnel 274,306 279,236 260,220 279,730

Professional Services 54,793 64,000 65,000 65,000

General Services 3,881 6,000 3,400 5,000

Program Expenses 0 0 0 0

Supplies 2,124 3,100 2,100 2,100

Capital Outlay 0 0 0 0

Debt Service 0 0 0 0

Transfers 0 0 0 0

FINANCE 335,104 352,336 330,720 351,830

CITY OF BLACK HAWK
2015 BUDGET

GENERAL FUND

17



2013 2014 2014 June 30, 2014 2014 2015
Account Number Account Description Year-End Adopted Amended Year To Date Year-End City Manager

Actual Budget Budget Actual Estimate Request

010-1501-4151201 Regular Salaries/Wages / Full-Time 212,201 214,320 214,320 94,637 200,000 210,294
010-1501-4152100 Financial Administration / Group Health Insurance 33,915 36,444 36,444 17,608 32,000 41,480
010-1501-4152200 Financial Administration / Social Security 15,520 15,437 15,437 7,124 15,300 15,157
010-1501-4152301 Retirement / 401A 11,756 12,107 12,107 5,311 12,000 11,888
010-1501-4152500 Financial Administration / Unemployment Compensati 625 605 605 273 600 594
010-1501-4152600 Financial Administration / Workers Compensation 287 323 323 277 320 317
010-1501-4153200 Financial Administration / Accounting And Auditing 35,743 40,000 40,000 23,217 40,000 40,000
010-1501-4153304 Professional Services / Software/Hardware Support 18,000 20,000 20,000 18,000 20,000 20,000
010-1501-4153319 Professional Services / Other (Consultants) 1,050 4,000 4,000 4,831 5,000 5,000
010-1501-4154506 Repairs & Maintenance / Equipment Maintenance 0 500 500 0 0 500
010-1501-4155058 Other Purchased Services / Travel & Training 681 500 500 244 500 500
010-1501-4155200 Financial Administration / Printing And Binding 490 1,000 1,000 0 500 1,000
010-1501-4155501 Dues, & Membership / Memberships 1,616 1,000 1,000 674 1,000 1,000
010-1501-4155502 Dues, & Membership / Subscriptions 91 0 0 0 0 0
010-1501-4155805 Program Expenses / Training 941 3,000 3,000 0 1,000 2,000
010-1501-4156101 General Supplies / Office 756 2,000 2,000 678 1,000 1,000
010-1501-4156102 General Supplies / Stationary/Forms 824 500 500 0 500 500
010-1501-4156206 Operating Supplies / Uniforms 543 600 600 40 600 600
010-1501-4156303 Office Expenses / Bank Chgs/Int/Penalties 62 0 0 208 400 0

TOTAL FINANCE 335,104 352,336 352,336 173,123 330,720 351,830

CITY OF BLACK HAWK
2015 BUDGET
GENERAL FUND

FINANCE

12/4/2014

18



2013 2014 2014 2015

PLANNING & ZONING Year-End Amended Year-End Proposed

Actual Budget Estimate Budget

STAFFING PLAN

Community Planning & Development Administrator 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

Permit Technician 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

TOTAL STAFF 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00

EXPENDITURES BY TYPE

Personnel 190,030 190,455 191,308 199,273

Professional Services 394,832 423,500 423,500 434,000

General Services 10,398 16,378 24,793 54,250

Program Expenses 0 0 0 0

Supplies 7,714 13,200 12,800 13,800

Capital Outlay 0 0 0 0

Debt Service 0 0 0 0

Transfers 0 0 0 0

PLANNING & ZONING 602,974 643,533 652,401 701,323

CITY OF BLACK HAWK
2015

GENERAL FUND

19



2013 2014 2014 June 30, 2014 2014 2015
Account Number Account Description Year-End Adopted Amended Year To Date Year-End City Manager

Actual Budget Budget Actual Estimate Request

010-1901-4191201 Regular Salaries/Wages / Full-Time 147,080 145,503 145,503 65,891 145,503 151,828
010-1901-4191400 Planning & Zoning / Overtime 9 250 250 746 746 1,000
010-1901-4192100 Planning & Zoning / Group Health Insurance 22,390 24,719 24,719 11,317 24,719 25,581
010-1901-4192200 Planning & Zoning / Social Security 11,193 10,385 10,385 5,072 10,385 10,841
010-1901-4192301 Retirement / 401A 7,913 8,145 8,145 3,656 8,145 8,503
010-1901-4192500 Planning & Zoning / Unemployment Compensation 438 407 407 198 407 425
010-1901-4192600 Planning & Zoning / Workers Compensation 1,008 1,046 1,046 1,403 1,403 1,095
010-1901-4193301 Planning & Zoning / Temporary Employee 5,762 11,040 11,040 0 11,040 36,000
010-1901-4193304 Software/Hardware Support 0 0 0 10,000 10,000 13,000
010-1901-4193319 Professional Services / Other (Consultants) 172,314 323,500 323,500 11,375 323,500 334,000
010-1901-4193321 Professional Services / Planning 91,245 0 0 23,923 0 0
010-1901-4193322 Professional Services / Services Billed Out 131,274 100,000 100,000 75,160 100,000 100,000
010-1901-4194701 Vehicle Operation & Maint / Vehicle Maintenance 1,445 1,500 1,500 0 0 0
010-1901-4194703 Vehicle Operation & Maint / Gas And Oil 362 400 400 230 400 400
010-1901-4195058 Other Purchased Services / Travel & Training 1,285 2,238 2,238 2,153 2,153 3,600
010-1901-4195301 Communications / Conference Calls 107 100 100 25 100 100
010-1901-4195501 Dues, & Membership / Memberships 1,373 900 900 450 900 950
010-1901-4195502 Dues, & Membership / Subscriptions 64 200 200 30 200 200
010-1901-4196101 General Supplies / Office 4,209 10,000 10,000 4,665 10,000 11,000
010-1901-4196102 General Supplies / Stationary/Forms 445 800 800 475 600 600
010-1901-4196107 General Supplies / Books 2,209 800 800 50 600 600
010-1901-4196110 General Supplies / Small Equipment 294 1,000 1,000 582 1,000 1,000
010-1901-4196206 Operating Supplies / Uniforms 557 600 600 0 600 600

TOTAL PLANNING & ZONING 602,974 643,533 643,533 217,403 652,401 701,323

CITY OF BLACK HAWK
2015 BUDGET
GENERAL FUND

PLANNING & ZONING

12/4/2014

20



2013 2014 2014 2015

POLICE DEPARTMENT Year-End Amended Year-End Proposed

Actual Budget Estimate Budget

STAFFING PLAN

Police Officers 14.00 15.00 15.00 15.00

Police Sergeants 6.00 6.00 6.00 6.00

Police Detectives 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00

Police Officer- Grant 1.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Admin Asst/ Property Evidence Tech 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

Records Specialist 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75

Records Supervisor 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

Communications Officer 7.00 7.00 7.00 7.00

Police Chief 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

TOTAL STAFF 33.75 33.75 33.75 33.75

EXPENDITURES BY TYPE

Personnel 3,186,477 3,351,763 3,234,805 3,425,149

Professional Services 62,196 39,980 30,000 33,880

General Services 73,547 98,800 75,585 88,800

Program Expenses 0 0 0 0

Supplies 117,178 113,300 120,500 108,550

Capital Outlay 0 0 0 0

Debt Service 0 0 0 0

Transfers 0 0 0 0

POLICE DEPARTMENT 3,439,397 3,603,843 3,460,890 3,656,379

CITY OF BLACK HAWK
2015 BUDGET

GENERAL FUND

21



2013 2014 2014 June 30, 2014 2014 2015
Account Number Account Description Year-End Adopted Amended Year To Date Year-End City Manager

Actual Budget Budget Actual Estimate Request

010-2101-4211201 Regular Salaries/Wages / Full-Time 2,045,408 2,114,381 2,114,381 896,734 2,004,700 2,144,444
010-2101-4211400 Police / Overtime 65,593 55,000 55,000 29,852 65,000 55,000
010-2101-4212100 Police / Group Health Insurance 292,472 353,715 353,715 171,543 353,715 390,905
010-2101-4212200 Police / Social Security 156,483 153,747 153,747 69,422 153,747 155,210
010-2101-4212301 Retirement / 401A 110,757 120,586 120,586 50,115 110,000 121,733
010-2101-4212500 Police / Unemployment Compensation 6,194 6,029 6,029 2,714 5,900 6,087
010-2101-4212600 Police / Workers Compensation 37,355 53,563 53,563 44,709 45,000 51,232
010-2101-4213304 Professional Services / Software/Hardware Support 13,963 23,880 23,880 13,481 14,000 23,880
010-2101-4213317 Professional Services / Public Relations 2,063 2,000 2,000 980 2,000 2,000
010-2101-4213322 Professional Services / Professional Services 37,208 6,000 6,000 4,908 9,000 0
010-2101-4213323 Professional Services / Investigations/Major 8,928 8,000 8,000 2,103 5,000 8,000
010-2101-4214506 Repairs & Maintenance / Equipment Maintenance 4,267 10,000 10,000 0 2,500 0
010-2101-4214701 Vehicle Operation & Maint / Vehicle Maintenance 9,864 20,000 20,000 4,398 10,000 10,000
010-2101-4214703 Vehicle Operation & Maint / Gas And Oil 28,903 32,000 32,000 7,950 32,000 32,000
010-2101-4215058 Other Purchased Services / Travel & Training 19,357 18,000 18,000 5,948 15,000 18,000
010-2101-4215301 Communications / Telephone 741 4,700 4,700 272 1,400 4,700
010-2101-4215501 Dues, & Membership / Memberships 4,023 3,600 3,600 3,445 3,600 3,600
010-2101-4215502 Dues, & Membership / Subscriptions 832 1,000 1,000 800 800 1,000
010-2101-4215805 Program Expenses / Training 0 0 0 20 0 0
010-2101-4216101 General Supplies / Office 15,834 18,000 18,000 5,572 14,000 16,000
010-2101-4216102 General Supplies / Stationary/Forms 4,855 3,000 3,000 375 1,000 3,000
010-2101-4216105 General Supplies / Victim Service Supplies 11,250 15,000 15,000 7,500 15,000 15,000
010-2101-4216107 General Supplies / Books 2,280 2,700 2,700 (708) 3,400 2,700
010-2101-4216110 General Supplies / Small Equipment 51,714 34,500 34,500 28,817 44,000 34,500
010-2101-4217402 Machinery And Equipment / Vehicles 1,320 0 0 0 0 0
010-2101-4231201 Grant 2009Rkwx0185 / Regular Salaries/Wages 4,265 0 0 0 0 0
010-2101-4232100 Grant 2009Rkwx0185 / Group Health Insurance 526 0 0 0 0 0
010-2101-4232200 Grant 2009Rkwx0185 / Social Security 325 0 0 0 0 0
010-2101-4232301 Grant 2009Rkwxo185 / 401A 115 0 0 0 0 0
010-2101-4232500 Grant 2009Rkwx0185 / Unemployment Compensation 13 0 0 0 0 0
010-2101-4232600 Grant 2009Rkwx0185 / Workers Compensation 76 0 0 74 0 0
010-2102-4215829 Program Expenses / Firing Range Program 9,545 12,000 12,000 7,743 13,000 13,000
010-2102-4216206 Operating Supplies / Uniforms 13,617 17,000 17,000 8,512 17,000 17,000
010-2102-4216207 Operating Supplies / Body Armor 4,561 9,000 9,000 2,642 11,000 5,250

TOTAL POLICE DEPT - LAW ENFORCEMENT 2,964,706 3,097,401 3,097,401 1,369,922 2,951,762 3,134,241

CITY OF BLACK HAWK
2015 BUDGET
GENERAL FUND

POLICE DEPT - LAW ENFORCEMENT

12/4/2014

22



2013 2014 2014 June 30, 2014 2014 2015
Account Number Account Description Year-End Adopted Amended Year To Date Year-End City Manager

Actual Budget Budget Actual Estimate Request

010-2105-4211201 Regular Salaries/Wages / Full-Time 333,135 348,977 348,977 154,524 348,977 353,534
010-2105-4211400 Police / Overtime 16,492 20,000 20,000 8,817 22,000 20,000
010-2105-4212100 Police / Group Health Insurance 71,451 78,508 78,508 42,742 78,508 79,265
010-2105-4212200 Police / Social Security 26,118 25,621 25,621 12,182 25,621 25,883
010-2105-4212301 Retirement / 401A 18,260 20,095 20,095 8,828 20,095 20,300
010-2105-4212500 Police / Unemployment Compensation 1,023 1,005 1,005 477 1,006 1,015
010-2105-4212600 Police / Workers Compensation 416 536 536 442 536 541
010-2105-4213322 Professional Services / Professional Services 34 100 100 0 0 0
010-2105-4214506 Repairs & Maintenance / Equipment Maintenance 4,557 6,000 6,000 1,140 6,000 16,000
010-2105-4215501 Dues, & Membership / Memberships 685 1,000 1,000 785 785 1,000
010-2105-4215805 Program Expenses / Training 318 2,500 2,500 3,257 3,500 2,500
010-2105-4216206 Operating Supplies / Uniforms 2,202 2,100 2,100 580 2,100 2,100

TOTAL POLICE DEPT - DISPATCH 474,691 506,442 506,442 233,774 509,128 522,138

CITY OF BLACK HAWK
2015 BUDGET
GENERAL FUND

POLICE DEPT - DISPATCH

12/4/2014

23



2013 2014 2014 2015

FIRE DEPARTMENT Year-End Amended Year-End Proposed

Actual Budget Estimate Budget

STAFFING PLAN

Fire Fighters 12.00 12.00 12.00 12.00

Fire Lieutenant 3.00 3.00 3.00 3.00

Fire Captain 3.00 3.00 3.00 3.00

Fire Chief 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

TOTAL STAFF 19.00 19.00 19.00 19.00

EXPENDITURES BY TYPE

Personnel 2,180,543 2,207,530 2,207,530 2,307,187

Professional Services 8,139 7,500 7,500 17,500

General Services 101,299 124,000 143,595 92,000

Program Expenses 0 0 0 0

Supplies 57,455 99,250 92,000 92,500

Capital Outlay 15,127 65,500 62,000 46,500

Debt Service 0 0 0 0

Transfers 0 0 0 0

FIRE DEPARTMENT 2,362,564 2,503,780 2,512,625 2,555,687

CITY OF BLACK HAWK
2015 BUDGET

GENERAL FUND

24



2013 2014 2014 June 30, 2014 2014 2015
Account Number Account Description Year-End Adopted Amended Year To Date Year-End City Manager

Actual Budget Budget Actual Estimate Request

010-2201-4221201 Regular Salaries/Wages / Full-Time 1,596,849 1,595,103 1,595,103 734,274 1,595,103 1,678,643
010-2201-4221400 Fire / Overtime 89,996 90,000 90,000 42,431 90,000 90,000
010-2201-4222100 Fire / Group Health Insurance 296,671 301,840 301,840 164,151 301,840 306,320
010-2201-4222200 Fire / Social Security 24,027 22,961 22,961 11,066 22,961 24,173
010-2201-4222302 Retirement / Fppa 122,644 126,683 126,683 56,912 126,683 133,366
010-2201-4222500 Fire / Unemployment Compensation 4,962 4,751 4,751 2,285 4,751 5,001
010-2201-4222600 Fire / Workers Compensation 45,395 66,192 66,192 58,087 66,192 69,684
010-2201-4223319 Professional Services / Other (Consultants) 8,139 7,500 7,500 2,548 7,500 17,500
010-2201-4224506 Repairs & Maintenance / Station Equipment Mainten 1,067 2,000 2,000 207 1,000 2,000
010-2201-4224601 Buildings / Station Maintenance 1,778 24,000 24,000 1,363 36,000 5,000
010-2201-4224602 Buildings / Station Repairs 2,311 4,000 4,000 142 1,000 3,000
010-2201-4224603 Buildings / Station Supplies 2,496 1,500 1,500 696 1,500 1,500
010-2201-4224604 Buildings / Station Tools 399 500 500 132 300 500
010-2201-4224606 Buildings / Fire Station Equipment 3,731 8,000 8,000 1,500 20,000 3,000
010-2201-4224701 Vehicle Operation & Maint / Truck Maintenance 24,007 15,000 15,000 18,728 21,000 15,000
010-2201-4224703 Vehicle Operation & Maint / Truck Gas/Oil 13,692 10,000 10,000 3,876 8,000 8,000
010-2201-4224706 Vehicle Operation & Maint / Truck Tools 2,293 5,000 5,000 4,995 4,995 5,000
010-2201-4225058 Other Purchased Services / Travel & Training 20,142 20,000 20,000 12,115 19,000 25,000
010-2201-4225059 Other Purchased Services 831 1,500 1,500 1,090 1,500 1,500
010-2201-4225060 Health & Fitness Program 21,338 22,000 22,000 5,944 21,000 15,000
010-2201-4225301 Communications / Telephone 1,171 1,500 1,500 600 1,500 1,500
010-2201-4225501 Dues, & Membership / Memberships 767 3,000 3,000 1,155 1,800 2,000
010-2201-4225502 Dues, & Membership / Subscriptions 3,963 3,000 3,000 1,166 2,000 2,000
010-2201-4225810 Program Expenses / Fire Prevention Week 1,312 3,000 3,000 775 3,000 2,000
010-2201-4226101 General Supplies / Office 3,654 4,000 4,000 1,965 3,500 4,000
010-2201-4226102 General Supplies / Stationary/Forms 346 400 400 670 800 700
010-2201-4226107 General Supplies / Books 1,088 1,500 1,500 217 1,000 1,000
010-2201-4226110 General Supplies / Equipment 226 14,000 14,000 7,056 14,000 14,000
010-2201-4226206 Operating Supplies / Uniforms 13,317 12,000 12,000 58 12,000 12,000
010-2201-4226215 Operating Supplies / Medical Supplies 0 15,500 15,500 0 10,000 7,500
010-2201-4226216 Operating Supplies / Safety Gear 23,006 21,000 21,000 10,012 20,000 20,000
010-2201-4226217 Operating Supplies / Hazmat Materials 628 1,000 1,000 0 1,000 1,000
010-2201-4226218 Operating Supplies / Fire Extinguishers 0 100 100 0 0 100
010-2201-4226219 Operating Supplies / Personal Protective Equipment 12,792 17,000 17,000 14,237 17,000 20,000
010-2201-4226220 Operating Supplies / Linen 0 200 200 0 200 200
010-2201-4226221 Operating Supplies / Other Fire Supplies 2,398 8,550 8,550 8,336 8,500 8,000
010-2201-4226223 Emergency Management 0 50,000 50,000 8,532 50,000 35,000
010-2201-4226224 Operating Supplies / Hoses And Nozzles 7,515 8,000 8,000 0 5,000 5,000
010-2201-4226225 Honor Guard 0 4,000 4,000 913 4,000 4,000
010-2201-4227405 Machinery And Equipment / Radios/Radio Equipment 7,612 7,500 7,500 460 7,000 6,500

TOTAL FIRE DEPARTMENT 2,362,564 2,503,780 2,503,780 1,178,695 2,512,625 2,555,687

CITY OF BLACK HAWK
2015 BUDGET
GENERAL FUND

FIRE DEPARTMENT

12/4/2014

25



2013 2014 2014 2015

PUBLIC WORKS DEPARTMENT Year-End Amended Year-End Proposed

Actual Budget Estimate Budget

STAFFING PLAN

Administrative Assistant 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

Project Manager 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

Engineer Assoc / GIS Tech 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

Street Maintenance l 3.00 3.00 3.00 3.00

Street Maintenance ll 3.00 3.00 3.00 3.00

Street Superintendent 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

Fleet Technician Aide 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

Fleet Inventory & Purchasing Assist 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

Fleet Technician l 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00

Fleet Technician ll 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

Fleet Superintendent 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

Facilities Maintenance Worker 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00

Facilities Maintenance Superintendent 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

Public Works Director 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

TOTAL STAFF 20.00 20.00 20.00 20.00

EXPENDITURES BY TYPE

Personnel 1,821,786 1,916,985 1,908,380 1,924,338

Professional Services 64,311 201,000 121,000 166,000

General Services 1,006,742 1,258,000 1,120,950 1,189,900

Program Expenses 368,063 410,000 410,000 450,000

Supplies 109,314 157,000 133,500 145,500

Capital Outlay 0 0 0 0

Debt Service 0 0 0 0

Transfers 0 0 0 0

PUBLIC WORKS DEPARTMENT 3,370,215 3,942,985 3,693,830 3,875,738

CITY OF BLACK HAWK
2015 BUDGET

GENERAL FUND

26



2013 2014 2014 June 30, 2014 2014 2015
Account Number Account Description Year-End Adopted Amended Year To Date Year-End City Manager

Actual Budget Budget Actual Estimate Request

010-3101-4311201 Regular Salaries/Wages / Full-Time 340,875 353,387 353,387 157,652 353,387 366,940
010-3101-4312100 Public Works / Group Health Insurance 51,966 52,123 52,123 27,027 52,123 53,640
010-3101-4312200 Public Works / Social Security 23,603 25,952 25,952 11,872 25,952 26,958
010-3101-4312301 Retirement / 401A 19,138 20,354 20,354 9,080 20,354 21,144
010-3101-4312500 Public Works / Unemployment Compensation 1,003 1,018 1,018 465 1,018 1,057
010-3101-4312600 Public Works / Workers Compensation 2,379 3,369 3,369 9,650 3,369 3,499
010-3101-4313304 Professional Services / Software/Hardware Support (4,400) 20,000 20,000 1,340 5,000 10,000
010-3101-4313307 Professional Services / Surveys 3,009 25,000 25,000 0 10,000 15,000
010-3101-4313308 Professional Services / Engineering 4,522 40,000 40,000 1,055 10,000 40,000
010-3101-4313315 Professional Services / Signal Maint & Repair 18,653 55,000 55,000 4,738 55,000 40,000
010-3101-4313319 Professional Services / Other (Consultants) 17,649 20,000 20,000 0 10,000 10,000
010-3101-4313320 Professional Services / Environmental 75 0 0 0 0 10,000
010-3101-4314101 Utilities / Gas & Electric 341,174 286,000 286,000 143,587 350,000 375,000
010-3101-4314102 Utilities / Sewer 20,453 28,000 28,000 14,857 30,000 30,000
010-3101-4314103 Utilities / Trash Removal 38,538 45,000 45,000 14,245 40,000 45,000
010-3101-4314506 Repairs & Maintenance / Equipment Maintenance 0 3,000 3,000 0 3,000 3,000
010-3101-4315058 Other Purchased Services / Travel & Training 814 4,000 4,000 181 4,000 4,000
010-3101-4315200 Public Works / Printing And Binding 200 1,000 1,000 0 500 1,000
010-3101-4315403 Advertising / Publications 428 1,000 1,000 0 500 1,000
010-3101-4315501 Dues, & Membership / Memberships 1,262 4,500 4,500 962 2,000 2,000
010-3101-4315502 Dues, & Membership / Subscriptions 288 2,000 2,000 0 500 1,000
010-3101-4315826 Program Expenses / Banners 0 14,000 14,000 150 14,000 14,000
010-3101-4315830 Program Expenses / Christmas Decoration 138,928 145,000 145,000 24,296 145,000 0
010-3101-4315831 Program Expenses / Summer Flowers 20,071 45,000 45,000 21,784 30,000 0
010-3101-4316101 General Supplies / Office 6,759 7,000 7,000 7,840 10,000 9,000
010-3101-4316107 General Supplies / Books 0 1,000 1,000 309 1,000 1,000
010-3101-4316206 Operating Supplies / Uniforms 13,894 15,000 15,000 3,819 15,000 15,000
010-3101-4317403 Machinery And Equipment / Furniture And Fixtures 0 5,000 5,000 0 0 0

TOTAL PUBLIC WORKS - ADMINISTRATION 1,061,280 1,222,703 1,222,703 454,909 1,191,703 1,099,238

CITY OF BLACK HAWK
2015 BUDGET
GENERAL FUND

PUBLIC WORKS - ADMINISTRATION

12/4/2014

27



2013 2014 2014 June 30, 2014 2014 2015
Account Number Account Description Year-End Adopted Amended Year To Date Year-End City Manager

Actual Budget Budget Actual Estimate Request

010-3102-4311201 Regular Salaries/Wages / Full-Time 425,378 438,088 438,088 180,161 458,483 458,483
010-3102-4311203 Regular Salaries/Wages / Part Time Salaries 0 24,000 24,000 0 0 0
010-3102-4311400 Public Works / Overtime 23,452 25,000 25,000 12,301 25,000 25,000
010-3102-4312100 Public Works / Group Health Insurance 95,666 116,200 116,200 55,798 116,200 109,918
010-3102-4312200 Public Works / Social Security 33,496 33,763 33,763 14,251 33,763 33,555
010-3102-4312301 Retirement / 401A 23,037 26,481 26,481 10,042 26,481 26,318
010-3102-4312500 Public Works / Unemployment Compensation 1,310 1,324 1,324 558 1,324 1,316
010-3102-4312600 Public Works / Workers Compensation 10,910 14,174 14,174 11,063 14,174 14,085
010-3102-4314202 Cleaning Services / Snow Plowing 9,433 12,000 12,000 8,012 16,000 16,000
010-3102-4314304 Rental And Leases / Equipment & Tools 15,998 45,000 45,000 238 20,000 45,000
010-3102-4314402 Rentals / Equipment Rental 46 0 0 0 9,000 10,000
010-3102-4314511 Repairs & Maintenance / Streets 66,163 100,000 100,000 5,400 50,000 130,000
010-3102-4314513 Repairs & Maintenance / Stairs 3,200 2,000 2,000 0 500 500
010-3102-4314515 Repairs & Maintenance / Sweeping 1,515 14,000 14,000 1,122 3,000 3,000
010-3102-4314516 Repairs & Maintenance / Striping 21,152 25,000 25,000 505 3,000 20,000
010-3102-4314517 Repairs & Maintenance / Storm Drainage 125 10,000 10,000 587 2,000 8,000
010-3102-4314520 Repairs & Maintenance / Stroehle Square 1,899 12,000 12,000 48 3,000 4,000
010-3102-4314701 Vehicle Operation & Maint / Parts & Accessories 28,612 40,000 40,000 19,214 40,000 54,000
010-3102-4314703 Vehicle Operation & Maint / Gas And Oil 46,228 60,000 60,000 14,409 46,000 46,000
010-3102-4314710 Vehicle Operation & Maint / Shop Supplies 8,398 8,000 8,000 4,509 9,000 9,000
010-3102-4315058 Other Purchased Services / Travel & Training 394 7,000 7,000 419 7,000 7,000
010-3102-4315832 Weed Management 2,321 10,000 10,000 35 5,000 5,000
010-3102-4316201 Operating Supplies / Small Tools 3,143 4,500 4,500 774 3,000 3,000
010-3102-4316229 Operating Supplies / Sand 40,151 45,000 45,000 25,773 45,000 45,000
010-3102-4316230 Operating Supplies / Base 0 2,000 2,000 1,010 2,000 2,000
010-3102-4316232 Operating Supplies / Signs 6,167 12,000 12,000 4,783 12,000 12,000
010-3102-4316243 Operating Supplies / Paving Materials 7,073 12,000 12,000 1,272 8,000 10,000
010-3102-4316250 Operating Supplies / Landscaping 11,530 15,000 15,000 4,370 10,000 10,000
010-3102-4316251 Open Space 15 10,000 10,000 434 5,000 10,000
010-3102-4317420 Machinery And Equipment / Equipment 8,670 10,000 10,000 0 5,000 10,000

TOTAL PUBLIC WORKS - STREETS 895,483 1,134,530 1,134,530 377,087 978,925 1,128,175

CITY OF BLACK HAWK
2015 BUDGET
GENERAL FUND

PUBLIC WORKS - STREETS

12/4/2014

28



2013 2014 2014 June 30, 2014 2014 2015
Account Number Account Description Year-End Adopted Amended Year To Date Year-End City Manager

Actual Budget Budget Actual Estimate Request

010-3103-4311201 Regular Salaries/Wages / Full-Time 389,485 391,336 391,336 176,776 391,336 403,139
010-3103-4311400 Public Works / Overtime 7,785 7,500 7,500 168 2,500 2,500
010-3103-4312100 Public Works / Group Health Insurance 67,201 75,766 75,766 34,775 75,766 65,683
010-3103-4312200 Public Works / Social Security 29,643 28,611 28,611 13,395 28,611 29,480
010-3103-4312301 Retirement / 401A 21,384 22,440 22,440 9,921 22,440 23,122
010-3103-4312500 Public Works / Unemployment Compensation 1,175 1,122 1,122 524 1,122 1,156
010-3103-4312600 Public Works / Workers Compensation 5,862 8,116 8,116 319 8,116 8,362
010-3103-4313304 Software/Hardware Support 5,084 6,000 6,000 2,223 6,000 6,000
010-3103-4313316 Wash Bay Maintenance 6,771 7,000 7,000 1,528 7,000 7,000
010-3103-4314507 Repairs & Maintenance / Maintain Fuel System 369 6,000 6,000 105 4,000 4,000
010-3103-4314508 Repairs & Maintenance / Maintain Tools 795 6,000 6,000 1,965 6,000 6,000
010-3103-4314701 Vehicle Operation & Maint / Parts & Accessories 4,402 7,000 7,000 3,620 7,000 7,000
010-3103-4314709 Vehicle Operation & Maint / Mechanic Shop Supplies 8,374 12,000 12,000 3,843 12,000 12,000
010-3103-4314712 Vehicle Operation & Maint / Gilpin Ambulance Repai 16,716 30,000 30,000 5,214 15,000 15,000
010-3103-4315058 Other Purchased Services / Travel & Training 2,583 6,000 6,000 957 6,000 6,000
010-3103-4316101 General Supplies / Office 4,012 3,500 3,500 1,521 3,500 3,500
010-3103-4316110 General Supplies / Small Tools & Equipment 5,752 10,000 10,000 1,134 8,000 8,000

TOTAL PUBLIC WORKS - FLEET 577,394 628,391 628,391 257,991 604,391 607,942

CITY OF BLACK HAWK
2015 BUDGET
GENERAL FUND

PUBLIC WORKS - FLEET

12/4/2014

29



2013 2014 2014 June 30, 2014 2014 2015
Account Number Account Description Year-End Adopted Amended Year To Date Year-End City Manager

Actual Budget Budget Actual Estimate Request

010-3104-4311201 Regular Salaries/Wages / Full-Time 185,999 185,435 185,435 84,333 185,435 187,109
010-3104-4311400 Public Works / Overtime 608 2,000 2,000 0 2,000 2,000
010-3104-4312100 Public Works / Group Health Insurance 31,196 29,195 29,195 18,758 29,195 29,420
010-3104-4312200 Public Works / Social Security 14,262 13,276 13,276 6,434 13,276 13,374
010-3104-4312301 Retirement / 401A 10,009 10,412 10,412 4,572 10,412 10,490
010-3104-4312500 Public Works / Unemployment Compensation 558 521 521 252 521 524
010-3104-4312600 Public Works / Workers Compensation 4,405 6,022 6,022 5,059 6,022 6,066
010-3104-4314201 Cleaning Services / Custodial 17,078 20,000 20,000 7,361 19,000 25,000
010-3104-4314220 Cleaning Services / Commercial Bldg 350 5,000 5,000 0 0 5,000
010-3104-4314503 Repairs & Maintenance / Tools 20,986 15,000 15,000 1,265 2,500 7,500
010-3104-4314506 Repairs & Maintenance / Equipment Maintenance 0 3,000 3,000 0 1,000 3,000
010-3104-4314608 Sand/Salt Storage Shed 88 2,500 2,500 0 750 2,500
010-3104-4314609 Crooks Palace 989 0 0 508 3,700 3,700
010-3104-4314611 Buildings / Fire Department Bldg 5,432 5,000 5,000 781 5,500 6,000
010-3104-4314616 Buildings / Bus Barn 4,692 10,000 10,000 5,244 8,000 14,000
010-3104-4314617 Buildings /1020 Dory Hill 2,156 0 0 204 2,000 2,000
010-3104-4314618 Buildings / PW Facility 0 1,000 1,000 5,637 8,000 12,000
010-3104-4314619 Buildings / Post Office 637 4,000 4,000 445 2,000 3,000
010-3104-4314620 Buildings / Commercial Bldg 4,911 12,000 12,000 7,457 9,500 14,200
010-3104-4314701 Vehicle Operation & Maint / Parts & Accessories 2,222 5,000 5,000 812 4,000 5,000
010-3104-4314710 Shop Supplies 2,029 2,000 2,000 1,861 3,000 4,000
010-3104-4315058 Other Purchased Services / Travel & Training 0 3,000 3,000 0 3,000 3,000
010-3104-4316201 Operating Supplies / Small Tools 119 0 0 0

TOTAL PUBLIC WORKS - FACILITIES 308,727 334,361 334,361 150,982 318,811 358,883

CITY OF BLACK HAWK
2015 BUDGET
GENERAL FUND

PUBLIC WORKS - FACILITIES

12/4/2014

30



2013 2014 2014 June 30, 2014 2014 2015
Account Number Account Description Year-End Adopted Amended Year To Date Year-End City Manager

Actual Budget Budget Actual Estimate Request

010-3105-4313319 Other (Consultants) 19,719 35,000 35,000 7,350 25,000 35,000
010-3105-4314101 Gas & Electric 16,752 25,000 25,000 8,954 25,000 47,500
010-3105-4314506 Equipment Maintenance 42,914 30,000 30,000 7,820 20,000 45,000
010-3105-4314518 Bus Stop Maintenance 750 15,000 15,000 0 15,000 18,000
010-3105-4314703 Gas And Oil 49,292 50,000 50,000 15,771 50,000 55,000
010-3105-4315403 Publications-Marketing 777 15,000 15,000 1,105 15,000 15,000
010-3105-4315501 Memberships 3,596 8,000 8,000 2,260 5,000 6,000
010-3105-4315810 Contracted Bus Service 368,063 410,000 410,000 158,448 410,000 450,000
010-3105-4315812 Next Bus Stop Contract 25,469 35,000 35,000 0 35,000 10,000

TOTAL PUBLIC WORKS - TRANSPORTATION 527,332 623,000 623,000 201,707 600,000 681,500

CITY OF BLACK HAWK
2015 BUDGET
GENERAL FUND

PUBLIC WORKS - TRANSPORTATION

12/4/2014

31



2013 2014 2014 June 30, 2014 2014 2015

Account Number Account Description Year-End Adopted Amended Year To Date Year-End City Manager
Actual Budget Budget Actual Estimate Request

010-9500-4919504 Transfers Out / Water Fund 0 8,500,000 8,500,000 0 8,500,000 0
010-9500-4919505 Transfers Out / Debt Service Fund 2,354,523 4,141,156 4,141,156 1,361,751 4,393,397 2,904,744
010-9500-4919507 Transfers Out / Capital Projects-General 1,750,000 12,000,000 12,000,000 0 12,000,000 9,300,000

TOTAL INTERGOVERNMENTAL TRANSFERS 4,104,523 24,641,156 24,641,156 1,361,751 24,893,397 12,204,744

CITY OF BLACK HAWK
2015 BUDGET
GENERAL FUND

INTERGOVERNMENTAL TRANSFERS

12/4/2014

32



2013 2014 2014 June 30, 2014 2014 2015
Year-End Adopted Amended Y-T-D Year-End City Manager

Actual Budget Budget Actual Estimate Budget

BEGINNING FUND BALANCE 1,739,207 1,492,759 1,492,759 1,492,759 1,492,759 1,494,759

REVENUES 3,552 4,000 4,000 789 2,000 241

EXPENDITURES 250,000 0 0 0 0 1,495,000

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) (246,448) 4,000 4,000 789 2,000 (1,494,759)

ENDING FUND BALANCE 1,492,759 1,496,759 1,496,759 1,493,548 1,494,759 0

CITY OF BLACK HAWK

IMPACT FEES FUND SUMMARY

2015 BUDGET

12/4/201433



2013 2014 2014 June 30, 2014 2014 2015

Account Number Account Description Year-End Adopted Amended Year To Date Year-End City Manager
Actual Budget Budget Actual Estimate Request

IMPACT FEE FUND

201-0000-3610100 Revenue / Int Income On Investments 3,552 4,000 4,000 789 2,000 241

TOTAL IMPACT FEE FUND 3,552 4,000 4,000 789 2,000 241

CITY OF BLACK HAWK
2015 BUDGET

IMPACT FEE FUND

12/4/2014

34



2013 2014 2014 June 30, 2014 2014 2015

Account Number Account Description Year-End Adopted Amended Year To Date Year-End City Manager
Actual Budget Budget Actual Estimate Request

201-0000-5017702 Reimbursement / Parking Impact Fee 250,000 0 0 0 0 1,495,000

TOTAL IMPACT FEE FUND 250,000 0 0 0 0 1,495,000

CITY OF BLACK HAWK
2015 BUDGET

IMPACT FEE FUND

IMPACT FEE FUND

12/4/2014

35



2013 2014 2014 June 30, 2014 2014 2015

Year-End Adopted Amended Y-T-D Year-End City Manager

Actual Budget Budget Actual Estimate Budget

BEGINNING FUND BALANCE 6,197,842 4,220,082 4,220,082 4,220,082 4,220,082 4,612,647

REVENUES 3,684,702 3,549,064 3,549,064 38,309 3,655,443 3,410,000

EXPENDITURES 5,662,462 2,954,890 2,954,890 1,442,273 3,262,878 7,201,025

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) (1,977,760) 594,174 594,174 (1,403,964) 392,565 (3,791,025)

ENDING FUND BALANCE 4,220,082 4,814,256 4,814,256 2,816,118 4,612,647 821,622

CITY OF BLACK HAWK

PRESERVATION & RESTORATION FUND SUMMARY

2015 BUDGET

12/4/201436



2013 2014 2014 June 30, 2014 2014 2015

Account Number Account Description Year-End Adopted Amended Year To Date Year-End City Manager
Actual Budget Budget Actual Estimate Request

PRESERVATION & RESTORATION FUND

203-0000-3350800 State Shared Revenues / Preservation 3,457,536 3,500,000 3,500,000 0 3,496,881 3,400,000
203-0000-3610100 Revenue / Int Income On Investments 10,789 13,000 13,000 2,246 10,000 10,000
203-0000-3611800 Revenue / Lace House Reloc Reimb 216,377 36,064 36,064 36,063 36,063 0
203-0000-3950300 Transfer In / Dory Hill Cemetery 0 0 0 0 112,499 0

TOTAL PRESERVATION & RESTORATION FUND 3,684,702 3,549,064 3,549,064 38,309 3,655,443 3,410,000

CITY OF BLACK HAWK
2015 BUDGET

PRESERVATION & RESTORATION FUND

12/4/2014

37



2013 2014 2014 June 30, 2014 2014 2015
Account Number Account Description Year-End Adopted Amended Year To Date Year-End City Manager

Actual Budget Budget Actual Estimate Request

203-0000-5023301 Preservation/Temporary Employee 0 11,040 11,040 0 11,040 36,000
203-0000-5025800 Preservation/Program Expense (Consultants) 0 0 0 0 345,000 370,000
203-0000-5025801 Program Expense/Dory Hill Cemetery 0 0 0 0 0 10,000
203-0000-5025802 Program Expenses / Horn Street Stairs 0 350,000 350,000 7,235 20,000 0
203-0000-5025821 Program Expenses / Street Lights 82,071 120,000 120,000 0 60,000 156,000
203-0000-5025824 Program Expenses / Rock Walls 154,629 850,000 850,000 27,549 100,000 850,000
203-0000-5025835 Program Expenses / Capital/Grant Projects 1,076,867 302,000 302,000 113,584 320,000 0
203-0000-5025836 Program Expenses / Colorado Preservation, Inc Conf. 6,173 9,500 9,500 676 9,500 12,500
203-0000-5025838 Program Expenses / Underground Utilities 0 750,000 750,000 0 20,000 700,000
203-0000-5025840 Program Expenses / Police Building 131,067 10,000 10,000 395,235 420,000 100,000
203-0000-5025841 Program Expenses / City Hall Annex 1,926 10,000 10,000 1,362 5,000 0
203-0000-5025842 Program Expenses / City Hall Building 2,363 30,000 30,000 548 1,000 30,000
203-0000-5025843 Program Expenses / Mountain City 69,151 100,000 100,000 1,077 100,000 22,000
203-0000-5025846 Program Expenses / 221 Gregory-Lucky Star 0 6,000 6,000 285 2,000 2,000
203-0000-5025851 Program Expenses / Crooks Palace Rehab 489 2,000 2,000 631 0 0
203-0000-5025859 Program Expenses / Blm Acquisition 0 300,000 300,000 16,468 60,000 250,000
203-0000-5025861 Program Expenses / Refundable Tax Sb232 Grnt 802,867 39,150 39,150 447,359 722,238 582,525
203-0000-5025867 Program Expenses / Historic Pres Commission 17,233 18,200 18,200 1,957 18,200 23,000
203-0000-5026101 Office 651 0 0 0 0 0
203-0000-5026867 Program Expenses / Preservation Easement 3,316,976 47,000 47,000 428,307 1,048,900 1,457,000
203-0000-5029501 Transfers / General Fund 0 0 0 0 0 2,600,000

TOTAL PRESERVATION & RESTORATION FUND 5,662,462 2,954,890 2,954,890 1,442,273 3,262,878 7,201,025

CITY OF BLACK HAWK
2015 BUDGET

PRESERVATION & RESTORATION FUND

PRESERVATION & RESTORATION FUND

12/4/2014

38



2013 2014 2014 June 30, 2014 2014 2015

Year-End Adopted Amended Y-T-D Year-End City Manager

Actual Budget Budget Actual Estimate Budget

BEGINNING FUND BALANCE 55,263 59,369 59,369 59,369 59,369 59,819

REVENUES 647,106 651,100 651,100 157,868 651,100 654,950

EXPENDITURES 643,000 650,650 650,650 0 650,650 654,500

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) 4,106 450 450 157,868 450 450

ENDING FUND BALANCE 59,369 59,819 59,819 217,237 59,819 60,269

CITY OF BLACK HAWK

TRANSPORTATION DEVICE FEE TRUST FUND SUMMARY

2015 BUDGET

12/4/201439



2013 2014 2014 June 30, 2014 2014 2015

Account Number Account Description Year-End Adopted Amended Year To Date Year-End City Manager
Actual Budget Budget Actual Estimate Request

TRANSPORTATION DEVICE FEE FUND

204-0000-3180100 Other Taxes / Device Fees 646,520 650,650 650,650 157,820 650,650 654,500
204-0000-3610100 Revenue / Int Income On Investments 586 450 450 48 450 450

TOTAL TRANSPORTATION DEVICE FEE FUND 647,106 651,100 651,100 157,868 651,100 654,950

CITY OF BLACK HAWK
2015 BUDGET

TRANSPORTATION DEVICE FEE FUND

12/4/2014

40



2013 2014 2014 June 30, 2014 2014 2015

Account Number Account Description Year-End Adopted Amended Year To Date Year-End City Manager
Actual Budget Budget Actual Estimate Request

204-9500-4919500 Operating Trans Out / Transfers Out 643,000 650,650 650,650 0 650,650 654,500

TOTAL TRANSPORTATION DEVICE FEE FUND 643,000 650,650 650,650 0 650,650 654,500

CITY OF BLACK HAWK
2015 BUDGET

TRANSPORTATION DEVICE FEE FUND

TRANSPORTATION DEVICE FEE FUND

12/4/2014

41



2013 2014 2014 June 30, 2014 2014 2015

Year-End Adopted Amended Y-T-D Year-End City Manager

Actual Budget Budget Actual Estimate Budget

BEGINNING FUND BALANCE 2,906,577 253,482 253,482 253,482 253,482 254,495

REVENUES 3,815,159 12,225,000 12,225,000 193 12,955,300 9,345,500

EXPENDITURES 6,468,254 11,946,040 11,946,040 1,261,586 12,954,287 9,490,000

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) (2,653,095) 278,960 278,960 (1,261,393) 1,013 (144,500)

ENDING FUND BALANCE 253,482 532,442 532,442 (1,007,911) 254,495 109,995

CITY OF BLACK HAWK

CAPITAL PROJECTS FUND SUMMARY

2015 BUDGET

12/4/201442



2013 2014 2014 June 30, 2014 2014 2015

Account Number Account Description Year-End Adopted Amended Year To Date Year-End City Manager
Actual Budget Budget Actual Estimate Request

CAPITAL PROJECTS FUND

305-0000-3610100 Revenue / Int Income On Investments 3,928 5,000 5,000 193 800 500
305-0000-3610400 Revenue / Grants 1,229,231 220,000 220,000 0 220,000 45,000
305-0000-3610900 Revenue / Other 832,000 0 0 0 734,500 0
305-0000-3950100 Transfer In / General Fund 1,750,000 12,000,000 12,000,000 0 12,000,000 9,300,000

TOTAL CAPITAL PROJECTS FUND 3,815,159 12,225,000 12,225,000 193 12,955,300 9,345,500

CITY OF BLACK HAWK
2015 BUDGET

CAPITAL PROJECTS FUND

12/4/2014

43



2013 2014 2014 June 30, 2014 2014 2015

Account Number Account Description Year-End Adopted Amended Year To Date Year-End City Manager
Actual Budget Budget Actual Estimate Request

305-3101-4317102 Land / Purchase 1,839,839 1,000,000 1,000,000 810,412 2,252,021 0
305-3101-4317505 Construction In Progress / Maintenance Facility 2,475,961 0 0 74,958 95,000 100,000
305-3101-4317506 Police Parking Structure 0 1,500,000 1,500,000 0 1,500,000 0
305-3101-4317512 Construction In Progress/Gregory Comm. Building 0 0 0 0 0 6,300,000
305-3101-4317513 Construction In Progress/Gregory St Parking Structure 0 0 0 0 0 2,805,000
305-3101-4317514 Construction In Progress/Gregory St Redevelopment 76,002 7,000,000 7,000,000 196,796 8,400,000 0
305-3101-4317515 Maryland Mountain Improvements 0 1,000,000 1,000,000 9,368 30,000 0
305-3101-4317518 Construction In Progress /Variable Message Board 17,055 18,000 18,000 0 18,000 0
305-3101-4317522 Construction In Progress / IT Building 1,540 175,000 175,000 0 0 0
305-3101-4317523 Construction In Progress / Crooks 4,788 0 0 0 0 0
305-3101-4317533 Construction In Progress / Gregory St Parking Garage 18,265 0 0 0 0 0
305-3101-4317541 Patrol Vehicles 72,468 0 0 0 0 0
305-3101-4317542 Radio Tower Grant Match 757,238 0 0 0 0 0
305-3101-4317543 Fire Command Vehicle 42,838 0 0 0 0 0
305-3101-4317544 Fire Truck 105,455 150,000 150,000 0 0 0
305-3101-4317545 Main Street Resurfacing 100,000 0 0 0 0 0
305-3101-4317546 Street Overlay Project 200,000 250,000 250,000 0 0 175,000
305-3101-4317547 Bridge Maintenance 51,334 100,000 100,000 0 0 50,000
305-3101-4317548 Street Sweeper 0 265,000 265,000 0 220,000 0
305-3101-4317549 Work Truck - Facilities 69,821 30,000 30,000 26,268 26,268 0
305-3101-4317549 Plow Truck - Streets 0 70,000 70,000 0 70,000 0
305-3101-4317550 Live Fingerprint Scanner 0 19,000 19,000 0 19,000 0
305-3101-4317550 MDT Tablets for PD Vehicles 0 15,000 15,000 0 15,000 0
305-3101-4317550 Dictation Software 0 13,040 13,040 12,246 12,246 0
305-3101-4317550 Mobile Computer Dispatching 0 26,000 26,000 25,015 25,015 0
305-3101-4317550 Paperless Records (PD) 0 35,000 35,000 31,710 31,710 0
305-3101-4317552 Bus 635,650 280,000 280,000 74,814 240,027 0
305-1501-4157404 Document Management System 0 0 0 0 0 60,000

TOTAL CAPITAL PROJECTS FUND 6,468,254 11,946,040 11,946,040 1,261,586 12,954,287 9,490,000

CITY OF BLACK HAWK
2015 BUDGET

CAPITAL PROJECTS FUND

CAPITAL PROJECTS FUND

12/4/2014

44



2013 2014 2014 June 30, 2014 2014 2015

Year-End Adopted Amended Y-T-D Year-End City Manager

Actual Budget Budget Actual Estimate Budget

BEGINNING FUND BALANCE 963,890 1,629,639 1,629,639 1,629,639 1,629,639 2,664,162

REVENUES 2,354,716 4,141,356 4,141,356 1,361,792 4,393,597 2,904,944

EXPENDITURES 1,688,967 3,347,533 3,347,533 886,720 3,359,074 2,962,677

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) 665,749 793,823 793,823 475,072 1,034,523 (57,733)

ENDING FUND BALANCE 1,629,639 2,423,462 2,423,462 2,104,712 2,664,162 2,606,429

CITY OF BLACK HAWK

DEBT SERVICE FUND SUMMARY

2015 BUDGET

12/4/201445



2013 2014 2014 June 30, 2014 2014 2015

Account Number Account Description Year-End Adopted Amended Year To Date Year-End City Manager
Actual Budget Budget Actual Estimate Request

DEBT SERVICE FUND

401-0000-3610100 Revenue / Int Income On Investments 193 200 200 41 200 200
401-0000-3950100 Transfer In / General Fund 2,354,523 4,141,156 4,141,156 1,361,751 4,393,397 2,904,744

TOTAL DEBT SERVICE FUND 2,354,716 4,141,356 4,141,356 1,361,792 4,393,597 2,904,944

CITY OF BLACK HAWK
2015 BUDGET

DEBT SERVICE FUND

12/4/2014

46



2013 2014 2014 June 30, 2014 2014 2015

Account Number Account Description Year-End Adopted Amended Year To Date Year-End City Manager
Actual Budget Budget Actual Estimate Request

401-0000-4718108 Bond Principal / 2004 Bond Principal 145,000 135,000 135,000 0 135,000 0
401-0000-4718109 Bond Principal / 2006A Bond Principal 845,000 885,000 885,000 0 885,000 935,000
401-0000-4718112 2013 Bond Principal 0 770,000 770,000 0 0 0
401-0000-4718113 2014A Bond Principal 0 0 0 0 0 0
401-0000-4718114 2014B Bond Principal 0 0 0 0 750,000 750,000
401-0000-4718208 Bond Interest / 2004 Bond Interest 12,663 6,210 6,210 3,105 6,210 0
401-0000-4718209 Bond Interest / 2006A Bond Interest 467,750 425,500 425,500 212,750 425,500 381,250
401-0000-4718212 2013 Bond Interest 0 857,460 857,460 188,808 397,308 417,000
401-0000-4718213 2014A Bond Interest 0 0 0 166,850 378,350 423,000
401-0000-4718214 2014B Bond Interest 0 0 0 52,461 118,961 56,427
401-0000-4718301 Other Bond Costs / Cost Of Issuance 218,554 268,363 268,363 262,745 262,745 0

TOTAL DEBT SERVICE FUND 1,688,967 3,347,533 3,347,533 886,720 3,359,074 2,962,677

CITY OF BLACK HAWK
2015 BUDGET

DEBT SERVICE FUND

DEBT SERVICE FUND

12/4/2014

47



Year Principal Rate Interest Total Principal Rate Interest Total Principal Rate Interest Total Principal Rate Interest Total Principal Rate Interest Total TOTAL

2013 $145,000 4.450% $12,663 $157,663 $845,000 5.000% $467,750 $1,312,750 $1,470,413

2014 $135,000 4.600% $6,210 $141,210 $885,000 5.000% $425,500 $1,310,500 $0 4.170% $397,308 $397,308 $0 4.230% $378,350 $378,350 $750,000 6.650% $118,961 $868,961 $3,096,329

2015 $935,000 5.000% $381,250 $1,316,250 $0 4.170% $417,000 $417,000 $0 4.230% $423,000 $423,000 $750,000 6.650% $56,427 $806,427 $2,962,677

2016 $980,000 5.000% $334,500 $1,314,500 $135,000 4.170% $417,000 $552,000 $150,000 4.230% $423,000 $573,000 $500,000 6.650% $21,600 $521,600 $2,961,100

2017 $1,035,000 5.000% $285,500 $1,320,500 $410,000 4.170% $411,371 $821,371 $410,000 4.230% $416,655 $826,655 $2,968,526

2018 $1,085,000 5.000% $233,750 $1,318,750 $430,000 4.170% $394,273 $824,273 $420,000 4.230% $399,312 $819,312 $2,962,335

2019 $1,140,000 5.000% $179,500 $1,319,500 $445,000 4.170% $376,343 $821,343 $445,000 4.230% $381,546 $826,546 $2,967,389

2020 $1,195,000 5.000% $122,500 $1,317,500 $465,000 4.170% $357,786 $822,786 $460,000 4.230% $362,723 $822,723 $2,963,009

2021 $1,255,000 5.000% $62,750 $1,317,750 $485,000 4.170% $338,395 $823,395 $480,000 4.230% $343,265 $823,265 $2,964,410

2022 $505,000 4.170% $318,171 $823,171 $500,000 4.230% $322,961 $822,961 $1,646,132

2023-33 $7,125,000 4.170% $1,903,397 $9,028,397 $7,135,000 4.230% $1,936,282 $9,071,282 $18,099,679

$280,000 $18,873 $298,873 $9,355,000 $2,493,000 $11,848,000 $10,000,000 $5,331,044 $15,331,044 $10,000,000 $5,387,093 $15,387,093 $2,000,000 $196,988 $2,196,988 $45,061,998

('94-$1,500,000 Fire Station) ('97-$3,445,000 Bobtail St) Dory Hill Plant & Water Rights Dory Hill Plant & Water Rights Dory Hill Plant & Water Rights

('94-$500,000 Phase 2 Water Eval) ('98-$13,200,000 Hidden Valley) Gregory Street Realignment Gregory Street Realignment Gregory Street Realignment

2004 Device Tax Revenue 2006 Device Tax Revenue 2013 Device Tax Revenue 2014A Device Tax Revenue 2014B Device Tax Revenue

Refunding Bonds Refunding Bonds - Series A

48



2013 2014 2014 June 30, 2014 2014 2015

Year-End Adopted Amended Y-T-D Year-End City Manager

Actual Budget Budget Actual Estimate Budget

BEGINNING WORKING CAPITAL 653,765 387,613 387,613 387,613 387,613 2,378,740

REVENUES 3,001,433 11,417,700 11,417,700 1,220,538 11,428,000 2,902,500

ADMINISTRATION 1,590,816 1,969,707 1,969,707 918,034 1,740,707 1,870,625

OPERATIONS 1,676,769 8,470,565 8,470,565 542,715 7,696,166 3,062,582

EXPENDITURES 3,267,585 10,440,272 10,440,272 1,460,749 9,436,873 4,933,207

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) (266,152) 977,428 977,428 (240,211) 1,991,127 (2,030,707)

ENDING WORKING CAPITAL 387,613 1,365,041 1,365,041 147,402 2,378,740 348,033

CITY OF BLACK HAWK

WATER FUND SUMMARY

2015 BUDGET

12/4/201449



2013 2014 2014 June 30, 2014 2014 2015

Account Number Account Description Year-End Adopted Amended Year To Date Year-End City Manager
Actual Budget Budget Actual Estimate Request

WATER FUND

501-0000-3410500 Miscellaneous Fees / System Development Fees 133,168 0 0 0 0 0
501-0000-3430100 User Fees / Water Billed 2,850,244 2,900,000 2,900,000 1,144,204 2,850,000 2,900,000
501-0000-3430200 User Fees / Bulk Water Sales 954 200 200 480 1,000 500
501-0000-3610100 Revenue / Int Income On Investments 1,448 2,000 2,000 154 1,000 1,000
501-0000-3610300 Revenue / Interest/Penalties 3,200 3,000 3,000 700 1,000 1,000
501-0000-3630300 Rents / Water Leases 12,419 12,500 12,500 0 0 0
501-0000-3660100 Gain/Loss / Sale Of Fixed Assets 0 0 0 75,000 75,000 0
501-0000-3950100 Transfer In / General Fund 0 8,500,000 8,500,000 0 8,500,000 0

TOTAL WATER FUND 3,001,433 11,417,700 11,417,700 1,220,538 11,428,000 2,902,500

CITY OF BLACK HAWK
2015 BUDGET
WATER FUND

12/4/2014

50



2013 2014 2014 2015

WATER FUND Year-End Amended Year-End Proposed

Actual Budget Estimate Budget

STAFFING PLAN

Water System Coordinator 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

Utility Operator l 3.00 2.00 2.00 2.00

Utility Operator ll 3.00 3.00 3.00 3.00

Utility Operator lll 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

Utility Operator lV 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

Water Superintendent 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

TOTAL STAFF 10.00 9.00 9.00 9.00

EXPENDITURES BY TYPE

Personnel 772,611 852,072 764,673 814,207

Professional Services 1,145,828 1,300,000 1,235,000 1,255,000

General Services 558,060 1,001,500 676,000 909,500

Program Expenses 0 0 0 0

Supplies 51,113 83,700 53,200 76,500

Capital Outlay 739,972 7,203,000 6,708,000 1,878,000

Debt Service 0 0 0 0

Transfers 0 0 0 0

WATER FUND 3,267,585 10,440,272 9,436,873 4,933,207

CITY OF BLACK HAWK
2015 BUDGET

WATER FUND

51



2013 2014 2014 June 30, 2014 2014 2015
Account Number Account Description Year-End Adopted Amended Year To Date Year-End City Manager

Actual Budget Budget Actual Estimate Request

501-3150-4601201 Regular Salaries/Wages / Full-Time 107,369 111,562 111,562 50,158 111,562 117,562
501-3150-4602100 Water / Group Health Insurance 31,984 14,915 14,915 16,330 14,915 15,478
501-3150-4602200 Water / Social Security 8,091 7,974 7,974 3,821 7,974 8,408
501-3150-4602301 Retirement / 401A 6,072 6,255 6,255 2,812 6,255 6,594
501-3150-4602500 Water / Unemployment Compensation 345 313 313 149 313 330
501-3150-4602600 Water / Workers Compensation 829 1,188 1,188 1,080 1,188 1,253
501-3150-4603304 Professional Services / Software/Hardware Support 18,751 40,000 40,000 36,233 50,000 50,000
501-3150-4603308 Professional Services / Engineering 795 75,000 75,000 0 10,000 20,000
501-3150-4603310 Professional Services / Water Testing 13,848 35,000 35,000 10,913 25,000 35,000
501-3150-4603311 Professional Services / Water Rights/Legal 447,762 475,000 475,000 298,806 475,000 475,000
501-3150-4603321 Professional Services/Water Right-Engineering/Acct 664,672 675,000 675,000 360,124 675,000 675,000
501-3150-4604101 Utilities / Gas & Electric 179,485 250,000 250,000 85,258 200,000 220,000
501-3150-4604102 Utilities / Sewer 384 15,000 15,000 192 1,000 10,000
501-3150-4604103 Utilities / Wtr Leases Coors/Consolid 29,615 65,000 65,000 19,147 45,000 65,000
501-3150-4604104 Utilities / Monitoring/Usgs 10,480 30,000 30,000 2,083 20,000 30,000
501-3150-4604506 Repairs & Maintenance / Equipment Maintenance 34,998 50,000 50,000 9,455 35,000 40,000
501-3150-4604515 Repairs & Maintenance / Security System Maint 3,477 40,000 40,000 1,889 5,000 40,000
501-3150-4605058 Other Purchased Services / Travel & Training 2,029 10,000 10,000 2,325 9,000 10,000
501-3150-4605101 Insurance / Liability 8,987 20,000 20,000 9,013 10,000 10,000
501-3150-4605200 Water / Printing And Binding 670 1,500 1,500 599 800 1,000
501-3150-4605301 Communications / Telephone 1,185 1,000 1,000 600 1,200 1,500
501-3150-4605501 Dues, & Membership / Memberships 6,393 16,000 16,000 4,922 10,000 10,000
501-3150-4605502 Dues, & Membership / Subscriptions 174 500 500 151 500 500
501-3150-4606101 General Supplies / Office 9,458 7,000 7,000 1,974 5,000 7,000
501-3150-4606107 General Supplies / Books 121 1,000 1,000 0 500 500
501-3150-4606110 General Supplies / Small Equipment 288 2,500 2,500 0 2,500 2,500
501-3150-4607401 System Improvements / Machinery & Equipment 1,755 6,000 6,000 0 6,000 6,000
501-3150-4607403 System Improvements / Furniture And Fixtures 0 2,000 2,000 0 2,000 2,000
501-3150-4607404 System Improvements / Computers And Software 800 10,000 10,000 0 10,000 10,000

TOTAL WATER - ADMINISTRATION 1,590,816 1,969,707 1,969,707 918,034 1,740,707 1,870,625

CITY OF BLACK HAWK
2015 BUDGET

WATER FUND

WATER - ADMINISTRATION

12/4/2014

52



2013 2014 2014 June 30, 2014 2014 2015

Account Number Account Description Year-End Adopted Amended Year To Date Year-End City Manager
Actual Budget Budget Actual Estimate Request

501-3151-4601201 Regular Salaries/Wages / Full-Time 448,026 490,040 490,040 208,887 445,875 474,538
501-3151-4601400 Water / Overtime 35,969 32,000 32,000 6,511 15,000 15,000
501-3151-4602100 Water / Group Health Insurance 62,809 109,621 109,621 43,383 90,275 99,480
501-3151-4602200 Water / Social Security 36,675 35,781 35,781 16,316 32,629 34,573
501-3151-4602301 Retirement / 401A 24,392 28,064 28,064 11,686 25,592 27,116
501-3151-4602500 Water / Unemployment Compensation 1,446 1,403 1,403 639 1,280 1,356
501-3151-4602600 Water / Workers Compensation 8,605 12,956 12,956 8,671 11,815 12,519
501-3151-4604501 Repairs & Maintenance / Spring Line 0 30,000 30,000 0 5,000 5,000
501-3151-4604502 Repairs & Maintenance / Pump Station 38,966 50,000 50,000 11,456 30,000 50,000
501-3151-4604503 Repairs & Maintenance / Tools 1,090 5,000 5,000 1,230 5,000 12,000
501-3151-4604504 Repairs & Maintenance / Plant 170,507 200,000 200,000 41,662 150,000 200,000
501-3151-4604505 Repairs & Maintenance / Distribution 37,494 150,000 150,000 28,133 100,000 150,000
501-3151-4604701 Vehicle Operation & Maint / Vehicle Maintenance 5,241 18,000 18,000 1,363 5,000 8,000
501-3151-4604703 Vehicle Operation & Maint / Gas And Oil 10,322 18,000 18,000 3,797 12,000 15,000
501-3151-4604705 Vehicle Operation & Maint / Small Equip Rental 381 1,500 1,500 0 1,500 1,500
501-3151-4604800 Water / Green Lake Operations 9,933 15,000 15,000 (5,428) 15,000 15,000
501-3151-4604900 Water / Georgetown Lake Operation 6,249 15,000 15,000 0 15,000 15,000
501-3151-4606206 Operating Supplies / Uniforms 4,604 5,200 5,200 1,948 5,200 6,500
501-3151-4606239 Operating Supplies / Chemicals 36,643 58,000 58,000 5,317 30,000 50,000
501-3151-4606246 Operating Supplies / Sludge Disposal 0 10,000 10,000 0 10,000 10,000
501-3151-4607102 System Improvements / Land Acquisition 0 0 0 0 0 50,000
501-3151-4607402 System Improvements / Vehicles 45,624 15,000 15,000 3,412 5,000 0
501-3151-4607411 System Improvements / Water Tank 0 70,000 70,000 0 0 80,000
501-3151-4607413 System Improvements / Dory Hill Plant 368,401 0 0 7,416 15,000 50,000
501-3151-4607415 System Improvements / Georgetown Outlet 91,335 700,000 700,000 35,026 400,000 250,000
501-3151-4607417 System Improvements / HV Infiltration 12,519 0 0 0 0 0
501-3151-4607418 System Improvements / EIS & EA 118,624 200,000 200,000 27,757 90,000 200,000
501-3151-4607422 System Improvements / Water Capital Projects 5,057 1,600,000 1,600,000 17,731 1,200,000 1,050,000
501-3151-4607427 System Improvements / System Expansion 48,077 4,500,000 4,500,000 65,801 4,900,000 0
501-3151-4607429 Green Lake Pipeline 47,780 100,000 100,000 0 80,000 180,000

TOTAL WATER - OPERATIONS 1,676,769 8,470,565 8,470,565 542,715 7,696,166 3,062,582

CITY OF BLACK HAWK
2015 BUDGET

WATER FUND

WATER - OPERATIONS

12/4/2014

53



2013 2014 2014 June 30, 2014 2014 2015

Year-End Adopted Amended Y-T-D Year-End City Manager

Actual Budget Budget Actual Estimate Budget

BEGINNING FUND BALANCE 118,459 112,159 112,159 112,159 112,159 0

REVENUES 500 400 400 59 340 0

EXPENDITURES 6,800 10,000 10,000 0 112,499 0

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) (6,300) (9,600) (9,600) 59 (112,159) 0

ENDING FUND BALANCE 112,159 102,559 102,559 112,218 0 0

CITY OF BLACK HAWK

DORY HILL CEMETERY FUND SUMMARY

2015 BUDGET

12/4/201454



2013 2014 2014 June 30, 2014 2014 2015

Account Number Account Description Year-End Adopted Amended Year To Date Year-End City Manager
Actual Budget Budget Actual Estimate Request

CEMETERY FUND

702-0000-3610100 Revenue / Int Income On Investments 250 300 300 59 240 0
702-0000-3611000 Revenue / Sale Of Plots 250 100 100 0 100 0

TOTAL CEMETERY FUND 500 400 400 59 340 0

CITY OF BLACK HAWK
2015 BUDGET

CEMETERY FUND

12/4/2014

55



2013 2014 2014 June 30, 2014 2014 2015

Account Number Account Description Year-End Adopted Amended Year To Date Year-End City Manager
Actual Budget Budget Actual Estimate Request

702-0000-5037400 Cemetery / Plot Maintenance 6,800 10,000 10,000 0 0 0
702-0000-4919508 Transfer to Preservation / Rest. Fund 0 0 0 0 112,499 0

TOTAL DORY HILL CEMETERY 6,800 10,000 10,000 0 112,499 0

CITY OF BLACK HAWK
2015 BUDGET

DORY HILL CEMETERY

DORY HILL CEMETERY

12/4/2014

56



2013 2014 2014 June 30, 2014 2014 2015

Year-End Adopted Amended Y-T-D Year-End City Manager

Actual Budget Budget Actual Estimate Budget

BEGINNING FUND BALANCE 21,875 23,200 23,200 23,200 23,200 24,450

REVENUES 1,325 1,260 1,260 327 1,250 1,250

EXPENDITURES 0 0 0 0 0 0

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) 1,325 1,260 1,260 327 1,250 1,250

ENDING FUND BALANCE 23,200 24,460 24,460 23,527 24,450 25,700

CITY OF BLACK HAWK

CONSERVATION TRUST FUND SUMMARY

2015 BUDGET

12/4/201457



2013 2014 2014 June 30, 2014 2014 2015

Account Number Account Description Year-End Adopted Amended Year To Date Year-End City Manager
Actual Budget Budget Actual Estimate Request

CONSERVATION TRUST FUND

703-0000-3350700 State Shared Revenues / Lottery Proceeds 1,276 1,200 1,200 315 1,200 1,200
703-0000-3610100 Revenue / Int Income On Investments 49 60 60 12 50 50

TOTAL CONSERVATION TRUST FUND 1,325 1,260 1,260 327 1,250 1,250

CITY OF BLACK HAWK
2015 BUDGET

CONSERVATION TRUST FUND

12/4/2014

58



2013 2014 2014 June 30, 2014 2014 2015

Account Number Account Description Year-End Adopted Amended Year To Date Year-End City Manager
Actual Budget Budget Actual Estimate Request

703-0000-4500100 Park Improvements 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL CONSERVATION TRUST FUND 0 0 0 0 0 0

CITY OF BLACK HAWK
2015 BUDGET

CONSERVATION TRUST FUND

CONSERVATION TRUST FUND

12/4/2014

59



COUNCIL BILL 26

ORDINANCE 2014-26

AN ORDINANCE LEVYING
GENERAL PROPERTY TAXES
FOR THE YEAR 2014 TO HELP

DEFRAY THE COSTS OF
GOVERNMENT FOR THE CITY

OF BLACK HAWK,
COLORADO FOR THE 2015

BUDGET YEAR



STATE OF COLORADO
COUNTY OF GILPIN

CITY OF BLACK HAWK

COUNCIL BILL: 26

ORDINANCE NUMBER: 2014-26

TITLE: AN ORDINANCE LEVYING GENERAL PROPERTY TAXES
FOR THE YEAR 2014 TO HELP DEFRAY THE COSTS OF
GOVERNMENT FOR THE CITY OF BLACK HAWK,
COLORADO FOR THE 2015 BUDGET YEAR.

WHEREAS, the Board of Aldermen of the City of Black Hawk has adopted the
annual budget in accordance with the Local Government Budget Law on December 10,
2014:

WHEREAS, the amount of money necessary to balance the budget for general
operating purposes from property tax revenue is $8,499; and

WHEREAS, the 2014 valuation for assessment for the City of Black Hawk, as
certified by the Gilpin County Assessor, is $217,921,025.

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BLACK
HAWK, GILPIN COUNTY THAT:

Section 1. For the purpose of meeting all general operating expenses of the City
of Black Hawk during the 2015 budget year, there is levied a tax of .039 mills upon each
dollar of the total valuation for assessment of all taxable property within the City of
Black Hawk for the year 2014.

Section 2. That the City Clerk is hereby authorized and directed to immediately
certify to the County Commissioners of the County of Gilpin, Colorado the mill levy for
the City of Black Hawk, Colorado as herein above determined and set.

Section 3. Safety Clause. The Board of Aldermen hereby finds, determines, and
declares that this Ordinance is promulgated under the general police power of the City of
Black Hawk, that it is promulgated for the health, safety, and welfare of the public, and
that this Ordinance is necessary for the preservation of health and safety and for the
protection of public convenience and welfare. The Board of Aldermen further determines
that the Ordinance bears a rational relation to the proper legislative object sought to be
attained.

Section 4. Severability If any clause, sentence, paragraph, or part of this
Ordinance or the application thereof to any person or circumstances shall for any reason



be adjudged by a court of competent jurisdiction invalid, such judgment shall not affect
application to other persons or circumstances.

Section 5. Effective Date. The City Clerk is directed to post this Ordinance as
required by City Charter. This Ordinance shall become effective upon posting by the City
Clerk.

READ, PASSED AND ORDERED POSTED this 10th day of December, 2014.

______________________
David D. Spellman, Mayor

ATTEST:

_____________________________
Melissa Greiner, City Clerk



RESOLUTION 93-2014

A RESOLUTION
APPROVING A

CERTIFICATE OF
APPROPRIATENESS FOR

THE EXTERIOR
REHABILITATION AND
SITE WORK FOR THE

PROPERTY LOCATED AT
301 HIGH STREET



STATE OF COLORADO
COUNTY OF GILPIN

CITY OF BLACK HAWK

Resolution No. 93-2014

TITLE: A RESOLUTION APPROVING A CERTIFICATE OF
APPROPRIATENESS FOR THE EXTERIOR REHABILITATION
AND SITE WORK FOR THE PROPERTY LOCATED AT 301 HIGH
STREET

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF ALDERMEN OF
THE CITY OF BLACK HAWK, COLORADO, THAT:

Section 1. The City Council hereby determines to approve a Certificate of
Appropriateness for the exterior rehabilitation and site work for the property located at 301
High Street.

RESOLVED AND PASSED this 10th day of December, 2014.

_______________________________
David D. Spellman, Mayor

ATTEST:

______________________________
Melissa Greiner, City Clerk



CITY OF BLACK HAWK
REQUEST FOR COUNCIL ACTION

CITY COUNCIL MEETING: December 10, 2014

SUBJECT:
Certificate of Appropriateness for Full Exterior Rehabilitation and Site Improvements for
301 High Street
The applicants, Lloyd and Christina Larsen, are requesting approval of a Certificate of
Appropriateness (COA) for full exterior rehabilitation of the historic dwelling and site
improvements for the property at 301 High Street.

CONSULTANT COMMENTS
The exterior rehabilitation and site work described on page 3 of this report requires a Certificate
of Appropriateness. The consultant’s evaluation of the proposal finds that some elements of the
proposed work are not in accordance with the City of Black Hawk Residential Design Guidelines
and the U.S. Secretary of the Interior’s Standards for Rehabilitation. These include:

 Enlargement of one of the primary door openings and transom (a character-defining
feature).

 Replacement of all historic doors instead of rehabilitating the doors.
 Replacement of all historic windows with metal-clad windows without investigation of

window condition.
 Replacement of all siding and fish-scale shingles although investigation shows the

condition ranges from good to excellent.
 Construction of a new porch railing without sufficient evidence that the design existed

during the NHL district’s period of significance; construction of a higher porch railing
than that found historically.

 Removal of historic woven wire fencing along the south property line and replacing it
with an ornate design in wrought iron not found historically.

HISTORIC PRESERVATION COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION
The Historic Preservation Commission (HPC) evaluated the application, the comments in the
report, and testimony by staff, consultants and the applicant. The list of non-conforming
elements in the previous section served as a starting guide for the Commission’s discussion.
Following is the result of that discussion:

 Enlargement of one of the primary door openings and transom (a character-defining
feature).
Door No. 3 is the proposed location for the enlargement. It was the opinion of the
Commission this would be the most logical location from a practical standpoint of
moving furniture and the fact it was not easily visible from the public right-of-way.

 Replacement of all historic doors instead of rehabilitating the doors.



This has been a rental property for many years and the doors have been abused. The
Commission asked the applicant if their preference was to keep and restore or replace.
The applicant felt the doors needed to be replaced and have chosen a style commonly
seen throughout the District.

 Replacement of all historic windows with metal-clad windows without investigation of
window conditions.
Although the windows were not available for close inspection, due to the visible historic
hardware, they were estimated to be “historic and/or original to the construction or early
modification of the building.” It is the applicant’s desire and preference that all historic
windows be replaced with double-hung, aluminum clad wood windows with clear
glazing. Since the appearance of the replacement windows will simulate the original
style the Commission agreed to replace. The only exception is the window on the west
elevation. It is the applicant’s preference to retain. It was originally designed to
eliminate the window at the west elevation on the exterior and encapsulate on the
interior. There would be no evidence of a pre-existing window, as siding would conceal
the opening. The Commission was in agreement with the applicant to keep the window in
tact without improvements. Council should discuss if they agree with the
recommendation by HPC.

 Replacement of all siding and fish-scale shingles although investigation shows the
condition ranges from good to excellent.
The investigation was inconclusive with no direct evidence the siding is historic. It was
determined the fish-scale shingles although in good condition to be non-historic. The
Commission agreed to proceed with replacing the siding and fish-scale shingles.

 Construction of a new porch railing without sufficient evidence that the design existed
during the NHL district’s period of significance; construction of a higher porch railing
than that found historically.
The size and roof shape of the one-story wrap-around porch will be retained. The
following materials, although likely not original to the building, will be retained: turned
porch posts, decorative lattice spandrel, corbel on posts, and porch fascia. The porch
ceiling and flooring will be replaced with wood. Although the porch railing details have
not been finalized, it is proposed that the porch railing/baluster resemble the
“Chippendale” style seen in photographs from the Gilpin County Assessor’s office, but
taller to meet current building code. The design guidelines recommend that in the
absence of documentation of the original porch, a simplified design found on houses of
similar age and style is preferred. The Commission agreed the porch design should be
the applicant’s preference and any changes to current design could be administratively
approved by staff.

 Removal of historic woven wire fencing along the south property line and replacing it
with an ornate design in wrought iron not found historically.
Re-use of the historic woven wire and incorporating it within a new fence on the rear
retaining wall retains the historic materials. The material for the new front fence meets
the residential design guidelines – black wrought iron – but the design is not one found
historically. The Commission agreed the proposed fencing should move forward as
proposed in the construction drawings.



The Commission should next discuss if there is sufficient evidence that the Certificate of
Appropriateness application meets the intent of the criteria outlined in the City of Black Hawk
Historic Restoration and Community Preservation Fund Guide to Programs, Section 16-368 of
the Black Hawk Municipal Code, and Sections 2, 3, 4, 5, 6 and 7.4 of the City of Black Hawk
Residential Design Guidelines.

At the conclusion of its discussion, the Historic Preservation Commission recommended to the
Board of Aldermen APPROVAL of the Certificate of Appropriateness for full exterior
rehabilitation and site work at 301 High Street based on the criteria set forth in the staff report
dated December 2, 2014. The Certificate of Appropriateness application for 301 High Street
meets the intent of the criteria outlined in the City of Black Hawk Historic Restoration and
Community Preservation Fund Guide to Programs, Section 16-368 of the Black Hawk Municipal
Code, and Sections 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, and 7.4 of the City of Black Hawk Residential Design
Guidelines.

The Historic Preservation Commission also provided direction that if any minor product,
materials, or color changes that meet the design guidelines can be approved by staff
administratively.

STAFF RECOMMENDATION
Staff recommends to the Board of Aldermen APPROVAL of the Certificate of Appropriateness
for full exterior rehabilitation and site work at 301 High Street based on the criteria set forth in
the staff report dated December 2, 2014. The Certificate of Appropriateness application for 301
High Street meets the intent of the criteria outlined in the City of Black Hawk Historic
Restoration and Community Preservation Fund Guide to Programs, Section 16-368 of the Black
Hawk Municipal Code, and Sections 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, and 7.4 of the City of Black Hawk Residential
Design Guidelines.

RESOLUTION DATE: December 10, 2014
ORIGINATED BY: Community Planning and

Development
STAFF PERSON RESPONSIBLE: Cynthia L. Linker
DOCUMENTS ATTACHED: Staff Report and Attachments A-E
CITY ATTORNEY REVIEW: [ ] Yes [X] No [ ] N/A

INITIALS__________
SUBMITTED BY: REVIEWED BY:

12/04/14
Cynthia L. Linker, CP&D Jack D. Lewis, City Manager

MMartin
Jack Lewis



1

CITY OF BLACK HAWK Report Date: December 2, 2014
PLANNING / LAND USE HPC Meeting Date: December 2, 2014

Council Meeting Date: December 10, 2014
STAFF REPORT:
For: City Council
Project: Certificate of Appropriateness for Full Exterior Rehabilitation and Site

Improvements
Property Address: 301 High Street
Property Owner: Lloyd and Christina Larsen
Zoning: Historic Residential (HR)
Prepared by: Deon Wolfenbarger, Historic Preservation Consultant
Approved by: Cynthia Linker, City of Black Hawk

BACKGROUND
The applicants, Lloyd and Christina Larsen, are requesting approval of a Certificate of
Appropriateness (COA) for full exterior rehabilitation of the historic dwelling and site
improvements for the property at 301 High Street.

The estimated date of construction for the house at 301 High Street is ca. 1897. The 1900
Sanborn map (the first time the building appears) shows that the building was originally one
story [figure 1], but a second story was added by around 1910 [figure 2]. The property was first
evaluated in 1986 when the National Park Service conducted a survey of historic resources in the
communities of Black Hawk, Central City, and Nevadaville. In 1991, when Black Hawk was
added to an expanded National Historic Landmark district, 301 High Street was counted as a
“contributing” building to the historic district, meaning it had retained sufficient integrity to
contribute to the historic character of the district. The 1986 survey provided the following
description of the main building:

This residential structure is a 2-story rectangular plan building with a gable roof
covered with asphalt shingles. Walls are covered with horizontal wood siding and
the medium foundation is brick. Windows generally are 1-over-1 light wood sash
with flat arches; the primary door is wood paneled with 1 light in the door panel
and 1 overlight. There is 1 central interior brick chimney. Distinctive features
include a bay window on the façade.

Figure 1. Photograph ca. 1898.



2

Figure 2. Photograph ca. 1910.
In 1997, a standing seam metal roof was installed and a new wood deck added to the rear. There
are two frame sheds on the property. The rear shed, formerly an outhouse, is over fifty years of
age and is eligible for grant funding. The shed on the east is less than fifty years old and is not
eligible for grant funding [see Figure 3].

Figure 3. A) 1997 deck; B) non-historic shed; and C) historic outhouse.
Photo from 2005 also shows the previous design of the porch rails.

The property has received a total of $122,943.36 in grant funds over the years.
 1995: $19,695.18 for boiler, foundation, stairs, deck repairs, 1/3 exterior rehab
 1996: $26,418.63 concrete foundation repair, drainage improvements, roof repairs

A

B

C



3

 1997: $21,945.00 for new roof, gutters, new deck, kitchen remodel, refinish historic
doors, insulation

 1999: $31,074.56 for interior walls, flooring, stairway modifications, cold room drainage
corrections, and unspecified

 2006 [emergency grant]: $10,030.00 for repairs due to mechanical room roof collapse
 2008: $10,780.00 for exterior paint

In 2010-2011, a re-survey and evaluation of the historic district found that property was still
“contributing” to the National Historic Landmark district. Any alterations to the building should
be reviewed for their impact to the building’s contributing status.

The applicants are requesting approval of the following work, which requires a Certificate of
Appropriateness:

Site work
 Stone retaining walls: replaced only as required for utility replacement, stairs, and for

documented structural failures along High Street.
 Replace wood site stair from High Street with concrete stair. Install steel pipe handrail.
 Replace ground level exterior wood deck/patio with concrete patio.
 Install decorative wrought iron fence along High Street.
 Replace metal pipe retaining wall at rear (north) side of house with a concrete retaining

wall; install stone veneer along elevations visible from street.
 Reinstall existing wire fencing currently along High Street at the north side of property

(on new concrete retaining wall); add steel posts and rails.
 Outhouse: demolish metal lean-to (non-historic); rotate wood shed in place to improve

accessibility.

Residence – exterior rehabilitation
 Replace exterior stone structural wall of house at rear (north) side with concrete walls.
 Remove east-facing asphalt shingle walls on rear addition; replace with concrete
 Rear decks: replace decking, balusters, and stairs with new redwood decking (no colored

stain).
 Install a new roof form beneath Deck 2 at rear of house to improve drainage.
 Remove standing seam metal roofs on residence and outhouse, install asphalt shingles.
 Install non-painted half round metal gutters with round metal downspouts.
 Repoint brick chimney.
 Replace existing siding on residence and outhouse with wood lap siding with 4” reveal.
 Replace existing trim where needed; retain the following existing trim: turned porch

posts, decorative lattice spandrel, corbel on posts, and porch fascia.
 Remove non-historic front porch rail and balusters; replace with porch rail similar to that

seen in historic photographs except built to code-compliant height.
 Windows: all windows except Window H to be replaced with Marvin aluminum clad

windows. Window H will be non-operable due to interior alterations.
 Doors: all doors will be replaced with wood doors and new metal storms. The opening

for Door 3 will be widened to 3’-0” for egress.



4

 Stone foundation will be replaced with a concrete foundation with stone veneer on the
south and southeast.

 Install new exterior lighting.
 Repaint house.

In accordance with the Black Hawk Municipal Code, all final plans for a Rehabilitation Grant
must be reviewed by the Historic Preservation Commission as well as City Council.

APPLICABLE CITY OF BLACK HAWK REGULATIONS
Excerpt from:

City of Black Hawk
Historic Restoration and Community Preservation Fund Guide to Programs

Section 1: Program Overview, (e) General Program Information, (3) The City Council shall
have the authority in its sole discretion to deny any application submitted for a grant or easement
project if, in their opinion, the Property Owner has neglected to adequately maintain their
property allowing it to become in a state of disrepair.

Excerpt from:
City of Black Hawk Zoning Code

Chapter 16
Section 16-368, City Council historic review process

16-368: Anyone seeking to renovate the exterior of, add to or construct a new building shall be
subject to the following procedures. Any such renovation construction or demolition shall be
subject to the City’s design standards.

f. Criteria for determining appropriateness of proposed erection, construction,
reconstruction or alteration. In determining the appropriateness of a proposed site plan or
building permit for the erection, construction or alteration of a building, the HPC and the
City Council shall consider the following:

1. All plans, drawings and photographs as may be submitted by the applicant;
The scope of work described in this report and illustrated by photographs, plans and
manufacturers’ sheets show the existing conditions and adequately describes he proposed
alterations.

2. Information presented at a public hearing held concerning the proposed work;
Findings and recommendation from Historic Preservation Commission will be presented
to the Board of Aldermen at the Public Hearing scheduled for December 10, 2014.

3. The purpose of this Chapter;
The information received adequately describes the proposed work in order to determine
the appropriateness of the proposed rehabilitation.



5

4. Compliance with the Black Hawk Municipal Code and the payment of all fees required
by the Black Hawk Municipal Code;
The project complies with all regulations of the Municipal Code.

5. The historical and architectural style, the general design, arrangement, texture,
materials, and color of the development, building or structure in question or its
appurtenance fixtures; the relationship of such features to similar features of the other
buildings within the City and the position of the building, structure, park or open space
in relation to public right-of-way and to other buildings and structures in the City;
The historic residence is an example of a “National Folk” form - the gable-front-and-
wing (as defined by Virginia and Lee McAlester). It is comprised of a gable-front
section, with an additional side-gabled wing added at right angles. A shed roof porch
was typically placed within the L made by the two wings; in this instance, the porch
continues to wrap around the side as was common in Queen Anne style houses. The roof
ridge of the gable-front portion is higher than the side gable wing; this stepped shape is
common in those buildings that were added to over time, which was the case with this
residence. It was originally a one-story building, but shortly after its construction, a
second story was added to the west gable-front wing. At this time, a three-sided bay
window was added to the first story, and fish-scale shingles added to the two gable ends.
A recent wood evaluation indicates that the elaborate porch posts, spandrels and frieze
were likely not extant from the original construction. A rear shed-roof addition was added
by 1910; dates of other rear additions are unknown. The rear decks are non-historic. The
building still retains its architectural integrity, and contributes to the historic district.

Figure 4. 301 High Street



6

6. The effects of the proposed work upon the protection, enhancement, perpetuation and
use of the City which cause it to possess a special character or special historical or
aesthetic interest or value; and
The property was re-evaluated in 2010-2011 and was determined “contributing” to the
National Historic Landmark historic district. The HPC should review the proposed
alterations and evaluate their effect on the historic property’s potential eligibility.

7. The design standards for the City.
Sections 2. Site Design; 3. Rehabilitation of Historic Structures; 4. Paint, Paint Colors
and Lead Paint Issues; 5. Additions to Historic Structures; 6. Historic Accessory
Structures; and 7.4 Exterior Lighting of the City of Black Hawk Residential Design
Guidelines adopted in 2011 apply to this application. Listed below are the applicable
sections and evaluation of the proposed alterations for 301 High Street for compliance.

Excerpts from:
City of Black Hawk Residential Design Guidelines

2. Site Design

2.1 Site design
2.2.1. Respect historic settlement patterns and traditional patterns of building

alignment and orientation

2.2 Topography and Grade
2.2.1 Existing topography should be maintained whenever possible.

b. Where natural rocks remains in stable condition, leave it undisturbed.
2.2.2. Respect natural site features.

a. Buildings should be located and designed to accommodate any features or
limitations.

2.2.3. Minimize cut and fill that would alter the natural topography of the site.
b. use earth berms, rock forms, or stone retaining walls to minimize the

visual impacts of cuts.
2.2.4. Use terraces for sloped building sites.

b. The use of rock retaining walls, similar to those used historically, is
encouraged.

2.2.5. All land that is visible from a public way shall be reclaimed in a manner
described below.
a. Preferred reclamation methods are:

 Plantings, as provided in the landscape standards
 Natural rock, in a stable condition
 Concrete retaining walls faced with native stone or appropriate wood

cribbing.
2.2.6. Retain existing natural drainage patterns where possible; design new

drainage systems to complement and follow the existing terrain.
a. Design drainage systems and storm water detention basins as amenities.



7

2.3 Fencing
2.3.1. Painted wood, wrought iron, picket, woven wire, rail or stone fences are

appropriate in residential-type areas.
a. Wrought iron fencing should be either black or rust colored.

2.3.4. Fences shall be similar to those seen historically.

2.4 Retaining walls
2.4.1. Historic stone walls and other site features should be repaired or restored,

replacing only those portions that are deteriorated beyond repair.
2.4.2. Native stone retaining walls are encouraged.

a. Stone walls should be similar in appearance to those seen historically,
including finishing, joining, and height.

2.4.3. Retaining walls should be of dry stone or stone masonry and be compatible
with other features onsite.

2.4.5. Use walls to prevent erosion and drainage issues.

Summary of proposed site design & evaluation of proposal’s compliance with Section 2:
The following elements of the site plan meet the design guidelines: The existing topography is
maintained, cut and fill is minimized, and the existing terrace is maintained for the sloped site at
the rear of the property. Although not necessarily designed as an amenity, the new drainage
swale system at the rear matches the concrete patio and sidewalks, and from the street, will have
a minimal visual impact [see Attachment B, sheet C200].

Figure 5. Details of woven wire fencing incorporated into a new fence.

Removal of the historic woven wire fence along the front property line does not meet the
Secretary of the Interior’s guidelines. Re-use of the historic woven wire and incorporating it
within a new fence on the rear retaining wall, however, retains the historic materials [see
Attachment B, sheet A000 and Figures 5 & 7]. The material for the new front fence meets the
design guidelines – black wrought iron – but the design is not one found historically [see
Attachment B, sheet A000 and Figure 6]. A gate will be at the bottom of the stairs.



8

Figure 6. Detail of wrought iron fence.

A new concrete retaining wall at the rear (north) side of the house will prevent erosion, which
meets the design guidelines. Stone veneer will be added to those portions visible from the street.
The existing stone retaining walls along the front (south) property line will be retained wherever
possible, and rebuilt where required for construction of the new site stairs and for utility
replacement [see Figure 7; Section 4 in Attachment C; and A000, C200, C301 in Attachment B].

Figure 6. Stone retaining walls along High Street (south property boundary).
Also note the historic woven wire fencing.

The historic outhouse will be retained in place, but its orientation will be rotated 180 degrees so
that the door will face an accessible portion of site. This follows the design guidelines in that
building should be located to accommodate site limitations. Disturbed ground in the front of the
house and on the east side will be grass, which also follows the design guidelines.

The existing site stairs are wood; the original materials are unknown. These stairs will be
replaced with concrete, requiring reconstruction of the abutting stone retaining walls. The new
stairs will remain in the historic location, and will be the same width as the existing. A steel pipe



9

handrail will be installed. The existing wood ground-level deck on the east side of the house will
be demolished, and replaced with a larger concrete patio (see sheet A000 in Attachment B). The
concrete will not be tinted, and will be scored as seen in the plans. The design guidelines do not
address patios, but this patio will not be highly visible from the public right-of-way due to the
rise in topography.

Excerpts from:
3. Rehabilitation of Historic Structures

3.1 Appropriateness of Use
3.1.1 Seek uses that are compatible with the historic character of the building

3.2 Roofs
3.2.A.1. Preserve the original roof form. This includes the roof’s shape and

decorative features.
3.2.B.2. When repair or replacement is necessary, use materials similar to the

original.
3.2.C.3. Half round galvanized gutters are historically appropriate and preferred on

residential homes.

3.3. Exterior Materials: Wood Siding and Masonry
3.3.A.1. Original historic finish materials should be preserved, rehabilitated and/or

repaired.
a. If portions of wood siding must be replaced, be sure to match the lap

dimensions of the original.
3.3.B.4. Repair or replacement of mortar should be done by a masonry professional

experienced in historic masonry repair.
3.3.C.1. Protect and maintain significant stylistic elements.

a. Avoid removing or altering any historic material or significant features.
b. Repair historic building features that are deteriorated where feasible.
c. When disassembly of an historic element is necessary for its restoration,

use methods that minimize damage to the original materials.
d. Use the gentlest possible procedures for cleaning, refinishing, and

repairing historic materials.
3.3.C.2. Replace missing original features in kind where feasible

a. Replacement of missing architectural elements should be based on
accurate information about original features.

b. Where reconstruction of an element is impossible, develop a compatible
new design that is a simplified interpretation of the original.

3.4 Doors
3.4.1. Retaining and preserving original doors and door openings is preferred

rather than replacement.
3.4.2. Retain and preserve the functional, proportional and decorative features of a

primary entrance.
a. Such features can include frames, sills, heads, jambs and moldings.



10

b. Door materials should be wood or appear similar to wood.
3.4.5. Avoid changing the position of historic doors.

b. Also avoid adding additional doors to facades that are visible from the
street.

3.4.6. When replacing doors, use designs similar to those found historically on
comparable buildings in Black Hawk.
c. Contemporary ornate doors are discouraged on “contributing” buildings,

unless photographic evidence can substantiate their historic use.
3.4.7. If heat loss or energy conservation is a concern, consider installation of a

storm door instead of replacing a historic entry door.
a. wood storm door is preferred. A colored metal storm door, featuring a

simple design, may be appropriate.
3.5.C.6. Genuine, transparent glass shall be used in all windows and doors.

3.5 Windows
3.5.A.1. Identify, retain and preserve the functional and decorative features of

windows found historically.
3.5.C.1. If replacement is necessary, replace in-kind. However, window materials

that appear similar to wood may be considered on a case-by-case basis.
3.5.C.3. Avoid changing the position of historic windows.
3.5.C.4. Maintain the historic subdivisions of windows.

b. Where multiple-pane windows are appropriate, true divided lights are
preferred. This especially true for windows that are at ground level and
close to sidewalks and walkways where the window details may be clearly
seen by the public.

c. Do not use “internal” muntins that are stuck between two layers of glass.
Snap-in muntins may be used on larger areas of glass in new
construction, provided they are installed on both sides of the glass.

3.5.C.6. Genuine, transparent glass shall be used in all windows and doors.

3.6 Porches
3.6.1. Original porches should be preserved.
3.6.3. Reconstructing a missing historic front porch is encouraged.

a. The replacement porch should be based on documented evidence of the
original porch.

b. In the absence of documentation of the original porch, design a simplified
version of porches found on houses of similar age and style.

3.7 Decks
3.7.1. Minimize the visual impact of any decks.
3.7.2. Decks should be subordinate to the house in terms of scale and detailing.
3.7.4. Railings should be similar to historic railing heights.
3.7.5. Decks should be painted or stained to match the exterior color of the house,

but will be reviewed on a case by case basis.
3.7.6. Materials with a synthetic look should be avoided, but will be reviewed on a

case by case basis.



11

Summary of proposed exterior rehabilitation & evaluation of compliance with Section 3:
Proposed use: The historic use of this building was residential, and it will remain residential
after rehabilitation. This meets the design guidelines and the Secretary of the Interior’s
Standards for rehabilitation.

Roofs: The roof shapes over the main portions of the house (gable-front-and-wing) will be
unchanged. The new roofing material will be asphalt shingles, color “Aged Cedar”
manufactured by Owens Corning [see figure 13]. Although the original roofing material is
unknown, it was not metal as is presently on the building. Instead, the original roofing was
likely wood shingles, and the proposed asphalt shingles are an acceptable substitute. The rear
addition located beneath the deck will have a new roof shape to provide better drainage. This
addition is not visible from the public right-of-way and will not have a negative impact.

Exterior Materials: The wood siding, trim and windows were evaluated by Anthony & Assoc.
[see Attachment D]. That report found the horizontal wood siding and decorative fish-scale
shingles to generally be in good to excellent condition, with the following exception: the siding
above the west window line is cupped, warped, and/or twisted. It was appraised that this
material may be historic, and the lower siding replaced at some time. The decorative fish-scale
shingles were also estimated to be non-original as they were in pristine condition.

Wood species identification in various places around the building indicated that the majority of
the siding and decorative porch elements are not original to the construction of the building.
Both the design guidelines and the Secretary of the Interior’s Standards recommend retaining
historic wood siding and features; repair the siding whenever possible; and if not possible, to
replace in-kind. The rehabilitation plans propose to replace all siding and the fish-scale shingles.
Since the wood siding is not original and historic photographs do not provide enough detail
about the original materials, these standards may not apply. The proposed replacement will
match the existing siding and shingles in size and materials, but it is unknown if these are
identical to the original construction.

The stone foundation will be replaced with a concrete foundation, which will have stone veneer
on the south and southeast. The stone veneer will be set in-line with siding, but may still have
the appearance of veneer [see Figure 7, taken from Section 1, sheet S400, Attachment B].



12

Figure 7. Section plan of concrete foundation with stone veneer.

The small rear addition currently has asphalt shingle siding; this wall will be rebuilt as concrete.
As it is not visible from the public right-of-way, this will not have a negative impact [see Sheet
A300 in Attachment B and Figure 8].

Figure 8. West elevation of rear addition

Doors: There are no new doors proposed, nor are the locations of any doors changing.
However, all doors and framing materials are proposed for replacement and one primary door
opening (on the east elevation of the gable-front wing) is proposed to be enlarged, which will
require removing the existing transom above the door, and replacing it with a larger transom.



13

This does not meet the Secretary of the Interior Standards or the design guidelines. The transom
above the other primary door will be rehabilitated, which meets the standards and design
guidelines. While the wood replacement doors are similar in style to those found historically,
they are not identical to the present doors. The exterior door handles will be Kwikset’s
“Shelburne” in Venetian Bronze, and the storm doors will be dark metal [see Figures 9 and 10].

Figure 9. Door on left will be installed at locations 2, 3, and 10 (2nd story rear); door on right
will be installed at location 1. Doors will be painted. The metal storm doors will have a
moveable upper sash.

Figure 10. Door locations 1, 2 & 3.



14

Windows: Although the windows were not available for close inspection, due to the visible
historic hardware, they were estimated to be “historic and/or original to the construction or early
modification of the building.” [see page 4, Attachment D]. All historic windows are proposed
for replacement with double-hung, aluminum clad wood windows with clear glazing [see Figure
11 for window type and color]. The only exception is the window on the west elevation, which
will be retained. The design guidelines recommend a prioritized approach to historic windows.
First, preserve and repair historic windows. If too deteriorated, then replace in-kind, matching
size, materials, and style. Replacement materials that are similar to wood may be considered on
a case-by-case basis.

Figure 11. Proposed replacement windows, exterior view. Exterior color: Desert
Beige.

Porch: The size and roof shape of the one-story wrap-around porch will be retained. The
following materials, although likely not original to the building, will also be retained: turned
porch posts, decorative lattice spandrel, corbel on posts, and porch fascia. The porch ceiling and
flooring will be replaced with wood. Although the porch railing details have not been finalized,
it is proposed that the porch railing/baluster will resemble the “Chippendale” style seen in
photographs from the Gilpin County Assessor’s office, but will be taller [see Figure 12; compare
to assessor’s photos in Attachment A]. This reconstruction is based on photos from the late 20th

century, which is possibly insufficient historic evidence for the original design. The design



15

guidelines recommend that in the absence of documentation of the original porch, a simplified
design found on houses of similar age and style is preferred.

Figure 12. Proposed porch railing

Decks: The existing decks on the rear are proposed to be reconstructed, as it is necessary to
remove them to rehabilitate the rear additions. The existing deck is partly visible from the public
right-of-way, and the railing heights are not similar to those found historically. The replacement
decks and railing will be unpainted, sealed redwood. This will require yearly maintenance to
maintain the existing color of the wood. The design guidelines recommend painting or staining
the decks to match the exterior color of the house.

Excerpts from:
4. Paint, Paint Colors and Lead Paint Issues

4.1 Color
4.1.1. Use historic color schemes.
4.1.2. Develop a color scheme for the entire building that coordinates all the façade

elements.
4.1.3. Use muted colors for the base and brighter colors for accents.
4.1.4. Leave natural masonry finishes unpainted when feasible.

Evaluation of proposed paint scheme and proposal’s compliance with Section 4:
Paint schemes that use more than three colors must be approved by the Board of Aldermen. The
proposed colors and paint scheme for the building meet the design guidelines by utilizing a
coordinating scheme with muted colors [see Figure 13].



16

Figure 13. Note: Colors may appear different on monitors.
Samples are available for review at the CP&D offices and at the public hearing.

Excerpt from:
5. Additions to Historic Structures

5.1. Preserve older additions that have achieved historic significance in their own right.
a. Examples may be a porch or a kitchen wing that was added to the

original building early in its history.
b. Most alterations 50 years and older have achieved historical significance.

Summary of proposed exterior rehabilitation & evaluation of compliance with Section 5:
The shed roof addition on the northeast side of the residence is visible in photographs from ca.
1910, and is therefore historic. It is being rehabilitated, which meets the design guidelines.
However, the roof form is changing to better accommodate drainage. This is not visible from the
public right-of-way, and is located beneath the rear decks.



17

Excerpts from:
6. Historic Accessory Structures

6.1 Preservation of Historic Accessory Structures
1. The preservation of accessory structures is strongly encouraged.

a. Historic sheds and outhouses should be maintained.
6.2 Rehabilitation of Historic Secondary Structures

1. Repair deteriorated historic building features when feasible.
a. Use the gentlest possible procedures for cleaning, refinishing, and

repairing historic materials.
2. Replace missing original features in kind when feasible.
3. When disassembly of an historic element is necessary for its restoration, use

methods that minimize damage to the original materials.
4. Replacement of missing architectural elements should be based on accurate

information about original features.

Summary of proposed exterior rehabilitation & evaluation of compliance with Section 6:
The outhouse is over 50 years of age. It has a metal lean-to addition (age unknown). The
outhouse is proposed for rehabilitation, while the metal lean-to is proposed for demolition. The
existing siding and roof material will be replaced with materials and colors matching the house.
The historic door will be replaced with a similar wood door, and will be painted the same color
as the siding. The proposal also changes the orientation of the elevation with the door, so that
the entry for the shed faces west. Finally, a small glass window will be next to the door [see
sheet A000, Attachment B]. While the new door orientation will not be highly visible from the
street, the replacement siding is not based on historic documentation, and the age and condition
of the present siding has not been evaluated.

Excerpts from:
7.4. Exterior Lighting

7.4.1. Lighting fixtures should contribute to the overall historic character of a
house or neighborhood.

7.4.2. Lighting should be functional not just historically decorative.
7.4.3. All lighting should focus downward.

Summary of proposed exterior rehabilitation & evaluation of
compliance with Section 7:
The locations of the exterior lights are shown in Attachment B.
There will be three fixtures located on the first floor of exterior of
the house: one between the two primary doors, one at the southeast
corner, and one at the door on the rear addition. There will be two
fixtures on the second story: one on the east well, and one at the
rear door. The fixtures will be dark metal lantern-type, seen in
Figure 14. Dark metal, lantern-type fixtures that have no upward
light would meet the design guidelines.

Figure 14. Exterior light fixture.



18

APPLICABLE GUIDE TO PROGRAM STANDARDS
All grants, whether Full Site Building, Site Work, Emergency or Radon Mitigation, must adhere
to the eligibility requirements in the City of Black Hawk Historic Restoration and Community
Preservation Fund Guide to Programs, the Residential Design Guidelines, and the Secretary of
the Interior’s Standards for treatment of historic properties. The project was evaluated using
these standards and staff found the elements of the proposal are in accordance and meet the
requirements.

CONSULTANT COMMENTS
The exterior rehabilitation and site work described on page 3 of this report requires a Certificate
of Appropriateness. The consultant’s evaluation of the proposal finds that some elements of the
proposed work are not in accordance with the City of Black Hawk Residential Design Guidelines
and the U.S. Secretary of the Interior’s Standards for Rehabilitation. These include:

 Enlargement of one of the primary door openings and transom (a character-defining
feature).

 Replacement of all historic doors instead of rehabilitating the doors.
 Replacement of all historic windows with metal-clad windows without investigation of

window condition.
 Replacement of all siding and fish-scale shingles although investigation shows the

condition ranges from good to excellent.
 Construction of a new porch railing without sufficient evidence that the design existed

during the NHL district’s period of significance; construction of a higher porch railing
than that found historically.

 Removal of historic woven wire fencing along the south property line and replacing it
with an ornate design in wrought iron not found historically.

HISTORIC PRESERVATION COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION
The Historic Preservation Commission (HPC) evaluated the application, the comments in the
report, and testimony by staff, consultants and the applicant. The list of non-conforming
elements in the previous section served as a starting guide for the Commission’s discussion.
Following is the result of that discussion:

 Enlargement of one of the primary door openings and transom (a character-defining
feature).
Door No. 3 is the proposed location for the enlargement. It was the opinion of the
Commission this would be the most logical location from a practical standpoint of
moving furniture and the fact it was not easily visible from the public right-of-way.

 Replacement of all historic doors instead of rehabilitating the doors.
This has been a rental property for many years and the doors have been abused. The
Commission asked the applicant if their preference was to keep and restore or replace.
The applicant felt the doors needed to be replaced and have chosen a style commonly
seen throughout the District.



19

 Replacement of all historic windows with metal-clad windows without investigation of
window conditions.
Although the windows were not available for close inspection, due to the visible historic
hardware, they were estimated to be “historic and/or original to the construction or early
modification of the building.” It is the applicant’s desire and preference that all historic
windows be replaced with double-hung, aluminum clad wood windows with clear
glazing. Since the appearance of the replacement windows will simulate the original
style the Commission agreed to replace. The only exception is the window on the west
elevation. It is the applicant’s preference to retain. It was originally designed to
eliminate the window at the west elevation on the exterior and encapsulate on the
interior. There would be no evidence of a pre-existing window, as siding would conceal
the opening. The Commission was in agreement with the applicant to keep the window in
tact without improvements. Council should discuss if they agree with the
recommendation by HPC.

 Replacement of all siding and fish-scale shingles although investigation shows the
condition ranges from good to excellent.
The investigation was inconclusive with no direct evidence the siding is historic. It was
determined the fish-scale shingles although in good condition to be non-historic. The
Commission agreed to proceed with replacing the siding and fish-scale shingles.

 Construction of a new porch railing without sufficient evidence that the design existed
during the NHL district’s period of significance; construction of a higher porch railing
than that found historically.
The size and roof shape of the one-story wrap-around porch will be retained. The
following materials, although likely not original to the building, will be retained: turned
porch posts, decorative lattice spandrel, corbel on posts, and porch fascia. The porch
ceiling and flooring will be replaced with wood. Although the porch railing details have
not been finalized, it is proposed that the porch railing/baluster resemble the
“Chippendale” style seen in photographs from the Gilpin County Assessor’s office, but
taller to meet current building code. The design guidelines recommend that in the
absence of documentation of the original porch, a simplified design found on houses of
similar age and style is preferred. The Commission agreed the porch design should be
the applicant’s preference and any changes to current design could be administratively
approved by staff.

 Removal of historic woven wire fencing along the south property line and replacing it
with an ornate design in wrought iron not found historically.
Re-use of the historic woven wire and incorporating it within a new fence on the rear
retaining wall retains the historic materials. The material for the new front fence meets
the residential design guidelines – black wrought iron – but the design is not one found
historically. The Commission agreed the proposed fencing should move forward as
proposed in the construction drawings.



20

The Commission should next discuss if there is sufficient evidence that the Certificate of
Appropriateness application meets the intent of the criteria outlined in the City of Black Hawk
Historic Restoration and Community Preservation Fund Guide to Programs, Section 16-368 of
the Black Hawk Municipal Code, and Sections 2, 3, 4, 5, 6 and 7.4 of the City of Black Hawk
Residential Design Guidelines.

At the conclusion of its discussion, the Historic Preservation Commission recommended to the
Board of Aldermen APPROVAL of the Certificate of Appropriateness for full exterior
rehabilitation and site work at 301 High Street based on the criteria set forth in the staff report
dated December 2, 2014. The Certificate of Appropriateness application for 301 High Street
meets the intent of the criteria outlined in the City of Black Hawk Historic Restoration and
Community Preservation Fund Guide to Programs, Section 16-368 of the Black Hawk Municipal
Code, and Sections 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, and 7.4 of the City of Black Hawk Residential Design
Guidelines.

The Historic Preservation Commission also provided direction that if any minor product,
materials, or color changes that meet the design guidelines can be approved by staff
administratively.

STAFF RECOMMENDATION
Staff recommends to the Board of Aldermen APPROVAL of the Certificate of Appropriateness
for full exterior rehabilitation and site work at 301 High Street based on the criteria set forth in
the staff report dated December 2, 2014. The Certificate of Appropriateness application for 301
High Street meets the intent of the criteria outlined in the City of Black Hawk Historic
Restoration and Community Preservation Fund Guide to Programs, Section 16-368 of the Black
Hawk Municipal Code, and Sections 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, and 7.4 of the City of Black Hawk Residential
Design Guidelines.

ATTACHMENTS
A: Cultural Resource Evaluation Form
B: Selected plans, PEH Architects
C: Project Manual, PEH Architects
D: “Window, Siding, and Trim Investigation of 301 High Street,” Anthony & Associates.
E: Technical handouts on historic porches: “ITS Number 9: Interpreting the Secretary of the

Interior’s Standards for Rehabilitation: Inappropriate Porch Alterations,” & “Preservation
Brief #45: Preserving Historic Wood Porches.”



NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING

Notice is hereby given in accordance with the City of Black Hawk Zoning Ordinance that
the City of Black Hawk Board of Aldermen shall hold a public hearing concerning a
Certificate of Appropriateness for full exterior rehabilitation and site improvements at
301 High Street. This property is described in Exhibit A below and is generally located
along High Street.

The public hearing is to be held before the City of Black Hawk Board of Aldermen on
Wednesday, December 10, 2014 at 3:00 p.m. or as soon as possible thereafter. The
public hearing shall be held in the City of Black Hawk Council Chambers located at 211
Church Street, Black Hawk, Colorado, 80422, or at such other time or place in the event
these hearings are adjourned.

ALL INTERESTED PARTIES
MAY ATTEND

Melissa A. Greiner
City Clerk

Exhibit A

301 High Street –

S: 7 T: 3S R: 72W Subd: BLACK HAWK Block: 024 Lot: 024 AND:- Lot: 025 (LOT
24 W 8 FT), (LOT 25 E PT DESC 125/191) & IMPS



1

ATTACHMENT A

Cultural Resource Evaluation Form



 BLACK HAWK CULTURAL RESOURCE SURVEY     
 Cultural Resource Re-evaluation Form    
 (page 1 of 2) 
 
 
1. Current Address:  301 High Street 
 
2. Resource Number:  5GL.7.392                                                                  3.  NHL Resource Number: B24-6 
 
4. Resource Name:                                                                                         
5. Purpose of this current site visit (check as many as apply) 

         Site is within a current project area 
   X    Resurvey 
   X    Update of previous site form(s) 
         Surface collection 
          Testing to determine eligibility 
         Excavation 
         Other 

  

6. Previous Recordings:  

   X     1986 National Park Service Survey    X    Photograph 

   X     1991 National Historic Landmark Nomination      No Photographs                    X    Contributing  

   X      1998 Re-survey    X    Photograph 

   X      2004 Photo survey    X    Photograph   

            Other:            Photograph 

  

7. Exterior alterations since 1986:   1996: alteration permit valuation $25,000.  1997: alteration permit 
valuation $19,500.  2006: Roof repair.  A rear deck may not date from 1986, although photos from that 
period are not clear.   

 

8. Additional historical background : No houses on High Street are shown in 1890 Sanborn map, although a 
row of houses is visible in several historic photographs purportedly dating from the 1880s.  A house is 
shown to the west of this location in the 1895 Sanborn map, while this land is vacant.  This house 
appears in the 1900 Sanborn, but is only 1 story; this is corroborated in historic photos.  By 1910, 
however, the gable-front portion was changed to 2 stories.  Deed research is recommended to reconcile 
the construction date discrepancy between the Sanborn maps & historic photographs. 

 

    Ca. 1897    Construction date     X      Estimate from 1986 NPS Survey          New estimate 

Sources of information: Digital Image Collection, Western History & Genealogy, Denver Public Library; 
The Gilpin Railroad Era (Abbot) 
 

 Sanborn Maps 

        1886   

        1890 

        1895 

        1900



Current Address:  301 High Street                                                     (page 2 of 2) 

Resource Number: 5GL.7.392   

NHL Resource Number: B24-6 

     

9. Changes to Location or Size Information: In addition to alterations noted in item 8, there are two small 
outbuildings not previously recorded in the 1986 survey, although they are visible in the 1986 survey 
photo.    

 

10. Revised National Historic Landmark District- Contributing Building Eligibility Assessment:  

 Contributing   X         Non contributing              Need data    

 

11. National Register - Individual Eligibility Assessment: 

 Eligible            Not eligible              Need data   X   

 

12.  Is there National Register district potential?  Yes   X        No              

 Discuss: Would be a contributing building to a potential NR district.  
 

13. Local Designation - Individual Eligibility Assessment:  

 Eligible   X         Not eligible              Need data   

 

14.  Is there Local district potential?  Yes   X       No              

 Discuss: Would be a contributing building to a potential local district. 
 

15. Photograph Types and Numbers: Digital, <.jpg> format.  301 High-1.JPG, 301 High-2.JPG, 301 High-3.JPG 

 

16. Report Title: Black Hawk Historic Resource Resurvey:  2009-2010 

 

17. Recorder(s):  Deon Wolfenbarger 18. Date(s): January 7, 2010 

 

19. Recorder Affiliation: Three Gables Preservation 

 

20. Attachments                     21. Official determination  
 (check as many as apply)             (OAHP USE ONLY) 
   X   Photographs         Determined Eligible 
        Site sketch map         Determined Not Eligible 
        U.S.G.S. map photocopy         Need Data 
   X   Other                                 Nominated 
        Other                                 Listed 
             Contributing to N.R. District 
             Not Contributing to N.R. Dist 



Current Address:  301 High Street                                                 Continuation Sheets 
Resource Number: 5GL.7.392   
NHL Resource Number: B24-6 

Current Photograph 
Date:  04/09/2009 

 
 



Current Address:  301 High Street                                                  Continuation Sheets 
Resource Number: 5GL.7.392   
NHL Resource Number: B24-6 
 

2004 Photograph 

 
 
 

1998 Resurvey Photograph 

 
 



Current Address:  301 High Street                                                  Continuation Sheets 
Resource Number: 5GL.7.392   
NHL Resource Number: B24-6 
 

1986 Survey Photograph 

 
 

Gilpin County Assessor’s photograph  



 
Current Address:  301 High Street                                                  Continuation Sheets 
Resource Number: 5GL.7.392   
NHL Resource Number: B24-6 

 
Gilpin County Assessor’s photographs 

 



Current Address:  301 High Street                                                  Continuation Sheets 
Resource Number: 5GL.7.392   
NHL Resource Number: B24-6 

 
Historic photographs 

 
Ca. 1880 

 

 
Ca. 1898



Current Address:  301 High Street                                                  Continuation Sheets 
Resource Number: 5GL.7.392   
NHL Resource Number: B24-6 

 
 

Historic photograph 

 
Ca. 1910 

1900 Sanborn Map 

 
 

 



2

ATTACHMENT B

Selected plans, PEH Architects





















3

ATTACHMENT C

Project Manual, PEH Architects





3

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 Table of Contents 
 Section 0 - Conditions of the Contract ..........................................................1 
 Section 1 - General Conditions Supplement .................................................2 
 Section 2 - Site Work ....................................................................................5 
 Section 3 - Concrete .....................................................................................6 
 Section 4 - Masonry ......................................................................................7
 Section 5 - Metals .........................................................................................8 
 Section 6 - Wood ..........................................................................................9 
 Section 7 - Thermal & Moisture ....................................................................12 
 Section 8 - Doors & Windows.......................................................................14
 Section 9 - Finishes ......................................................................................16 

Drywall ...............................................................................................16 
      Flooring, Wall Finish & Counters .......................................................16 

Painting ..............................................................................................17 
 Section 10 - Specialties ................................................................................20 
 Section 11 - Equipment ................................................................................21 
 Section 12 - Furnishings ...............................................................................21 
 Section 13 - Special Construction .................................................................21
 Section 14 - Conveying ................................................................................21 
 Section 15 - Mechanical ...............................................................................22 
 Section 16 - Electrical ...................................................................................24 
 Appendix A: Shop Drawing Submittals Required ..........................................26 

Appendix B: Not Used 
Appendix C: Soils Report 
Appendix D: Exterior Finishes Rendering 



1

0 CONDITIONS OF THE CONTRACT 

General Conditions and Modification to General Conditions: 

These Outline Specifications are intended only to establish a scope and quality of 
work and are not intended to be complete detailed specifications.  Where only 
one manufacturer is indicated, provide products of that manufacturer.  “Equal” 
products may be submitted concurrently but shall not be submitted as a 
substitute without prior authorization. 

It is implied and required that work which is not fully specified and/or detailed 
shall comply with applicable, recognized standards of the construction industry 
for the intended use of work, and shall be complete. 

Where there is a conflict between the specifications and the drawings or within 
the specifications, the Contractor is to assume the higher quality, more expensive 
product or detail is to be used.  It is the responsibility of the Contractor to ask for 
clarification from the Architect/Design Team. 

Dimensions take precedence over scaled drawings. Large scale drawings take 
precedence over small scale drawings. Concrete and masonry dimensions are to 
face of concrete or masonry. Wood or steel stud construction is dimensioned to 
face of finished material unless noted otherwise. Do not scale drawings unless 
directed by the architect. 

Before starting each portion of work, the contractor shall carefully study and 
compare the various drawings and other contract documents relative to that 
portion of work.  The contractor shall field verify any existing condition related to 
that portion of work and shall observe any conditions at the site affecting it.
These obligations are for the purpose of facilitating construction by the contractor 
and are not for the purpose of discovering errors, omissions, or inconsistencies in 
the contract documents; however, any errors, inconsistencies or omissions 
discovered by the contractor shall be reported to the architects as an RFI. 

Any discrepancies found between the drawings and specifications, and site 
conditions, or any inconsistencies or ambiguities in the drawings or specifications 
shall be immediately reported to the owner, in writing, who will promptly resolve 
such inconsistencies or ambiguities in writing. Work done on unreported 
discrepancies, inconsistencies or ambiguities by the contractor shall be done at 
the contractor’s risk. 







4

Operations and Maintenance:

The Contractor shall provide (1) copy of an O&M Manual and (1) PDF copy. The 
O&M Manual shall contain specification or product number and name for all 
appropriate finish materials, as used within the project, any and all warranty 
information, and any other pertinent information relating to this project. The hard-
copy manual is to be 8.5”x11, 3 ring binder with items listed by CSI 16 divisions 
within. CSI divisions are to be tabbed and there is to be a complete table of contents 
at the front of the binder. The electronic PDF copy of the manual is to be burned 
onto a CD or jumpdrive, requiring the same documents included in the hard copy. 
PDFs of items are to be organized within folders labeled by CSI 16 divisions. A PDF 
of the complete table of contents is also required. 

Selective Demolition: 

All General and sub contractors used for demolition must be EPA Lead-Safe 
Certified.

Remove and dispose identified items described in Demolition Plan(s) and other 
contract drawings and documents, unless otherwise noted.  Cap and identify utilities. 
 Existing finished construction to remain shall be repaired, patched, and blended into 
new work.  Remove all fasteners, hangers, clips, etc attached to or associated with 
demolished items and assemblies.  Provide shoring and bracing as required for 
demolition work. 

Plant Investment Fees: Not Applicable. (N/A) 

Taps: See Civil Drawings.   

Soils Report: By Cesare, Inc., 8/15/2014 (Attached to Project Manual 
as Appendix C). 

Building Permit: Pick up by Contractor. 







7

4 MASONRY 

Stone Retaining: Native stone, random sizing to maintain consistency 
of adjacent wall.  Coursing to be roughly horizontal 
with irregular, rough, un-cut rubble of ___in. minimum 
to ___in. maximum in diameter.  Match adjacent wall 
construction for stone color variation and stone 
coursing.

 Stone Mortar: ASTM Type M. Mortar joint to appear like stone is dry 
stack.  Wall mortar to allow for free draining of water. 

Foundation Stone Veneer: Native stone, roughly 3”-5” thick. Coursing to be 
roughly horizontal with irregular, rough, un-cut rubble 
of ___in. minimum to ___in. maximum in diameter.
Provide reinforcing ties as detailed/specified by 
structural.

 Stone Veneer Mortar: ASTM Type S. Mortar joint to be flush with face of 
stone.





9

6 WOOD 

Studs: Hem Fir, #2 or better, U.N.O.  See Structural Plans. 

Framing Lumber: Hem Fir, #2 or better, U.N.O.  See Structural Plans. 

Roof Trusses: N/A

Rafters: Hem Fir, #2 or better, U.N.O.  See Structural Plans. 

Beams: See Structural Plans. 

Backing for Accessories: N/A 

Wall Sheathing: ½” CDX plywood or 7/16” OSB - APA rated 24/16 exp 
1, blocked and nailed  U.N.O. 

Roof Sheathing: ½” CDX plywood or 15/32” OSB, APA 32/16, nailed 

Subfloor: ¾” T&G OSB, Install per structural.   

Soffit: 3/8” x 4” double beadboard, smooth pine, painted 

Fascia: 1x6, rough cedar, clear vertical grain, plowed for 
soffit.

Interior Trim: All trim to be a poplar or solid wood (no finger joint 
material) paint grade.  See drawings for profiles. 

Base: See “interior trim” 

Casing: See “interior trim” 

Material: See “interior trim” 

Window: See “interior trim” 

Door: See “interior trim” 

Exterior Trim: 5/4” Rough cedar, clear vertical grain. Siding is not to 
project past the edge of the trim. Pre-prime all 6 sides 
and field cut prior to install. 

Corner: 5/4”x4”. 

Window: 5/4”x4”. For jamb and sill, include ripped 2”x4” sill 
extension w/ sloped top and drip edge kirf cut.  See 
Elevation Drawings. 5/4”x6” and crown molding for 
head.

Door: 5/4”x4” for jamb. 5/4”x6” and crown molding for head. 



10

Exterior Lap Siding: Smooth cedar, clear vertical grain, bevel lap siding, 4” 
reveal. Pre-prime all 6 sides and field cuts prior to 
install. Fasteners to be concealed by consecutive 
installation of next lap board above. 

Deck:

Decking: 2”x6” red wood Architectural B Grade

Fasteners: Concealed fasteners

Guardrail: Red wood B Grade 

Exterior Stairs: 

Stringer: 2”x12” pressure treated

Treads: 2”x6” red wood Architectural B Grade

Riser: 1”x8” red wood Architectural B Grade, ripped. 

Handrail: See Section 5: Metals 

Balusters: N/A 

Porch:

Decking: 1”x6” red wood Architectural clear (special order)

Fasteners: Concealed 

Porch Guardrail: Parts to be poplar from LJ Smith

Top Rail: LJ-6010

Balusters: LJ-5060, 1-1/4”x1-1/4” square 

Bottom Rail: LJ-6000 (Plow on under side). Glue LJ-6000F to top 
of bottom rail between balusters.

Interior Stairs/ Railing: Refurbish existing treads, risers, balusters, and 
handrail. Strip all clear coat and stain from existing 
material. Sand all material smooth exposing new 
wood. Small dents and divots from existing wear are 
expected; however, fill deep holes and gouges. Prep 
for stain and clear finish of all historic material.

Handrail: Refurbish 

Newel Post: Refurbish

Baluster: Refurbish 

Top Rail: Refurbish



11

Bottom Rail: N/A

New Handrail: LJ-Smith LJ-6010, poplar painted. Provide brackets at 
6’-0” O.C. max.   

Closet Shelves: ¾” particle board with white melamine and PVC edge 
band on matching 1 x 2 wood ledger.

Closets: Shelf @ 6’-0” A.F.F. 

Closet Clothing Rod: 1 ½” diameter wood rod, provide middle bracket if 
span exceeds 4’-6”. 

Built-in Cabinetry: See plans for details. 













17

Wood Base 1: Poplar paint grade.  See plans and Room Finish 
 Schedule.  

Tile: N/A 

Rubber: N/A 

Walls:

Field Tile: To be selected by owner.  Over ½” Dens-Shield 
underlayment. See architectural interior elevations for 
locations.

Accent Tile Band: To be selected by owner.  Over ½” Dens-Shield 
underlayment. See architectural interior elevations for 
locations.

Tile Edge: To be selected by owner.

Grout: To be selected by owner.  Grout lines to be as tight as 
recommended by tile manufacturer. Seal Grout with 
Mapei grout sealer. Provide color sample for approval 
by owner. Provide matching sanded caulk for 
expansion joint treatment at dissimilar material joints.

Tile Waterproofing: N/A 

Kitchen Backsplash: To be selected by owner.

Grout: To be selected by owner.  Grout lines to be as tight as 
recommended by tile manufacturer. Seal Grout with 
Mapei grout sealer. Provide color sample for approval 
by owner. Provide matching sanded caulk for 
expansion joint treatment at dissimilar material joints. 

Bath Backsplash: To be selected by owner.

Kitchen Counters: To be selected by owner.

Bath Counters: To be selected by owner.

C. PAINTING/STAINING 

No Finish Areas: N/A 

Paint Primer: Provide (1) coat of primer for all painted areas prior to 
applying the required listed number of finish coats of 
paint per each material section. Primer shall be of 
contrasting color to finish paint. 

Exterior Wood: 3 coats satin acrylic latex over 1 coat primer.  5 color 
scheme.  Exterior paint to be applied with either brush 
or roller only (do not spray). All paint by Sherwin 





19

Interior Doors: 2 coats semi-gloss acrylic latex, low VOC, over 1 coat 
primer. Sherwin Williams promar 200 zero VOC B31-
2600 series or equal. To be selected by owner.

Interior “Stained” Wood:  

Stain:  1 coat oil based stain, Sherwin Williams Sherwood 
Wiping stain, (or equal), color to match existing, 1 
coat oil based sealer Sherwin Williams Sherwood 
Fast Dry Vinyl Sealer. Contractor to provide samples 
of stain on actual wood to be utilized for approval prior 
to staining project.

Transparent Finish:  2 coats polyurethane, “minwax polyurethane for 
floors” or equal. 

Caulking: Silicone or Acrylic, all open joints, color of adjacent 
surface. Provide sanded caulk at tile areas. 

MDF Products: Prime all MDF products with low VOC acrylic latex 

Construction Adhesives: low VOC 



20

10 SPECIALTIES 

Crawl Space Vents: N/A – Crawl space to be mechanically conditioned. 
See Mechanical Drawings. 

House Numbers: 4” high, matte black finish. Schlage Classic House 
numbers.

Medicine Cabinets: Kohler Archer 20”W X 31”H K-3073-NA

Fireplace:

Model: N/A 

Brand: N/A 

Size: N/A 

Flue: N/A 

Attic Ladder: N/A

Bathroom Accessories: 

Towel Ring: To be selected by owner.

Towel Rod: To be selected by owner.

Robe Hook: To be selected by owner.

Shower Curtain Rod: To be selected by owner.

Toilet Tissue Holder: To be selected by owner.



21

11 EQUIPMENT 

Refrigerator: To be selected by owner.  Provided by owner. 
Installation, including any required installation kit or 
materials, by G.C. 

Oven/Range: To be selected by owner.  Provided by owner. 
Installation, including any required installation kit or 
materials, by G.C. 

Dishwasher: To be selected by owner.  Provided by owner. 
Installation, including any required installation kit or 
materials, by G.C.

Disposal: See plumbing plans and schedule. 

Microwave: N/A 

Microhood: To be selected by owner.  Provided by owner. 
Installation, including any required installation kit or 
materials, by G.C.

Hood: N/A 

Trash Compactor: N/A 

Washer: To be selected by owner.  Provided by owner.
Installation, including any required installation kit or 
materials, by G.C. 

Dryer: To be selected by owner.  Provided by owner. 
Installation, including any required installation kit or 
materials, by G.C.

12 FURNISHINGS 

Window Coverings: N/A

Manufactured Cabinetry:  

Kitchen Cabinetry  To be selected by owner.  See Interior Elevations.   

 Hardware: To be selected by owner.  Hinges and door 
glides to be “no slam.” Door overlay to be full overlay 
with concealed hinges. 

Bath:    To be selected by owner.  See Interior Elevations.   

 Hardware: To be selected by owner.  Hinges and door 
glides to be “no slam.” Door overlay to be full overlay 
with concealed hinges.



22

13 SPECIAL CONSTRUCTION (NO WORK.) 

14 CONVEYING   (NO WORK.) 

15 MECHANICAL 

Site Utilities: See Civil Drawings. 

Gas Service: See Civil Drawings. 

Gas Meter Location: See Civil Drawings. 

Pressure Reducing Valve: See Civil Drawings. 

Gas Piping: Rework areas affected by renovation w/ galvanized 
piping.  PE pipe at underground locations.  Bury 
exposed pipe at retaining wall.  Coord. w/ Civil 
Drawings.

Gas Devices: Boiler, Range, Dryer, BBQ Grill. 

Sewer Service: See Civil Drawings. 

House Sewer: See Plumbing Drawings. 

Water Supply: See Civil Drawings.

Water Service: See Civil Drawings. 

Water Tap: See Civil Drawings. 

Water Meter: See Plumbing Drawings. 

Main Run Size: See Civil drawings 

Branch Size: See Civil drawings 

Hose Bib: Frost proof.  See Plumbing plans and schedule. 

Sump Pump: N/A

Floor Drains: See mechanical plans. 

Water Heater: N/A   

Make: N/A 

Model: N/A 

Type: N/A 

Fixtures: 

Lavatories: See plumbing plans and schedule.



23

Faucets: See plumbing plans and schedule.

Controls: See plumbing plans and schedule.

Kitchen Sink: See plumbing plans and schedule.

Toilets: See plumbing plans and schedule.

Shower: See plumbing plans and schedule.

Bathtub: See plumbing plans and schedule.

Shower Enclosure:  

Door:   N/A 

Glazing: N/A 

Wall: N/A 

Bench: N/A

Pan: N/A 

Mechanical System: See Mechanical Plans. 

Make: See Mechanical Plans. 

Supply Location: See Mechanical Plans. 

Zones: See Mechanical Plans. 

Controls: See Mechanical Plans. 

Programmable Thermostat: See Mechanical Plans. With low-voltage or line 
voltage power (Battery power is not acceptable). 

Unit Size: See Mechanical Plans. 

Floor Diffusers: N/A

Duct Sizing: N/A

Outside Air Intake: See Mechanical Plans. 

Make-up Air Intake: See Mechanical Plans. 

Air Conditioning: N/A





25

Telephone Outlets: See Electrical Plans. 

Location: See Electrical Plans. 

Smoke Detectors: Hardwire and install per code, See Electrical Plan. 

Carbon Monoxide Detector: Hardwire and install per code, See Electrical Plan 

Emergency Generator: N/A 

Light Fixtures: See Electrical Plan and Schedule. 

END OF SPECIFICATIONS 



26

APPENDIX A:   SUBMITTAL TABLE 
       

Spec. Section Product or Material Submittal Type 
(see below) 

Div 2 Sitework None 
Div 3 Concrete None 
Div 4 Masonry Stone masonry & mortar c

Brick masonry & mortar c
Div 5 Metals Ornamental Guardrail a,b,

Wire and Steel Guardrail a, b, 
Div 6 Wood Interior trim- base & casing b, c 

Exterior siding, trim, fascia & soffit b, c 
Div 7 Thermal/Moist. Roofing None

Gutters & Downspouts a, b, c 
 Insulation None
Div 8 Openings Doors, frames & hardware b, c 

Windows, frames & hardware None
Div 9 Finishes Flooring - all types (tile/vinyl/etc.) b, c

Wall tile & backsplashes b, c 
 Interior paint b, c 
 Exterior paint b, c 

Kitchen & Bath counters a, b, c 
Div 10 Specialties Bath Accessories 
Div 11 Equipment None 
Div 12 Furnishings Manufactured Cabinetry & Pulls a, b, c 
Div 15  Plumb/Mech Boiler None
 Furnace None
 Toilets None

Lavatories/Sinks & faucets None (provided by owner) 
Showers/Tubs & faucet/controls None

Div 16 Electrical Light fixtures b

Legend
a. Shop drawings (PDF format) 
b. Catalog data (PDF format) 
c. Samples, colors 
d. Mock-up 
Submittals are not contract documents.  Their purpose is to demonstrate the way by which the contractor 
proposes to conform to the information given and the design concept expressed in the contract documents for 
those portions of the work.  Submittals that are not required will not be reviewed or returned by the design team. 
Submittals will be submitted in a timely manner so as to allow the architect (10) days for review and approval. 



4

ATTACHMENT D

“Window, Siding, and Trim Investigation of 301 High Street,” Anthony & Associates



September 25, 2014

Report:

Window, Siding, and Trim Investigation of 301 High Street,
Black Hawk, Colorado

Submitted to:

The City of Black Hawk
211 Church Street

Black Hawk, CO 80422

Submitted by:

Anthony & Associates, Inc.
P.O. Box 271400

Fort Collins, CO 80527-1400



Anthony & Associates, Inc. 1 Report – 301 High Street

Window, Siding, and Trim Investigation of 301 High Street,
Black Hawk, Colorado

BACKGROUND

This report is based on information provided by Ms. Cynthia Linker from the City of
Black Hawk. Anthony & Associates, Inc. (A&A) was asked to conduct a limited
investigation of the exterior architectural wood of 301 High Street (the Building), a
privately-owned property located in Black Hawk, Colorado.

The Building, which is believed to have been constructed ca. 1897 and modified ca.1910,
is a wood-frame building with a roughly square footprint. It is clad with wood trim and
wood siding. There are two outbuildings immediately adjacent to the Building; they do
not appear to be historic and were not included in this investigation.

SCOPE OF WORK

There were questions regarding the general condition and age of the Building’s wood
siding. The species of the wood siding was unknown. It was also not known whether
insects or decay fungi are active and if deterioration of the wood has occurred. The level
of investigation was chosen to provide insight about the age and general condition of the
exterior architectural wood.

The scope of work included the following tasks:

 Conducting a site visit to photograph and document existing conditions,
followed with a limited assessment report.

 Removing a minimum of 8 wood species samples to identify the wood species or
wood species groups for the siding and exterior trim elements.

 Conducting a limited visual investigation of the visible wood conditions of the
Building that included taking moisture content measurements of a representative
sample of siding elements to determine whether conditions exist that are
favorable to the growth of wood decay fungi and to identify areas of moisture
intrusion.

 Examining the fasteners and the siding for indicators of age.



Anthony & Associates, Inc. 2 Report – 301 High Street

FIELD PROCEDURES

Anthony & Associates, Inc. provided a wood specialist on September 18, 2014 to
conduct an investigation of the wood windows, exterior wood siding, and exterior trim
of the Building. The investigation was based on a combination of visual inspection,
moisture content determination and species identification. These methods are
described below.

Species Identification

The Building is clad in wood siding with wood trim. Identifying wood species makes it
possible to identify compatible material for repairs and can aid in historic interpretation
of construction or repair campaigns. Wood species were identified by removing small
samples from which the species or species group were identified under microscopic
examination. Although a minimum of 8 samples was included in the authorization,
additional samples were removed to identify species of key architectural wood elements
and to aid in developing historical documentation and interpretation.

Visual Inspection

Visual examination of the wood allows for identifying components that are missing,
broken, or in an advanced state of deterioration. If missing components were intended to
provide protection from the elements (i.e., to prevent moisture intrusion), their
replacement may be essential to prevent long-term damage to the structure. Visual
inspection also allows for the detection of past or current moisture problems, as
evidenced by moisture stains on the exposed surface of the wood. Further, visual
inspection enables detection of external wood decay fungi or insect activity as determined
by the presence of decay fruiting bodies, fungal growth, insect bore holes or wood
substance removed by wood-destroying insects.

Moisture Content Determination

Prolonged exposure to moisture can produce undesirable conditions and maintenance
issues for wood in a structure. Shrinkage, swelling, checking, loose connections, and
decay are typical problems. Moisture content measurements were taken at multiple
locations of the exterior siding and trim.

Moisture content measurements identify wood with favorable moisture levels for the
growth of wood-decay fungi. Generally, if the moisture content is less than 20 percent,
wood-decay fungi are unable to grow. While fungi may be present at lower moisture
contents, they are unable to continue to deteriorate the wood without sufficient moisture.
Moisture contents from 20 to 30 percent indicate areas of concern where sufficient
moisture is present for fungi to grow but not sufficient to indicate advanced decay.
Moisture contents above 30 percent can indicate advanced decay with internal voids
and/or surface deterioration.



Anthony & Associates, Inc. 3 Report – 301 High Street

301 High Street

FINDINGS

General

The Building currently has a roughly square footprint and is oriented approximately
on a southwest-northeast axis; for ease of reference, the elevation facing High Street
is referred to as the south elevation. The Building appears to have been constructed
in multiple phases, and may likely have had a “T-shaped” footprint in 1910 (similar to
the house just to the left of the Building in Figure 1). The various alterations are
apparent when viewed at the roofline (Figure 1). See Figure A-1 in the Appendix for
a sketch plan of the Building with the labeled additions.

Figure 1. Google Earth image showing the roof lines of the Building.

The Building is clad in wood siding on all elevations except for a small area under the
deck that is clad in asphalt shingles (Figure 2). Decorative fish-scale wood shingle
siding is visible at the roof peaks of the 2-story section and the 1 1/2-story section
(Figure 2).

Figure 2. East elevation showing wood siding, asphalt shingles and fish-scale shingles.



Anthony & Associates, Inc. 4 Report – 301 High Street

All of the accessible windows, with the exception of one on the east elevation of the
shed roof addition have been covered by aluminum storm windows (Figure 3). The
shed roof addition appears to be a relatively recent alteration and its window is not
historic. Because the single lite, double hung windows were not accessible, no
determination can be made of their age; however, the window hardware visible
through the glass indicates that the windows may be historic and/or original to the
construction or early modification of the Building (Figure 4).

Figure 3. Aluminum storm windows cover the accessible windows.

Figure 4. Window hardware viewed through the glass appears to date to the period
of construction and/or early modification (ca. 1910).

The horizontal wood siding and decorative fish scale wood shingle siding appear to be,
in general, good to excellent condition, with a few exceptions. The west elevation of the
Building (the 2-story section) has siding located above the window line that is cupped,
warped, and/or twisted (Figure 5). This change in appearance is indicative of possible



Anthony & Associates, Inc. 5 Report – 301 High Street

replacement material on the lower (more accessible) portion of the west elevation and
historic material on the upper portion.

Figure 5. West elevation of the 2-story section showing cupped and warped siding
above straight siding.

The decorative fish-scale wood shingle siding appears to be in excellent condition
(Figure 6). Due to its pristine appearance, it is likely that the decorative shingles are
replacement material. A detailed examination of the shingle siding could not be made
because of a lack of access.

Figure 6. Decorative wood shingle siding on the north elevation of the 2-story section
in excellent condition.

Species Identification

Sixteen samples were removed for species identification. Given the assumed age of the
Building, historic materials such as siding would likely have been produced from trees
with native ranges extending into Colorado, such as western yellow pine (a hard pine



Anthony & Associates, Inc. 6 Report – 301 High Street

species group that includes ponderosa pine and lodgepole pine) and/or Engelmann

spruce; however, western yellow pine is still used today for architectural siding and trim,

so decisions regarding the age of the exterior architectural wood cannot be based on

species alone.

Table 1. Wood Species Identification

Sample
Number

Member Location Species

1 siding
east elevation, shed

roof addition redwood (Sequoia sempervirens)

2 window sill
east elevation, shed

roof addition
western yellow pine (Pinus spp.)

3 vertical window trim
east elevation, shed

roof addition
western yellow pine

4 center column east elevation porch yellow poplar (Liriodendron tulipifera)

5 siding
east elevation, 1 1/2

story section
redwood

6 window sill
east elevation, 1 1/2

story section
Douglas-fir (Pseudotsuga menziesii)

7 vertical window trim
east elevation, 1 1/2

story section
western yellow pine

8 siding
east elevation, 2 story

section
redwood

9 center column south elevation porch yellow poplar

10 siding
south elevation, 2

story section
redwood

11 window sill

west bay window,

south elevation, 2

story section
western yellow pine

12 vertical window trim
west elevation, 2 story

section
western yellow pine

13 window sill
west elevation, 2 story

section
western yellow pine

14 siding

lower level, west

elevation, 2 story

section

redwood

15 siding

upper level, west

elevation, 2 story

section
western yellow pine

16 siding
north elevation

(under deck)
redwood

Native wood species including western yellow pine and Douglas-fir were identified for

window and trim elements. Other tree species that are not native to Colorado were

identified for the siding and decorative porch columns. The siding, with the exception of a

sample removed from the upper level of the west elevation, was identified as redwood.

The decorative porch columns were identified as yellow poplar. The



Anthony & Associates, Inc. 7 Report – 301 High Street

presence of these species indicates that the majority of the siding and the decorative
porch elements are not original to the construction of the Building.

Age of Siding and Trim

Determining the exact age of the siding and trim by visual inspection alone is generally
not possible. In conjunction with species identification and historical research and
documentation, however, it is sometimes possible to determine the sequence in which
materials were added or altered by examining the materials and fasteners in detail. A key
identifier can be the type of fastener used to hold wood members or architectural
elements together. Wire nails, in common use today, were not widely produced and used
in construction until the 1890s. However, in rural parts of the country, common use of
wire nails did not occur until after the turn of the 20th century.

While wire nails have flat, circular heads and round shafts, machine cut nails were
typically stamped or cut from a sheet of metal, resulting in square or rectangular heads
and square shafts. Machine cut nails were primarily used prior to the widespread
manufacture and use of round wire nails. Given the assumed ca. 1897 date of
construction, the use of machine cut nails would not be unusual; however, all of the
visible fasteners on the siding and trim are wire nails (Figure 7). These findings, in
combination with the species identification results, suggest that the majority of the siding
and trim is replacement material.

Figure 7. A round wire nail head visible on the north elevation of the 2-story

section. Wood Condition

Moisture Content Determination
Limited moisture content measurements were taken using a capacitance moisture meter
for siding and exterior trim at multiple locations along the building exterior, primarily
near ground level, to gain insight into the moisture levels around the perimeter of the



Anthony & Associates, Inc. 8 Report – 301 High Street

Building. Moisture content measurements generally did not exceed 11 percent in the
tested areas indicating that the wood is currently at low risk for deterioration by wood
decay fungi. However, the east elevation of the shed roof addition was found to have
moisture contents ranging from 8 to 19 percent. The areas of highest moisture content
were located near a downspout extension, where moisture build-up may be possible due
to the site topography and lack of adequate drainage (Figure 8).

Figure 8. Looking down at the area of high moisture content on the east elevation of the
shed addition.

Siding and Trim Condition
The wood siding on all elevations is, in general, in good to excellent condition, with
very few areas of failing paint or exposed wood surfaces (Figures 9 and 10). On the
west elevation, many of the siding boards on the upper level exhibit some warp, and a
few have broken (see Figure 5).

Figure 9. South elevation, west corner showing siding in good to excellent condition.
The paneling in the bay window area is a wood fiberboard product.



Anthony & Associates, Inc. 9 Report – 301 High Street

Figure 10. Siding on the north elevation in excellent condition.

SUMMARY OF THE WOOD INVESTIGATION

The exterior architectural siding and trim of 301 High Street is, generally, in good to
excellent condition. There are a few areas of minor weathering and movement in
service; in particular, the siding located on the upper level of the west elevation has
cupped, warped, and or twisted. Species identification results indicate that the upper
level siding on the west elevation is likely historic material. The remaining siding is
likely replacement material, based on the visible appearance of good to excellent
condition, the presence of round wire nail fasteners, and the non-native species
(redwood) identification results.

Moisture contents at the time of the fieldwork were generally under 11 percent, with the
exception of one location on the east elevation of the shed roof addition, where a down-
spout extension and poor site drainage appears to have resulted in a moisture build-up
issue.

Based on the current historical information available and the results of the limited wood
investigation, the wood siding on all elevations, with the exception of the upper level of
the west elevation, does not date to the estimated period of construction or early
modification (ca. 1897-1910). The wood siding in all other areas appears to have been
installed in a single repair campaign based on species identification results. The
decorative wood shingle siding was not accessible for close inspection, but based on its
relatively pristine condition, does not appear to date to the period of construction or early
modification. Additionally, the use of wire nails as fasteners indicates that it is very
unlikely that the majority of the current siding is part of the original construction.

The likely age of the architectural window trim and the window sashes of the Building
is more difficult to determine, given that the wood used in the window trim



Anthony & Associates, Inc. 10 Report – 301 High Street

construction was identified as coming from local tree species and the window sashes
were not accessible for inspection or species identification sampling. The trim may date
to the original construction and may have been reused and reattached with wire nails, or
may date to a repair campaign, as native tree species are still in use today for the
production of architectural trim. The windows appear to have original or historic
hardware in place, and are single lite, double-hung windows that are consistent in
appearance with historic windows ca. 1897-1910, the assumed period of construction
and early modification.

The findings of the wood investigation can be summarized as follows:

 Based on a limited number of samples removed, the existing exterior architectural
wood work (including siding and trim) is a combination of western yellow pine
(Pinus spp.), redwood (Sequoia sempervirens), and Douglas-fir (Pseudotsuga
menziesii),

 The window sashes, with the exception of the window on the east elevation of
the shed roof addition, appear to date to the estimated date of construction or
early modification based on limited visual evidence of historic window
hardware; the majority of the window trim may also date to the period of
construction.

 The shed roof addition appears to be a relatively recent modification.

 While the exact age of the existing wood siding cannot be definitively identified
based on existing information, based on the wood species used and the use of
round wire nail fasteners, it is likely not original to the construction with the
exception of the upper level of the west elevation, which was identified as
western yellow pine, a locally available tree species group.

 The wood siding is, in general, in good to excellent condition, with the exception
of the upper level of the west elevation, where a significant number of boards have
cupped, warped, and/or twisted.



APPENDIX

Sketch Plan



porch

11/2-story
section

2-story section

shed roof
addition

N

Anthony & Associates, Inc. 12 Report – 301 High Street

Figure A-1. Plan view of 301 High Street showing the sections and addition discussed in the test. Field sketch, not to scale.
North arrow is approximate for ease of reference.



5

ATTACHMENT E

Technical handouts on historic porches:

1. “ITS Number 9: Interpreting the Secretary of the Interior’s Standards for Rehabilitation:
Inappropriate Porch Alterations

2. “Preservation Brief #45: Preserving Historic Wood Porches.”







45 PRESERVATION 
BRIEFS 

Preserving Historic Wood Porches 

Aleca Sullivan and John Leeke 

National Park Service 
U.S. Department of the Interior 

Few architectural features evoke more romantic notions 
or do more to define a building's historic character than 
the American porch. The size, style, detailing, and 
location of a porch can tell volumes about the age and 
use of a building. Each component, from handrail or 
baluster to column or post, enhances the architectural 
character of the porch. Alter or remove the porch and 
a historic building or streets cape can lose its visual 
integrity and historic authenticity (Fig 1). 

Functionally, a porch protects an entrance from the 
weather. Yet open porches are constantly exposed 
to sun, snow, rain, and foot traffic, and thus subject 
to deterioration, perhaps more than other parts of a 
building. Wood porches are particularly vulnerable. 

Deferred maintenance and neglect account for the 
decay and loss of countless numbers of historic porches 

each year. Deterioration from moisture and resultant 
wood rot, and damage caused by wood-eating insects 
are common problems that, when left unaddressed 
too long, can lead to the loss of significant historic 
fabric. Inappropriate repairs or insensitive alterations, 
such as the enclosure of a front porch, can be equally 
destructive and negatively affect the porch's appearance. 
All these things can alter a building'S historic character. 
To preserve the character of the porch, as well as the 
historic building itself, it is essential to plan carefully 
before undertaking any work on a historic porch. 

This Preservation Brief provides guidance for the 
everyday care of wood porches on older buildings. 
It focuses primarily on the maintenance and repair 
of wood porches, but acknowledges other, often 
challenging, work as well. This publication provides 
a brief history of the American porch and identifies 

its basic structural and decorative elements. 
It outlines how to assess the condition of 
a wood porch, how much work may be 
needed, and how to develop a specific scope 
of work. Detailed guidance on each level of 
work is provided, beginning with routine 
maintenance, followed by general repairs for 
various porch components, and concluding 
with replacement of parts that are beyond 
repair. Recommendations are provided for 
work that may require professional assistance. 
Although the Brief primarily addresses 
residential buildings, much of the information 
can be applied to wood porches on any 
structure. 

Evolution of the Porch 

Figure 1. Distinctive yet different, these front porches are important features along 
the street. The rhythm would be diminished if the front porch from one of the houses 
was dramatically altered or removed. Photo: Aleca Sullivan. 

In colonial America, buildings in the northern 
colonies tended to echo British precedents 
with small gable-roofed extensions to protect 
main entrances. Whether open or enclosed, 
these extensions were called porches (from 

1 



2 

Figure 2. Porches not only help define the architectural character of 
a building but also serve as living areas. They can be designed to 
take advantage of surrounding views. Cedar Grove, the home of the 
nineteenth-century landscape painter Thomas Cole, has an L-shaped 
veranda on the front and a two-story porch on the rear, providing an 
enviable view of the Catskill Mountains. Photo: Marilyn Kaplan. 

Medieval English and the French word porche, which 
stems from the Latin, porticus). Also known as porticos 
when supported by columns, these covered entrances 
were sometimes designed to respect classical order and 
details, especially on more stylish buildings. Hooded 
doors or small covered entryways flanked by benches, 
often called stoops (from the Dutch stoep for step) that 
served as short covered transitions to and from the 
outdoors were common features, especially in New York 
and the mid-Atlantic colonies. 

During the late 1700s and early 1800s as longer shed
roofed porches became more common, they were 
typically called piazzas, as they were then called in 
England. This term, still popular in some areas of North 
America, is adapted from the Italian word for open 
space or plaza. An alternate term for a long open porch, 
veranda, reflects British colonial design influence from 
the Indian sub-continent. 

In French colonial areas, such as the Louisiana Territory, 
houses were often built with broad roofs extending well 
beyond the exterior walls to form surrounding porches, 
known as galleries. Porches were also important 
features of Spanish colonial buildings. In California, 
for example, many adobe ranches featured a portal 
with the roof supported by wooden posts. African 
and Caribbean influences can also be found in North 
American porch traditions. 

By the late eighteenth and early nineteenth centuries, 
porches became more common in larger, wealthier areas 
such as Philadelphia, Boston and Charleston. In both 
the North and the South, formal colonnades with tall 
columns dressed in classical orders were sometimes 
added to help dignify public buildings, hotels, and 
mansions. This trend continued through the 1830s 
and 1840s, as the Greek Revival became the dominant 
architectural style in many areas of North America. 

The social role of porches as a transition space between 
indoors and outdoors and as a link between private and 
public realms evolved during the 1800s. By offering 
grand entrances and sheltered landings with views of 
the surroundings, prominent porches became expected 
features of inns, hotels and resort spas, where they could 
serve as promenades, social gathering spots, and refuges 
for more private retreats. Porches were also added to 
private homes to serve many of these same functions 
(Fig 2). As the country began to thrive and expand, 
porches became more than just covered entrances or 
ceremonial features; they became an integral part of 
domestic social life 

Some of the most significant factors that aided 
this shift were America's industrialization and 
later suburbanization. As improvements to mass 
production methods helped spur industrial growth, 
many Americans had more money to spend and more 
leisure time. Meanwhile a growing middle class was 
moving to new suburban neighborhoods. Inspired by 
the pattern books of Andrew Downing and George 
Woodward and the published designs of such architects 
as Alexander Jackson Davis and Calvert Vaux, the 
homes of these mid-1800s suburban neighborhoods 
were typically ornamented by elaborate porches dressed 
with fancy millwork. By this time, millwork catalogues 
and builders' pattern books offered a wide variety of 
designs for porch parts. With mass production, these 
fancy brackets and other ornamentation became less 
expensive, making it easier and more affordable to 
construct decorative porches (Fig 3). With mechanized 
wood turning lathes, the cost of posts, balusters and 
decorative spindle work also decreased to a level 
affordable by many. Adding a porch with wood 
ornamentation could enhance even the smallest 
and simplest of houses. Even older homes could be 
modernized with a fancy porch addition, stylized to 
the latest fashion trends. Such changes culminated in 
the large, highly decorated wrap-around porches of the 
Queen Anne style. 

The second half of the nineteenth century was the golden 
era of porches. The social role of the porch increased as 
it evolved into an outdoor parlor, a true extension of the 
house into the landscape. Often partially screened by 
shrubs, porches could provide occupants with discreet 
opportunities for social contacts that might otherwise be 
difficult to achieve in an age obsessed with manners and 
proprieties. For many, sitting on the porch became an 
important part of their daily routine. Perhaps President 
Rutherford B. Hayes best summed up the love that 
Victorian-era Americans felt towards their porches when 
he recorded in his journal in 1873: "The best part of the 
present house is the veranda. But I would enlarge it. I 
want a veranda with a house attached." 

By the early twentieth century, the hygiene movement, 
which stressed that access to fresh air could help prevent 
or remedy such diseases as tuberculosis, contributed to 
the development and proliferation of the sleeping porch. 



These porches were usually located on the second 
floor next to bedrooms. This era also saw the rise in 
use of insect screening on porches to guard against the 
discomfort of mosquitoes and the diseases they spread, 
such as yellow fever and malaria. 

While innovations fostered the proliferation of porches 
in the nineteenth century, new inventions helped lead 
to its decline in the twentieth. As the automobile 
boom of the early twentieth century made it easier for 
people to get out of the house for entertainment and 
relaxation, porches began to lose popularity, especially 
as architectural styles and social attitudes changed. With 
the telephone, neighbors and friends could chat without 
personally meeting. And housing styles popularized 
in the construction boom after World War II often 
omitted front porches all together as backyard patios 
became the focus of private outdoor activities. Finally 
in the mid-twentieth century the broad availability of 
air conditioning and television enticed many people to 
stay inside at night and brought the golden era of the 
American porch to an end. 

Figure 3. Throughout the late nineteenth and early twentieth 
centuries, millwork catalogues offered a wide variety of designs for 
porch parts, including columns, newels, balusters, spindles and 
brackets. As extolled in the Cedar Rapid Sash & Door Company's 
Standards Design Book, stock parts made embellishments to porches 
affordable both for new construction and "updating" existing homes. 
Courtesy of Charles Fisher. 

Understanding the History and Significance 
ora Porch 

In preserving historic buildings, it is important to 
understand the history and evolution of a particular 
structure and what features contribute to its historic 
character. This is especially applicable when working 
with historic porches since they usually are prominent 
features, significant to the character of a building. 

Answers to the following questions will help establish 
the significance of a porch. 

What has the porch looked like in the past? 
Early photographs, insurance maps, or tax records can 
provide useful information. These may be found at city 
or county offices, historical societies, libraries or even 
from former owners or neighbors. Such documents may 
indicate the footprint of the building or show long-lost 
details of the building's appearance. Physical evidence 
of historic porch footings may exist. Paint shadows of 
a former roofline or moldings can provide clues about 
details now missing. Old porch parts may have been 
"stored" under the deck during past repairs. 

What, if any, changes have taken place to the historic 
porch over the years? On many porches elements such 
as columns, balusters, and finish details correspond with 
the design and detailing on the rest of the house. With 
other porches, the style of these features may differ from 
the rest of the building, but may reflect an important 
chapter in its history. Sometimes, parts of porches 
may have been lost due to neglect or remodeling. 
Questions about what historic fabric remains, what has 
been altered over time, and whether earlier changes 
are now an integral part of the historic character 
should be resolved before planning major porch work. 
Determining the historical evolution of the house may 
require both physical and archival research and in some 
cases the professional eye of an architectural historian. 

What are the character defining features of the porch? 
The open qualities are one of the key features of most 
historic porches. Overall size, shape and design are 
obviously important components as well. There are 
numerous other contributing features which may exist, 
including the shape of the porch roof, the way a large 
porch is divided into distinct bays as with columns, the 
nature of the supporting foundation, the style and size 
of columns and balustrade, and whether the porch is 
raised or largely at grade. The simplicity of a porch or 
its richness in detail will also help define it. Materials 
are usually important as well, not just the wood features, 
but also whether other materials exist such as masonry 
columns and steps (Fig 4). 

How does the porch contribute to the building's 
overall appearance? The size and location of a porch 
and how much of the historic features survive will help 
define its significance. A highly ornate porch across 
much of the front facade may be the most distinctive 

3 



4 

The Anatomy of a Porch 

a - Pier, penetrates ground, supports floor structural 
system and columns 

b - Fascia covering floor framing 
c - Floor (or deck) 
d - Bed Molding covering joint between fascia and floor 
e - Column supporting entablature above 

Entablature (f, g, h) 
f - Architrave of entablature 
g - Frieze of entablature 
h - Cornice of entablature 

Roof Railing (i, j, k, 1) 
i-Newel (or Pedestal) of roof railing 
j - Balusters of balustrade 
k - Top rail of balustrade 
I - Bottom rail of balustrade 

Balustrade around floor (m, n, 0) 
m - Top rail of balustrade 
n - Balusters of balustrade 
o - Bottom rail of balustrade 

Structural system of deck (p, q, r) 
p - Girder rests on piers and ledgers, support joists 
q - Ledger fastened to house sill, supports girder 
r - Joist fastened to girder, supports floor 

Roof Structural System (s, t, u) 
s - Beams inside the entablature span from column to 

column, support plate 
t - Plate of the entablature rests on beams, supports 

roof rafters and ceiling beams 
u - Rafter of the roof structural system 

Drawing courtesy of Thomson Education Direct. 



feature of the entire house, while a small simple 
porch on an otherwise plain cottage may be equally 
significant. The architectural style of a porch may 
relate to the building and may help define its character. 
Sometimes a later style porch may have been added to a 
building or may have replaced an earlier porch. In such 
cases, the later porch may have acquired importance in 
its own right. On the other hand, a later porch may be 
of such poor quality that it detracts from the building's 
historic character. Because porches are so diverse in 
terms of style, size, shape and detail, their significance 
should be assessed on a case-by-case basis with an 
understanding of the overall importance and evolution 
of the building. 

Assessing the Condition 

Before undertaking most repairs, it is important to 
assess the condition of the porch. The assessment 
is greatly facilitated if the porch has been regularly 
maintained and a record of past work is available. 
In most cases, however, a condition survey must 
rely almost exclusively on the physical examination 
of the porch, documenting the findings with notes, 
photographs or sketches. 

Many older porches were constructed using good 
construction practices and materials. As a result, 
porches that are over 100 years old are not uncommon. 
Most porch deterioration can be attributed to the lack 
of proper maintenance. Important questions to address 
in assessing the condition of the porch include the 
following: 

How is the porch constructed? A porch is rarely an 
independent, unattached structure. It may, however, 
have its own foundation, attached to the house only 
along the deck and the roof. Alternatively, it may be 
an included or engaged porch that is integrated with 
the actual structure of the house. The relationship 
between the porch and the house is important. If 
the outer support posts are decayed or if foundation 
piers are sinking, the roof structure may be pulling 
away from the house. Many porch decks are fastened 
to the main building on a ledger, a horizontal board 
along the house's foundation. A decaying ledger may 
compromise the structural integrity of the porch and 
can represent a major safety issue. 

Are the foundation and structural members of the 
deck sound and providing adequate support for 
the deck, posts and roof above? The porch structure 
needs to be sound at every level. Therefore, a visual 
inspection of the underside of the porch is necessary 
to determine its condition. Major cracks in structural 
members, failed joints, significant wood rot, or evidence 
of widespread insect infestations (termites, carpenter 
ants or powder post beetles, for example) are usually 
signs of serious structural damage. Such conditions 
may require consultation with a professional architect, 

Figure 4. Celebrating the 4th of July in 1912, this gathering of 
family and friends reflects the popularity of the porch as a social 
gathering place. While not overly ornate, each detail of the porch 
from the roofbalustrade to the turned columns to the simple lattice 
work facing the deck contributes to its character, creating in effect 
the dominant architectural feature of the building. Photo: © Utah 
State Historical Society 

engineer or building contractor familiar with old 
buildings. For an adequate assessment, it may be 
necessary to remove facing boards to check for potential 
decay in the structural sill behind (Fig 5). 

What is the condition of the porch? Porch foundations 
may be a continuous wall of masonry, a series of 
masonry or wood piers or metal pipes, or a combination 
of these. Missing sections of the foundation, crumbling 
masonry mortar joints, or areas where the sill or 
joists no longer fully rests on the foundation may 
represent serious deficiencies. What appear to be deep 
foundation footings may only be stones or cement 
blocks sitting on top of the ground. The footings must 
be stable enough to adequately support the porch 
in its current or intended use. The smell of mold or 
appearance of fungal growth on wood beneath the 
porch is an indication of deficient air circulation and 
that conditions exist for wood decay. Recent changes 
that can contribute to deterioration should be identified 
for correction, such as a clothes dryer vent dumping 
warm moist air underneath the deck. The enclosure of 
original air vents in crawl spaces or the boarding up of 
latticework between piers are other changes that will 
usually promote an unwanted moist environment. 

Are the porch posts providing adequate support? 
Posts, pillars or columns usually help support the porch 
roof or an upper deck. Establishing what the posts 

5 



6 

Figure 5. Even historic porches that appear to be in total disrepair may be repairable. While the roof needed replacement, much of this porch was 
repaired, including such features as the decorative columns, ornamental brackets, and balustrade. Photos: John Leeke. 

are made of and how they are constructed will aid in 
understanding how they function and may deteriorate 
over time (Fig.6). Although the posts on a wood porch 
are commonly made of wood, they may be of masonry 
or metal or a combination of materials. Large round 
columns usually are made of wood staves similar to the 
way barrels are constructed; smaller diameter columns 
may be solid. A sag in the deck below or a faltering 
foundation can impact the supporting role of a column 
or post above. Wood columns and posts are prone to 
water seeping into open joints, particularly in the base 
and the lower end of the shaft. It is not uncommon 
to find that older columns have had patches and 
replacement bases. 

Is the roofing and drainage system keeping the water 
away from the porch? Porches were designed to shed 
water. This means water will move away both from 
the building and the porch and not pond and saturate 
the wood. Continuously high moisture levels promote 
fungal growth that eventually causes wood to decay. 
Peeling paint on ceiling boards in a specific location 
is a sign of a possible roof leak. Clogged or missing 
downspouts and gutters can cause erosion at the 
foundation and can contribute to reverse-grade draining 
that is directing water under the porch instead of into 
the yard. Inadequately sloped porch floors can result 
in improper drainage and promote deterioration as 
exhibited, for example, by cupping floorboards. 

What is the flooring condition? The porch component 
most subject to decay is the flooring. Often decay 
starts at the exposed ends of the boards or where 
cracks, checks or open joints have occurred and are 
exposed to the weather. Flooring should be checked 
frequently for peeling paint, rotted wood, and for loose, 
cupping or splintery boards. Where water is ponding, 
there is insufficient slope away from the building, a 
condition that should be corrected. Floor deterioration 
can also start in unlikely places such as the result of 
frequent hose washing to remove dirt or the placement 
of plant stands directly on the floor without proper 
moisture barriers. Firewood stored on a porch may 
trap moisture on the floor and harbor active insect 
infestation that can be ruinous to a wood porch. Thick 
floor mats and carpeting also may trap moisture, 
leading to premature decay. 

Is there evidence of general wood decay? 
Wood deterioration may take different forms such 
as fungal decay, insect infestation or even sunlight 
degradation of exposed unfinished wood. Decay may 
be present where two wood surfaces meet and are not 
adequately protected from water, such as along open 
joints or behind moldings. Dark streaks, discoloration, 
and widespread peeling paint on a finished ceiling 
suggest excessive moisture or water leakage. It may be 
necessary to remove several finished boards to properly 
identify the cause of the problem and to insure damage 
has not extended to structural members behind. Trails of 
carpenter ants are another sign of potential decay since 
they will infest moist decaying wood. Where inadequate 
painting has left wood exposed for a long time, damage 
to the wood surface from light itself will occur, typically 
indicated by wood discoloration. Without sanding or 
scraping back to a sound wood surface, repainting will 
result in premature failure of the paint film. 

Figure 6. A traditional way to extend the life of porch posts was to 
place posts on metal feet, thereby providing a separation between the 
wood post and wood deck. This helped to prevent the wood post from 
rotting at the base. Early post feet were simple iron bars bent unto a 
stirrup shape. By the late nineteenth century manufactured cast-iron 
feet were common, consisting of a pair of disks separated by a short 
pipe. Post feet are still available today. Courtesy of Old-House 
Journal/Brian McNeil. 



Are there open cracks or joints in the woodwork? 
Tightly sealed connections keep water out. Where 
individual boards come together, cracks in woodwork 
and joints can eventually become a major problem 
(Fig.7). Cracks are primarily caused by movement and 
water penetration. Movement of structural members 
beneath the finished woodwork can shift the position 
of individual boards and trim, breaking open the 
thin coating of paint over joints. This condition is 
common on porches with shallow foundations that are 
subject either to annual winter frost heaving or where 
soil conditions undergo major seasonal changes in 
moisture content. Changes in the moisture content of 
the wood itself due to repeated wetting and drying or 
changes in seasonal humidity can also cause noticeable 
expansion and shrinkage across the width of a board. 
This provides opportunities for water to penetrate 
unprotected areas. 

Does peeling paint indicate deeper problems? 
An unbroken layer of paint covering all wood surfaces is 
the first line of defense against moisture causing decay. 
Over time, even hairline paint cracks can allow water 
to penetrate, causing paint to peel down to bare wood. 
Such peeling occurs near breaks in the film, at opened 
joints, or where the paint has been scratched or scraped. 
Peeling can also occur over large areas where there is 
high moisture and insufficient ventilation. Areas of 
particular concern include the crawl space beneath the 
porch deck, inside columns that lack ventilation, and 
in a roof structure that has a finished ceiling and lacks 
ventilation. If heavy paint build-up exists on columns, 
floors and trim, moisture can be trapped within the 
wood, resulting in the loss of paint adhesions and 
eventual wood decay. 

Are trees, shrubbery and flowerbeds threatening the 
porch? Shade trees can make the porch a cool oasis, 
but the branches of a nearby tree rubbing on the roof, 
gutters or wood trim often will cause damage. Tree roots 
may destabilize porch foundations or supports. Bushes 
growing against the porch and not trimmed back on a 
regular basis may block wood porch components from 
drying breezes, thereby letting moisture build up in the 
woodwork. Flowerbeds and mulch around the porch 
that are not properly sloped downward in a grade away 
from the house will promote moisture problems. 

Defining the Scope of Work 

Once the historical and physical assessments are 
complete, it is important to define the scope of work. 
How much and what kind of work will need to be 
done to make the porch structurally sound while 
preserving its historic character, or to recover its historic 
appearance if portions are extensively deteriorated, 
altered or missing? Any part of the porch that defines 
its historic character should be repaired or replaced 
to match. Since the porch may display varied levels 
of deterioration, the spectrum of work in one project 

Figure 7. Common problems with porches that can contribute to 
serious wood decay include cracks in woodwork and joints that have 
opened up. Both provide an easy path for water seepage. Trapped 
moisture can foster peeling paint, wood decay and insect infestation. 
Open joints and cracks should be checked for evidence of more serious 
decay and marked for caulking or repair. Photo: John Leeke. 

can include maintenance, repair, and replacement. 
When laying out the scope of work for the project, each 
individual component and decorative element of the 
porch should be identified, and linked with the work 
needed for that item. 

Undertaking the Work 

The highlighted work approaches in this section are 
based on The Secretary of the Interior's Standards for the 
Treatment of Historic Properties and the Accompanying 
Guidelines for Rehabilitating Historic Buildings. The 
Standards and Guidelines provide a sound philosophical 
and practical framework for achieving the highest 
retention of historic materials and character possible. 
Thus, the familiar hierarchy is applied: maintain, repair, 
and then replace only if necessary. Contemporary 
alterations are discussed in a separate section. 

Preservation and Maintenance 

There are a variety of tasks that can be done on a regular 
basis to extend the life of a porch. In addition, a visual 
inspection of the porch should be made every spring 
and fall to determine if more in-depth repairs 
are necessary. Fortunately, ongoing maintenance 
significantly reduces both the need and cost for later 
repair work and represents good preservation practice. 
When properly maintained, a well-constructed porch 
can last for decades. 

Routine Cleaning and Other Surface Work 
Since many porches are essentially another living space, 

7 



8 

extending housekeeping to this space makes practical 
sense. Regular maintenance includes sweeping the 
wood porch decking, and, if needed, an occasional 
damp mopping. Removing dirt and leaves by sweeping 
is preferable to frequent hosing off the deck with 
water. The latter can saturate the woodwork, thereby 
promoting decay. Frequent sweeping will reduce the 
accumulation of abrasive materials, such as dirt and 
sand. While visually pleasing to some, vines and plants 
should be kept trimmed away and not be trained to 
grow onto or allowed to grow beneath porches. Plants 
and vines unfortunately reduce ventilation, promote 
a moist environment for insects and decay, accelerate 
open wood joints and impede cyclical maintenance. As 
an alternative, traditional freestanding trellises can be 
used to support plant growth away from the porch. 

There are certain precautions that are recommended 
for wood floors. Rubber mats, rugs or indoor/outdoor 
carpeting can trap moisture and condensation on their 
underneath side and should not be used on a wooden 
porch floor. Keeping flower pots up off the wooden 
deck will help prevent moisture buildup and decayed 
spots - wood, clay or metal "trivets" that hold the 
pots an inch or more off the wooden deck are helpful, 
but the pots should be moved to different locations 
periodically. In colder climates, light snow can be swept 
off the porch. Snow shovels with a hard rubber leading 
edge or plastic shovels cause less damage to wood than 
metal, while paint in good condition helps ice to release 
more easily. Sand or clean kitty litter can be sprinkled 
on ice to prevent slipping; however, they should be later 
swept off the porch, as they are abrasive. Salt (sodium 

Figure 8. Decay can start when wood is left exposed to the weather 
or where joints open up. An inexpensive way to extend the life of the 
existing porch paint without jeopardizing the historic material is spot 
paint and caulk where needed every year or two. This cost-effective 
procedure is particularly effective in maintaining wood porches where 
the exposure to weathering is high. Photo: John Leeke. 

chloride) is not recommended for ice removal on older 
porches as it can promote corrosion and failure of nails 
and other fasteners. Magnesium chloride is an alternate 
de-icing salt that is less corrosive and less damaging to 
masonry and plants. If any de-icing salt is used, be sure 
to scrub and rinse off the porch deck in the spring. Boot 
scrapers and brush-mats at the bottom of the stairs are 
recommended for muddy areas. 

Painting 
Spot painting and resealing of open joints should be 
undertaken at least every other year (Fig. 8). Heavily 
used stair treads may require more frequent paint 
touchup. When peeling paint or bare wood is evident, 
inspect to ensure it is not signaling deeper problems, 
such as decay. With sound wood, scrape off the loose 
paint, sand, prime, and repaint the area. Where lead 
paint is present, appropriate lead hazard precautions 
and procedures apply. Only top-quality exterior primers 
and paints are recommended, selecting for the deck and 
stairs specially formulated paints. Where wood porch 
steps are exposed to moisture, grit added to the wet 
paint during application will help improve safety. 

Repair 

Many repairs may be successfully undertaken 
by property owners, while major projects often 
require the special knowledge and equipment of an 
experienced contractor. Repairs generally include 
patching and reinforcement of historic materials. The 
roof and foundation are particularly important to the 
preservation and the structure of a historic porch yet 
they often receive much less attention than ornamental 
features. Their neglect will usually lead to more costly 
work. Repairs to features such as a balustrade or 
flooring can encompass limited replacement in kind 
when the porch part is severely deteriorated or when 
a part of a repeated feature is missing altogether. Some 
common porch repairs are discussed in this section. 

Filling Open Cracks or Joints 
To seal open cracks or joints, start by scraping off 
the paint back a few inches from the opening and 
removing old caulk to expose bare wood. The opening 
should be examined for any signs of wood decay, 
and to determine if the joint is loose due to a loss of 
connection, such as rusted nails. After correcting any 
problems, apply a water-repellant wood preservative 
that can be painted. Such preservatives are either an 
oil-based or waterborne solution of oils or waxes with 
mildewcide, fungicide and pesticide added. Then 
apply a high quality exterior wood primer to the wood 
surfaces where a sealant or caulk is to be used. Most 
open cracks or joints then can be filled with a sealant 
or caulk, while larger ones may need the addition of a 
backer rod. In some cases, small metal flashing over the 
crack or open joint may be more effective and longer 
lasting but, when used, care should be taken with 
proper installation. The final step is painting. 



Patching with a Dutchman Repair 
This traditional technique is often 
used to repair localized cases 
of decayed wood and, when 
undertaken with skill and care, will 
serve as a permanent repair (Fig. 9). 
If the damaged area has a structural 
function, temporary bracing or other 
support will be necessary. Otherwise 
the first step after removing any 
paint around the damaged area is 
to chisel or mechanically remove 
the decayed wood. It is best to 
use the same type of wood being 
replaced and the new or recycled 
wood should be seasoned to avoid 
shrinkage. The repair procedure 
involves cutting a piece of wood, 
called a dutchman, slightly larger 
than the area of damage that has 
been cut out. The dutchman then 
is laid over the damaged area and 
an outline scribed into the original 
wood surface below. Next, a chisel 
or router is used to follow the 
scribed line to form an opening in 
the existing wood for the new piece. 

Figure 9. The ends of porch roof rafters are often susceptible to moisture decay. When concealed 
by a soffit or ceiling, rafters can be repaired by adding new sister boards. Where roof rafter ends 
are exposed, splicing new wood onto the old (dutchman repair) and use of epoxy consolidants and 
fillers both preserve sound historic fabric while retaining the historic appearance. 
Photo: Paul Marlowe, Marlowe Restorations. 

As a preventive measure, an appropriate fungicide 
should be applied to the surrounding old wood and 
allowed to dry. The dutchman is then glued into place 
with waterproof adhesive, such as an epoxy formulated 
for wood. The repair is finished by trimming or sanding 
the surface of the new wood down flush with the 
surrounding existing surfaces, priming and painting. 

Patching with Epoxy or Wood Fillers 
There are a variety of commercial wood fillers. Cellulose 
based fillers consist of wood fiber and a binder and have 
been available in stores for many years. Only those 
suitable for exterior applications should be used and 
they will require a protective finish. Epoxies are a more 
contemporary product, commonly used by experienced 
contractors and woodworkers. Epoxies are petroleum
based resins created by mixing two components in 
accurate proportions that result in a chemical reaction. 
The result is durable, moisture-resistant consolidants 
and fillers that bonds tenaciously with wood, and can 
be sawn, nailed or sanded. Epoxies are for use only 
in areas that will be painted, as they do not take stain 
and deteriorate under sunlight. Since epoxies are more 
difficult to work with than other wood fillers, experience 
working with epoxies is needed for successful repairs. 

Repairing Railings and Balustrades 
Balustrades and railings are not only practical and safety 
features, they typically are highly visible decorative 
elements. Unfortunately, balustrades and balusters are 
frequently altered, covered, removed or completely 
replaced even though in most cases they can be repaired 
in a cost-effective manner. To preserve historic fabric, 

the repair of old balustrades and railings is always the 
preferred approach. A broken baluster usually is one in 
need of repair, not replacement. 

Loose railings and balustrades present unsafe 
conditions and need to be repaired as soon as possible. 
Start by examining the points of attachment to 
determine exactly why the railing or balustrade is loose. 
Common reasons include rusted fasteners, decayed 
wood, or physical stress that has broken the fasteners 
or split the wood. Paint and decayed wood must be 
removed. Where fasteners are broken yet the wood is 
sound, the balustrade can be re-fastened using hot
dipped galvanized or stainless steel nails or screws, 
setting the heads of the fasteners below the surface of 
the wood and using a wood filler to cover and seal. 
Next repair deteriorated wood by using a dutchman 
or wood-epoxy repair. The repaired joints then can be 
sealed and painted. 

Replacing Missing Balusters 
The balusters help comprise a wood balustrade and 
come in three general styles: simple rectangular shape; 
flat, pattern-sawn (usually a board with some decorative 
edge or cutout); and turned. It may be necessary to 
replace certain balusters that are beyond repair or 
missing altogether. Some are easy to replace with new 
matching balusters while others can be more challenging 
in terms of both design and costs. Finding or affording 
replacement balusters may take time since they should 
match the historic baluster as closely as possible. In 
the meantime, unsafe balustrades can be temporarily 
stabilized, introducing temporary new material that 
soon will be replaced. 

9 



10 

In replacing individual balusters, simple, rectangular 
balusters should not be replaced with pattern-sawn 
or turned ones unless physical or pictorial evidence 
survives which indicate they previously existed 
historically on that particular porch. Such an alteration 
can change the historic appearance of the porch or be 
incompatible with the character of the building. 

Determine the size and shape of the missing balusters 
either by examining adjacent ones or temporarily 
removing an existing baluster as a sample. Heavy 
paint buildup should be removed so that the original 
dimension can be established. Scrape and clean the joint 
locations and make repairs to any deteriorated areas. 
A new baluster is then fabricated to match the original 
in design and material, either on site or by taking a 
drawing or sample to a local woodworking shop. The 
new baluster should be made one-half inch longer than 
needed on both ends. Measurements are taken from the 
bottom surface of the top rail to top surface of the 
bottom rail. Joints on the new baluster can be laid 
out with a pencil, using a sliding bevel to transfer any 
angles, and the new baluster trimmed to fit with a 
handsaw. After test fitting, the ends and any exposed 
end-grain of the baluster need to be sealed with a 
high-grade primer or epoxy. Next, apply a paintable 
water-repellant coating to all exposed wood surfaces, 
and apply a primer. The baluster can then be fastened in 
place with hot-dipped galvanized or stainless steel nails, 
and the nails set. Finally, seal joints and fastener holes 
and paint the baluster. 

Repairing Column Plinths and Bases 
Columns not only enrich the historic character of the 
porch, they provide support for the roof structure above. 
Because of their detail and complex construction they 
can be costly to repair or replace, making maintenance 
and minor repairs important. Column plinths and bases 
tend to deteriorate because of their exposed location 
on the outer edge of a porch (Fig. 10). Leaking gutters 
can result in water draining into the entablature and 
down into hollow columns, while clogged or capped 
gutters can allow water to pour down and splash 

back onto the column bases. Open joints and limited 
wood decay can be repaired using methods previously 
discussed. Column repairs usually are undertaken by 
an experienced carpenter, since it may involve structural 
support of the roof above. 

Repairing Floorboards and Ceiling Boards 
Floors should slope down toward the outer porch edge 
for proper drainage. If drainage is inadequate, moisture 
buildup will cause deterioration of the floorboards. 
Flooring can also deteriorate due to movement in the 
supporting structure below. If a floorboard is soft or 
broken, the extent of decayed or split wood can be 
determined by probing gently with an awl. The existing 
floorboard can then be removed, cutting the length if 
needed so that the end will center on the next nearest 
joist or girder. Once the board has been removed, 
the structural framing beneath should be examined 
for deterioration and to ensure it is sound. A new 
floorboard is then cut to length, and the outer edge 
shaped to match the adjacent boards. After priming the 
replacement board, nail it in place and repaint. 

If a section of the ceiling is deteriorating, it is likely 
that there is a roof or gutter problem. To determine the 
cause of deterioration, inspect the ceiling, gutters and 
roof, including the internal roof structure. After making 
necessary repairs, the ceiling boards can be repaired in 
much the same manner as a deteriorated floorboard. 

Repairing the Porch Roof and Gutters 
With roof leaks, the entire porch is at risk. Leaks can 
promote decay in roof rafters, ceiling joists, and columns 
as well as in areas more easily to detect such as the 
ceiling and fascia. Inspect the roof covering, gutters and 
flashing for deterioration and improper performance. 
They can then be repaired or replaced, as needed, to 
keep water out of the structure. Avoid having the 
gutters and downspouts on the main roof drain onto a 
porch roof. 

Repairing the Foundation 
Unstable foundation supports can cause serious damage 

Figure 10. This nineteenth century porch column is made of wood staves, similar to the way a wood barrel is put together. After replacing the torus 
and making dutchman repairs to the apophyge along the base, the column and pedestal are ready to be reinstalled on the porch. Photos: NPS files. 



to a historic porch. There are numerous causes and 
solutions. If the posts supporting the porch deck rest on 
stones or brick set directly on the ground, there can be 
seasonal shifts due to the changing moisture content of 
the soil or freeze/thaw conditions that will require regular 
attention. Under certain conditions, it may be advisable 
to extend footings for the posts below the frost line. 
Where moisture problems exist, improved drainage may 
be necessary. It is not uncommon to find that masonry 
joints in the foundation wall or piers have deteriorated 
as a result of rising damp, where moisture from the soil 
percolates up through mortar joints. This condition may 
lead to the eventual breakdown of the mortar and even 
old brick and soft stone. In such cases, it will be necessary 
to replace the areas of damaged masonry and repoint the 
mortar joints. 

With wooden posts, insect damage or rot may necessitate 
corrective measures to strengthen the foundation. 
Techniques can include one or more of the following: 
epoxy consolidation; dutchman repair; or the addition of 
supplemental supports to the foundation posts and joists. 
In some cases damage may be extensive enough that the 
only real solution is rebuilding the foundation. 

Repairing a Porch Apron 
The apron, skirt, or latticework is a highly visible and 
functional porch feature. An apron keeps animals out 
from under the porch, while at the same time allowing 
air to circulate, preventing unwanted moisture buildup. 
Aprons typically are made up of a wood frame, 
surrounding either a simple lattice or a repetitive pattern 
of decorative sawn boards. Because the frame is so close 
to the ground, decay is common. Other causes of decay 
include plantings around the house that are growing too 
close to the latticework and improper water drainage. An 
apron may require partial or complete disassembly for 
proper repair. One or more of the apron frames should 
either be hinged or secured with turn buttons for easy 
access to under a porch for inspection and maintenance. 

Replacement 

When individual porch parts are deteriorated beyond 
the point of repair or missing altogether, replacement 
is necessary. To retain the historic character of the 
porch, the replacement parts should match the historic 
component as closely as possible in material, design, 
color, texture, and other qualities. To achieve this, 
existing evidence of the historic design, such as a baluster 
or column detail, or a tongue and groove floor design, 
should serve as a pattern for the replacement part. When 
replacing an element, it may provide a good opportunity 
to upgrade the wood to another species that is more 
decay resistant, or to one with a vertical grain that is 
more resistant to cupping or splintering. In limited 
cases, it may be appropriate to use a substitute material 
for the replacement material as long as it conveys a 
close visual match. Before replacing a deteriorated 
historic porch component, it is important to understand 

how it was constructed and installed, and what lead 
to its deterioration. If the replacement part does not 
sufficiently match the historic part, the character of the 
porch may be diminished, or even lost. If the cause of 
material failure is not addressed, the replacement will 
also fail. 

Replacing Porch Floorboards 
If a large section of the porch floorboards is deteriorated, 
the framing beneath may also be damaged and should 
be assessed. Replacing floorboards can often expand 
into repairing the structural sills, girders, and joists 
beneath. Complete floor replacement will likely require 
the removal of floorboards that are under structural posts 
or columns. This may necessitate the careful stabilizing 
in place or the removal of the posts or columns and the 
installation of temporary support for the roof structure. 
If the floor failure was caused by inferior wood, the wood 
quality can be improved at this time. However, the new 
wood flooring should match the existing in thickness, 
width, shape and texture. The slope of the floor should 
be maintained, or a slope may need to be created if none 
exists. A slope of % inch per foot or greater, away from 
the house, is needed for adequate drainage. Boards are 
usually laid in the direction of the slope, sloping down to 
the outer edge of the floor. 

Replacing Steps 
Porch stairs receive heavy usage and are close to the 
ground, making them predictable candidates for 
deterioration. Stairs should be repaired or, if necessary, 
replaced by an experienced carpenter who understands 
the safety codes and is experienced in fabricating custom 
stair parts to match original detailing without depending 
only on store-bought parts. 

Replacing Column Plinths and Bases, 
or Entire Columns 
When plinths and bases are deteriorated beyond repair, 
they can be replaced without replacing the column 
shaft, which may still be in good condition or require 
only minor repairs at the bottom. Such replacement 
will involve temporary shoring for the roof. One-story 
columns and shafts are often more easily removed 
during this work, while taller columns are sometimes 
supported in place. If only a few plinths or bases are 
deteriorated, it is often economical to have new ones 
made of wood to match. If numerous plinths and bases 
are deteriorated, replacing with bases made of rot
resistant materials can make economic sense; however, 
care must be taken to ensure that all the visual qualities 
including design, size, shape, color and texture of the 
historic part are matched (Fig. 11). 

Entire columns may need to be replaced, but an owner 
should first consider all repair alternatives. Some 
contractors routinely recommend complete replacement 
of one or all columns due to the challenge of a clean 
repair (particularly with stave-built columns), or because 
they see the potential for more profit in complete 
replacement. If a contractor recommends complete 

11 



12 

Figure 11. The lower shaft of the porch columns had decayed as 
water wicked up through the end grain (top). The column shafts were 
repaired in place by cutting out the deteriorated wood and making 
repairs using epoxy consolidants and fillers. (bottom). The column 
bases were replaced. Photos: Paul Marlowe, Marlowe Restorations. 

replacement, other opinions should be sought to ensure 
repair is truly not feasible. Preserving the historic 
appearance of old columns is not the same as preserving 
historic columns. 

Where a replacement turned or staved column is 
needed, a local millwork may be able to match the 
profile or pattern. Alternatively, the Internet is helpful 
in identifying potential sources of replacement columns 
that can match the appearance of the remaining ones. 

Replacement Materials 

Wood 
When selective replacement is necessary, the key to 
success is the selection of suitable wood. Dimensional 

stability, decay resistance and paint holding ability are 
wood characteristics that effect durability. Wood that 
expands and shrinks too much can cause paint to crack. 
Substances found naturally in certain kinds of wood 
repel fungi and insects that destroy wood. Selecting 
wood that is relatively stable and naturally decay 
resistant helps avoid problems. 

The wood from trees cut one and two centuries ago was 
much different than most wood available today. The 
mature trees in older forests grew very slowly and, as a 
result, the annual growth rings were very close together. 
Today, trees grown by commercial companies for their 
lumber are fast growing so they can be harvested 
sooner. As a result, commercially farmed trees have 
annual growth rings much further apart, resulting in the 
cut lumber being less strong and decay resistant than 
older timber. These differences in quality are one of the 
reasons it makes sense to save old wood when possible. 

Wood Selection: When choosing wood for repair 
and replacement work, the species, grade, grain 
and environmental impacts should be taken into 
consideration. This is especially applicable to historic 
porches because of their high exposure to the weather 
and vulnerability to decay. The best species are 
those with good natural resistance to decay, such as 
redwood, cypress, cedar or fir. A clear (knot free) 
grade of wood is best; however, if clear wood is not 
readily available or too expensive, a grade with small 
or tight knots is acceptable. Finally, the use of more 
stable vertical grain lumber is preferable to flat grain 
boards. Vertical grain lumber expands and contracts 
less with changes in moisture content, resulting in 
reduce warping and checks. Paint thus will hold better. 
The downside to using vertical grain boards is the 
cost, which tends to be as much as two to three times 
the price of flat grain lumber in the same grade and 
species. However, this expense is typically recovered 
through lower maintenance costs over the years. Thus, 
a decay-resistant, high-grade, vertical grain lumber 
is the best choice for the replacement of deteriorated 
porch elements, particularly flooring, stairs and milled 
elements such as balusters and moldings. 

The best species to choose will vary depending on the 
region the house is located. For example, in the South, 
cypress is more available, making it the selection of 
choice in the region. Because of this wood's relative ease 
with which a carpenter can shape it, cypress is a good 
choice for replacing brackets and trim boards on a porch. 
In contrast, vertical grain Douglas fir is less workable, 
but is a very good choice for the replacement of porch 
floorboards in most climates. Although Douglas fir is 
from the Northwest, it is generally available throughout 
the country. For most protected trim boards on porches, 
white pine is a good choice as it is easy to work and 
is moderately decay resistant, especially if the wood 
is back-primed before installation. Availability of any 
specific wood will change annually based on market 
supply and demand. 



Wood Characteristics 

Species Cut or Grade Cost Workability 
Resistance to Resistance to Paint Holding 
Decay Cupping Ability 

Clear, Vertical-grain, 
$$$ Fair Excellent Excellent Excellent 

Redwood all-heart 

"B" Select, flat-grain $$ Fair Excellent Good Good 

Cedar Clear $$ Fair Excellent Good Fair 

Cypress Clear $$ Fair Excellent Fair Good 

Douglas Fir 
"C" & better, 

$$ Fair to Poor Good to Fair Excellent Fair 
Vertical-grain 

Southern "0" Select, flat-grain $ Fair Fair Good Fair 

Yellow Pine Vertical-grain $$$ Fair Fair Excellent Fair to Good 

Eastern "0" Select, flat-grain $ Excellent Fair Excellent Good 

White Pine Vertical-grain $$$ Excellent Fair Good Excellent 

Poplar Firsts and Seconds $ Good Poor Good Fair 

American Clear $$$ Excellent Excellent Excellent Good 
Mahogany 

This table summarizes the characteristics of just a few of the different species available, including the workability of the wood (indicating 
a better wood for decorative porch pieces), the resistance to decay (an important feature for all porch components), resistance to cupping (a 
wood highly resistant to cupping is a better choice for floor board replacement) and paint holding ability. The Cut or Grade is also listed, as a 
low-grade wood can perform very differently than a higher grade in the same species. Cost will vary depending on region and market supply 
and demand. In general, it is best to contact two or three local lumberyards to find the available woods with the characteristics needed in the 
local market. Source: Practical Restoration Report, Exterior Woodwork Details. 

Chemically Treated Wood: Chemical wood preservative 
treatments are available to resist insect and fungal 
attack, but care should be taken to avoid using ones 
that may cause environmental or health risks. Borate 
preservatives can be applied to surfaces or injected to 
penetrate and protect the entire volume of the wood. 
Preservatives with zinc napthenate can be applied to 
the wood surface, where necessary, especially to protect 
hidden joinery and the end grains of wood. Water
repellants can also be used to help seal out moisture. 
Finally, primers and paints should be applied to both 
protect the wood and to maintain the historic character 
of the porch. Note that these treatments are different 
than those used on most pressure-treated wood, which 
is typically a plantation-grown southern pine of lower 
quality that is impregnated with chemicals. Pressure
treated lumber can be effective when used for hidden 
structural members like posts, joists and sills. However, 
because typical pressure-treated wood is very susceptible 
to the deterioration of checks, warping and splitting, 
especially when left unpainted, it is not a good substitute 
for the better quality wood that is needed for visible 
finish porch parts. 

Stock Components 
For over a century, prefabricated architectural parts have 
been sold through catalogues or at home improvement 
stores. Some companies still make generic, stock 
architectural components in the same general sizes 
and designs as those that were first manufactured. 
These components can be available in both wood and 
substitute materials. Thus, it may be possible to replace 
a historic stock component, such as an architectural 
grade column, with a new prefabricated column that 
matches the original. Unfortunately, these replacement 
parts are not designed to match the historic parts of 
any particular porch. Because traditionally there were 
many different porch elements, a wide range of styles 
and considerable regional variations, stock replacement 
parts available today are not often found to match what 
is needed in a specific porch repair project. When faced 
with deterioration of a few porch parts, all the historic 
material should not be removed in favor of a readily 
available stock design that does not match the historic 
appearance. The expressed goal may be to create a porch 
with a "consistent look," but this approach diminishes 
the building's historic character and au thenticity. 

1'1 



14 

Plastic and Composites 
A variety of modern materials are marketed today as 
a substitute for wood. They are usually composite 
materials typically in the form of plastic resins, 
including vinyl (PVC), fiber-reinforced polymers and 
polyester resin. There are other products on the market 
as well, including medium density wood fiberboard 
and composite fiber-cement boards. The market is 
ever changing with the introduction of new synthetic 
materials and the re-formulation of existing ones. The 
more costly synthetic products tend to offer the best 
potential for matching historic features while offering 
good durability. This means that potential cost savings 
over new wood tends to be more long term than 
immediate. Such products generally are not carried in 
local home improvement stores but rather are available 
from building supply companies or direct through 
catalog sales. 

The historical significance of a particular property and 
its porch influences decisions regarding possible use 
of substitute materials. In general, greater emphasis 
is placed on authenticity and material integrity when 
maintaining and repairing individually significant 
historic properties. However, a front porch that is 
repeated on row houses may be one of the defining 
characteristics of the historic district and thus of 
importance to the entire streetscape. So, too, can the 
location and appearance of a porch influence material 
decisions, as with, for example, a prominent front porch 
with ornate detailing as opposed to a small porch over a 
rear door. 

Thus, when the historic porch contributes to the historic 
character of a building, the particular substitute material 
that is being considered should accurately match the 
appearance of the wooden feature being replaced. 
Composite materials that can be routed or shaped in the 

Figure 12. This old porch 
enclosure, located on the back side 
of a house, has acquired significance 
over time and is remarkable both in 
the appropriateness of its detailing 
for use by others today, as well as 
its high degree of maintenance. The 
enclosure is set behind the columns; 
the balustrade has been retained; 
and the light divisions and the size 
of the glass panes echo that of the 
windows above. Within each bay 
there are two well-crafted, inward 
swinging doors, providing for 
greater seasonal use of the porch. 
Photos: Charles Fisher. 

field to match specific pieces being replaced have greater 
potential for use in repairing a historic porch. Materials 
that cannot be shaped to match the visual appearance of 
the historic pieces being replaced usually are not suitable 
for use on historic buildings. 

Substitute materials need to be finished to match the 
appearance of the historic elements being replaced. In 
nearly all cases, this means that the material should be 
painted, or where historically appropriate, stained as 
with some porch ceilings. While there are substitute 
materials being marketed as pre-finished with either a 
plain flat surface or generic wood-grain texture, select 
those that can be painted or stained in the field. 

When a substitute material is to be used in conjunction 
with existing or new wood material, it is important to 
consider the differences in expansion and contraction 
due to temperature and moisture changes. Before 
making a decision, it is also important to understand 
how a particular substitute material will age, what its 
maintenance requirements are, and how the material 
will deteriorate. For example, sunlight can break 
down exposed surfaces of plastic resins, so painting 
the surfaces is needed just as with wood. Low and 
medium density plastic foam parts are easily damaged 
by abrasion and physical damage, exposing the interior 
foam to weathering. 

Wood porches are just that, porches made out of wood, 
just as a brick houses are made of brick and cast-iron 
porches are made of cast-iron. The type of materials 
used historically in the construction of a building helps 
define its character. Limited use of substitute materials 
that closely match missing or deteriorated features 
may not endanger this historic character, but wholesale 
replacement with substitute materials usually will. 



Considerations for Contemporary 
Alterations 

Enclosures 
Much of the character of a historic open porch is clearly 
its openness. Therefore, in most cases, a historic open 
porch should not be enclosed. If a porch enclosure is 
being considered, its significance and location - as well 
as the nature of the planned enclosure-play key roles 
in whether it can be done without changing the porch's 
and building's historic character. While it is almost never 
appropriate to enclose a front porch on a historic building 
to create interior space, enclosing a less prominent 
porch on a less visible elevation could have less impact. 
In addition, an enclosure should retain as many of the 
historic porch features as possible (Fig 12). 

Insect Screening and Awnings 
Traditionally, the seasonal use of porches was extended 
with screens and awnings. Screened porches have 
been popular since the advent of inexpensive and 
durable wire insect screening in late 1800s. Screens were 
often set unobtrusively behind railings and columns 
so the decorative components of the porch remained 
prominent and visible. Since screens can be damaged 
easily, the screening material was often set in slender, 
easy to repair, removable wood frames that could be 
installed during the warmer months, and stored in the 
winter. When screening a porch today, this historic 
precedent is recommended. Screened panels should 
have minimal wood framework painted either to match 
the porch or in a darker color to make the framing less 
visible. Decisions on whether screens should be installed 
inside the porch railings and posts, between the posts, or 
on the outside will depend on local traditions and on the 
design of the porch and trim. Screen doors on porches 
should be sized to fit proportionately with the porch, 
made of wood, and hung to swing out so insects are not 
brought inside with use. 

Awnings, drop curtains, and valances were common 
porch accessories during the nineteenth and well into 
the twentieth centuries. Both functional and decorative, 
these canvas features helped shield porches from the 
sun's direct rays, while their colorful stripes embellished 
and complemented the house's exterior. Some awnings 
were fixed in place; others were of a roller assembly that 
allowed owners to easily lower or retract the awning, 
depending on weather conditions. 

Today, modern solution-dyed acrylic fabrics-materials 
that resemble, but are more durable than canvas-are 
often used on porch awnings and drop curtains. 
When new awnings are installed on a historic porch, 
the selected awning should be appropriate in shape, 
material, size and color. Care should be used not to 
damage existing historic porch features such as columns 
or cornices. 

Temporary Enclosures 
Temporary enclosures allow a porch to be used in colder 

months while not permanently altering its appearance. 
In fact some have become historic features of buildings. 
Particularly in New England, there is a continuing 
tradition of installing relatively substantial glass and 
wood panels on porches during the winter, especially 
around an entrance door. These tended to have small 
divided lights. Sometimes porches were fully enclosed 
with a divided light glass door for entry, creating an 
enclosed vestibule that reduced the amount of cold air 
entering the house when the door was opened. Others 
consisted of simple sidewalls perpendicular to an existing 
entrance door, serving as a windbreak. Such enclosures 
were generally removed in the spring (Fig. 13). 

In recent years, some porches have been enclosed during 
the winter with plastic sheeting (polyvinyl) for perceived 
energy conservation or for creation of an enclosed space. 
Such a treatment generally diminishes a building's 
historic character and is not recommended for highly 
visible porches. 

New Permanent Enclosures 
Enclosure of a historic porch can result in significant 
changes in the appearance and character of the building. 
When considering the possible enclosure of a porch, a 
number of questions and concerns should be successfully 
addressed. 

Is the porch on a significant elevation of the building? 
A porch on a prominent elevation was there to be seen 
and its open qualities are visually important. Enclosing 
such a space should be avoided. 

Figure 13. Particularly in New England, there is a cold weather 
tradition of installing temporary glass and wood panels at entrance 
doors, thereby creating an enclosed vestibule. These enclosures with 
their small divided lights were generally removed in the spring. 
Photo: John Leeke. 

15 



16 

Figure 14. The enclosure of a prominent porch can dramatically change the historic character of a building. The L-shaped porch on this 1896 
Shingle-style New England residence was later enclosed with aluminum windows and screens. Recent owners elected to reopen the historic porch. 
Among the other work, it was necessary to correct structural damage, as with this post, where beneath the wood casing carpenter ants had done 
serious damage. In reopening the porch, the historic character of the residence has been brought back and the traditional use of the porch is once again 
enjoyed. Photos: Mark Landry, Landmark Services. 

Is the enclosure necessary? An enclosure will 
undoubtedly change the porch as a historic feature 
and may result in damage or loss of historic materials. 
Depending on the significance of the porch and the 
nature of the building, a new porch enclosure may 
also change the historic character of the building. 
Consideration should be given to alternate solutions 
such as recapturing underutilized space in an attic or 
basement (Fig 14). 

Is the porch a highly distinctive feature of the 
building? Even porches on secondary and rear 
elevations can be distinctive, such as a two-story porch 
on the side ell of a farmhouse. Porches ornamented 
with decorative trim that embellishes the house can also 
be distinctive. Enclosing these features should also be 
avoided whenever possible. 

Is the porch a feature repeated on a row of buildings 
in a historic district? Open front porches on a block of 
row houses can be not only important to an individual 
building but can also make up a significant feature 
of the streetscape. Enclosing such a porch usually is 
inappropriate even if a porch on an adjacent building 
already has been enclosed. 

Will the proposed enclosure encompass the entire 
porch? History has shown that the enclosure of a 
portion of a porch on a secondary elevation does not 
always alter the character of a building. In the past 
as indoor plumbing was introduced to old buildings, 
the partial enclosure of a one or two-story porch 
on a secondary elevation was a convenient means 
of providing new bathroom space while limiting 
disruption to the building's interior. Since early 
bathrooms were traditionally small in size, most of the 
existing porch could be retained as open space. It was 
common to create new walls set either between columns 

or behind them, since the columns usually served a 
structural as well as decorative purpose. Where sleeping 
porches with full-length louver shutters were present, 
the new wall could simply be set behind and the shutters 
retained and fixed in place. In both cases the resulting 
effect minimized the impact of the partial enclosure 
on the appearance of the building. This also provides 
us with an approach that may be appropriate for a 
particular project today. 

Will the enclosure result in the loss of considerable 
historic fabric? Unless the historic porch is so 
deteriorated that it is beyond repair, any consideration 
of enclosing all or part of a porch should incorporate 
retention of historic fabric. This may mean that the 
existing structural system needs to be augmented but 
generally not replaced. Distinctive features such as 
columns, brackets and balustrades should be retained 
and the new wall set behind them. 

Is the foundation adequate for the enclosure of the 
porch and the new use of the space? Porches were often 
built on simple posts or piers, some with only minimum 
footings. Such structural supports may be inadequate 
to carry the added load of the proposed changes and 
the typical low space beneath a first floor porch may 
make installing a new porch foundation difficult and 
expensive. Such installations may result also in an 
extensive loss of historic fabric. 

How will the proposed enclosure be viewed from the 
outside once the interior space is furnished? One of 
the approaches to enclosing a porch is to utilize near 
full glazing set behind existing columns in an attempt 
to retain a feeling of transparency. Whether such a 
treatment is successful depends on how it will look 
once it is constructed and how will the appearance 
on the outside be impacted by interior lighting, 



mechanical systems and furnishings. The traditional 
use of plantings and porch awnings for shade also 
provided extended privacy. If historically appropriate, 
an existing or new awning and plantings may help to 
reduce the impact of a porch enclosure on a secondary 
but visible elevation. 

Is the design of the proposed porch enclosure in 
keeping with the historic character of the building? 
Where the enclosure of all or part of a historic porch 
is appropriate, the selection of a compatible design 
and materials is important. Windows, doors, and wall 
material selection, along with how the new infill fits 
within the existing porch, are all factors to consider. A 
traditional technique of porch enclosures still used today 
involves the insertion in each column bay of one or more 
glass enclosures set in wood frames. The enclosures 
are located between or behind the columns, depending 
upon the nature of the porch, and mimic the pattern or 
size of glass panes found in historic windows on the 
building (Fig 15). An alternate treatment involves the 
use of much larger sheets of clear, non-reflective glass 
recessed behind the porch supports, balustrade and 
railing. This more contemporary treatment may be 
appropriate, depending upon the historic character of 
the building, location of the porch, and other factors (Fig 
16). Windows, doors, and wall material selection, along 
with how the new infill fits within the existing porch, are 
all factors to consider. 

Safety and Building Codes 

There are many building codes used by states and 
municipalities across the nation, with a majority of their 
requirements being very similar and focused on new 
construction. Building codes such as the International 

Figure 15. A traditional technique of porch enclosures still used 
today involves the insertion in each column bay of one or more glass 
enclosures set in wood frames . This enclosure is properly set back an 
entire porch bay from the front of the house and utilizes traditional 
light divisions and wood frames. The balustrade, added here for 
illustration purposes, shows the importance of retaining this linear 
feature within the enclosed bays. Photo: Charles Fisher. 

Figure 16. The use of near full glazing to enclose a porch may be 
appropriate depending upon the historic character of the building, 
location of the porch, how the interior space is to be treated, and 
other factors. This enclosure of a rear porch to create a conference 
room successfully utilizes large expanses of glass and narrow metal 
framing set behind existing porch elements (a through e). Where an 
additionaL horizontaL support was needed (j), the frame was pLaced at 
a Location that is found in many traditionaL insect screen enclosures. 
Photo: CharLes Fisher. 

Building Code and its companion, the International 
Existing Building Code, have been developed in recent 
years that are generally much more sensitive to existing 
and historic buildings, emphasizing the retention of 
historic fabric without jeopardizing life safety. These 
"proportional codes," as they are called, allow building 
inspectors greater flexibility to make decisions based on 
the specific circumstances of each building, and the type 
and extent of work planned. 

Successful rehabilitation work achieves a balance 
between building and safety code considerations and 
the retention of historic design and materials. The porch 
is no exception. The most common porch elements 
affected by code requirements are railing/balustrade 
height, baluster spacing, stair geometry, and structural 
system. When a historic porch is so deteriorated 
that a substantial portion must be replaced, modern 
building code requirements are usually triggered. These 
requirements are often more stringent for multi-family 
or commercial structures than single-family houses. 

17 



18 

Figure 17. The porch's structural system must be capable 
of supporting today's loads. In this case moisture led to the 
deterioration of the wood girder at the corner, creating a major 
structural deficiency (top). A new solid timber was installed to 
replace the girder (middle); alternatively a built-up girder could have 
been used since a fascia board would conceal it. The column base was 
repaired and portions replaced and the balustrade and column reset 
and secured (bottom). Photos: Paul Marlowe, Marlowe Restorations. 

It is important to ensure that the code-required work 
be done in a manner that is sympathetic to the historic 
character of the building. If building code requirements 
threaten the historic character of the porch, alternatives 
that reconcile the two should be explored. Many local 
jurisdictions issue waivers or variances for historic 
buildings, allowing for historic elements to be retained, 
when it can be demonstrated that safety will not be 
compromised. 

In the event that an alteration to a historic porch is 
required to make the porch safe to use, care should 
be taken in planning and undertaking the work. 
Fortunately, there are usually a number of options 
that are possible, although one is usually the most 
appropriate preservation solution. 

Structural Loads 
Ensuring that the structure's foundation can support 
the specified load is a primary safety issue for porches. 
Fortunately, repairs and upgrades to improve structural 
stability are generally made to the foundation at or 
below grade, and can usually be concealed under the 
porch or behind finish details. Weakened joists can often 
be strengthened with the addition of sister joists, epoxy 
structural repair, or the insertion of new concealed 
structural members (Fig. 17). 

Stairs 
Historic stair risers are sometimes too steep and treads 
too shallow to meet contemporary building codes or 
the special needs of the occupants. In the latter case, 
the addition of a simple handrail that meets code may 
suffice. In instances where there is another stairway that 
meets code, for example a side stair, it may be possible to 
retain the existing non-conforming historic stairway. 

Modifications to bring porch stairs into conformance 
with code can be difficult. Where buildings are set close 
to the street, it may not be possible to rebuild the stairs 
in the same direction to meet code if they will have to 
extend onto a public sidewalk. Unless a variance is 
obtained, it may be necessary to turn the stairs to be 
parallel rather than perpendicular to a building. Where 
wood stairs need to be rebuilt, the historic finish details, 
such as moldings, cut work and edge detailing, should 
be reflected in the new construction. One common 
mistake is the replacement of wood stairs or brick steps 
with concrete, a material that may not be in keeping 
with the historic building. 

Where a porch must be used as a wheelchair accessible 
entrance, two general issues arise. If there is an elevation 
difference greater than 1/2- inch between the porch deck 
and the front door threshold, a simple threshold ramp 
may suffice. In cases where the elevation difference is 
larger than can be accommodated by a simple threshold 
ramp, a level platform with sufficient turning radius at 
the door for a wheelchair may be necessary. The other 
issue is devising a means for wheelchair access from 
the grade to the porch deck when the porch is the only 



Figure 18. When a porch is used as a wheelchair accessible entrance, it may be possible to retain the historic stairs by adding a ramp parallel to the 
building. Through plantings and some re-grading, the new ramp built parallel to the building (left) allows retention of the historic stairs and does 
not impact the historic character of the entrance (right). Photo: Iowa State University Extension. 

entrance alternative. It may be possible to retain the 
historic stairs by adding another entrance to the porch 
with the construction of a ramp parallel to the building 
(Fig. 18). 

Baluster Spacing 
Codes generally require for children's safety that new 
balusters are spaced such that a four-inch sphere cannot 
fit through. Vertical balusters on older porches are 
often spaced farther apart than this. If modifications 
are required, inserting narrow metal rods between 
the existing balusters may be a compatible and 
inconspicuous solution, particularly if painted flat black 
or another dark color. This is generally preferable to 
moving the balusters closer together or adding more 
balusters to fill the gaps. 

Railing/Balustrade Heights 
Historic porches generally have handrails that measure 
28 to 30 inches in height from the floor. Current code 
requirements for new construction generally mandate 
that railings be 36 to 42 inches in height (often 36 inches 
for single family dwellings, and 42 inches for multi
family dwellings and commercial buildings). Raising 
the historic railing by as much as 30% or more can 
have a major impact on not just the proportions of the 
balusters, but also on the overall appearance of a historic 
porch. Adding a simple rail above the historic railing 
and painting it to hide its presence as much as possible 
is generally the least intrusive solution when this safety 
requirement must be met. Similarly, an existing bottom 
rail is sometimes set too high off the deck to meet 
contemporary code requirements. The addition of a 
simple wood rail or even a narrow metal pipe below the 
bottom rail will usually suffice (Fig 19). 

It is not uncommon to find historic porches with 
decks only several steps off the ground and with no 
railings. For owner-occupied residences undergoing 
rehabilitation, local codes usually will not require the 

addition of railings to these existing porches, provided 
the porch deck is below a certain height off the 
ground-typically from 18 to 24 inches. Where greater 
safety is warranted even though no railing is required, 
alternatives such as planting an adjacent hedgerow, 
installing planter boxes between columns, or raising 
the grade are worth considering. Where not practical 
or acceptable, a railing might be added so as to not 
noticeably impact the appearance of the historic porch. 
Any solution, however, should be simple and based on 
the character of a specific porch, and its appropriateness 
considered on a case-by-case basis. 

Figure 19. Historic porches generally have railings that measure 
28 to 30 inches in height from the floor. When additional height is 
necessary for safety, a simple rail, added for illustration purposes 
in this photograph, can usually be installed above the historic 
railing. Not only does this treatment allow retention of the historic 
balustrade, but it also has a minimum impact to the appearance of the 
porch. Photo: Charles Fisher. 

19 



Conclusion 

Wood porches have made an enduring contribution 
to our built environment. Porches are significant 
because of the special character they impart to a historic 
building and their role in our social and cultural 
history. A porch is an open sheltered part of a building, 
providing a covered entrance and, where larger, 
serving as an outdoor activity room. It represents an 
outward extension of a building, a place guests can 
initially be sheltered from the weather, even welcomed 
and entertained. 

Like all historic building features, wood porches require 
routine maintenance to prevent decay. Understanding 
how a porch is put together and the factors that 
cause deterioration will help considerably in carrying 
out both maintenance and needed repairs. Regular 
maintenance pays off not only with a good appearance 
but also by reducing the need for future repairs. With 
both maintenance and repairs, emphasis should be 
placed on preserving the historic fabric and significant 
features of a porch. Where components are deteriorated 
beyond repair or missing altogether, new pieces should 
be installed that match the historic ones. Fortunately, 
good craftsmanship and the use of quality replacement 
materials as needed will be rewarded with repairs that 
last. Attentive care will result in the historic porch 
retaining its charm both in appearance and in function. 

Acknowledgements 

Bibliography 

Davis, John Michael. "Exterior-Trim Details That Last," Fine 
Homebuilding, August/September 2001. 

Fisher, Charles E. and Hugh C. Miller, eds., Caring for Your 
Historic House, New York, NY: Harry N. Abrams, Inc., 1998. 

Kitchen, Judith L. Caring for Your Old House: A Guide for Owners 
and Residents, Somerset, NJ: John Wiley & Sons, Inc., 1991. 

Leeke, John C. Practical Restoration Reports Compendium, 
Portland, ME: Historic HomeWorks, 2005. 

Nash, George. "Renovating Old Porches: Common Problems 
Can Be Solved With Simple Repairs," Fine Homebuilding, July 
1982. 

Preservation Briefs, Washington, DC: National Park Service, 
Technical Preservation Services: 1978-present. 

Preservation Tech Notes, Washington, DC: National Park Service, 
Technical Preservation Services: 1984-present. 

Reed, Douglas C. "Detailing Early Porches," Old House Journal, 
MayiJune 2001 and July-August 2001. 

Visser, Thomas D. Porches, Piazzas & Verandas, forthcoming. 

Weeks, Kay D., and Anne E. Grimmer. The Secretary of the 
Interior's Standards for the Treatment of Historic Properties 
with Guidelines for Preserving, Rehabilitating, Restoring & 
Reconstructing Historic Buildings, Washington, DC: National 
Park Service, 1995. 

John Leeke is a Preservation Consultant in Portland, Maine; Aleca Sullivan is an Architectural Historian in Evanston, Illinois. Cover 
illustration: Indiana Historical Society, Jay Small Postcard Collection, Standard Cottage, 1886, Bethany Park, Indiana, Collection No. 
P0391, digital image C 2003. 

Numerous individual generously provided their time and shared their knowledge in making this Preservation Brief possible. Thomas 
D. Visser, Historic Preservation Program, University of Vermont, deserves special recognition for his insightful contributions. Also 
gratefully acknowledge for their assistance in reviewing this publication are Neal A. Vogel, Restoric LLC and Judith L. Kitchen, Ohio 
State Historic Preservation Office. Thanks go to Marilyn Kaplan, Preservation Architecture, for her contributions to the code section 
of this publication. Special thanks also go to the following staff of the National Park Service's Technical Preservation Services office for 
their review and assistance: Sharon Park, FAIA, Michael Auer, Anne Grimmer, and particularly to former staff Kay Weeks. Thanks also 
go to Chad Randl, Kaaren Staveteig and Liz Creveling of the National Park Service's Technical Preservation Service for their assistance 
and to Peter de Paola, Mark Landry of Landmark Services, and Paul Marlowe of Marlowe Restorations. 

This publication was under the technical and editorial direction of Charles E. Fisher of the National Park Service's Technical 
Preservation Services whose considerable contributions, including that of the section on new permanent enclosures, helped made this 
publication possible. 

This publication has been prepared pursuant to the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended, which directs the Secretary of 
the Interior to develop and make available information concerning historic properties. Comments about this publication should 
be addressed to: Charles Fisher, Technical Preservation Publications Program Manager, Technical Preservation Services-2255, 
National Park Service, 1849 C Street, NW, Washington, DC 20240. This publication is not copyrighted and can be reproduced without 
penalty. Normal procedures for credit to the authors and the National Park Service should be provided. The photographs used in 
this publication may not be used to illustrate other publications without permission of the owners. For more information about the 
programs of the National Park Service's Technical Preservation Services see our website at www.cr.nps.govlhps/tps 

October 2006 



RESOLUTION 94-2014

A RESOLUTION
APPROVING A

CERTIFICATE OF
APPROPRIATENESS FOR

THE EXTERIOR
REHABILITATION AND
SITE WORK FOR THE

PROPERTY LOCATED AT
401 CHASE STREET



STATE OF COLORADO
COUNTY OF GILPIN

CITY OF BLACK HAWK

Resolution No. 94-2014

TITLE: A RESOLUTION APPROVING A CERTIFICATE OF
APPROPRIATENESS FOR THE EXTERIOR REHABILITATION
AND SITE WORK FOR THE PROPERTY LOCATED AT 401 CHASE
STREET

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF ALDERMEN OF
THE CITY OF BLACK HAWK, COLORADO, THAT:

Section 1. The City Council hereby determines to approve a Certificate of
Appropriateness for the exterior rehabilitation and site work for the property located at 401
Chase Street.

RESOLVED AND PASSED this 10th day of December, 2014.

_______________________________
David D. Spellman, Mayor

ATTEST:

______________________________
Melissa Greiner, City Clerk



CITY OF BLACK HAWK
REQUEST FOR COUNCIL ACTION

CITY COUNCIL MEETING: December 10, 2014

SUBJECT:
Certificate of Appropriateness for Full Exterior Rehabilitation and Site Improvements for
401 Chase Street
The applicants, Josh Smith and Mary Keefhus, are requesting approval of a Certificate of
Appropriateness (COA) for full exterior rehabilitation of the historic dwelling and site
improvements for the property at 401 Chase Street.

CONSULTANT COMMENTS
The exterior rehabilitation and site work described on page 3 of this report require a Certificate
of Appropriateness. The consultant’s evaluation of the proposal finds that some elements of the
proposed work are not in accordance with the City of Black Hawk Residential Design Guidelines
and the U.S. Secretary of the Interior’s Standards for Rehabilitation. These include:

 Enlargement of one of the primary door openings (a character-defining feature).
 Replacement of all historic doors instead of rehabilitating the doors.
 Replacement of all historic windows with metal-clad windows. .
 Replacement of all siding although investigation shows some of the siding to be in good

condition.
 Changing the height and location of some of the stone retaining walls.
 Installing a large concrete patio area on the front and side of house.

HISTORIC PRESERVATION COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION
The Historic Preservation Commission (HPC) evaluated the application, the comments in the
report, and testimony by staff, consultants, and the applicant. The list of non-conforming
elements in the previous section served as a starting guide for the Commission’s discussion.
Following is the result of that discussion:

 Enlargement of one of the primary door openings (a character-defining feature).
Door No. 1 is the selected location for enlargement and found acceptable by the
Commission. Location is not readily visible from the public right-of-way.

 Replacement of all historic doors instead of rehabilitating the doors.
Condition of the current doors is poor. Replacement doors were found to be acceptable
and commonly seen throughout the National Historic Landmark District.

 Replacement of all historic windows with metal-clad windows.
The Commission reviewed the window survey which noted the wood elements of the
windows were estimated to be historic and possibly dating from the original construction.
However, most of the glazing has been replaced, with the exception of the east elevation



of the window, which is historic. The Commission agreed the expenditure of public funds
would be better spent on the replace windows rather than repair of the current windows.

 Replacement of all siding although investigation shows some of the siding to be in good
condition.
Since the wood survey report summarized that the siding was likely not original to the
date of construction, the Commission agreed the siding could be replaced.

 Changing the height and location of some of the stone retaining walls.
The existing stone walls on the west side of the house will be rebuilt, but not at the same
height or location. A new stone retaining wall will be built to connect the rear patio
retaining wall to the concrete retaining wall behind the house. The historic retaining
wall on the west side of the patio will be demolished due to grading changes required for
patio construction. Although this does not meet the design guides, the Commission
determined that due to the existing topography and the desire to protect the structure
from the existing hillside, the change in height and location would be minimal and
unnoticeable from the right-of-way.

 Installing a large concrete patio area on the front and side of house.
The Residential design guidelines do not address patios. Although the west patio is not
highly visible from the public right-of-way; the front patio will be more visible.
Additionally, concrete is not a preferred land reclamation method as outlined in the
design guidelines. Keeping this in mind the Commission agreed from a maintenance
perspective concrete in this area was a good choice. The east side of the house still
maintains a grassy area with mature trees.

The Commission next discussed if there is sufficient evidence that the Certificate of
Appropriateness application meets the intent of the criteria outlined in the City of Black Hawk
Historic Restoration and Community Preservation Fund Guide to Programs, Section 16-368 of
the Black Hawk Municipal Code, and Sections 2, 3, 4, 5, and 7.4 of the City of Black Hawk
Residential Design Guidelines.

At the conclusion of its discussion, the Historic Preservation Commission recommended to the
Board of Aldermen APPROVAL of the Certificate of Appropriateness for full exterior
rehabilitation and site work at 401 Chase Street based on the criteria set forth in the staff report
dated December 2, 2014. The Certificate of Appropriateness application for 401 Chase Street
meets the intent of the criteria outlined in the City of Black Hawk Historic Restoration and
Community Preservation Fund Guide to Programs, Section 16-368 of the Black Hawk Municipal
Code, and Sections 2, 3, 4, 5, and 7.4 of the City of Black Hawk Residential Design Guidelines.

The Historic Preservation Commission also provided direction that if any minor product,
materials, or color changes that meet the design guidelines can be approved by staff
administratively.

STAFF RECOMMENDATION
Staff recommends to the Board of Aldermen APPROVAL of the Certificate of Appropriateness
for full exterior rehabilitation and site work at 401 Chase Street based on the criteria set forth in
the staff report dated December 2, 2014. The Certificate of Appropriateness application for 401
Chase Street meets the intent of the criteria outlined in the City of Black Hawk Historic



Restoration and Community Preservation Fund Guide to Programs, Section 16-368 of the Black
Hawk Municipal Code, and Sections 2, 3, 4, 5, and 7.4 of the City of Black Hawk Residential
Design Guidelines.

RESOLUTION DATE: December 10, 2014
ORIGINATED BY: Community Planning and

Development
STAFF PERSON RESPONSIBLE: Cynthia L. Linker
DOCUMENTS ATTACHED: Staff Report and Attachments A-D
CITY ATTORNEY REVIEW: [ ] Yes [X] No [ ] N/A

INITIALS__________
SUBMITTED BY: REVIEWED BY:

12/04/14
Cynthia L. Linker, CP&D Jack D. Lewis, City Manager

MMartin
Jack Lewis



1

CITY OF BLACK HAWK Report Date: December 2, 2014
PLANNING / LAND USE HPC Meeting Date: December 2, 2014

City Council Meeting Date: December 10, 2014
STAFF REPORT:
For: City Council
Project: Certificate of Appropriateness for Full Exterior Rehabilitation and Site

Improvements
Property Address: 401 Chase Street
Property Owner: Josh Smith and Mary Keefhus
Zoning: Historic Residential (HR)
Prepared by: Deon Wolfenbarger, Historic Preservation Consultant
Approved by: Cynthia Linker, City of Black Hawk

BACKGROUND
The applicants, Josh Smith and Mary Keefhus, are requesting approval of a Certificate of
Appropriateness (COA) for full exterior rehabilitation of the historic dwelling and site
improvements for the property at 401 Chase Street.

The estimated date of construction for the house at 401 Chase Street is ca. 1890. The property
was first evaluated in 1986 when the National Park Service conducted a survey of historic
resources in the communities of Black Hawk, Central City, and Nevadaville [see Figure 1]. In
1991, when Black Hawk was added to an expanded National Historic Landmark district, 401
Chase Street was counted as a “contributing” building to the historic district, meaning it had
retained sufficient integrity to contribute to the historic character of the district. The 1986 survey
provided the following description of the main building:

This 1-story L-shaped wood frame house has a low stone foundation, horizontal
siding, a rolled asphalt intersecting gable roof, box cornice, and 2 interior brick
chimneys. Distinctive features are cornerboards and wood lug sills. The
windows are rectangular, wood double-hung sash. Both the primary and
secondary doors are single, wood, paneled. The primary door has 1 light and the
secondary door 2 lights in the door panel.

Figure 1. Photograph from 1986 survey.



2

In 1981, a 10’x12’ shed was added to the property; this is less than fifty years old and is not
eligible for grant funding [see Figure 2 for pre-shed photo and Figure 3 for current photo]. There
is mining waste behind the house and on the west, presenting potential environmental problems.
Site work addressing this issue will be handled in a separate project.

Figure 2. Photo from Gilpin County assessor’s office, no shed on west (right) side
and a hip roof over the western addition.

Figure 3. Current conditions, showing shed and mining waste behind the house and on the west

This property has never received grant funds from the city’s programs. In 2010-2011, a re-
survey and evaluation of the historic district found that property was still “contributing” to the
National Historic Landmark district. Any alterations to the building should be reviewed for their
impact to the building’s contributing status.



3

The applicants are requesting approval of the following work, which requires a Certificate of
Appropriateness:
Site work

 Demolish non-historic shed.
 Stone retaining walls: retain wherever possible and rebuild only as required for utility

replacement, stairs, and for documented structural failures. Replaced walls to match
existing. Stone walls around the demolished shed will be removed. Remove stone &
brick retaining wall behind house.

 Install concrete retaining wall in place of existing stone & brick wall.
 Replace concrete stair and walk with new concrete stairs and walkways. Install steel pipe

handrail from Chase Street.
 Construct new concrete patio in place of demolished shed.
 Install concrete drainage swales at rear (north elevation) of house.
 Install decorative wrought iron fence along Chase Street and west side of property.
 Install wire metal fencing at east side of property

Residence – exterior rehabilitation
 Restore hip roof over historic west addition.
 Install a new roof form over bath at rear (north) side of house to improve drainage.
 Remove existing roof material, install asphalt shingles.
 Install non-painted half round metal gutters with round metal downspouts.
 Repair east chimney; rebuild northwest exterior chimney with salvaged brick.
 Replace existing siding and trim on residence with wood lap siding with 4” reveal.
 Windows: replace wood frame windows with new windows per window schedule.
 Doors: Replace historic wood doors 1 and 2 with new wood doors and wood storm

doors. The opening for Door 1 will be widened to 3’-0” for egress. Add new metal door
at rear of house for access to mechanical room. All doors to be painted.

 Stone foundation will be replaced with a concrete foundation with stone veneer on the
east and southeast; brick foundation on south will be replaced with concrete foundation
with stone veneer.

 Install new exterior lighting.
 Repaint house.

In accordance with the Black Hawk Municipal Code, all final plans for a Rehabilitation Grant
must be reviewed by the Historic Preservation Commission as well as City Council.

APPLICABLE CITY OF BLACK HAWK REGULATIONS
Excerpt from:

City of Black Hawk
Historic Restoration and Community Preservation Fund Guide to Programs

Section 1: Program Overview, (e) General Program Information, (3) The City Council shall
have the authority in its sole discretion to deny any application submitted for a grant or easement
project if, in their opinion, the Property Owner has neglected to adequately maintain their
property allowing it to become in a state of disrepair.



4

Excerpt from:
City of Black Hawk Zoning Code

Chapter 16
Section 16-368, City Council historic review process

16-368: Anyone seeking to renovate the exterior of, add to or construct a new building shall be
subject to the following procedures. Any such renovation construction or demolition shall be
subject to the City’s design standards.

f. Criteria for determining appropriateness of proposed erection, construction,
reconstruction or alteration. In determining the appropriateness of a proposed site
plan or building permit for the erection, construction or alteration of a building, the
HPC and the City Council shall consider the following:

1. All plans, drawings and photographs as may be submitted by the applicant;
The scope of work described in this report and illustrated by photographs, plans and
manufacturers’ sheets that show the existing conditions and adequately describes the
proposed alterations.

2. Information presented at a public hearing held concerning the proposed work;
Findings and recommendation from Historic Preservation Commission will be presented
to the Board of Aldermen at the Public Hearing scheduled for December 10, 2014.

3. The purpose of this Chapter;
The information received adequately describes the proposed work in order to determine
the appropriateness of the proposed rehabilitation.

4. Compliance with the Black Hawk Municipal Code and the payment of all fees required
by the Black Hawk Municipal Code;
The project complies with all regulations of the Municipal Code.

5. The historical and architectural style, the general design, arrangement, texture,
materials, and color of the development, building or structure in question or its
appurtenance fixtures; the relationship of such features to similar features of the other
buildings within the City and the position of the building, structure, park or open space
in relation to public right-of-way and to other buildings and structures in the City;
The historic residence is an example of a “National Folk” form - the gable-front-and-
wing (as defined by Virginia and Lee McAlester). It is comprised of a gable-front
section, with an additional side-gabled wing added at right angles [see Figure 4]. A shed
roof porch was typically placed within the L made by the two wings; in this instance;
however, there are no historic photographs which document the existence of a porch.
The building was likely constructed in stages, with the hip roof addition on the west side
built after the front and side-gable sections. There is also a small rear addition with a
gable roof. The roof ridge of the gable-front portion is slightly higher than the side gable
wing, and the historic hip roof over the west addition is even lower [see Figure 5 for roof
view]. This stepped shape is common in buildings that were added to over time. The
building is primarily clad in wood lap siding, although the north elevation has metal sheet



5

panels. A recent wood evaluation reported that the majority of the siding and fascia does
not date from the estimated construction date, but the wood windows may be original.

Figure 4. 401 Chase Street in 2014.

Figure 5. 401 Chase Street in 2014, looking south.



6

6. The effects of the proposed work upon the protection, enhancement, perpetuation and
use of the City which cause it to possess a special character or special historical or
aesthetic interest or value; and
The property was re-evaluated in 2010-2011 and was determined “contributing” to the
National Historic Landmark historic district. The HPC should review the proposed
alterations and evaluate their effect on the historic property’s potential eligibility.

7. The design standards for the City.
Sections 2. Site Design; 3. Rehabilitation of Historic Structures; 4. Paint, Paint Colors
and Lead Paint Issues; 5. Additions to Historic Structures; and 7.4 Exterior Lighting of
the City of Black Hawk Residential Design Guidelines adopted in 2011 apply to this
application. Listed below are the applicable sections and evaluation of the proposed
alterations for 401 Chase Street for compliance.

Excerpts from:
City of Black Hawk Residential Design Guidelines

2. Site Design

2.1 Site design
2.2.1. Respect historic settlement patterns and traditional patterns of building

alignment and orientation

2.2 Topography and Grade
2.2.1 Existing topography should be maintained whenever possible.

b. Where natural rocks remains in stable condition, leave it undisturbed.
2.2.2. Respect natural site features.

a. Buildings should be located and designed to accommodate any features or
limitations.

2.2.3. Minimize cut and fill that would alter the natural topography of the site.
b. use earth berms, rock forms, or stone retaining walls to minimize the

visual impacts of cuts.
2.2.4. Use terraces for sloped building sites.

b. The use of rock retaining walls, similar to those used historically, is
encouraged.

2.2.5. All land that is visible from a public way shall be reclaimed in a manner
described below.
a. Preferred reclamation methods are:

 Plantings, as provided in the landscape standards
 Natural rock, in a stable condition
 Concrete retaining walls faced with native stone or appropriate wood

cribbing.
2.2.6. Retain existing natural drainage patterns where possible; design new

drainage systems to complement and follow the existing terrain.
a. Design drainage systems and storm water detention basins as amenities.



7

2.3 Fencing
2.3.1. Painted wood, wrought iron, picket, woven wire, rail or stone fences are

appropriate in residential-type areas.
a. Wrought iron fencing should be either black or rust colored.

2.3.4. Fences shall be similar to those seen historically.

2.4 Retaining walls
2.4.1. Historic stone walls and other site features should be repaired or restored,

replacing only those portions that are deteriorated beyond repair.
2.4.2. Native stone retaining walls are encouraged.

a. Stone walls should be similar in appearance to those seen historically,
including finishing, joining, and height.

2.4.3. Retaining walls should be of dry stone or stone masonry and be compatible
with other features onsite.

2.4.5. Use walls to prevent erosion and drainage issues.

Summary of proposed site design & evaluation of proposal’s compliance with Section 2:
The topography will be altered on the west side of the building, where a new concrete patio will
be installed. Although not necessarily designed as an amenity, the new drainage swale system at
the rear matches the concrete patio and sidewalks, and will not be visible from the street [see
Attachment B, sheet C200].

Figure 6. Details of woven wire fencing with steel posts and rails for east property line.



8

A new woven wire fence with steel rails and posts will be installed on the east property line [see
Figure 6]. Black iron fencing with gate at the bottom of the stairs will be installed on the south
property line and west side around the patio. This material meets the design guidelines – black
wrought iron – but the design is not one found historically [see Figure 7]. However, the simple
design is an acceptable alternative.

Figure 7. Detail of wrought iron fence.

A new concrete retaining wall at the rear (northwest) side of the house will prevent erosion [see
Figure 8 and sheet A000, Attachment B].

Figure 8. Looking east at north elevation of house, where ground debris and topography
have led to poor drainage and damage to the structure.



9

At the northeast corner of the house, the portion of the existing stone retaining wall will be
replaced with concrete behind the house, although the sections of the wall that are visible from
the street will be rebuilt with stone [see Figure 9 and sheet A000, Attachment B].

Figure 9. Looking northwest at rear of house and section of stone wall proposed for
reconstruction.

The existing historic stone retaining walls along the front (south) property line will be retained
wherever possible, and rebuilt where required for construction of the new site stairs and for
utility replacement [see Figure 10].

Figure 10. Stone retaining walls along High Street (south property boundary).



10

The existing stone walls on the west side of the house will be rebuilt, but not at the same height
or location. A new stone retaining wall will be built to connect the rear patio retaining wall to
the concrete retaining wall behind the house [see Figure 11]. The historic retaining wall on the
west side of the patio will be demolished due to grading changes required for patio construction;
this does not meet the design guidelines.

Figure 11. Green ovals indicate new concrete retaining walls; yellow ovals indicate rebuilt
stone retaining walls; and blue ovals indicate new stone retaining walls.

The historic retaining wall in the red oval will be demolished.

The non-historic shed on the west side of the house will be demolished. At the north, west, and
south sides of the house, the ground will be paved in concrete (no colorant), extending to the
retaining wall on the front and into a patio on the west. The existing concrete site stairs will be
replaced with new concrete, and will be moved slightly west from the existing location. There
will be a steel pipe handrail. The design guidelines do not address patios, but the west patio is
not highly visible from the public right-of-way; the front patio, however, will be more visible
[see Figure 11]. This does not meet the design guidelines for the preferred land reclamation
methods. The tailings and mining waste at the rear (north) of the property will be covered late in
a separate proposal.



11

Excerpts from:
3. Rehabilitation of Historic Structures

3.1 Appropriateness of Use
3.1.1 Seek uses that are compatible with the historic character of the building

3.2 Roofs
3.2.A.1. Preserve the original roof form. This includes the roof’s shape and

decorative features.
3.2.B.2. When repair or replacement is necessary, use materials similar to the

original.
3.2.C.3. Half round galvanized gutters are historically appropriate and preferred on

residential homes.

3.3. Exterior Materials: Wood Siding and Masonry
3.3.A.1. Original historic finish materials should be preserved, rehabilitated and/or

repaired.
a. If portions of wood siding must be replaced, be sure to match the lap

dimensions of the original.
3.3.B.4. Repair or replacement of mortar should be done by a masonry professional

experienced in historic masonry repair.
3.3.C.1. Protect and maintain significant stylistic elements.

a. Avoid removing or altering any historic material or significant features.
b. Repair historic building features that are deteriorated where feasible.
c. When disassembly of an historic element is necessary for its restoration,

use methods that minimize damage to the original materials.
d. Use the gentlest possible procedures for cleaning, refinishing, and

repairing historic materials.
3.3.C.2. Replace missing original features in kind where feasible

a. Replacement of missing architectural elements should be based on
accurate information about original features.

b. Where reconstruction of an element is impossible, develop a compatible
new design that is a simplified interpretation of the original.

3.4 Doors
3.4.1. Retaining and preserving original doors and door openings is preferred

rather than replacement.
3.4.2. Retain and preserve the functional, proportional and decorative features of a

primary entrance.
a. Such features can include frames, sills, heads, jambs and moldings.
b. Door materials should be wood or appear similar to wood.

3.4.5. Avoid changing the position of historic doors.
b. Also avoid adding additional doors to facades that are visible from the

street.



12

3.4.6. When replacing doors, use designs similar to those found historically on
comparable buildings in Black Hawk.
c. Contemporary ornate doors are discouraged on “contributing” buildings,

unless photographic evidence can substantiate their historic use.
3.4.7. If heat loss or energy conservation is a concern, consider installation of a

storm door instead of replacing a historic entry door.
a. wood storm door is preferred. A colored metal storm door, featuring a

simple design, may be appropriate.
3.5.C.6. Genuine, transparent glass shall be used in all windows and doors.

3.5 Windows
3.5.A.1. Identify, retain and preserve the functional and decorative features of

windows found historically.
3.5.C.1. If replacement is necessary, replace in-kind. However, window materials

that appear similar to wood may be considered on a case-by-case basis.
3.5.C.3. Avoid changing the position of historic windows.
3.5.C.4. Maintain the historic subdivisions of windows.

b. Where multiple-pane windows are appropriate, true divided lights are
preferred. This especially true for windows that are at ground level and
close to sidewalks and walkways where the window details may be clearly
seen by the public.

c. Do not use “internal” muntins that are stuck between two layers of glass.
Snap-in muntins may be used on larger areas of glass in new
construction, provided they are installed on both sides of the glass.

3.5.C.6. Genuine, transparent glass shall be used in all windows and doors.

3.6 Porches
3.6.1. Original porches should be preserved.
3.6.3. Reconstructing a missing historic front porch is encouraged.

a. The replacement porch should be based on documented evidence of the
original porch.

b. In the absence of documentation of the original porch, design a simplified
version of porches found on houses of similar age and style.

3.7 Decks
3.7.1. Minimize the visual impact of any decks.
3.7.2. Decks should be subordinate to the house in terms of scale and detailing.
3.7.4. Railings should be similar to historic railing heights.
3.7.5. Decks should be painted or stained to match the exterior color of the house,

but will be reviewed on a case by case basis.
3.7.6. Materials with a synthetic look should be avoided, but will be reviewed on a

case by case basis.

Summary of proposed exterior rehabilitation & evaluation of compliance with Section 3:
Proposed use: The historic use of this building was residential, and it will remain residential
after rehabilitation. This meets the design guidelines and the Secretary of the Interior’s
Standards for rehabilitation.



13

Roofs: The roof shapes over the gable-front-and-wing will be unchanged. The roof over the
later west addition will be restored to its original hip roof form as seen in the county assessor’s
photographs. The new roofing material will be asphalt shingles, color “Teak” manufactured by
Owens Corning [see figure 13]. Although the original wood shake shingles are visible beneath
the present roofing, the proposed asphalt shingles are an acceptable substitute. The rear addition
will have a new roof shape to provide better drainage. This addition is not visible from the
public right-of-way and will not have a negative impact.

Exterior Materials: The wood siding, trim and windows were evaluated by Anthony &
Associates [see Attachment D]. That report found the horizontal wood siding to generally be in
good to fair condition, with the following exception: siding on the east exhibits warp and a few
are broken. The report summarized that the siding was likely not original to the date of
construction. Both the design guidelines and the Secretary of the Interior’s Standards
recommend retaining historic wood siding and features; repair the siding whenever possible; and
if not possible, to replace in-kind. The rehabilitation plans propose to replace all siding and trim.
Since the wood siding is not original, the standards for preservation are not as applicable.
However, since there are no historic photographs dating from the period of significance, it is
difficult to accurately evaluate this element of the proposal. The proposed replacement will
match the existing siding in size and materials, but it is unknown if these are identical to the
original construction.

The stone foundation will be replaced with a concrete foundation, which will have stone veneer
on the south and southeast. The stone veneer will be set in-line with siding, but may still have
the appearance of veneer [see Figure 12 and sheet S400, Attachment B].

Figure 12. Section plan of concrete foundation with stone veneer.



14

Doors: There are two historic wood doors on the front elevation; both doors are proposed to be
replaced with new wood doors. One of these door openings (location 1) is proposed to be
enlarged. This does not meet the Secretary of the Interior Standards or the design guidelines.
Although the wood replacement doors are similar in style to those found historically, they do not
match the existing doors; this does not meet the guidelines or standards [see Figure 13]. A new
door opening will be added to the rear for access to the mechanical room; this will not be visible
from the public right-of-way [see Figure 14].

Figure 13. Left door will be installed at locations 1, the middle door will be installed at
location 2, and the right door (metal) will be installed at location 9. Doors will be painted

.

Figure 14. Door locations 1, 2 & 9.



15

The exterior door handles will be Kwikset’s “Avalon” in iron black. There will be painted, wood
screen doors installed at locations 1 and 2; wood screen doors are recommended by the design
guidelines [see Figure 15].

Figure 15. Door hardware (left) and wood screen door (right).



16

Windows: The wood elements of the windows were estimated to be historic and possibly dating
from the original construction. Most of the glazing has been replaced, with the exception of the
east elevation of the window, which is historic [see Attachment D]. All historic windows are
proposed for replacement with double-hung, aluminum clad wood windows with clear glazing
[see Figure 16 for window type and aluminum cladding color] except for the windows on the
west addition. Here, the existing fixed sash windows will be replaced with an awning-type
window with a single glazing. The design guidelines recommend a prioritized approach to
historic windows. First, preserve and repair historic windows. If too deteriorated, then replace
in-kind, matching size, materials, and style. Replacement materials that are similar to wood may
be considered on a case-by-case basis.

Figure 15. Proposed replacement windows, exterior view.

Excerpts from:
4. Paint, Paint Colors and Lead Paint Issues

4.1 Color
4.1.1. Use historic color schemes.
4.1.2. Develop a color scheme for the entire building that coordinates all the façade

elements.
4.1.3. Use muted colors for the base and brighter colors for accents.
4.1.4. Leave natural masonry finishes unpainted when feasible.

Evaluation of proposed paint scheme and proposal’s compliance with Section 4:
The proposed colors and paint scheme for the building meet the design guidelines by utilizing a
coordinating scheme with muted colors [see Figure 16].



17

Figure 16. Note: Colors may appear different on monitors.
Samples are available for review at the CP&D offices and at the public hearing.

Excerpt from:
5. Additions to Historic Structures

5.1. Preserve older additions that have achieved historic significance in their own right.
a. Examples may be a porch or a kitchen wing that was added to the

original building early in its history.
b. Most alterations 50 years and older have achieved historical significance.

Summary of proposed exterior rehabilitation & evaluation of compliance with Section 5:
The west addition is visible in the earliest county assessor’s photos (ca. 1950s – 1960s) and is
therefore historic. It is being rehabilitated, and the original roof form is being restored, which
meets the design guidelines. The rear addition is visible in assessor’s drawings of floor plans
(ca. 1950s – 1960s) and is also therefore historic. However, the roof form is changing to better
accommodate drainage. This is not visible from the public right-of-way.



18

Excerpts from:
7.4. Exterior Lighting

7.4.1. Lighting fixtures should contribute to the overall historic character of a
house or neighborhood.

7.4.2. Lighting should be functional not just historically decorative.
7.4.3. All lighting should focus downward.

Summary of proposed exterior rehabilitation & evaluation
of compliance with Section 7:
The locations of the exterior lights are shown in Attachment B.
The fixtures will be dark metal lantern-type [see Figure 17].
Dark metal, lantern-type fixtures that have no upward light
would meet the design guidelines.

Figure 17. Exterior light fixture.

APPLICABLE GUIDE TO PROGRAM STANDARDS
All grants, whether Full Site Building, Site Work, Emergency or Radon Mitigation, must adhere
to the eligibility requirements in the City of Black Hawk Historic Restoration and Community
Preservation Fund Guide to Programs, the Residential Design Guidelines, and the Secretary of
the Interior’s Standards for treatment of historic properties. The project was evaluated using
these standards and staff found the elements of the proposal are in accordance and meet the
requirements.

CONSULTANT COMMENTS
The exterior rehabilitation and site work described on page 3 of this report require a Certificate
of Appropriateness. The consultant’s evaluation of the proposal finds that some elements of the
proposed work are not in accordance with the City of Black Hawk Residential Design Guidelines
and the U.S. Secretary of the Interior’s Standards for Rehabilitation. These include:

 Enlargement of one of the primary door openings (a character-defining feature).
 Replacement of all historic doors instead of rehabilitating the doors.
 Replacement of all historic windows with metal-clad windows. .
 Replacement of all siding although investigation shows some of the siding to be in good

condition.
 Changing the height and location of some of the stone retaining walls.
 Installing a large concrete patio area on the front and side of house.



19

HISTORIC PRESERVATION COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION
The Historic Preservation Commission (HPC) evaluated the application, the comments in the
report, and testimony by staff, consultants, and the applicant. The list of non-conforming
elements in the previous section served as a starting guide for the Commission’s discussion.
Following is the result of that discussion:

 Enlargement of one of the primary door openings (a character-defining feature).
Door No. 1 is the selected location for enlargement and found acceptable by the
Commission. Location is not readily visible from the public right-of-way.

 Replacement of all historic doors instead of rehabilitating the doors.
Condition of the current doors is poor. Replacement doors were found to be acceptable
and commonly seen throughout the National Historic Landmark District.

 Replacement of all historic windows with metal-clad windows.
The Commission reviewed the window survey which noted the wood elements of the
windows were estimated to be historic and possibly dating from the original construction.
However, most of the glazing has been replaced, with the exception of the east elevation
of the window, which is historic. The Commission agreed the expenditure of public funds
would be better spent on the replace windows rather than repair of the current windows.

 Replacement of all siding although investigation shows some of the siding to be in good
condition.
Since the wood survey report summarized that the siding was likely not original to the
date of construction, the Commission agreed the siding could be replaced.

 Changing the height and location of some of the stone retaining walls.
The existing stone walls on the west side of the house will be rebuilt, but not at the same
height or location. A new stone retaining wall will be built to connect the rear patio
retaining wall to the concrete retaining wall behind the house. The historic retaining
wall on the west side of the patio will be demolished due to grading changes required for
patio construction. Although this does not meet the design guides, the Commission
determined that due to the existing topography and the desire to protect the structure
from the existing hillside, the change in height and location would be minimal and
unnoticeable from the right-of-way.

 Installing a large concrete patio area on the front and side of house.
The Residential design guidelines do not address patios. Although the west patio is not
highly visible from the public right-of-way; the front patio will be more visible.
Additionally, concrete is not a preferred land reclamation method as outlined in the
design guidelines. Keeping this in mind the Commission agreed from a maintenance
perspective concrete in this area was a good choice. The east side of the house still
maintains a grassy area with mature trees.

The Commission next discussed if there is sufficient evidence that the Certificate of
Appropriateness application meets the intent of the criteria outlined in the City of Black Hawk
Historic Restoration and Community Preservation Fund Guide to Programs, Section 16-368 of
the Black Hawk Municipal Code, and Sections 2, 3, 4, 5, and 7.4 of the City of Black Hawk
Residential Design Guidelines.



20

At the conclusion of its discussion, the Historic Preservation Commission recommended to the
Board of Aldermen APPROVAL of the Certificate of Appropriateness for full exterior
rehabilitation and site work at 401 Chase Street based on the criteria set forth in the staff report
dated December 2, 2014. The Certificate of Appropriateness application for 401 Chase Street
meets the intent of the criteria outlined in the City of Black Hawk Historic Restoration and
Community Preservation Fund Guide to Programs, Section 16-368 of the Black Hawk Municipal
Code, and Sections 2, 3, 4, 5, and 7.4 of the City of Black Hawk Residential Design Guidelines.

The Historic Preservation Commission also provided direction that if any minor product,
materials, or color changes that meet the design guidelines can be approved by staff
administratively.

STAFF RECOMMENDATION
Staff recommends to the Board of Aldermen APPROVAL of the Certificate of Appropriateness
for full exterior rehabilitation and site work at 401 Chase Street based on the criteria set forth in
the staff report dated December 2, 2014. The Certificate of Appropriateness application for 401
Chase Street meets the intent of the criteria outlined in the City of Black Hawk Historic
Restoration and Community Preservation Fund Guide to Programs, Section 16-368 of the Black
Hawk Municipal Code, and Sections 2, 3, 4, 5, and 7.4 of the City of Black Hawk Residential
Design Guidelines.

ATTACHMENTS
A: Cultural Resource Evaluation Form
B: Selected plans, PEH Architects
C: Project Manual, PEH Architects
D: “Window, Siding, and Trim Investigation of 401 Chase Street,” Anthony & Associates



NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING

Notice is hereby given in accordance with the City of Black Hawk Zoning Ordinance that
the City of Black Hawk Board of Aldermen shall hold a public hearing concerning a
Certificate of Appropriateness for full exterior rehabilitation and site improvements at
401 Chase Street. This property is described in Exhibit A below and is generally located
along Chase Street.

The public hearing is to be held before the City of Black Hawk Board of Aldermen on
Wednesday, December 10, 2014 at 3:00 p.m. or as soon as possible thereafter. The
public hearing shall be held in the City of Black Hawk Council Chambers located at 211
Church Street, Black Hawk, Colorado, 80422, or at such other time or place in the event
these hearings are adjourned.

ALL INTERESTED PARTIES
MAY ATTEND

Melissa A. Greiner
City Clerk

Exhibit A

401 Chase Street –

S: 12 T: 3S R: 73W Subd: BLACK HAWK Block: 017 Lot: 006 THRU:- Lot: 008 &
IMPS



1

ATTACHMENT A

Cultural Resource Evaluation Form



 BLACK HAWK CULTURAL RESOURCE SURVEY     

 Cultural Resource Re-evaluation Form    

 (page 1 of 2) 
 
 

1. Current Address:  401 Chase 
 

2. Resource Number:  5GL.7.446                                                                  3.  NHL Resource Number: B17-1 
 
4. Resource Name:                                                                                         

5. Purpose of this current site visit (check as many as apply) 

         Site is within a current project area 

   X    Resurvey 

   X    Update of previous site form(s) 
         Surface collection 
          Testing to determine eligibility 
         Excavation 
         Other 

  

6. Previous Recordings:  

   X     1986 National Park Service Survey    X    Photograph 

   X     1991 National Historic Landmark Nomination      No Photographs                    X    Contributing  

   X      1998 Re-survey    X    Photograph 

   X      2004 Photo survey    X    Photograph   

            Other:            Photograph 

  

7. Exterior alterations since 1986:   No permits recorded, but a shed-like addition was built on the west side 

between 1986 and 1998.   

 

8. Additional historical background:  Sanborn maps do not cover this far west on Chase Street.  Deed 

research may reveal a more accurate construction date. 
 

 

    Ca. 1890    Construction date     X      Estimate from 1986 NPS Survey          New estimate 

Sources of information:  

 Sanborn Maps 

        1886   

        1890 

        1895 

        1900 



Current Address:  401 Chase                                                     (page 2 of 2) 

Resource Number: 5GL.7.446   

NHL Resource Number: B17-1 

     

9. Changes to Location or Size Information: No permits recorded, but a shed-like addition built on the west 

side between 1986 and 1998.   
 

10. Revised National Historic Landmark District- Contributing Building Eligibility Assessment:  

 Contributing   X         Non contributing              Need data    

 

11. National Register - Individual Eligibility Assessment: 

 Eligible            Not eligible    X          Need data   

 

12.  Is there National Register district potential?  Yes  X         No              

 Discuss: This would be a contributing building to a potential district 

 

13. Local Designation - Individual Eligibility Assessment:  

 Eligible   X         Not eligible              Need data       

 

14.  Is there Local district potential?  Yes   X       No              

 Discuss: This would be a contributing building to a potential district 

 

15. Photograph Types and Numbers: Digital, <.jpg> format.  401 Chase-1.JPG, 401 Chase-2.JPG, 401 Chase-

3.JPG 

 

 

16. Report Title: Black Hawk Historic Resource Resurvey:  2009-2010 

 

17. Recorder(s):  Deon Wolfenbarger 18. Date(s): May 17, 2010 

 

19. Recorder Affiliation: Three Gables Preservation 

 

20. Attachments                     21. Official determination  
 (check as many as apply)             (OAHP USE ONLY) 
   X   Photographs         Determined Eligible 
        Site sketch map         Determined Not Eligible 
        U.S.G.S. map photocopy         Need Data 

   X   Other                                 Nominated 
        Other                                 Listed 
             Contributing to N.R. District 
             Not Contributing to N.R. Dist 



Current Address:  401 Chase                                                Continuation Sheets 

Resource Number: 5GL.7.446   

NHL Resource Number: B17-1 
Current Photographs 

Date:  05/13/2009 & 1/21/2010 

 

 
 

 
 

 



Current Address:  401 Chase                                                Continuation Sheets 

Resource Number: 5GL.7.446   

NHL Resource Number: B17-1 
 

2004 Photograph 
 

 
 

 
 



Current Address:  401 Chase                                                Continuation Sheets 

Resource Number: 5GL.7.446   

NHL Resource Number: B17-1 

 
1998 Resurvey Photograph 

 

 
 

 
1986 Survey Photograph 

 

 



 

Current Address:  401 Chase                                                Continuation Sheets 

Resource Number: 5GL.7.446   

NHL Resource Number: B17-1 
 

Gilpin Assessor’s Photographs 
 

   
 

     
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



2

ATTACHMENT B

Selected plans, PEH Architects











303-442-0408, fax: 303-447-1905
Boulder, CO 80302

1319 Spruce Street  Suite 207  

e-mail: peheinz@peharchitects.com



303-442-0408, fax: 303-447-1905
Boulder, CO 80302

1319 Spruce Street  Suite 207  

e-mail: peheinz@peharchitects.com



303-442-0408, fax: 303-447-1905
Boulder, CO 80302

1319 Spruce Street  Suite 207  

e-mail: peheinz@peharchitects.com



303-442-0408, fax: 303-447-1905
Boulder, CO 80302

1319 Spruce Street  Suite 207  

e-mail: peheinz@peharchitects.com























Seward Mechanical Systems

303-442-0408, fax: 303-447-1905
Boulder, CO 80302

1319 Spruce Street  Suite 207  

e-mail: peheinz@peharchitects.com



Seward Mechanical Systems

303-442-0408, fax: 303-447-1905
Boulder, CO 80302

1319 Spruce Street  Suite 207  

e-mail: peheinz@peharchitects.com



Seward Mechanical Systems

1/2-11/2-11/2-11/2-11/2-1

D.  Piping Exposed to Freezing

11111

C.  Domestic Cold Water

1.51.51.51.01.0100105 and Greater

B.  Domestic and Service Hot Water Systems including recirculation

1.51.51.01.01.0100140-105
1.51.51.51.51.5125200-141
3.52.02.01.51.5150250-201

A.  Heating Systems: Heating Water

up
8 and 5 and 6

4
1/2 to -21/4 to 2-1

less
1 and Range (°F)

Temperature

Nominal Pipe Diameter (inches)
Temperature
Mean Rating 

Operating
Design
Fluid

Minimum Pipe Insulation (inches)

PIPE INSULATION SCHEDULE

Plumbing and Piping SpecificationsHVAC Specifications

1.    Provide an Operation and Maintenance Manual at the end of Construction
2.    Provide a set of  redlined  drawings indicating all differences from the contract  documents.
3.    Provide balancing report at the end of the project.
4.    Isolation valves for hydronic systems shall be full port ball valves.

15. Domestic water  piping shall be:
1.     Above grade:

a.     Type L  hard-drawn copper tube with wrought-copper fittings and low 
liquidus/solidus non-lead, non-antimony solder with a shear strength equal to or greater
than 10,000 psi.  All-State "Aquasafe" or approved equal.

2.     Below grade:
b.     2-1/2 inches and smaller:  Type K soft-drawn copper tube with wrought-copper 
fittings and silver brazed non-lead, non-antimony solder.

16. Interior Soil and Waste and Vent piping shall be:
1.     Above grade:

a.  Galvanized steel pipe with cast-iron drainage fittings
b.  Service weight cast-iron soil pipe with No-Hub fittings
c.  DWV copper pipe and fittings.
d.  Schedule 40 ASTM D2665 polyvinyl chloride (PVC) with ASTM D2564 solvent welded
socket fittings.

2.     Below grade:
        a. Service  weight, cast-iron soil pipe with hub-and-spigot fittings with neoprene

 compression gaskets.
        b. Schedule 40 PVC with solid core.

17. Natural gas and LPG piping shall be:
1.   Interior, exposed or accessible:

a.  2 inches and smaller:
1)  Pipe:  Schedule 40, ASTM A120.
2)  Fittings:  Threaded, malleable iron.
3)  Joint Seal:  Rector seal or Teflon paste.
4)  Unions :  Black malleable iron, ground joint, bronze to iron seat, 150 pound

class, ANSI B2.1 and ASTM A197.
2.  Interior, concealed or in air plenums:  All pipe and fittings shall be welded type.
3.  Below grade and outside of building footprint:  Standard weight, black iron with all joints

welded and wrapped per code, or approved PE pipe.
18. Equipment drain piping shall be:

1.   Type L copper with wrought copper fittings, 95/5 solder.
2.   Schedule 40 galvanized steel pipe with 150-pound malleable iron threaded fittings.
3.   Schedule 40 PVC pipe with solvent welded fittings.

19. Grade  waste and vent inside of building with a uniform grade of not less than piping 1/8-inch
per foot for all horizontal piping 4" in diameter or greater. All waste lines inside the building less
than  4" in diameter shall be graded to not less than 1/4" per foot.

20. Provide cleanouts for sanitary systems.  Cleanouts shall be full size except that maximum size
shall be 4 inches.  Install cleanouts full size at base of all sewer mains, at changes in direction of
sewer mains, and at the ends of each horizontal run.  Install cleanouts in horizontal piping for
interior sewers at a maximum spacing of 50 feet for piping 3 inches or smaller and 100 feet for
piping 4 inches or larger; and of a maximum spacing of 100 feet for exterior sewers.  Install
cleanouts 6 inches above the highest trap on the floor in the main vent of each group of  fixtures
and in vent stacks for isolated fixtures on each floor.

21. Assemble lavatory and sink wastes and traps with slip joints with lock nuts and rubber gaskets or
with threaded joints on fixture side of trap.  Do not use slip joints on sewer side of traps.  Make
sewer side connections with screwed trap nipples, compression fittings or solder joints.

22. The tubing for the"homeruns" to the fintube radiation to be with PEX-AL-PEX, type A with
aluminum interior oxygen barrier as made by Uponor.  Insulate piping.

5. Provide unions and isolation valves at all equipment connections.
6. Install gas piping in accordance with NFPA Standard 54 and the International Fuel Gas Code.
7. Provide 1/2 inch automatic vent valves at high points of mains and risers.
8. Install piping so that it can be easily drained. Provide drain valves and drain lines from each

piping low point, between two block valves, between block valves and backflow preventer
discharge check valves, and from each item of equipment requiring drains.

9. Coordinate wiring responsibilities with Electrical Contractor and Temperature Controls
Contractor.

10. All piping and plumbing systems shall be pressure tested prior to concealment.
11. Clean all closed piping systems with an alkaline cleaning product containing dispersants,

detergent, and organic corrosion inhibitors. Provide sufficient cleaner to elevate the pH above 10.5.
Circulate for 24 hours and, if a heating water system, heat the system water up to 140°-180°F.
Following circulation, drain down and flush. Fill with chemicals as required.

12. Provide access doors to all equipment, valves, etc. that will require service or adjustment.
13. Piping shall be insulated as follows:
14. Pipe insulation shall be rigid, molded, non-combustible with a K-value of 0.23. Provide vapor

retarder jacket.

1. Provide an Operation and Maintenance Manual at the end of Construction.
2. Provide a set of redlined drawings indicating all differences from the contract documents.
3. Provide balancing report at the end of the project.
4. Provide condensate drain lines from all condensate pans in equipment. Route to approved location.
5. All ducts and plenums shall be constructed in accordance with the applicable SMACNA duct manuals

including gauge of metal, type of joint, reinforcing, geometry of the fittings, and support and hanging of the
ductwork.

6. Round duct take-offs from rectangular ductwork shall utilize bell-mouth fittings with balancing damper.
7. Radius elbows with throat radius (measured at inside surface) equal to duct depth should be used wherever

possible. Rectangular elbows are discouraged. If rectangular elbows are needed, they shall have single-wall
turning vanes, with intermediate supports if the length of the vanes exceeds 36". Edges of the turning vanes
shall be parallel with the sides of the elbow.

8. Provide flexible connections on all vibrating or rotating equipment.
9. Transitions in ductwork, for changing shapes and sizes, shall be made with angles not exceeding 15 degrees

per side wherever possible.
10. All ductwork shall be sealed with sealant per SMACNA Standards.
11. Flexible duct is not allowed for the restroom exhaust or kitchen hood exhaust

303-442-0408, fax: 303-447-1905
Boulder, CO 80302

1319 Spruce Street  Suite 207  

e-mail: peheinz@peharchitects.com



Seward Mechanical Systems

303-442-0408, fax: 303-447-1905
Boulder, CO 80302

1319 Spruce Street  Suite 207  

e-mail: peheinz@peharchitects.com



Seward Mechanical Systems

303-442-0408, fax: 303-447-1905
Boulder, CO 80302

1319 Spruce Street  Suite 207  

e-mail: peheinz@peharchitects.com



 FAULT CURRENT AMPS AVAILABLE AT ASSUME EXISTING
100 KVA TRANSFORMER (120/240V-1P-3W)   = 29,600 AMPS

FAULT #1  (LOCATION: AT UTILITY METER)

2 x 125 x
1 x 13,923 x

1
1 + 2.215

FAULT AVAILABLE = 29,600 x = 9,206 AMPS

 
FAULT #2  (LOCATION: AT NEW PANEL "A")

2 x 10 x
1 x 12,843 x

1
1 + 0.060

FAULT AVAILABLE = 9,206 x = 8,681 AMPS0.943

240

M =

f =

M =

= 0.060

0.311

9,206

0.943

=

29,600
240 = 2.215

0.311

FAULT CURRENT CALCULATIONS

f =

=

1

2

MOUNTING: VOLTAGE: 120/240V-1PH-3W
NEMA RATING: A.I.C. RATING: 10,000
SERVICE ENTRANCE RATED: 200 AMP
ISOLATED GROUND BUS: BUS SIZE: 200 AMP

A B   A B
   LIGHTS 20 1 1 - - 2 50    
  LIGHTS 20 1 3 - - 4  2  
  LIGHTS 20 1 5 -  - 6 20 1   
  LIGHTS 20 1 7 - - 8 20 1   
1  RECEPTACLES 20 1 9 - - 10 20 1   
1  RECEPTACLES 20 1 11 - - 12 20 1   
1  RECEPTACLES 20 1 13 - - 14 20 1   
1  RECEPTACLES 20 1 15 - - 16 20 1   
1  RECEPTACLES 20 1 17 - - 18 20 1   
1  RECEPTACLES 20 1 19 - - 20 20 1   
  RECEPT-DRYER 30  21 - - 22 20 1   
  -----  2 23 - - 24 20 1   
  RECEPT-WASHER 20 1 25 - - 26 20 1   
  SPARE 20 1 27 - - 28 20 1   
  SPARE 20 1 29 - - 30 20 1   
  SPARE 20 1 31 - - 32 20 1   
  SPARE 20 1 33 - - 34 20 1   
  SPARE 20 1 35 - - 36 20 1   
  SPARE 20 1 37 - - 38 20 1   
  SPARE 20 1 39 - - 40 20 1   
  SPARE 20 1 41 - - 42 20 1   

 0 0 0 0
0 0

0

1.   3 VA PER SQUARE FOOT (756 SQ. FT.) 2268 VA
2.   SPECIFIC USE RECEPTACLES:
      a.  DISHWASHER/DISPOSAL 1176 VA
      b.  WASHER 1100 VA
      c.  DRYER 5760 VA
      d.  MICROWAVE 1200 VA
      e.  REFRIGERATOR 850 VA
      f.   RANGE 9600 VA
3.   MECHANICAL EQUIPMENT 1176 VA
4.   TOTAL CALCULATED LOAD: 23130 VA 1. PROVIDE ARC-FAULT BREAKERS FOR ALL LIVING AREA CIRCUITS.
 96 AMPS 2
 3

ALL SINGLE PHASE SHARED NEUTRAL CIRCUITS SHALL BE SUPPLIED WITH BREAKER HANDLE TIES PER NEC 240.4

Total Connected V.A.

NEC 220 LOAD CALCULATIONS
=Total Connected VA all Phases

RECEPT-KITCHEN
RECEPT-KITCHEN
RECEPT-KITCHEN
RECEPT-KITCHEN
BOILER
SPARE
SPARE
SPARE
SPARE
SPARE

SPARE

SPARE
SPARE

N
O

TE
S

N
O

TE
S

N
O

TE
S

SPARE

SPARE
SPARE

CD DESCRIPTION SIZE P CIR. CIR. SIZE P CD

SPARE

(NEW)

BRANCH BREAKERS
LOCATION: GARAGE

RECEPT-KITCHEN

DESCRIPTION

PANEL "A"
-----

RECEPT-RANGE
-----
RECEPT-KITCHEN

M.L.O.:

LEFT PHASE RIGHT PHASE

1 3R

FLUSH SURFACE

1. PROV IDE  ALL EQU IPM ENT AND  SERV ICE S N EC ESSARY T O INSTALL TH E 
COM PLETE SYSTEMS  D ESC RIBE D BY TH E C ON TR ACT DOC UM ENTS AND  
SPEC IFIED BELOW .  TH E DR AW INGS ILLU STRATE TH E GEN ERAL DESIGN  AN D 
EXTEN T OF TH E PER FOR MAN CE  REQU IR ED .  ALL DIMENS ION S AND  
LOCATION S SHALL BE TAKEN  FROM  THE  AR CH ITECTU RAL DR AW IN GS. 

 
2.  COM PLY W ITH  ALL STATE AND  LOC AL C ODE S, UT ILITY C OMPAN Y 

REGU LAT ION S, F IR E DEPA RTMEN T R EQU IRE MEN TS AN D TH E LA TEST  
EDITIONS OF THE NFPA C OD ES. 

 
3.  EQUIPMEN T AND  MATER IALS SH ALL BE NEW , UL-LISTED  FOR  THE U SE 

IN TEN D ED, B E F RE E FRO M DAMA GE OR  DEFECT AND  S HALL BE IN STALLED  
PER  THE MAN UFACTU RER S INSTR UC TIONS. 

 
4.  TH E CON TR AC TOR  SH ALL BE RESPON SIB LE FOR  TH E SU CC ESSFU L 

OPER ATION OF THE ELEC TRIC AL SYSTEMS FOR  A P ERIO D OF ON E YEAR  
FR OM THE D ATE  OF  FIN AL ACC EPTANC E.  PR OVID E OPERATIN G AND  
MAINTENAN C E INSTRU CTION S FOR  ALL ELECTR ICA L SYSTEMS.  

 
5.  SUP PORT CON DU IT  AND  EQUIPMEN T FROM  TH E S TR UC TU R E TO PR EVENT 

SAGGIN G, POC KETING, SW A YING AN D VIBR ATIONS. 
 

6.  PROV IDE  SLEEVES  AN D IN SERTS FOR  ALL ELECTR IC AL C OND UIT, SEA L ALL 
CON D UIT  PEN ETRAT ION S PAS SIN G TH ROU GH  FIRE R ATED BAR R IER S AND  
EXTER IOR  W ALLS W ITH AN  APP ROVED  MATERIAL TO MAINTAIN  TH E FIR E 
RATED  INTEGRITY. 

 
7.  PROV IDE  C OMPLETE SYSTEMS OF CON D UC TOR S AND  R AC EW AYS U SIN G 

CON D UIT  AN D/OR C ABLE ASSEMB LIES APPR OPRIATE  TO THE FU NC TION  AN D 
LOCATION  AN D SPEC IF ICA LLY AP PROVED  BY TH E NEC .  C OND UC TORS MU ST 
BE DE RATED PER  THE N EC.  LOA D BALAN CE TH E E NT IR E SYSTEM  TO W ITHIN 
15% PER PH ASE.  PROVIDE A C OMPLE TE GROU ND IN G S YS TEM  IN  
ACC OR DAN CE W ITH  AR TICLE 250 OF  THE N EC. 

 
8.  PROV IDE  GALV ANIZED  STEEL OUTLET  A ND  JUN CTION  BOXE S, EXCEPT  

W HE RE OTHER W ISE IND IC ATED .  BOXES SH ALL BE A MIN IM UM  OF  4” SQU ARE 
OR OC TAGONAL W ITH  DEPTH  A S REQU IR ED.  PR OVID E W EATHER PROO F 
TYPE  CAST  BOXES W ITH  GASKET  AN D C AST  CO VERPLATES FOR ALL W ET 
LOCATION S.  TH ROU GH TH E W ALL BO XES AR E NOT PER MITTE D.  PR OVID E 
PLASTER OR  T ILE R INGS  FOR ALL FLUSH  OUTLETS INSTALLED  W HER E 
REQU IR ED . 

 
9.  ALL CON DU C TOR S SHALL BE  C OPPER , R ATED  AT 600 VOLTS (STR ANDED  FOR 

NO. 8 AW G AN D LARGER ), W ITH TH E FOLLOW IN G IN SULAT ION  R ATINGS: 
TH H N, TH W N , XH HW .  THE C OND UC TORS SH ALL BE APP LIED  USING THE 75C  
RAT IN G TABLE. 

 
 

10. DO NOT IN STALL EXPOSED CON DU IT  IN  AR EAS OPEN  TO TH E PUB LIC.
EXPOSED  R ACEW AYS MU ST BE W IRE MOLD W HE RE REQU IR ED AND  ON LY 
W HE RE APPR OVED BY TH E AR CH ITECT .  R UN  E XPOSE D RAC EW AYS
PAR ALLEL TO AN D  AT  R IGH T ANG LES W ITH  THE  BU ILD ING LIN ES. 

 
11. USE  FLEXIBLE METALLIC C OND U IT FOR  CON N ECTION S TO MOTORS, 

FIXTU RES AN D OR  OTH ER  E QUIP MENT W HER E VIBR ATION  IS ENC OUN TERED . 
 PR OVID E SEALTITE FLE XIBLE M ETALLIC CON D UIT  IN W ET  AR EAS. 

 
12. PROV IDE  A  GR OU ND  W IRE  IN N ON-M ETALLIC CON DU IT, R OM EX AND  FLEXIBLE 

CON D UIT . 
 

13. PROV IDE  CIRC UIT BR EAKER  TYPE LOAD CEN TER S AS SC HED U LED ON  TH E 
DR AW IN GS.  BR EAKER S SH ALL BE FULL W IDTH, T HERM AL MAGN ETIC, PLU G-IN
TYPE .  P ROVIDE M ULT I-POLE B REAKER S W ITH  COM MON  TR IP AND  SIN GLE 
OPER ATING H AND LE.  PR OVID E SEPAR ATE GR OU ND  B US.  PR OVIDE A T YPED 
DIREC TORY IN A DIR EC TOR Y FR AME.  IN STALL TR IMS  AND  DOOR S W ITH  TH E 
PRIMER  COATS IN  FIN ISH ED  AREAS.  PROVID E ONE SPARE ¾” COND UIT  UP OR 
DOW N  TO AN  ACC ESSILB E LOCATION  FOR EAC H  3 UN US ED POLES  IN  TH E 
LOADC EN TER .   LOAD CEN TE RS SHALL BE SQUAR E D  O R EQUAL. 

 
14. PROV IDE  BR AN CH  C IR CU IT S, FEEDE RS, JUN C TION BOXES, D ISC ONN ECT 

SW ITCH ES, ETC. AS R EQUIRED  FOR  A C OMPLETE SYSTEM.  MAKE POW ER  
CON N ECTION S TO M OTOR S AND  CON TROLS FOR  HEATIN G, VENT ILAT ION, AIR 
CON D ITIONING, PLU MBIN G AN D OW N ER FUR N ISH ED EQU IPM ENT AS 
REQU R IED . 

 
15. EXTER IOR  LIGHT IN G FIXTUR ES, R ACEW A YS , BALLASTS, EQUIPMEN T,  ETC. 

SHA LL B E W EATH ER PROOF AND  SUITABLE FOR TEMPER ATUR ES DOW N TO -
20F. 
 

16. VOIC E/D ATA/C ABLE: P ROVIDE A C OMPLETE SYSTEM  OF C ABLING. E.C. SHALL 
BE RE SPONSIBLE FOR  ALL CAT5 VOIC E/D ATA W IR ING AN D R G6U TV C ABLING 
IN CLU DING ALL C OVER PLATES, C ONN EC TOR S AN D TERM INA TIONS (VOIC E 4 
PIN , D ATA 8 PIN ). FIE LD VERIFY ALL OU TLE T LOCAT ION S W ITH TH E 
ARC H ITECT  OR  OW N ER  IN C LUD IN G T HE MOU NTIN G H EIGH T . 
 

17. SW ITCH ES SH ALL BE IN STALLED  A MINIM UM  OF 5” CLEAR  FR OM  D OOR JAMBS 
OR AS REQU IR ED  TO N OT IN TERFERE W ITH  D OOR C ASIN G. COOR DINATE 
W ITH AR CH ITECTUR AL DR AW IN GS. 
 

18. ALL JU NC TION  BOXES SH ALL BE METALLIC  (NON -METALLIC  N OT PERMITTED ).
 

 

 



KEY LAMP(S) DESCRIPTION FINISH VOLT MOUNTING MFR CAT. NO.

L - 24" SINGLE CIRCUIT TRACK - 120 - - -

- VANITY LIGHT - 120

J -

FIXTURE SCHEDULE

- - -

B - EXTERIOR WALL SCONCE WITH MOTION DETECTOR - 120

- -

- - -

- - -K

H - KEYLESS LAMP HOLDER - 120

48" SINGLE CIRCUIT TRACK - 120 -

- - -

G - 22" LED UNDER CABINET LIGHT - 120 UNDER CABINET urbanlightsdenver.com PRIORI 043T-22-DB

F - 48" SINGLE CIRCUIT TRACK - KITCHEN - 120

E - PENDANT OVER BAR - 120 - - -

C - WALL SCONCE - 120

D - CEILING FAN WITH LIGHT KIT WHITE 120 - - -

- - -

A - EXTERIOR WALL SCONCE - 120

- - -

Nathan
Text Box
Awaiting final fixture selection



3

ATTACHMENT C

Project Manual, PEH Architects



1 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Project Manual 

401 Chase Street 

Black Hawk, CO 
11/24/14 

Construction Document Set 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 P  E  H     A R C H I T E C T S 
1319 Spruce Street    Suite 207        Boulder, CO     80302 

phone: 303-442-0408    fax: 303-447-1905  email: peheinz@peharchitects.com 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



3 

 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 
 Table of Contents 
 Section 0 - Conditions of the Contract ..........................................................1 
 Section 1 - General Conditions Supplement .................................................2 
 Section 2 - Site Work ....................................................................................5 
 Section 3 - Concrete .....................................................................................6 
 Section 4 - Masonry ......................................................................................7 
 Section 5 - Metals .........................................................................................8 
 Section 6 - Wood ..........................................................................................9 
 Section 7 - Thermal & Moisture ....................................................................11 
 Section 8 - Doors & Windows .......................................................................13 
 Section 9 - Finishes ......................................................................................15 
       Drywall ...............................................................................................15 
      Flooring, Wall Finish & Counters .......................................................15 
      Painting ..............................................................................................16 
 Section 10 - Specialties ................................................................................18 
 Section 11 - Equipment ................................................................................19 
 Section 12 - Furnishings ...............................................................................19 
 Section 13 - Special Construction .................................................................20 
 Section 14 - Conveying ................................................................................20 
 Section 15 - Mechanical ...............................................................................20 
 Section 16 - Electrical ...................................................................................22 
 Appendix A: Shop Drawing Submittals Required ..........................................24 
 Appendix B: Interior Finishes and Products 
 Appendix C: Soils Report 
 Appendix D: Exterior Finishes Rendering 
  
  
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



1 

0 CONDITIONS OF THE CONTRACT 

 
General Conditions and Modification to General Conditions: 

These Outline Specifications are intended only to establish a scope and quality of 
work and are not intended to be complete detailed specifications.  Where only 
one manufacturer is indicated, provide products of that manufacturer.  “Equal” 
products may be submitted concurrently but shall not be submitted as a 
substitute without prior authorization. 

It is implied and required that work which is not fully specified and/or detailed 
shall comply with applicable, recognized standards of the construction industry 
for the intended use of work, and shall be complete. 

Where there is a conflict between the specifications and the drawings or within 
the specifications, the Contractor is to assume the higher quality, more expensive 
product or detail is to be used.  It is the responsibility of the Contractor to ask for 
clarification from the Architect/Design Team. 

Dimensions take precedence over scaled drawings. Large scale drawings take 
precedence over small scale drawings. Concrete and masonry dimensions are to 
face of concrete or masonry. Wood or steel stud construction is dimensioned to 
face of finished material unless noted otherwise. Do not scale drawings unless 
directed by the architect. 

Before starting each portion of work, the contractor shall carefully study and 
compare the various drawings and other contract documents relative to that 
portion of work.  The contractor shall field verify any existing condition related to 
that portion of work and shall observe any conditions at the site affecting it.  
These obligations are for the purpose of facilitating construction by the contractor 
and are not for the purpose of discovering errors, omissions, or inconsistencies in 
the contract documents; however, any errors, inconsistencies or omissions 
discovered by the contractor shall be reported to the architects as an RFI. 

Any discrepancies found between the drawings and specifications, and site 
conditions, or any inconsistencies or ambiguities in the drawings or specifications 
shall be immediately reported to the owner, in writing, who will promptly resolve 
such inconsistencies or ambiguities in writing. Work done on unreported 
discrepancies, inconsistencies or ambiguities by the contractor shall be done at 
the contractor’s risk. 

 

 
  



2 

1 GENERAL CONDITIONS SUPPLEMENT 

Summary of Work: (Project Description) 

This project consists of a one-story historic structure to be finished as indicated on 
the drawings.  Scope is defined in these Outline Specifications and Drawings dated 
11/24/14.  The project is located at 401 Chase Street, Black Hawk, Colorado. 

General Alternate Requirements: 

General: The description for each alternate is recognized to be incomplete and 
abbreviated, but implies that each change must be complete for the scope of work 
affected. Refer to applicable sections and to applicable drawings for the specific 
requirements of the Owner, whether or not references are so noted in the description 
of each alternate. Modify surrounding work as required to integrate with the work of 
each alternate. 

1. Add Alternate #1:  

 Mechanical and Electrical Coordination: 

Contractor to carefully coordinate the interface between mechanical and electrical 
equipment. It shall be the responsibility of the Contractor to furnish, set in place, and 
wire for power and control.  

Regulatory Requirements: 

Contractor shall comply with the International Residential Code 2012, International 
Energy Conservation Code 2012 and all other applicable codes and ordinances, as 
well as secure all necessary permits and licenses. 

Project Meetings: 

The contractor shall schedule and administer a Pre-construction meeting, regular 
construction meetings and specially called meetings throughout the progress of the 
work. The contractor shall prepare and distribute meeting agenda and meeting 
minutes. Distribution of agenda and minutes shall be in pdf format. Distribution list 
shall include, but not be limited to, owner, owner’s rep, architect, and each 
representative of the design team. Paper hard-copies shall be provided at each 
meeting.  

Quality Control: 

All material and workmanship shall be subject to inspections, observation, 
examination and test by the Owner's Representative at any and all times. 

Manufactured articles, materials, and equipment shall be applied, installed, 
connected, erected, cleaned and conditioned per manufacturer's written 
recommendations and/or trade association standards. 

Temporary Utilities; Barriers and Controls: 

The Contractor shall be responsible for furnishing all services and connections for 
water, electricity, and fuel for construction, and shall pay all charges entailed. 



3 

The contractor shall provide and pay for temporary services, utilities and facilities 
which will enable adequate construction progress and processes, and will 
accommodate other necessary activities at the project site.  Services, utilities and 
facilities shall include but not be limited to water, telephone, electrical, gas, heat, 
ventilation, sanitary, fire extinguisher, site protection, enclosures, miscellaneous 
facilities and field office.  The cost of providing and using temporary services shall be 
included in the contract sum.  Any fee associated with connections, disconnects and 
relocations shall be included in the contract sum. 

The Contractor shall provide barricades and temporary fences where needed.  The 
construction site shall be cleaned and maintained clean to minimize the impact on 
surrounding property and rights of way. 

Materials, equipment, fixtures or any other future components of the work shall be 
protected from the weather, stabilized at building temperature and moisture content 
or the like, as recommended by the manufacturer of the product. 

Construction loads exceeding structural design loads shall not be placed upon the 
structures. 

Substitutions and Product Options: 

Cost saving alternates, substitutions, and proposals may be acceptable and should 
be submitted to the Architect for approval.  If any alternative, substitute or proposal 
is found to be unacceptable, the Contractor shall provide the original product or 
detail at no additional cost. 

Submittals: 

The GC is to provide a Submittal Schedule upon commencement of construction.  
The schedule is to list all submittal items required per Appendix A, and to identify 
approximate dates of submittals.  Submittals will be submitted in a timely manner so 
as to allow the Architect (10) days for review and approval. 

GC shall review all submittals for general conformance and provide stamp/signature 
acknowledging review of documents. All documents (excluding physical samples) 
shall be provided via PDF format. 

Work completed on submittal items prior to design team approval shall be done at 
the contractors risk. 

Construction Photos: 

GC to provide digital photos that document both electrical and mechanical rough-ins 
prior to installing insulation and drywall. GC is also to provide courtesy progress 
photos taken throughout the construction process. All photos are to burned onto 
CDs or jumpdrives, and to be organized in folders by day of photo taken. Two CDs 
or jumpdrives are to be provided, one for the design team and one for the owner. 

Contract Closeout: 

The Contractor shall provide both hard-copy and PDF format As-Built 
documentation, both hard-copy and PDF format Operation and Maintenance Manual 
(O&M Manual), and final lien wavers prior to application for final payment. In 
addition, the Contractor shall coordinate equipment start up and demonstrate/supply 
instructions for all equipment. 



4 

Cleaning: 

At the completion of the work, remove all excess material, construction debris, tools 
and construction equipment from the site. The entire site and building areas shall be 
left clean and in ready to use condition, including but not limited to: visible labels 
removed, and all other exposed surfaces wiped, mopped or washed clean. 

Operations and Maintenance:  

The Contractor shall provide (1) copy of an O&M Manual and (1) PDF copy. The 
O&M Manual shall contain specification or product number and name for all 
appropriate finish materials, as used within the project, any and all warranty 
information, and any other pertinent information relating to this project. The hard-
copy manual is to be 8.5”x11, 3 ring binder with items listed by CSI 16 divisions 
within. CSI divisions are to be tabbed and there is to be a complete table of contents 
at the front of the binder. The electronic PDF copy of the manual is to be burned 
onto a CD or jumpdrive, requiring the same documents included in the hard copy. 
PDFs of items are to be organized within folders labeled by CSI 16 divisions. A PDF 
of the complete table of contents is also required. 

Selective Demolition: 

All General and sub contractors used for demolition must be EPA Lead-Safe 
Certified.  

Remove and dispose identified items described in Demolition Plan(s) and other 
contract drawings and documents, unless otherwise noted.  Cap and identify utilities. 
 Existing finished construction to remain shall be repaired, patched, and blended into 
new work.  Remove all fasteners, hangers, clips, etc attached to or associated with 
demolished items and assemblies.  Provide shoring and bracing as required for 
demolition work. 

Plant Investment Fees: Not Applicable. (N/A) 

Taps: See Civil Drawings.   

Soils Report: By Cesare, Inc., 8/15/2014 (Attached to Project Manual 
as Appendix C). 

Building Permit: Pick up by Contractor. 



5 

2 SITE WORK 

Site Access: Chase Street 

Demolition: Coordinate with demo plan and site plans  

Grading-Excavating: Excavate as required to install foundation 
improvement and provide 18” depth crawl space 
under house.  Excavate/backfill site to install 
underground utilities. Per Civil Drawings. 

 Bedrock removal is expected and is to be included 
within the contractor’s base bid. Bedrock removal 
shall be included for foundations, crawlspace, 
retaining walls, foundation drain, underground drain, 
radon piping, and domestic plumbing. Contractor to 
become familiar with Geotech report, and coordinate 
with drawings. 

Drain Pipe: See Civil Drawings 

Extra Dirt: Remove from site. 

Top Soil: Spread evenly on disturbed areas. 

Landscaping: Seed all disturbed grading with “multi-color high 
altitude seed mix” from Arkansas Valley Seed.  
Provide erosion control mat and temporary irrigation 
until completion of project. Erosion control mat to be 
70% straw and 30% coconut fiber between 
polypropylene netting. 

Irrigation System: N/A 

Site Fence: See Section 5: Ornamental Guardrail and Section 5: 
Wire Metal Fencing 

Retaining Walls: See Section 4: Masonry  

Tree Removal: Remove or cut down trees as shown on the site plan. 
Removal shall include grinding out stump to a 
minimum of 12” below grade.   

 



6 

3 CONCRETE 

Strength: 3000 psi. 

Concrete: Ready-mix. 

Thickness: 4” U.N.O. 

Expansion joints: ½” expansion filler material with plastic leveling 
screed peel-off caulk strip.  Polyurethane non-sag 
self-leveling sealant.  Provide at all junctions of slab 
and building. 

Reinforcing: Fibermesh or as noted in the drawings. 

Finish: Light broom exterior, steel trowel interior. 

Protective coating: N/A 

Conc. Stain: N/A 

Walkways: 4” concrete with deep tooled control joints at 5’x5’ 
spacing (or as shown on plan) over 4” compacted 
road base.  Provide expansion joints at all junctions of 
slab and building as noted above. 

Driveway: N/A 

Exterior Patio: See Walkways above. 

Drainage Swale: 4” thick with broom finish over 4” compacted road 
base. 

Concrete Stairs: 6” min. thickness, ½” bull nose, broom finish 

Concrete Retaining Wall: See structural plans and details.  

Conc. Splash block: 12”w x 24”l x 3”h precast reinforced concrete splash 
block (Copeland Enterprises or equal). 

 



7 

4 MASONRY 

Stone Retaining: Awaiting  CoBH input:  Native stone, random sizing 
to maintain consistency of adjacent wall.  Coursing to 
be roughly horizontal with irregular, rough, un-cut 
rubble of ___in. minimum to ___in. maximum in 
diameter.  Match adjacent wall construction for stone 
color variation and stone coursing. 

 
 Stone Mortar: ASTM Type M. Mortar joint to appear like stone is dry 

stack.  Wall mortar to allow for free draining of water. 

Foundation Stone Veneer: Awaiting  CoBH input:  Native stone, roughly 3” 
thick. Coursing to be roughly horizontal with irregular, 
rough, un-cut rubble of ___in. minimum to ___in. 
maximum in face diameter.  Provide reinforcing ties 
as detailed/specified by structural. 

 Stone Veneer Mortar: ASTM Type S. Mortar joint to be flush with face of 
stone. 

Brick Chimney: Remove and replace deteriorated soft brick with like 
brick. Used replacement brick can be obtained at 
salvage yards such as Mendoza used Brick and Hillen 
Corp. Consider salvaging sound brick from cellar prior 
to demolition.  Remove loose grout to a minimum 
depth of two times the joint width.  Clean and moisten 
the joint prior to repointing. Ensure all repointing is 
well filled and compacted. 

  Brick chimney at north will require deconstruction. 
Contractor to carefully remove bricks. Clean mortar 
from sound brick for reuse. Install new foundation per 
Structural. Reconstruct chimney to match historic 
height, plan dimensions, and aesthetic. 

 Brick Chimney Mortar: ASTM Type O. Flush mortar joint with a starting 
proportion of 1: 2.5 :10 (Portland: hydrated lime: 
aggregate) by volume. It may be necessary to use 
white Portland cement to achieve an acceptable color 
match. Architect/Owner to approve color match prior 
to work. 



8 

5 METALS 

Steel Items: Primed 1 coat. 

Foundation Bolts: ½” x 10”. ASTM A307 or A36, see structural drawings. 

Post Stirrups: 1/8” steel. 

Beam/Post Straps: 1/8” steel. 

Connectors: 1/8” steel strapping or Simpson connectors. 

Handrail: 1 ½” Diameter steel pipe with welded joints.  Grind 
joints smooth.  Powder coat black.  Field touch up 
paint w/ black polyurethane paint.  Provide vertical 
post or bracket at 6’-0” O.C. max. 

Ornamental Guardrail: See drawings for details, powder coated black (shop 
painted with field touch-ups using polyurethane paint). 
Grind all welds smooth. Panel at sloping grade to be 
installed on a rake to follow finished grade (top and 
bottom rail to follow slope of finished grade; posts to 
be vertical). 

Wire Metal Fencing:  See drawings for details.  All posts and horizontal rails 
to be weathering steel (Cor Ten). Grind all welds 
smooth. Wire fencing to be galvanized 11 ga., woven 
double loop, available at Hutchinson Western (303-
287-8826). Wire tied at each steel post and at 24” 
O.C. top and bottom. Panel at sloping grade to be 
installed on a rake to follow finished grade (top and 
bottom rail to follow slope of finished grade; posts to 
be vertical). 

 



9 

6 WOOD 

Studs: Hem Fir, #2 or better, U.N.O.  See Structural Plans. 

Framing Lumber: Hem Fir, #2 or better, U.N.O.  See Structural Plans. 

Roof Trusses: N/A 

Rafters: Hem Fir, #2 or better, U.N.O.  See Structural Plans. 

Beams: See Structural Plans. 

Backing for Accessories: 2x6 U.N.O., backing shall be provided at 36” above 
tub/shower floor. 

Wall Sheathing: ½” CDX plywood or 7/16” OSB - APA rated 24/16 exp 
1, blocked and nailed  U.N.O. 

Roof Sheathing: ½” CDX plywood or 15/32” OSB, APA 32/16, nailed 

Subfloor: ¾” T&G OSB, glue and screw install per structural.   

Soffit: 3/8” x 4” double beadboard, smooth pine, painted. To 
be installed parallel to the wall face. 

Fascia: 1x6, rough cedar, clear vertical grain, plowed for 
soffit.  

Interior Trim: All trim to be a poplar or solid wood (no finger joint 
material) paint grade.  See drawings for profiles. 

Base: See “interior trim” 

Casing: See “interior trim” 

Material: See “interior trim” 

Window: See “interior trim” 

Door: See “interior trim” 

Exterior Trim: 5/4” Rough cedar, clear vertical grain. Siding is not to 
project past the edge of the trim. Pre-prime all 6 sides 
and field cut prior to install. 

Corner: 5/4”x4”. 

Window: 5/4”x4”. For jamb and sill, include ripped 2”x4” sill 
extension w/ sloped top and drip edge kirf cut.  See 
Elevation Drawings.  

Door: 5/4”x4” for head and jamb. 

 



10 

Exterior Lap Siding: Smooth cedar, clear vertical grain, bevel lap siding, 4” 
reveal. Pre-prime all 6 sides and field cuts prior to 
install. Fasteners to be concealed by consecutive 
installation of next lap board above. 

Deck:  

Decking: N/A  

Fasteners: N/A 

Guardrail: N/A 

Exterior Stairs: N/A 

Stringer: N/A 

Treads: N/A  

Riser: N/A 

Handrail: See Section 5: Metals 

Balusters: N/A  

Interior Stairs/ Railing: 

Handrail: N/A 

Newel Post: N/A 

Baluster: N/A 

Top Rail: N/A 

Bottom Rail: N/A  

Closet Shelves: ¾” particle board with white melamine and PVC edge 
band on matching 1 x 2 wood ledger.   

 Closets: Shelf @ 6’-0” A.F.F. 

Closet Clothing Rod: 1 ½” diameter wood rod, provide middle bracket if 
span exceeds 4’-6”. 

Built-in Cabinetry: See plans for details. 



11 

7 THERMAL AND MOISTURE PROTECTION 

Roofing: 

Type: Asphalt, Owens Corning Oakridge Shingles, “Teak” 

Warranty: 30 Year 

Roofing Paper: DuPont “Roofliner” underlayment 

Ice + Water Shield: Install Ice + Water Shield 3’-0” up from eave under 
roofing base. 

Roof Accessories: 

Drip Edge: 28 gauge galvanized, painted. 

Roof Vent: N/A 

Soffit Vent: N/A 

Gutters: Galvanized 24 gage steel.  Not painted.  Hidden clips 
@ 18” O.C. 

Size/Shape: 4” Half Round, with reverse bead (coordinate w/ 
clips). 

Downspouts: Galvanized 24 gage steel.  Not painted.  Clips @ 48” 
O.C. max. 

Size/Shape: 3” circular. 

Valley Flashing: Lace asphalt shingles over valley.  3’-0” ice and water 
shield. 

Drainage Plane at Concrete 
Retaining Wall: Cosella Dorken, “DELTA-Drain 6000” drainage plane. 

0.39” (10mm) depth polypropylene sheets. They are 
formed with dimples and a spunbond polypropylene 
fabric on one side. (Fabric to be on “dirt” side). 
Provide connection between drainage plain and 
perforated foundation drain. 

Masonry Weep: N/A  

Insulation:  

Wall: R-24 depth, 2lb. closed cell spray foam by Bayseal 
(R-6.9/Inch). 

Under Roof: R-49 depth, 2lb. closed cell spray foam by Bayseal 
(R-6.9/Inch). Provide intumescent paint in exposed 
attic areas as required by local code and per 



12 

manufacturer’s instructions. (Contractor’s option to 
use closed cell spray foam with class 1 fire rating). 

 

Flat Ceiling: N/A 

Conc. Floor: N/A 

Foundation: R-15 depth, 2lb. closed cell spray foam by Bayseal(R-
6.9/Inch). Provide intumescent paint in exposed crawl 
space areas as required by local code and per 
manufacturer’s instructions.   Provide 2’ of R-15 F.G. 
batt insulation to lie on crawl space floor over vapor 
barrier, see drawings. (Contractor’s option to use 
closed cell spray foam with class 1 fire rating). 

Foam Insulation: All electrical outlets and wire holes in plates/joists, 
windows and exterior doors (low expanding foam @ 
doors and windows). 

Pipe Insulation: See Mechanical Plans. 

Vapor Barrier: Class A - 15 mil, Stego Industries or equal.  6” overlap 
of sheet, 6” up foundation walls.  Tape all seams with 
manufacturer’s tape.  Seal all penetrations with 
manufacture’s tape. 

Building Paper: Tyvek “Home Wrap” vapor permeable infiltration 
barrier. Minimum 6” vertical overlap. Manufacturer 
approved tape at all seams and penetrations.  

Skylights: N/A 

Asphaltic Waterproofing: Bituminous Damproofing 
Provide 2 coats of an asphalt emulsion conforming to 
ASTM DI 187 to exterior vertical concrete surfaces of 
the foundation.  Do not extend above grade. 

  
 



13 

8 DOORS AND WINDOWS 

New Windows:     

Brand: Marvin 

Type: Ultimate Clad Double Hung/Awning                              

Interior: Pine, factory applied prime.  G.C. to paint per “Section 
9c Interior Trim”  

Exterior: Factory applied AAMA 2605-05 finish. Color to be 
“Bronze.” 

Glass: LOE-180-Argon, Double Pane.  U-Value 0.31, 
Preserve protective film (high altitude). SHGC=0.49, 
VT=0.56, CR=55 

Tempered Glass: See Window Schedule on plans. 

Egress: See Window Schedule on plans. 

Screens: Aluminum full screen frame to match window finish. 
Charcoal fiberglass screen mesh.   

Divided Lights: N/A  

Hardware: Dark Bronze finish sash lock and sash lift. 

Flashing: Flash per manufacturer’s instructions (See window 
details on plans). 

Warranty: Glazing - 20 year seal failure/10 year stress crack - 
Non-glazing components - 10 years 

Additional Window Notes: N/A 

Mirrors: (also see Section 10: Specialties for med cabinet)  

Plate: ¼” frameless, polished edge, beveled 

Size: 24x36 

Location: Bath 

Doors: 

Interior Passage Doors: Simpson Primed Flat Panel. Redi-Prime Door series, 
Interior Panel #8055, with 3/8” hardboard flat panels. 
Painted.  

Interior Door Hardware:  

    Swing Door Hardware:  Kwikset, “Laurel” style knobsets, iron black finish 
(locking at bedroom doors). 



14 

    Pocket Door Hardware: Kwikset – brushed nickel finish. (Locking on hall/bath 
door only- Model #991-716). Pocket door frame and 
hardware to be Johnson 1500 Series. 

Exterior Doors: Simpson 4006 and custom sized Simpson 7117, 
Fir/Hemlock, ¾” insulated tempered glass.  Painted.  

Exterior Utility Room Door: Thermatru “Traditions” TS214. Four panel, insulated 
steel door. Painted. 

Exterior Screen Doors: Chateau Shutter Company (303-761-4084), Style 
SC1L-2P, with interchangeable clear tempered glass 
and charcoal fiberglass screen insert, painted. See 
Door Schedule for sizing.  Provide pneumatic door 
closer, thumb press or lever style door latch, door 
sweep, and “snubber” (chain attached to a spring to 
control how far the door can open). 

Exterior Door Hardware: Kwikset, “Avalon” style lockable handleset and 
deadbolt. Match key to all exterior handlesets and 
deadbolts. Iron black finish. 

Hinges: 3 per door, finish to match interior handles. 

Door Frames Interior and exterior door frames to be solid, paint- 
grade wood, poplar or equal (No finger-joint material).  

Weather seals: Install/provide new at all new and existing exterior 
doors. 

Thresholds: Adjustable oak top sill with anodized aluminum 
exterior (Pemko or equal). Exterior finish to be 
anodized dark bronze aluminum. Provide aluminum 
sill extension to ensure full coverage at door 
threshold.  

Door Stops: Schlage Solid Door Stop #SC61Z619, finish to match 
door hardware. Provide at all pivot doors.  Preferred 
mounting locations in order of most to least preferred: 
baseboard, floor, wall at knob, hinge mounted. 

Exterior Storage Door: N/A 

Shed Doors: N/A 

Garage Doors: N/A 

 



15 

9 FINISHES 

  
A. DRYWALL/PLASTER  

Material: Gypsum wallboard-regular tapered edges throughout.  

Finish Level: Level  4  finish with texturing, provide paper board 
furring, plywood furring, and other accessories to 
ensure gyp board is plumb with the following 
tolerances: 1/16” per foot, 1/8” per 8 feet. 

Wet Locations: 1/2” Dens-Sheild underlayment. 

Thickness: 1/2” U.N.O. 

Joint Treatment: Butt Joint. 

Corner Treatment: 1” Bullnose. 

Attachment: All drywall must be screwed. 

Wall Finish: Hand trowel finish w/ full mud coverage. 

Ceiling Finishes: Spray texture w/ light trowel. 

No Finish Area: N/A 

     
B. FLOORING, WALL FINISH AND COUNTERS 

 
Flooring: Provide Schluter brushed aluminum transition strips at 

material changes. 

Carpet 1: N/A 

Pad: N/A 

Wood 1: N/A 

Tile: See Appendix B for selection(s) and location(s).  
Install on mortar bed over 1/8” waffle isolation mat 
(schluter-“ditra” or equal) over mortar bed. Follow 
manufacturer’s instructions.  

Grout:  See Appendix B for selection(s) and location(s).  
Grout lines to be as tight as recommended by tile 
manufacturer. Seal Grout with Mapei grout sealer. 
Provide color sample for approval by owner. Provide 
matching sanded caulk for expansion joint treatment 
at dissimilar material joints. 



16 

Sheet Vinyl: See Appendix B for selection(s) and location(s).  
Provide full layer of ½” plywood underlayment to flush 
out finish floor height with floor tile. Install per 
manufacturer’s recommendations. 

Baseboard: 

Wood Base 1: Poplar paint grade.  See plans and Room Finish 
 Schedule.  

Tile: N/A 

Rubber: N/A 

Walls: 

Field Tile: See Appendix B for selection(s) and location(s).  Over 
½” Dens-Shield underlayment. See architectural 
interior elevations for locations. 

Accent Tile Band: See Appendix B for selection(s) and location(s).  Over 
½” Dens-Shield underlayment. See architectural 
interior elevations for locations. 

Tile Edge:         See Appendix B for selection(s) and location(s).   

Grout: See Appendix B for selection(s) and location(s).  
Grout lines to be as tight as recommended by tile 
manufacturer. Seal Grout with Mapei grout sealer. 
Provide color sample for approval by owner. Provide 
matching sanded caulk for expansion joint treatment 
at dissimilar material joints. 

Tile Waterproofing: N/A 

Kitchen Backsplash: See Appendix B for selection(s). Integral full ht. 
backsplash made from the same material as kitchen 
counters.   

Grout: N/A 

Bath Backsplash: See Appendix B for selection(s). Integral 4” 
backsplash made from the same material as bath 
counters.   

Kitchen Counters: See Appendix B for selection(s) and location(s).   

Bath Counters: See Appendix B for selection(s) and location(s).   

 
C. PAINTING/STAINING 

No Finish Areas: N/A 



17 

Paint Primer: Provide (1) coat of primer for all painted areas prior to 
applying the required listed number of finish coats of 
paint per each material section. Primer shall be of 
contrasting color to finish paint. 

Exterior Wood: 3 coats satin acrylic latex over 1 coat primer.  3 color 
scheme.  Exterior paint to be applied with either brush 
or roller only (do not spray). All paint by Sherwin 
Williams A-100 exterior latex A82 series or equal 
(coordinate w/ exterior rendering in Appendix).  

 Body: SW 6440 Courtyard 

 Trim + Soffit: SW 6819 Minuet White 

 Accent: SW 6104 Kaffee 

Deck Stain: N/A  

Breathable Waterproof  
Finish: N/A  

Conc. Stain: See Section 3: Concrete, Concrete Retaining Wall 

Exterior Metal: Metals shall be powder coated in a climate controlled 
shop. Field touch-up paint at welds on-site with 
polyurethane paint, Sherwin Williams Hi-Solids 
Polyurethane paint over “Macropoxy 646” Fast cure 
epoxy primer. 

Interior Drywall/Plaster: 2 coats acrylic latex, low VOC, over 1 coat primer. 
Sherwin Williams promar 200 zero VOC B31-2600 
series or equal.  Semi-gloss at kitchen, living, 
bath/laundry, and mech., all other areas to be satin (3 
color options). 

Paint: See Appendix B and room finish schedule in 
architectural drawings for paint colors, finish, and 
location.   

Interior Trim: 2 coats semi-gloss acrylic latex, low VOC, over 1 coat 
primer. Sherwin Williams promar 200 zero VOC B31-
2600 series or equal. See Appendix B for color. 

Interior Doors: 2 coats semi-gloss acrylic latex, low VOC, over 1 coat 
primer. Sherwin Williams promar 200 zero VOC B31-
2600 series or equal. See Appendix B for color. 

Caulking: Silicone or Acrylic, all open joints, color of adjacent 
surface. Provide sanded caulk at tile areas. 

MDF Products: Prime all MDF products with low VOC acrylic latex 

Construction Adhesives: low VOC 



18 

10 SPECIALTIES 

   
Crawl Space Vents: N/A – Crawl space to be mechanically conditioned. 

See Mechanical Drawings. 

House Numbers: 4” high, aged bronze finish. Schlage Classic House 
numbers. 

Medicine Cabinets: N/A 

Fireplace:  

Model: N/A 

Brand: N/A 

Size: N/A 

Flue: N/A 

Attic Ladder: N/A 

Bathroom Accessories: See Appendix B for selection(s). See interior 
elevations for mount height(s) and location. 

Towel Ring: See Appendix B. 

Towel Rod: See Appendix B. 

Robe Hook: See Appendix B. 

Shower Curtain Rod: See Appendix B. 

Toilet Tissue Holder: See Appendix B. 

 

 



19 

11 EQUIPMENT 

Refrigerator: Kenmore 33”, 21.7 cu.ft. side-by-side, black. Model 
#41129. Provided by owner. Installation including any 
required installation kit or materials, by G.C. 

Oven/Range: Kenmore 30”, 4.2 cu.ft. gas range with broil and serve 
drawer, black. Model #73239.  Provided by owner. 
Installation including any required installation kit or 
materials, by G.C. 

Dishwasher: Kenmore 24” built-in, black. Model #13039.  Provided 
by owner. Installation including any required 
installation kit or materials, by G.C. 

Disposal: See plumbing plans and schedule. 

Microwave: N/A 

Microhood: Kenmore 1.6 cu.ft. over-the-range microwave, black. 
Model #80329.  Provided by owner. Installation 
including any required installation kit or materials, by 
G.C. 

Hood: N/A 

Trash Compactor: N/A 

Washer/Dryer: Kenmore 27” Laundry Center with gas dryer, white. 
Model #71532.  Provided by owner. Installation 
including any required installation kit or materials, by 
G.C. 

 

12 FURNISHINGS 

Window Coverings: N/A 

Manufactured Cabinetry:  

Kitchen Cabinetry  See Appendix B for door and drawer style and finish. 
See Interior Elevations for location and sizes.   

 Hardware: See Appendix B for selection(s). Hinges 
and door glides to be “no slam.” Door overlay to be 
full overlay with concealed hinges. 

Bath:    See Appendix B for door and drawer style and finish. 
See Interior Elevations for location and sizes.   

 Hardware: See Appendix B for selection(s). Hinges 
and door glides to be “no slam.” Door overlay to be 
full overlay with concealed hinges.  



20 

 

13 SPECIAL CONSTRUCTION  (NO WORK.) 

 
14 CONVEYING   (NO WORK.) 

 

15 MECHANICAL 

Site Utilities: See Civil Drawings. 

Gas Service: See Civil Drawings. 

Gas Meter Location: See Civil Drawings. 

Pressure Reducing Valve: See Civil Drawings. 

Gas Piping: Rework areas affected by renovation w/ galvanized 
piping.  PE pipe at underground locations.  Bury 
exposed pipe at retaining wall.  Coord. w/ Civil 
Drawings. 

Gas Devices: Boiler, Range, Dryer, BBQ Grill. 

Sewer Service: See Civil Drawings. 

House Sewer: See Plumbing Drawings. 

Water Supply: See Civil Drawings.  

Water Service: See Civil Drawings. 

Water Tap: See Civil Drawings. 

Water Meter: See Plumbing Drawings. 

Main Run Size: See Civil drawings 

Branch Size: See Civil drawings 

Hose Bib: Frost proof.  See Plumbing plans and schedule. 

Sump Pump: N/A 

Floor Drains: See mechanical plans. 

Water Heater: N/A   

Make: N/A 

Model: N/A 

Type: N/A 



21 

Fixtures:       

Lavatories: See plumbing plans and schedule.   

Faucets: See plumbing plans and schedule.  

Controls: See plumbing plans and schedule.   

Kitchen Sink: See plumbing plans and schedule.   

Toilets: See plumbing plans and schedule.   

Shower: See plumbing plans and schedule.   

Bathtub: See plumbing plans and schedule.   

Shower Enclosure:  

Door:   N/A 

Glazing: N/A 

Wall: N/A 

Bench: N/A 

Pan: N/A 

 
Mechanical System: See Mechanical Plans. 

Make: See Mechanical Plans. 

Supply Location: See Mechanical Plans. 

Zones: See Mechanical Plans. 

Controls: See Mechanical Plans. 

Programmable Thermostat: See Mechanical Plans. With low-voltage or line 
voltage power (Battery power is not acceptable). 

Unit Size: See Mechanical Plans. 

Floor Diffusers: N/A 

Duct Sizing: N/A 

Outside Air Intake: See Mechanical Plans. 

Make-up Air Intake: See Mechanical Plans. 

Air Conditioning: N/A 

 



22 

16 ELECTRICAL 

Service: See Civil Drawings. 

Meter Location: See Civil Drawings. 

Size: See Electrical Plans. 

Panel: See Electrical Plans. 

Wiring: Romex. 

Switches and Outlets: All switches, outlets and cover plates to be white 
color, U.N.O. Alternate color at backsplash. Toggle. 

Dimmers: Slide level with Toggle On/Off. 

TV Jacks/Data: Relocate exposed cable wire within framing.  

Type: See Electrical Plans. 

Location: See Electrical Plans. 

Wire and Install: 

Refrigerator: Yes 

Oven-Range: Yes 

Cook top: N/A 

Microwave: N/A 

Micro hood: Yes 

Hood: N/A 

Dishwasher:  Yes 

Disposal: Yes 

Dryer: Yes 

Washer: Yes 

Electrical O.H. Door: N/A 

Bath Fans: Low noise fan with backdraft damper.  See 
Mechanical Plans. 

Heat Lamp: N/A 

Air Conditioning: N/A 

Door Bell Location: N/A 



23 

Telephone Outlets: See Electrical Plans. 

Location: See Electrical Plans. 

Smoke Detectors: Hardwire and install per code, See Electrical Plan. 

Carbon Monoxide Detector: Hardwire and install per code, See Electrical Plan 

Emergency Generator: N/A 

Light Fixtures: See Appendix B Electrical Plan/Schedule. 

  
END OF SPECIFICATIONS 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



24 

 
 
 

 
 

 

APPENDIX A:   SUBMITTAL TABLE 
        

Spec. Section 
 

Product or Material Submittal Type 
(see below) 

Div 2 Sitework None  
Div 3 Concrete Concrete Color b, c 
Div 4 Masonry Stone masonry & mortar c 
 Brick masonry & mortar c 
Div 5 Metals Ornamental Guardrail a, b 
 Wire Metal Fencing a, b 
Div 6 Wood Interior trim- base & casing b, c 
 Exterior siding, trim, fascia & soffit b, c 
Div 7 Thermal/Moist. Roofing b, c 
 Gutters & Downspouts a, b, c 
 Downspout adapter at grade a, b 
 Insulation b 
Div 8 Openings Doors, frames & hardware a, b 
 Windows, frames & hardware a, b 
Div 9 Finishes Flooring - all types (tile/vinyl/etc.) b, c  
 Wall tile b, c 
 Interior paint b, c 
 Exterior paint b, c 
 Kitchen & Bath counters & 

backsplashes  
a, b, c 

Div 10 Specialties Bath Accessories b 
Div 11 Equipment None  
Div 12 Furnishings Manufactured Cabinetry & Pulls a, b, c 
Div 15  Plumb/Mech Boiler b 
 Furnace N/A 
 Toilets b 
 Lavatories/Sinks & faucets b 
 Showers/Tubs & faucet/controls b 
Div 16 Electrical Light fixtures b 
   
   
   

 
Legend 
a. Shop drawings (PDF format) 
b. Catalog data (PDF format) 
c. Samples, colors 
d. Mock-up 
Submittals are not contract documents.  Their purpose is to demonstrate the way by which the contractor 
proposes to conform to the information given and the design concept expressed in the contract documents for 
those portions of the work.  Submittals that are not required will not be reviewed or returned by the design team. 
Submittals will be submitted in a timely manner so as to allow the architect (10) days for review and approval. 

 
 



Updated November 25, 2014 

Appendix B  Page 1 

13538 raritan way, suite 101, westminster, colorado  80234 

phone 720.328.1366 

 

 

401 Chase Street 

Interior Finishes and Products 
 

Paint 

 

Sheen notes: 

 Flat paint at all ceilings 

 Eggshell at all walls, unless noted otherwise 

 Semigloss at all painted wood trim and doors 

 Semigloss at Kitchen, Bath/Laundry and Mech 

 

PT-0 

 Mfg:   Sherwin Williams 

 Color:   SW7007 Ceiling Bright White 

Location:  All painted wood trim and doors, all ceilings 

 

PT-1 

 Mfg:   Sherwin Williams 

 Color:   SW6224 Mountain Air  

Location: Living room/kitchen walls unless noted otherwise 

 

PT-2 

 Mfg:   Sherwin Williams 

 Color:   SW6497 Open Air 

Location: Living Room accent wall (west wall), Kitchen west wall, Hallway 

 

PT-3 

 Mfg:   Sherwin Williams 

 Color:   SW6956 Blue Refrain 

Location:  Bathroom and Bedroom 1 

 

PT-4 

 Mfg:   Sherwin Williams 

 Color:   SW6826 Whimsical White 

Location:  Bedroom 2 

 



Updated November 25, 2014 

Appendix B  Page 2 

13538 raritan way, suite 101, westminster, colorado  80234 

phone 720.328.1366 

 

Tile 

 

TILE-1 

 Mfg:  Florida Tile 

 Style:  Porcelain Wood-look Tile 

 Color:  28092 Natura Charleston Brown 

 Size:  6”x24” 

 Installation:  Random (to look like wood planks), Install lengthwise East/West 

 Grout: Custom Building Products #59 Saddle Brown; seal grout 

 Location: At floors throughout living room, kitchen, and hallway 

 
 



Updated November 25, 2014 

Appendix B  Page 3 

13538 raritan way, suite 101, westminster, colorado  80234 

phone 720.328.1366 

 

TILE-2  

 Mfg:  Arizona Tile 

 Style:  Touch 

 Color:  Snow 

Sizes:  12”x12” square at floor, installed typically squares oriented with the room 

  12”x24” at walls, horizonatally, installed brick installation (except for 

decorative band TILE-3 specified below) 

  Provide bullnose SBN 3”x12” at transition from tile to drywall (vertically 

along edge of bath enclosure, cut and align joints with field and accent 

tile joints) 

Installation:  As recommended by manufacturer, grout lines as tight as 

recommended 

 Grout: Custom Building Products #361 Bright White, note:  seal grout 

Location:  At bathroom floors and walls, unless noted otherwise 

 

 
 



Updated November 25, 2014 

Appendix B  Page 4 

13538 raritan way, suite 101, westminster, colorado  80234 

phone 720.328.1366 

 

TILE-3 

 Mfg:  Arizona Tile 

 Style:  Glass Mosaic 

 Color:  Shimmer Abalone  

 Size:  1”x4” netted in 12” strip 

   Install a 6” high course above 4th course of field tile (approx. 64”aff) 

 Installation:  As recommended by manufacturer 

 Grout:  Custom Building Products #361 Bright White, note:  seal grout 

 Location: Shower decorative band 

 

  
 

 

   

 



Updated November 25, 2014 

Appendix B  Page 5 

13538 raritan way, suite 101, westminster, colorado  80234 

phone 720.328.1366 

 

LVT-1  

 Mfg:  Tandus/Centiva 

 Style:  Venue Wood (vinyl) 

 Color:  Taos VP-3605-U 

Sizes:  6”x36” plank 

Thickness:  20 mil wead layer 

Installation:  Install per manufacturer’s guidelines, install lengthwise East/West 

Plank direction:  Refer to architectural drawings 

Location:  Bedrooms 

 

 
 



Updated November 25, 2014 

Appendix B  Page 6 

13538 raritan way, suite 101, westminster, colorado  80234 

phone 720.328.1366 

 

 

 

Cabinetry 

 

QRTZ-1 Quartz Countertops 

 Mfg:   HanSstone Quartz 

 Style:   Magellan RM502 

 Thickness:  3cm 

 Finish:   Polished tops 

 Sink Mounting:  undermount 

 Location: Countertops throughout, unless noted otherwise.  Kitchen to have 

integral full height backsplash in same material to underside of 

cabinets above.  All restrooms shall have integral 4” backsplash made 

from same material 

 Note: Chiseled edge at counters, eased edge at backsplash 

 

   
 



Updated November 25, 2014 

Appendix B  Page 7 

13538 raritan way, suite 101, westminster, colorado  80234 

phone 720.328.1366 

 

Cabinetry 

CABS-1  Cabinetry 

Description: American Woodmark Cabinets (available at Home Depot) or equal. 

Cabinet boxes to be ½” engineered wood with veneer finish and corner 

cleats. Face frames to be ¾” solid wood to match doors. Doors and 

drawer faces to be solid wood. Drawers to be 5/8” hardwood 4-sided 

dovetail drawer box with full extension self-closing design hardware. 

Doors to have concealed hinges. Crown molding to be 3” ht. molded 

crown. Light valance/trim to be 1-1/2" ht. molded. Toekick to be ½” in a 

matching wood grain. (See interior elevations and floor plans for 

cabinetry design layout intent and additional cabinetry features and 

accessories). GC and cabinetry sub to coordinate availability of 

standard and custom requirements of cabinetry to meet the design 

intent.Fieldstone Cabinetry  

 Preferred Door Style: Slab,flush panel, full overlay 

 Wood Effect: Rustic 

 Location: At all cabinetry 

 NOTE: Illustrates concept only – finish to be determined within specific cabinet 

line selected 

 
Indicates flush panel door style 

 
Conceptual cabinetry color 

  



Updated November 25, 2014 

Appendix B  Page 8 

13538 raritan way, suite 101, westminster, colorado  80234 

phone 720.328.1366 

 

PULLS-1 Cabinet Pulls 

 Mfg:  Richlieu  

 Style:  Village Expression - 5" Centers Square Edge Pull in Pewter RI-74227  

 Length:  3” 

 Note:  Provide (2) pulls at all extended width drawers 

 Location: At all drawers 

 
PULLS-2 Cabinet Pulls 

 Mfg:  Richlieu  

 Style:  Village Expression - Flat Faced Knob in Pewter ( RI-74441 )  

 Diameter:  1 1/8" Diameter 

 Location: At all cabinet doors 

 



B A T H

298
* See website and Specification Book for all available options. 

All designs and images © 1989-2014 Hubbardton Forge®. All rights reserved.WWW.HUBBARDTONFORGE.COM

B
A

T
H

 

TM
TM

TM

TM

A

METRA

B

METRA

C

METRA

D

METRA

E

METRA

A METRA 

 841001-07

robe hook
As shown:* 

 3.5" h x 2.75" w 

  x 2.25" proj

 Dark smoke finish

 

B CURVED METRA

840014-07

towel holder
As shown:* 

  14.5" w x 5.5" proj

 Dark smoke finish

!""#$%&&"'%()*++$"(,--./"

)+&0/*"1/*-,+23

   8.5" w  840008

C CURVED METRA

841016-07

towel holder
As shown:* 

 21" w x 4.5" proj

 Dark smoke finish

!"4%*5/"1/*-,+23

   29" w  841024

D METRA

 841005-07

towel holder
As shown:* 

 7" h x 5" w x 2.25" proj

 Dark smoke finish

E STRAIGHT METRA

842016-07 

towel holder 
As shown:* 

  17.5" w x 4" proj

 Dark smoke finish

!"61%,&%'&/",2"(7+"

" &%*5/*"-,8/-3

  25.5" w   842024   

   33.5" w  842032

TM

This also serves as

a TP holder

Owner to choose

preferred towel

holder



Updated November 25, 2014 

Appendix B 
 

401 Chase Street 

Interior Finishes and Products 
 

13538 raritan way, suite 101, westminster, colorado 80234 

phone 720.328.1366  page 1 

 

Electrical Devices 

 Color: White throughout unless noted otherwise, black at kitchen backsplash 

 

 

 

Fixture A Outdoor Sconce 

 
TransGlobe Lighting Energy Efficient 6 Light Outdoor Wall Lantern  

Features:  

Outdoor wall lantern 

White frosted glass 

UL listed for Wet locations 

Eco friendly 

Dark rust and powder coated finish 

Energy Efficient Outdoor collection 

Dimensions:  

Overall: 10.25" H x 8" W x 9.5" D 

 

 

  



Updated November 25, 2014 

Appendix B 
 

401 Chase Street 

Interior Finishes and Products 
 

13538 raritan way, suite 101, westminster, colorado 80234 

phone 720.328.1366  page 2 

Fixture E Pendant light at island 

 
Murray Feiss 

Murray Feiss P1234 

Finish: Rustic Iron 

Urban Renewal 1 Light Mini Pendant with Clear Seeded Glass 

8  Height: 8"  

8  Width: 8" 

Product comes with 180” cord, (3) 12” stems and (1) 6” stem 

 

  



Updated November 25, 2014 

Appendix B 
 

401 Chase Street 

Interior Finishes and Products 
 

13538 raritan way, suite 101, westminster, colorado 80234 

phone 720.328.1366  page 3 

Fixture C Hallway Sconce 

 
Minka Lavery thru Lamps Plus 

Minka Lavery Contemporary Iron 10" High Wall Sconce 

 Style # 26513  

 

This stylish wall sconce by Minka Lavery combines traditional materials with a crisp modern design. Rich 

iron oxide finish frame encases an etched opal glass shade that emits a warmly flattering light. 

 

Iron oxide finish.  

Etched opal glass shade.  

Takes one 100 watt bulb (not included).  

Measures 6 5/8" wide, 10" high.  

Extends 4" from the wall to make ADA compliant.  

  



Updated November 25, 2014 

Appendix B 
 

401 Chase Street 

Interior Finishes and Products 
 

13538 raritan way, suite 101, westminster, colorado 80234 

phone 720.328.1366  page 4 

Fixture K Bathroom Sconce (to the side of mirror) 

  
Hubbardton Forge 207720 

Finish: Mahogany 

Erlenmeyer 1 Light Ambient Light Direct Wire Wall Light 

Features: 

All Hubbardton Forge products are made to order in Castleton, Vermont USA 

Ultra secure mounting assembly ensures a sturdy installation 

Hand made nature of this product makes no two fixtures identical 

Lamping Technology: 

Bulb Base - G9: A bi pin or 'bipin socket', G9 bulbs have a pin spread of 9 mm and are used mostly in 

120V or 230V fixtures with halogen bulbs. 

Compatible Bulb Types: G9 Bulb base uses primarily a Halogen bulb but is also available as 

Fluorescent, LED, and Xenon / Krypton. 

Specifications: 

Number of Bulbs: 1 

Bulb Base: G9 

Bulb Type: Halogen 

Bulb Included: Yes 

Watts Per Bulb: 40 

Height: 9.4" 

Width: 4.5" 

UL Listed: Yes 

UL Rating: Damp Location 

 



Updated November 25, 2014 

Appendix B 
 

401 Chase Street 

Interior Finishes and Products 
 

13538 raritan way, suite 101, westminster, colorado 80234 

phone 720.328.1366  page 5 

Fixture D1 Living Room Ceiling Fan 

 
UL rated for outdoor use, this Casa Vieja® ceiling fan will make your next outdoor gathering a refreshing 

and comfortable affair. Motor and light kit housing comes in a rust finish over a stamped steel housing. 3 

speed, 172 x 17 motor with pull-chain operation. With independent fan light operation. Outdoor rated 

light kit takes one 60 watt bulb (included). Comes with a 6" downrod. Dual mountable. Suitable for both 

indoor and outdoor use. 

  
Rust finish.  

13 degree blade pitch.  

52" blade span.  

Lantern style light kit.  

Light kit 9" height and 14" wide.  

Takes one 60 watt bulb (included).  

6" downrod included.  

Fan height 16" ceiling to blade (with 6 " downrod).  

Fan height 25.6" ceiling to bottom of light kit. (with 6" downrod).  

Canopy 5.2" wide and 2.2" long.  

  



Updated November 25, 2014 

Appendix B 
 

401 Chase Street 

Interior Finishes and Products 
 

13538 raritan way, suite 101, westminster, colorado 80234 

phone 720.328.1366  page 6 

 

Fixture D2 Bedroom Ceiling Fan 

 

 

 
Get simple sophistication with this great looking ceiling fan. The lines are smooth and graceful, and the 

styling is at home in a wide range of decors. This fan gets a rich oil-rubbed bronze finish with reversible 

dark walnut/oil rubbed bronze blades, complemented by a tea-stained glass light kit. A stylish and 

updated choice for home or office. From Casa Vieja®. 

 
Oil-rubbed bronze motor finish.  

Five reversible dark walnut/oil rubbed bronze blades.  

42" blade span.  

12 degree blade pitch.  

Pull chain operation.  

Tea-stained glass light kit.  

Includes three 60 watt candelabra bulbs.  

6" downrod included.  

Fan height 12" ceiling to blade (with 6" downrod).  

Fan height 20-1/2" ceiling to bottom of light kit (with 6" downrod).  

Canopy 5" wide and 2-1/2" height. 

 

 

 



Updated November 25, 2014 

Appendix B 
 

401 Chase Street 

Interior Finishes and Products 
 

13538 raritan way, suite 101, westminster, colorado 80234 

phone 720.328.1366  page 7 

 

Fixture F and L Track Lights (track/components specified by engineer) 

 
PRODUCT OVERVIEW 

Model # R718SC 

Internet # 203826422 

The Juno Trac-Lites Bell Track Light offers contemporary styling. It features deep light-source regression 

and a step baffle to reduce glare. This track light provides exceptional task and accent lighting when 

installed on the economical Juno Trac-Lites system. 

Deep light-source regression combines with a spun-aluminum step baffle for superior glare control 

90-degree vertical aiming capability and 358-degree rotation permit light-beam adjustment for virtually 

any task or accent lighting application 

Die-cast aluminum housing and swivel arm are finished in satin chrome and offer both durability and 

style 

Spring-loaded locking latch on mounting adapter provides secure attachment of fixture to track 

Patented, embossed polarity arrow on bottom of mounting adapter assures proper electrical 

connection 

Includes integral on/off switch 

Aiming lock helps retain fixture position during bulb change 

Uses 120-volt, 35-50 watt, PAR16, MR16, or GU10 bulb 

Compatible with Juno Trac-Lites track systems 

UL and CUL listed 

MFG Brand Name: Juno 



Model 440182

SILGRANIT  II
BLANCO DIAMOND

TM
 EQUAL DOUBLE Undermount

OPTIONAL ACCESSORIES
Sink Grids:                               221008 (left), 221009 (right)
Colander:                                 440492

FEATURES
• Required outside cabinet:  36"
• 80% solid granite
• Heat resistant up to 536°F
• Unsurpassed cleanability backed by industry 
  leading 7 patents!
• Resistant to scratches, stains and all household acids 
  and alkali solutions
• Template provided with approximate 1/8" reveal
• Undermount clips included
• Limited lifetime warranty

CODE/STANDARDS COMPLIANCE
ANSI Z124.6-97
IAPMO/UPC listed

WARRANTY
BLANCO’S SILGRANIT II Series sinks feature a LIMITED LIFETIME 
WARRANTY to be free of all manufacturing defects under normal use.  
See our complete warranty for details.

While BLANCO endeavors to provide accurate information, all dimen-
sions are nominal, cannot be guaranteed, and are subject to change or 
cancellation.  BLANCO assumes no responsibility for use of superseded 
or voided speci�cations.

.

Model 440182 shown

FEATURED MODEL
440182  Equal Double, 9-1/2” bowl depths, CAFE BROWN    
                           
              ADDITIONAL MODELS
440183  Equal Double, 9-1/2” bowl depths, METALLIC GRAY 

440184  Equal Double, 9-1/2” bowl depths, ANTHRACITE

440185  Equal Double, 9-1/2” bowl depths, WHITE

440186  Equal Double, 9-1/2” bowl depths, BISCUIT

441223  Equal Double, 9-1/2” bowl depths, BISCOTTI

441286  Equal Double, 9-1/2” bowl depths, TRUFFLE

441470  Equal Double, 9-1/2” bowl depths, CINDER

 

 

 

 

 

   
                 

“

SPEC-003

BLANCO AMERICA
8 0 0.451. 5782
w w w. blancoamerica .com 6/13

© 2013 BLANCO AMERICA

32” x 19-1/4” 9-1/2”       9-1/2”

813

48
9

HNPortillo
Rectangle



SKU #
11575664S

Price
$233.97

Finish
Satin Nickel

Collection
Tudor

Dimensions
Spout Reach: 8.5in
Spout Height: 6.25in
Hose Length: 48in
Height: 9in
Gallons per Minute: 2.2gal

Kingston Brass KS179 Tudor Widespread Kitchen Faucet with Brass Sprayer
By Kingston Brass

Description
This widespread kitchen faucet, with its victorian spout and traditional handles is the perfect piece to
finish your kitchen. Equipped with ceramic cartridge and manufactured from solid brass for long lasting
performance. High quality brass construction Lifetime drip free ceramic cartridge Easy operation 1/4
turn metal lever handles Max 2.2 GPM/8.3 LPM water flow rate at 60 PSI (ASME Standard) Deck
mount 8-in to 16-in widespread 4 hole installation with side sprayer Standard 1/2-in IPS connection

http://www.atgstores.com/print/print.aspx?sku=11575664

1 of 1 10/14/2014 4:12 PM





KINGSTON BRASS

Bathroom Faucet

Shower

Tub Faucet

Clawfoot Tubs

Modern Tubs

Sinks

Toilet

Accessories

Plumbing Kits

  Home > Bathroom >

  HERITAGE 4" CENTERSET bathroom Faucet with METAL LEVER HANDLE, Satin Nickel

 

Alternative Views:

  

List Price: $149.95

Quantity in Stock:(Out of Stock)

Availability:: Usually Ships in 1 to 2

Business Days

Product Code : KB1608AL

Qty:

 

This bathroom faucet features aesthetic colonial elegance with its graceful, round curves

and Victorian style spout. This faucet has a deck mount setup and features a 4"

centerset installation. The body is fabricated from solid brass for durability and

long-lasting use. The color finish is made of satin nickel for its silvery, satin-like cast, as

well as resisting scratches, corrosion and tarnishing. The spout has a reach of 4-3/4" and

a height of 6-1/4". The handles allow for easy management of water volume and

temperature. The faucet operates with a ceramic disc valve for droplet-free functionality

with the water measured 2.2 GPM (8.3 LPM) and a 60 PSI maximum rate.  An integrated

removable aerator is inserted beneath the spout's head piece for conserving water flow.

A pop-up drain in a matching finish is included. All mounting hardware is included and

standard US plumbing connections are used.  A 10-year limited warranty is provided to

the original consumer.

Features

Drip-free washerless cartridge system

Matching pop-up drain included

4-3/4" spout reach

6" spout height

3-3/4" spout clearance

Replacement Parts

Duraseal Cartridge

List Price: $1.99

Add  

drain

List Price: $14.95

Add  

handle

List Price: $24.99

Add  

erator

List Price: $8.95

Add  

Share your knowledge of this product with other customers... Be the first to write a review

Browse for more products in the same category as this item:

Bathroom

Bathroom > Bathroom Faucet

Bathroom > Bathroom Faucet > Centerset Faucet > 4" Center Set

Bathroom > Bathroom Faucet > Centerset Faucet

Style > Classic

Collection > Heritage

Handles > Metal Lever

Finish / Color > Satin Nickel

Style

Collection

Finish / Color

Handles

Collections > Heritage

Collections

Cartridge

Cartridge > Washerless

Vintage 4" bathroom Faucet with 50/50 Pop-Up $189.95

TANK LEVER, Polished Brass PORCELAIN+OAK HANDLE $59.95

VICTORIAN WIDESPREAD bathroom Faucet with OAK & PORCELAIN handle, Polished Brass $219.95

VICTORIAN TOILET PAPER HOLDER, Polished Brass $74.95

Robe Hook $56.95

VICTORIAN 6" TOWEL RING, Polished Brass $56.95

VICTORIAN 24" TOWEL BAR, Polished Brass $79.95

7 Piece Bathroom Accessory Set $320.00

Bathroom Accessory Package $202.00

Select Language ▼

ESPAÑOL  VIEW CART ORDER STATUS MY ACCOUNT

KINGSTON BRASS BATHROOM & KITCHEN FAUCETS. SINCE 1998

13kRecommendRecommend search  Join Our Mailing List for More News and Information Email Address

0LikeLike ShareShare

HOME BATHROOM KITCHEN PARTS COLLECTIONS NEW RELEASES SPECIAL DEALS NEWS WHERE TO BUY FAQS

4" Bathroom Faucet KB1608AL http://www.kingstonbrass.com/4_Bathroom_Faucet_KB1608AL_p/kb16...

1 of 2 11/20/2014 2:08 PM



 

Have Questions?

Call 1-800-4KOHLER | Visit Us at Kohler.com

Iron Plains™ dual-mount

bathroom sink

K-5400-0

$300.00

Product Highlights

Color / Finish White

           

With its gently curved, organic shape, the Iron Plains sink combines distinctive style with the extreme

durability, strength, and vintage soul of KOHLER enameled cast iron. Two installation options—drop-in

or undermount—make this sink a flexible choice for a wide range of bathroom configurations.

Features

Rectangular basin.

No faucet holes; requires wall- or counter-mount faucet.

Overflow drain.

Material

KOHLER® enameled cast iron.

Installation

Drop-in or undermount.

Dimensions

Height 6-5/16"

Length 18-9/16"

Width 15-3/4"

 

*All prices are Manufacturer's Suggested List Price in U.S. dollars. The price you pay at your local supply

outlet may be different than the Manufacturer's Suggested List Price. These prices supersede previous

prices and are subject to change without notice. These prices do not include shipping. Any sales tax

applicable will be added to the prices.

Due to the differences in monitors, technical factors, and characteristics of some of our finishes, the colors

shown here cannot be represented with all their true qualities. The color titles should only be considered a

guide.

Notes:

Iron Plains™ dual-mount bathroom sink
K-5400-0

http://www.us.kohler.com/us/catalog/printProductDetails.jsp?1019531_...

1 of 1 10/27/2014 1:19 AM



 

Have Questions?

Call 1-800-4KOHLER | Visit Us at Kohler.com

Wellworth® Classic two-piece

round-front 1.28 gpf toilet with

Class Five® flush technology

and left-hand trip lever

K-3577-96

$296.40

Product Highlights

Color / Finish Biscuit

   

This water-saving version of the industry-leading Wellworth toilet brings graceful, streamlined design to

the bath. At 1.28 gallons per flush, this high-efficiency toilet conserves up to 16,500 gallons of water per

year compared to a 3.5-gallon toilet. Innovative technology ensures a high-performance flush for

cleanliness. The round-front bowl conveniently fits smaller bath and powder rooms.

Features

Two-piece toilet.

Round-front bowl offers an ideal solution for smaller baths and powder rooms.

1.28 gallons per flush (gpf).

Standard left-hand trip lever included.

Seat and supply line not included.

Combination consists of the K-4436 tank and the K-4197 bowl.

Coordinates with other products in the Wellworth collection.

Technology

Single-flush gravity uses the force of gravity and a precision-engineered tank, bowl, and trapway to

create a strong siphon during flushing.

Canister flush valve optimizes flush performance and resists warping and deterioration.

Class Five® flushing technology offers plug- and leak-free performance, extraordinary flushing, and

better rinsing power for a cleaner bowl.

Installation

Standard 12-inch rough-in.

Water Conservation & Rebates

WaterSense® toilets meet strict EPA flushing guidelines, including using at least 20 percent less water

than 1.6-gallon toilets.

Eligible for consumer rebates in some municipalities.

Included In:

Wellworth® Collection

Dimensions

Height 28-1/4"

Length 27-1/2"

Width 19-5/8"

*All prices are Manufacturer's Suggested List Price in U.S. dollars. The price you pay at your local supply

outlet may be different than the Manufacturer's Suggested List Price. These prices supersede previous

prices and are subject to change without notice. These prices do not include shipping. Any sales tax

applicable will be added to the prices.

Due to the differences in monitors, technical factors, and characteristics of some of our finishes, the colors

shown here cannot be represented with all their true qualities. The color titles should only be considered a

guide.

Notes:

Wellworth® Classic two-piece round-front 1.28 gpf toilet with Class Five® flush technology

and left-hand trip lever
K-3577-96

http://www.us.kohler.com/us/catalog/printProductDetails.jsp?426612_4...

1 of 1 10/27/2014 1:58 AM

HNPortillo
Text Box
color white



 
 

7108 South Alton Way, Building B • Centennial, Colorado 80112 • www.cesareinc.com 
Phone 303-220-0300 • Fax 303-220-0442 

 

 
 

GEOTECHNICAL STUDY 
401 Chase Street 

Black Hawk, Colorado 
 

 
 
 

Report Prepared for: 
 

Ms. Cynthia L. Linker 
City of Black Hawk 
211 Church Street 

Black Hawk, CO 80422 
 

Project No. 14.173.A 
August 15, 2014 

 





CESARE, INC. 
 

14.173.A 401 Chase Street Report 08.15.14   ii 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

1. PURPOSE .................................................................................................................................... 1 

2. PROPOSED CONSTRUCTION ...................................................................................................... 1 

3. SITE CONDITIONS ..................................................................................................................... 1 

4. INVESTIGATIONS ....................................................................................................................... 1 

5. LABORATORY TESTING .............................................................................................................. 1 

6. SUBSURFACE CONDITIONS ....................................................................................................... 2 

7. EXCAVATIONS ............................................................................................................................ 2 

8. FOUNDATION RECOMMENDATIONS .......................................................................................... 2 

9. FLOOR SLABS ............................................................................................................................. 3 

10. STRUCTURAL FILL SOILS ......................................................................................................... 3 

11. SURFACE DRAINAGE ................................................................................................................ 3 

12. SUBSURFACE DRAINAGE ......................................................................................................... 4 

13. LATERAL EARTH PRESSURES ................................................................................................... 4 

14. WATER SOLUBLE SULFATES ..................................................................................................... 4 

15. GEOTECHNICAL RISK ............................................................................................................... 4 

16. LIMITATIONS ........................................................................................................................... 5 

 
TABLE 

SUMMARY OF LABORATORY TEST RESULTS ....................................................................... TABLE 1 
 

FIGURES 
SITE PLAN AND BORING LOCATIONS ............................................................................... FIGURE 1 
LOGS OF BORINGS (INCLUDES KEY TO SYMBOLS) .......................................................... FIGURE 2 
 

APPENDIX 
LABORATORY TEST RESULTS ....................................................................................... APPENDIX A 
 



CESARE, INC. 

 
14.173.A 401 Chase Street Report 08.15.14  1 

1. PURPOSE 
This report presents results of a geotechnical study at 401 Chase Street in Black Hawk, Colorado. 
The study was made to assist in determining design criteria for planning, site development, 
foundation systems, floor slabs, drainage adjacent to structures, and to present other pertinent 
geotechnical issues. Factual data gathered during the field and laboratory work is summarized in 
Table 1, Figures 1 and 2, and Appendix A. Cesare, Inc.’s (Cesare) opinions and recommendations 
presented in this report are based on the data generated during this field investigation, laboratory 
testing, and our experience with similar type projects. 
 
2. PROPOSED CONSTRUCTION 
It is our understanding renovations are planned for the residence. The residence will have a new 
foundation constructed, while trying to keep as much of the existing structure intact, as 
practicable. Rock retaining walls are planned behind the residence. The locations of our borings 
are shown in Figure 1.  
 
3. SITE CONDITIONS 
The site is located at 401 High Street in Black Hawk, Colorado. The existing residence is one story 
and faces south. The age of the residence is unknown. The residence is bound by Chase Street to 
the south, a residence to the east, and there are mine tailings on the slope to the west and north 
of the residence. There are no bodies of water on the site. Details for the existing foundation of 
the residence are unknown. 
 
4. INVESTIGATIONS 
Subsurface conditions for the structure foundations were investigated by drilling four borings at 
the locations indicated in Figure 1. The borings were advanced using hand auger equipment. Logs 
of the borings are presented on the Logs of Borings, Figure 2. Where possible, a sample of the 
subsoils was taken using a California sampler which is driven into the soil by dropping a 35 pound 
hammer through a free fall of 30 inches. The California sampler is a 2.5 inch outside diameter by 2 
inch inside diameter device. The procedure to drive the California sampler into the soil and to 
record the number of blows required to drive the sampler into the soils is known as a penetration 
test. The number of blows required for the sampler to penetrate 12 inches gives an indication of 
the consistency or relative density of the soils encountered. Our penetration test results have been 
converted into equivalent numbers using a standard 140 pound hammer according to the 
procedure outlined in Chapter 1 of the Foundation Engineering Handbook by Winterkorn and Fang, 
1975. Results of the penetration tests and locations of sampling are presented on the Logs of 
Borings, Figure 2. Bulk samples were collected from each boring. 
 
5. LABORATORY TESTING 
Samples were returned to the laboratory where they were visually classified and appropriate 
testing assigned to specific samples to evaluate pertinent engineering properties. The laboratory 
tests included two gradation analysis tests and Atterberg limits tests were conducted to evaluate 
grain/size distribution and plasticity of selected samples. One water soluble sulfate test was 
performed to determine the reactivity of the subgrade soils to cement. These results are presented 
in Table 1 and Appendix A.  



CESARE, INC. 

 
14.173.A 401 Chase Street Report 08.15.14  2 

6. SUBSURFACE CONDITIONS 
Our borings indicate the subsoils, in general, consist of native sand and mine tailings. The native 
sand is described as silty, with gravel, with occasional cobbles, with clay lenses, poorly graded, 
fine to medium grained, slightly moist to moist, with occasional rootlets, and brown in color. In 
borings B-2 and B-3, the sand was placed as fill. The mine tailings are described as sand, silty, 
clayey, with gravel, poorly graded, fine to medium grained, slightly moist to moist, and light brown 
to brown in color.  
 
Auger refusal was encountered in borings B-1, B-2, and B-4 at depths of 1 foot, 2 feet, and 1.3 
feet, respectively. No groundwater or bedrock was encountered up to a depth of 5 feet at the time 
of exploration. A more complete description of the subsoils is shown in Figure 2. Borings were 
backfilled at drilling completion for safety purposes. 
 
7. EXCAVATIONS 
Excavation will be adjacent to the existing foundation. We recommend new excavations to not 
intersect a line drawn on a 45 degree angle down and away from the bottom edge of the existing 
foundation system. Because of the loose and granular nature of the existing fill and native soils, 
there is a risk that a vertical excavation will undermine the existing foundation. In order to 
minimize the risk of undermining the existing foundation and to minimize the impact on the 
structure if undermining of the foundation does occur, we recommend that the excavation be 
performed in sections that are limited to a maximum length of 4 feet. The distance between 
excavations should also be a minimum of 4 feet. Temporary shoring of the structure should be 
placed during the excavation process in order to minimize impact on the structure if undermining 
of the foundation does occur. 
 
8. FOUNDATION RECOMMENDATIONS 
The proposed structure should be founded on conventional spread footings or pad-type footings 
bearing on the natural, undisturbed soils (or on controlled, structural fill) below frost depth and 
below any existing manmade fill or mine tailings. Footings should be designed for a maximum 
allowable soil bearing pressure of 2,500 pounds per square foot (psf) based upon dead load plus 
full live load. Footings should have a minimum width of 16 inches. The following design criteria 
should also be observed: 

a) Using the soil pressure recommended above, we estimate the maximum movement for 
the footing will be on the order of 1 inch with differential movement equal to the 
maximum. Footings should be proportioned as much as practicable to minimize 
differential movement. 

b) Continuous concrete foundation walls should be designed with steel reinforcement to 
span a localized settlement or heave over a distance of 10 feet. 

c) All loose or disturbed bearing soils or existing manmade fill should be removed beneath 
the footings. Excavations should not undermine the existing foundation system. See 
section 7. EXCAVATIONS regarding additional excavation recommendations. 

d) All footing excavations should be inspected by a geotechnical engineer prior to concrete 
placement. 

 



CESARE, INC. 

 
14.173.A 401 Chase Street Report 08.15.14  3 

9. FLOOR SLABS 
Concrete slabs placed on the natural sandy soils, or on properly placed structural fill comprised of 
this material, do not require special considerations. The exposed slab subgrade soils should be 
proof rolled and any soft areas redensified or stabilized with structurally controlled fill according to 
the recommendations section 10. STRUCTURAL FILL SOILS of this report. 
 
The existing mine tailings and manmade fill was probably placed at the same time the structure 
was built. Most settlement of the fill has likely been completed. Additional settlement, however, 
may occur after the construction is complete. To reduce possible movement of the slabs-on-grade, 
we recommend all existing tailings and fill should be removed. Material should then be placed 
according to the recommendations in section 10. STRUCTURAL FILL SOILS of this report. If the 
owner wishes to accept the risk of possible slab movement without removal of existing fill, we 
recommend the slab-on-grade be properly jointed and separated from bearing members and 
utilities. However, any fill containing organic or deleterious material should be removed.  
 
10. STRUCTURAL FILL SOILS 
Where fill soils are necessary, the suitable on-site inorganic soils may be used for structural fill 
beneath slabs and footings. Particles greater than 6 inches in diameter should be removed prior to 
use as fill. The fill material beneath slabs and footings should be placed in 8 inch maximum, loose 
lifts within 2 percent of optimum moisture content and should be compacted to at least 95 percent 
of standard Proctor density according to ASTM D698. All topsoil, existing manmade fill, mine 
tailings, frozen material, and soil containing organic material should be removed beneath structural 
areas prior to placement of fill or concrete. No structural fill is permitted under walls without 
widened footings. 
 
11. SURFACE DRAINAGE 
The following drainage precautions should be observed: 

a) Backfill around the exterior foundation walls in non-structural areas should be 
moistened to within 2 percent of optimum moisture and compacted to at least 95 
percent of standard Proctor density according to ASTM D698. 

b) The ground surface around the perimeter foundation walls should be sloped to drain 
away from the structure in all directions. We recommend a minimum slope of 12 inches 
in the first 10 feet, if possible. If properly compacted backfill is placed, then a slope of 5 
percent is reasonable. Concrete and pavement adjacent to structures are recommended 
to slope at a rate of 2 percent away from the structure. 

c) Watering directly adjacent to the structure should be minimized. 
d) Lawn edging, used around the exterior of the structure, should be perforated to 

prevent ponding of surface water in the vicinity of the backfill soils. 
e) Roof downspouts and other water collection systems should discharge beyond the 

limits of the backfill. Splash blocks should be appropriately placed and maintained. 
 



CESARE, INC. 

 
14.173.A 401 Chase Street Report 08.15.14  4 

12. SUBSURFACE DRAINAGE 
Groundwater was not encountered during this study. This indicates that subdrains will not be 
required for below grade construction; however, below grade excavations often permit 
groundwater or surface water to drain into these areas.  
 
We assume the structure may have a slab-on-grade floor system. In our opinion, no subdrains will 
be necessary for at or above grade areas. If any below grade areas, such as crawlspaces and 
basements are planned or anticipated, a subsurface drainage system should be provided. The 
drainage system should be sloped to drain to a positive gravity discharge or sump. The drainage 
system should consist of perforated or equivalent rigid plastic pipe placed around the perimeter of 
below grade areas and at least 8 inches below the level of the floor slabs. The pipe should be 
placed in an envelope of properly graded gravel. The gravel should be at least 8 inches thick on all 
sides of the pipe. The top 3 feet of backfill should be properly compacted. 
 
13. LATERAL EARTH PRESSURES 
Lateral pressures on walls depend upon the type of wall, hydrostatic pressure behind the wall, 
type of backfill material, and allowable wall movements. We recommend hydrostatic pressures be 
minimized by placing a properly designed drain system behind the wall. Where anticipated wall 
movements are less than approximately 0.5 percent of the wall height or wall movement is 
constrained, lateral earth pressures should be estimated for an "at rest" condition. Where 
anticipated wall movements are greater than 0.5 percent of the wall height, lateral earth pressures 
should be estimated for an "active" condition. Walls backfilled with on-site sandy clay material 
should be designed for an equivalent lateral earth pressure of 70 pounds per cubic foot (pcf) for 
the "at rest" condition and 45 pcf for the "active" condition. Passive resistance of 275 pcf can be 
used. These soil pressures are for horizontal backfill and no hydrostatic pressures. If these criteria 
cannot be met, then we should be contacted for additional criteria. We recommend a coefficient of 
sliding resistance between the concrete and bearing soils of 0.6 be assumed in your analysis. 
 
14. WATER SOLUBLE SULFATES 
Testing conducted on a sample collected from boring B-3 indicated 0.12 percent water soluble 
sulfate. The Portland Cement Association considers this a moderate to severe percentage of water 
soluble sulfates according to the Design and Control of Concrete Mixtures. A Type II (C3A less than 
8 percent) or Type II Modified cement is recommended for all foundation concrete which will be in 
contact with or within 6 inches of the natural soils. We recommend the Concrete Manual ACI-301 
Section 3.4.3. be used regarding the water cement ratio and the water reducing admixture. 
 
15. GEOTECHNICAL RISK 
The concept of risk is an important aspect of any geotechnical evaluation. The primary reason for 
this is that the analytical methods used by geotechnical engineers are generally empirical and 
must be tempered by engineering judgment and experience. Therefore, the solutions or 
recommendations presented in any geotechnical evaluation should not be considered risk free, and 
more importantly, are not a guarantee that the interaction between the soils and the proposed 
foundation will perform as predicted, desired, or intended. The engineering recommendations 
presented in the preceding sections constitute our best estimate of those measures that are 

Nathan
Highlight

Nathan
Highlight



CESARE, INC. 

 
14.173.A 401 Chase Street Report 08.15.14  5 

necessary to help the foundation perform in a satisfactory manner based on the information 
generated during this and previous evaluations and our experience in working with these 
conditions. 
 
16. LIMITATIONS 
The professional judgments expressed in this report meet the standard care of our profession. The 
borings drilled for this study were located to obtain a reasonably accurate picture of underground 
conditions for design purposes. Variations frequently occur from these conditions which are not 
indicated by the borings. These variations are sometimes sufficient to necessitate modifications in 
the design. If unexpected conditions are observed during construction or, if the size, type, or 
location of the structure should change, we should be notified to review our recommendations. A 
member of our firm should observe concrete placement and compaction of fill. The geotechnical 
engineer in charge of this project is not a mold prevention consultant. None of the services 
performed in connection with this study were designed or conducted for the purpose of mold 
prevention. Proper implementation of the recommendations conveyed in this report will not, of 
itself, be sufficient to prevent mold from growing in or on the structures involved. Our study did 
not include any assessment of the mine tailings for environmental hazards or stability of slopes 
surrounding the residence. 



Boring
Depth 
(feet)

Gravel 
(%)

Sand 
(%)

Silt/Clay  
(%)

Liquid 
Limit 
(%)

Plasticity 
Index
 (%)

B-2 0'-2' 15 71 14 23 3 SAND, silty, with gravel, brown (SM); A-1-b (0)

B-3 4' 0.12 SAND, silty, with gravel, brown

B-4 0'-1.3' 17 69 14 22 4
SAND, clayey, silty, with gravel, brown (SC-SM); 
A-1-b (0)

Water 
Soluble 
Sulfates 

(%) Material Type

Atterberg Limits

TABLE  1
Summary of Laboratory Test Results

Sample 
Location Gradation

401 Chase Street
Project No. 14.173.A

14.173.A 401 Chase Summary of Laboratory Test Results Table 1 Page 1 of 1



B-1

B-2

B-3

B-4

FIGURE 1

Site Plan and Boring Locations

PROJECT NO:

PROJECT NAME:

14.173.A

0 50' 100'

Scale in Feet

N

401 Chase Street

--

DRAWN BY: CHECKED BY:YES DRD

DWG DATE: 08.11.14 REV. DATE:

LEGEND:

B-1

Boring number and

location







 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

APPENDIX A 
 

Laboratory Test Results 



Project Number: Date:
Project Name: Technician:
Lab ID Number: Reviewer:
Sample Location:
Visual Description:

AASHTO M 145 Classification: A-1-b Group Index: (0)

(SM)

Si
ev

e 
Si

ze

%
 P

as
si

ng

2" 100
1.5" 99
1" 96

3/4" 94
1/2" 91
3/8" 90
#4 85
#8
#10 69
#16 59
#30
#40 38
#50 30
#100 20
#200 13.7

M, %: 2.5
D, pcf:

LL 23
PL 20
PI 3

D60

D30

D10

Cu
Cc

SAND, silty, with gravel, brown

Moisture (M) & 
Density (D)

Silty sand with gravel
Unified Soil Classification System 

(ASTM D 2487):

GRADATION PLOT - SOIL & AGGREGATE

30-Jul-14
AMC2

B-2, 0'-2'
1421330 YES

14.173.A, City of Black Hawk
401 Chase Street

37
.5

1.
5"

25
.4

1"

19
.1

3/
4"

12
.7

1/
2"

3/
8"

4.
75

N
o.

 4

2.
00

N
o.

 1
0

1.
18

N
o.

 1
6

0.
43

N
o.

 4
0

0.
30

N
o.

 5
0

0.
15

N
o.

 1
00

0.
07

5
N

o.
 2

00

2.
36

N
o.

 8

0.
60

N
o.

 3
0

50
.8

2"

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

0.
01

0.
10

1.
00

10
.0

0

10
0.

00

%
 P

A
SS

IN
G

 (
by

 d
ry

 m
as

s)

SIEVE SIZE, mm

Gradation 1421330
 7108 South Alton Way, Building B • Centennial, Colorado 80112 • www.cesareinc.com

Phone 303-220-0300 • Fax 303-220-0442 Rev. 3/30/12



Project Number: Date:
Project Name: Technician:
Lab ID Number: Reviewer:
Sample Location:
Visual Description:

AASHTO M 145 Classification: A-1-b Group Index: (0)

(SC-SM)

Si
ev

e 
Si

ze

%
 P

as
si

ng

2"
1.5" 100
1" 99

3/4" 98
1/2" 94
3/8" 91
#4 83
#8
#10 64
#16 52
#30
#40 32
#50 26
#100 19
#200 13.6

M, %: 2.9
D, pcf:

LL 22
PL 18
PI 4

D60

D30

D10

Cu
Cc

SAND, clayey, silty, with gravel, brown

Moisture (M) & 
Density (D)

Silty clayey sand with gravel
Unified Soil Classification System 

(ASTM D 2487):

GRADATION PLOT - SOIL & AGGREGATE

30-Jul-14
AMC2

B-4, 0'-1.3'
1421332 YES

14.173.A, City of Black Hawk
401 Chase Street

37
.5

1.
5"

25
.4

1"

19
.1

3/
4"

12
.7

1/
2"

3/
8"

4.
75

N
o.

 4

2.
00

N
o.

 1
0

1.
18

N
o.

 1
6

0.
43

N
o.

 4
0

0.
30

N
o.

 5
0

0.
15

N
o.

 1
00

0.
07

5
N

o.
 2

00

2.
36

N
o.

 8

0.
60

N
o.

 3
0

50
.8

2"

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

0.
01

0.
10

1.
00

10
.0

0

10
0.

00

%
 P

A
SS

IN
G

 (
by

 d
ry

 m
as

s)

SIEVE SIZE, mm

Gradation 1421332
 7108 South Alton Way, Building B • Centennial, Colorado 80112 • www.cesareinc.com

Phone 303-220-0300 • Fax 303-220-0442 Rev. 3/30/12





4

ATTACHMENT D

“Window, Siding, and Trim Investigation of 401 Chase Street,” Anthony & Associates



 
Report: 

 

Siding and Trim Investigation of 401 Chase Street, 
Black Hawk, Colorado 

 

 
 
 

Submitted to: 

 
The City of Black Hawk 

211 Church Street 
Black Hawk, CO 80422 

 
 

Submitted by: 
 

Anthony & Associates, Inc. 
P.O. Box 271400 

Fort Collins, CO  80527-1400 
 

 
September 17, 2014 



Anthony & Associates, Inc. 1 Report – 401 Chase Street 

 

  

 

Siding and Trim Investigation of 401 Chase Street, 
Black Hawk, Colorado 

 
 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
This report is based on information provided by Ms. Cynthia Linker from the City of 
Black Hawk.  Anthony & Associates, Inc. (A&A) was asked to conduct a limited 
investigation of the exterior architectural wood of 401 Chase Street (the Building), a 
city-owned property located in Black Hawk, Colorado.   
 
The Building, which is believed to have been constructed ca. 1890, is a small, wood-
frame building with a modified “T-shaped” footprint.  It is clad with a combination of 
wood trim, wood siding, wood fiber product siding, and metal sheeting. 
 
 
SCOPE OF WORK 
 
There were questions regarding the general condition and age of the Building’s wood 
siding.  The species of the wood siding was unknown.  It was also not known whether 
insects or decay fungi are active and if deterioration of the wood has occurred.  The 
level of investigation was chosen to provide insight about the age and general condition 
of the exterior architectural wood. 
 
The scope of work included the following tasks: 
 

 Conducting a site visit to photograph and document existing conditions, 
followed with a limited assessment report.  

 Removing a minimum of 8 wood species samples to identify the wood species or 
wood species groups for the siding and exterior trim elements. 

 Conducting a limited visual investigation of the visible wood conditions of the 
Building that included taking moisture content measurements of a representative 
sample of siding elements to determine whether conditions exist that are 
favorable to the growth of wood decay fungi and to identify areas of moisture 
intrusion. 

 Examining the fasteners and the siding for indicators of age 

 
 



Anthony & Associates, Inc. 2 Report – 401 Chase Street 

 

FIELD PROCEDURES 
 
Anthony & Associates, Inc. provided a wood specialist on September 4, 2014 to conduct 
an investigation of the exterior wood siding and trim of the Building.  The investigation 
was based on a combination of visual inspection, moisture content determination and 
species identification.  These methods are described below.   
 
Species Identification   

The Building is partially clad in wood siding with wood trim.  Identifying wood species 
makes it possible to identify compatible material for repairs and can aid in historic 
interpretation of construction or repair campaigns.  Wood species were identified by 
removing small samples from which the species or species group were identified under 
microscopic examination.  Although a minimum of 8 samples was included in the 
authorization, additional samples were removed to identify species of key architectural 
wood elements and to aid in developing historical documentation and interpretation. 
 
Visual Inspection 

Visual examination of the wood allows for identifying components that are missing, 
broken, or in an advanced state of deterioration.  If missing components were intended 
to provide protection from the elements (i.e., to prevent moisture intrusion), their 
replacement may be essential to prevent long-term damage to the structure.  Visual 
inspection also allows for the detection of past or current moisture problems, as 
evidenced by moisture stains on the exposed surface of the wood.  Further, visual 
inspection enables detection of external wood decay fungi or insect activity as 
determined by the presence of decay fruiting bodies, fungal growth, insect bore holes or 
wood substance removed by wood-destroying insects.   
 
Moisture Content Determination 

Prolonged exposure to moisture can produce undesirable conditions and maintenance 
issues for wood in a structure.  Shrinkage, swelling, checking, loose connections, and 
decay are typical problems.  Moisture content measurements were taken at multiple 
locations of the exterior siding and trim.   
 
Moisture content measurements identify wood with favorable moisture levels for the 
growth of wood-decay fungi.  Generally, if the moisture content is less than 20 percent, 
wood-decay fungi are unable to grow.  While fungi may be present at lower moisture 
contents, they are unable to continue to deteriorate the wood without sufficient 
moisture.  Moisture contents from 20 to 30 percent indicate areas of concern where 
sufficient moisture is present for fungi to grow but not sufficient to indicate advanced 
decay.  Moisture contents above 30 percent can indicate advanced decay with internal 
voids and/or surface deterioration.  
 



Anthony & Associates, Inc. 3 Report – 401 Chase Street 

 

FINDINGS 
 
General  

The long axis of the Building is oriented approximately east to west; the short axis of the 
Building, a single-story side gable structure, is oriented on an approximate north-south 
axis.  The Building appears to have been constructed in multiple phases.  The north-
south side-gabled section appears to have been constructed first, followed by the east-
west addition that faces Chase Street.  A north addition was added at the junction of the 
side-gabled structure and the east-west addition, as well as two subsequent additions to 
the west to house the bathroom and what was, until recently, a closet.  The various 
additions are apparent when viewed at the roofline (Figures 1 and 2).  See Figure A-1 in 
the Appendix for a sketch plan of the Building with the labeled additions.   
 

 
Figure 1.  Roof line showing the various additions.  View to the south. 

 

 
Figure 2.  The north elevation of the east-west addition showing a modified roofline for 

the bathroom addition. 
 



Anthony & Associates, Inc. 4 Report – 401 Chase Street 

 

The east and south elevations are clad in horizontal board siding (Figures 3 and 4).  All 
of the window glass appears to be replacement material, with the exception of that 
found in the double-hung window on the east elevation.   

 

 
Figure 3.  East elevation of the side gable structure with wood siding and intact historic 

window glass. 
 

 
Figure 4. South elevation of 401 Chase Street showing the side gable structure (right), 

and the east-west addition. 
 
The north elevation of the side-gable structure is clad with metal sheeting (Figure 5), 
while the additions are clad in wood siding.  The west elevation of the closet addition is 
clad in a combination of modern wood fiberboard siding, solid wood siding, and a 
wood-fiber composite sheeting product that does not appear to be intended for exterior 
applications (Figure 6).  The roof currently has asphalt composite shingles, but 
remnants of wood shingles are visible on the side-gable structure (Figure 7). 
 
 



Anthony & Associates, Inc. 5 Report – 401 Chase Street 

 

 
Figure 5.  North elevation of the side-gable structure with metal sheet siding. 

 

 
Figure 6.  The west elevation of the closet addition showing wood siding (lower right), 

wood fiberboard siding (top), and wood fiber composite sheeting (lower right). 
 

 
Figure 7.  Wood roof shingles visible beneath the modern asphalt shingles. 



Anthony & Associates, Inc. 6 Report – 401 Chase Street 

 

Most of the windows are single-lite, double hung windows with mortise and tenon 
joinery.  Several of the top sashes have loose connections at the bottom (Figure 8) and 
glazing putty that is in poor condition or missing (Figure 9). 
 

 
Figure 8.  A loose mortise and tenon joint on an upper sash, south elevation. 

 

 
Figure 9.  A window missing glazing putty across the bottom of the glass pane. 

 
Species Identification     

Fourteen samples were removed for species identification.  Given the assumed age of 
the Building, historic materials such as siding would likely have been produced from 
trees with native ranges extending into Colorado, such as western yellow pine (a hard 
pine species group that includes ponderosa pine and lodgepole pine) and/or 
Engelmann spruce; however, western yellow pine is still used today for architectural 
siding and trim, so decisions regarding the age of the exterior architectural wood cannot 
be based on species alone.     
 

 



Anthony & Associates, Inc. 7 Report – 401 Chase Street 

 

Table 1.  Wood Species Identification 

Sample 
Number 

Member Location Species 

1 Window sash 
Side gable, east 

elevation 
western yellow pine (Pinus spp.) 

2 Vertical window trim 
Side gable, east 

elevation 
western yellow pine  

3 Window sill 
Side gable, east 

elevation 
Douglas-fir (Psuedotsuga menziesii) 

4 Siding 
Side gable, east 

elevation 
redwood (Sequoia sempervirens) 

5 Vertical corner trim 
Side gable, south 

elevation 
western yellow pine 

6 Siding 
Side gable, south 

elevation 
redwood 

7 Window sill 
East-west addition, 

south elevation 
Douglas-fir 

8 Vertical window trim 
East-west addition, 

south elevation 
southern yellow pine 

9 Upper window sash 
East-west addition, 

south elevation 
western yellow pine 

10 Siding 
Bath addition, south 

elevation 
eastern white pine 

11 Window sill 
Bath addition, south 

elevation 
Engelmann spruce (Picea 

engelmannii) 

12 Siding 
Closet Addition, 
south elevation 

western red cedar (Thuja plicata) 

13 Siding 
Bath Addition, north 

elevation 
redwood 

14 Siding 
East-west addition, 

north elevation 
eastern white pine 

 
Native wood species including western yellow pine, Douglas-fir, and Engelmann 
spruce were identified for window and trim elements; however, other tree species that 
are not native to Colorado were also identified, including southern yellow pine, western 
red-cedar, redwood, and eastern white pine.  This mix of species indicates that there 
have been multiple siding and repair campaigns and that only the windows and some 
of the trim are likely to be historic or original to the construction of the Building.   
 
Age of Siding and Trim 

Determining the exact age of the siding and trim by visual inspection alone is generally 
not possible.  In conjunction with species identification and historical research and 
documentation, however, it is sometimes possible to determine the sequence in which 
materials were added or altered by examining the materials and fasteners in detail. 
A key identifier can be the type of fastener used to hold wood members or architectural 
elements together.  Wire nails, in common use today, were not widely produced and 



Anthony & Associates, Inc. 8 Report – 401 Chase Street 

 

used in construction until the 1890s.  However, in rural parts of the country, common 
use of wire nails did not occur until after the turn of the 20th century.   
 
While wire nails have flat, circular heads and round shafts, machine cut nails were 
typically stamped or cut from a sheet of metal, resulting in square or rectangular heads 
and square shafts.  Machine cut nails were primarily used prior to the widespread 
manufacture and use of round wire nails.  Given the assumed ca. 1890 date of 
construction, the use of machine cut nails would not be unusual; however, all of the 
visible fasteners on the siding and trim are wire nails (Figure 10).  These findings, in 
combination with the species identification results, suggest that the majority of the 
siding and trim is replacement material.   
 

 
Figure 10.  A round wire nail that has been face-nailed into the wood siding. 

 
Wood Condition 
 
Moisture Content Determination 
Limited moisture content measurements were taken using a capacitance moisture meter 
for siding and exterior trim at multiple locations along the building exterior, primarily 
near ground level, to gain insight into the moisture levels around the perimeter of the 
Building.  Moisture content measurements generally did not exceed 10 percent in the 
tested areas indicating that the wood is currently at low risk for deterioration by wood 
decay fungi.  However, one area on the north elevation was found to have a moisture 
content above 30 percent.  This area was just to the east of the chimney, where debris 
build-up and the site topography are conducive to water and snow accumulation and 
where there is not adequate drainage (Figure 11).  
 



Anthony & Associates, Inc. 9 Report – 401 Chase Street 

 

 
Figure 11.  Area of high moisture content on the north elevation, just to the east of the 

chimney. 
 
Siding and Trim Condition 
The wood siding on all elevations is, in general, in good to fair condition, with some 
failing paint and weathering of exposed wood surfaces, particularly on horizontal 
surfaces such as window sills and door thresholds (Figure 12).  Horizontal surfaces 
typically bear the brunt of the effects of weathering unless protected from ultraviolet 
light and moisture exposure by overhangs or eaves.  On the east elevation, many of the 
siding boards exhibit some warp, and a few have broken (Figures 13 and 14).  Portions 
of the south elevation, particularly in areas of snow build-up and vegetation 
overgrowth, show significant paint failures (Figures 15 and 16).  The wood fiber 
composite product on the closet addition is generally in poor condition, as it does not 
appear to be a product intended for exterior applications.  
 

 
Figure 12.  Weathering and peeling paint on the door threshold on the west elevation of 

the side-gable structure. 
 



Anthony & Associates, Inc. 10 Report – 401 Chase Street 

 

 
Figure 13.  Siding on the east elevation of the side-gable structure showing some warp 

and/or twist. 
 

 
Figure 14.  Area on the east elevation of the side-gable structure with broken siding. 

 

 
Figure 15.  Area of peeling paint at the junction of the east-west addition and the side 

gable structure, south elevation. 



Anthony & Associates, Inc. 11 Report – 401 Chase Street 

 

 
Figure 16.  Area of peeling paint on the bathroom addition. 

 
The soffits appear to be plywood replacement material.  The fascia boards also appear 
to be replacement material. 
 
 
SUMMARY OF THE WOOD INVESTIGATION 
 
The exterior architectural siding and trim of 401 Chase Street is, generally, in good to 
fair condition.  There are a few areas of moderate weathering that have resulted in 
peeling paint and some textured wood with splits and/or surface checks, particularly 
on horizontal elements such as window sills.  Peeling paint also has resulted in areas of 
high moisture content and/or in areas where snow accumulates during the winter 
months.  Moisture contents at the time of the fieldwork were generally under 10 
percent, with the exception of one location on the east-west addition, north elevation, 
where debris build-up and a lack of adequate drainage has resulted in a moisture build-
up issue.  Environmental conditions in this area to the east of the chimney are such that 
additional deterioration is highly likely without intervention.   
 
Based on the current information available and the results of the limited wood 
investigation, the wood siding on all elevations does not date to the estimated period of 
construction (ca. 1890).  The wood siding appears to have been installed in at least three 
separate repair campaigns based on species identification results.  Additionally, the use 
of wire nails as fasteners indicates that it is very unlikely that the current siding is part 
of the original construction.   
 
The likely age of the architectural trim at the windows and corners of the Building is 
more difficult to determine, given that the wood used in the window construction and 
vertical trim was identified primarily as coming from local tree species.  The trim may 
date to the original construction and may have been reused and reattached with wire 
nails, or may date to a repair campaign. 



Anthony & Associates, Inc. 12 Report – 401 Chase Street 

 

The manufactured wood products used on the west elevation are not historic and reflect 
relatively recent modifications to the Building.  
 
The findings of the wood investigation can be summarized as follows: 

 Based on a limited number of samples removed, the existing exterior 
architectural wood work (including siding and trim) is a combination of western 
yellow pine (Pinus spp.), southern yellow pine (Pinus spp.), redwood (Sequoia 
sempervirens), Douglas-fir (Pseudotsuga menziesii), western red-cedar (Thuja 
plicata), eastern white pine (Pinus strobus), and Engelmann spruce (Picea 
engelmannii).  Repairs and replacements were likely made in multiple campaigns 
as needed over a period of years.  

 The window sashes appear to date to the estimated date of construction; the 
majority of the window trim may also date to the period of construction. 

 While the exact age of the existing wood siding cannot be definitively identified 
based on existing information, based on the wood species used and the use of 
round wire nail fasteners, it is likely not original to the construction. 

 The wood siding is, in general, in good to fair condition, with a few areas of 
peeling paint, splits at face-nails, and broken boards.  Horizontal wood surfaces 
typically have failed paint and seasoning checks. 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

APPENDIX 

 

Sketch Plan 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

Figure A-1.  Plan view of roofline for 401 Chase Street showing what is believed to be the original building (the side gable 
structure) and the various additions.  Field sketch, not to scale. 

side gable 
structure 

east-west addition 

north addition 

bath addition closet addition 

shed 

shed roof 

chimney 

N 



RESOLUTION 95-2014

A RESOLUTION
AUTHORIZING THE

CHANGE OF USE OF THE
SANITARY SEWER TAP

ON CITY-OWNED
PROPERTY LOCATED ON

211 GREGORY STREET
AND DESCRIBED AS LOTS
3 - 5, BLOCK 28, CITY OF

BLACK HAWK



STATE OF COLORADO
COUNTY OF GILPIN

CITY OF BLACK HAWK

Resolution No. 95-2014

TITLE: A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE CHANGE OF USE OF THE
SANITARY SEWER TAP ON CITY-OWNED PROPERTY LOCATED ON
211 GREGORY STREET AND DESCRIBED AS LOTS 3 - 5, BLOCK 28,
CITY OF BLACK HAWK

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF ALDERMEN OF THE
CITY OF BLACK HAWK, COLORADO, THAT:

Section 1. The City of Black Hawk hereby determines to change the use of the sanitary
sewer tap on City-owned property located on 211 Gregory Street on property legally described as
Lots 3 - 5, Block 28, City of Black Hawk. The Board of Aldermen authorizes the Mayor to
execute any necessary documents, including any Request for Change of Use, consistent with the
regulations of the Black Hawk/Central City Sanitation District to abandon any gaming use
associated with the sanitary sewer tap on said property.

RESOLVED AND PASSED this 10th day of December, 2014.

_______________________________
David D. Spellman, Mayor

ATTEST:

______________________________
Melissa Greiner, City Clerk



1 12/5/14

CITY OF BLACK HAWK
REQUEST FOR COUNCIL ACTION

SUBJECT: Change of Use for the Sanitary Sewer Tap at 211 Gregory Street (Formerly the Eureka)
from Gaming to Commercial-Non Gaming.

RECOMMENDATION: Staff recommends to the Mayor and Board of Aldermen, A MOTION TO
APPROVE Resolution 95-2014, A Resolution authorizing the change of use of the sanitary sewer tap to
non-gaming on City-owned property located on 211 Gregory Street and Described as Lots 3-5, Block
28, City of Black Hawk.

SUMMARY AND BACKGROUND OF SUBJECT MATTER: When the City acquired the property
at 211 Gregory, the sewer tap was classified as Gaming, however with the vision for this property to be
other Non-Gaming Commercial activities, the use can be changed to reduce the associated user fees.

FUNDING SOURCE: N/A

WORKSHOP DATE: N/A

ORIGINATED BY: Lance Hillis, Finance Director

STAFF PERSON RESPONSIBLE: Lance Hillis, Finance Director

DOCUMENTS ATTACHED: Request for Change of Use of Sewer Tap Form

RECORD: [ ]Yes [ X ]No

CITY ATTORNEY REVIEW: [ ]Yes [ ]No [X]N/A INITIALS__________

SUBMITTED BY:

______________________________________________________________________________ ______________________________________________________________________________

Lance Hillis, Finance Director Jack Lewis, City Manager





RESOLUTION 96-2014

A RESOLUTION
AUTHORIZING THE

CHANGE OF USE OF THE
SANITARY SEWER TAP

ON CITY-OWNED
PROPERTY LOCATED ON

260 GREGORY STREET
AND DESCRIBED AS LOTS
2 - 7, BLOCK 33, CITY OF

BLACK HAWK



1

STATE OF COLORADO
COUNTY OF GILPIN

CITY OF BLACK HAWK

Resolution No. 96-2014

TITLE: A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE CHANGE OF USE OF THE
SANITARY SEWER TAP ON CITY-OWNED PROPERTY LOCATED ON
260 GREGORY STREET AND DESCRIBED AS LOTS 2 - 7, BLOCK 33,
CITY OF BLACK HAWK

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF ALDERMEN OF THE
CITY OF BLACK HAWK, COLORADO, THAT:

Section 1. The City of Black Hawk hereby determines to change the use of the sanitary
sewer tap on City-owned property located on 260 Gregory Street on property legally described as
Lots 2 - 7, Block 33, City of Black Hawk. The Board of Aldermen authorizes the Mayor to
execute any necessary documents, including any Request for Change of Use, consistent with the
regulations of the Black Hawk/Central City Sanitation District to abandon any gaming use
associated with the sanitary sewer tap on said property.

RESOLVED AND PASSED this 10th day of December, 2014.

_______________________________
David D. Spellman, Mayor

ATTEST:

______________________________
Melissa Greiner, City Clerk



1 12/5/14

CITY OF BLACK HAWK
REQUEST FOR COUNCIL ACTION

SUBJECT: Change of Use for the Sanitary Sewer Tap at 260 Gregory Street (Formerly the Winners
Haven) from Gaming to Commercial-Non Gaming.

RECOMMENDATION: Staff recommends to the Mayor and Board of Aldermen, A MOTION TO
APPROVE Resolution 96-2014, A Resolution authorizing the change of use of the sanitary sewer tap to
non-gaming on City-owned property located on 260 Gregory Street and Described as Lots 2-7, Block
33, City of Black Hawk.

SUMMARY AND BACKGROUND OF SUBJECT MATTER: When the City acquired the property
at 260 Gregory, the sewer tap was classified as Gaming, however with the vision for this property to be
other Non-Gaming Commercial activities, the use can be changed to reduce the associated user fees.

FUNDING SOURCE: N/A

WORKSHOP DATE: N/A

ORIGINATED BY: Lance Hillis, Finance Director

STAFF PERSON RESPONSIBLE: Lance Hillis, Finance Director

DOCUMENTS ATTACHED: Request for Change of Use of Sewer Tap Form

RECORD: [ ]Yes [ X ]No

CITY ATTORNEY REVIEW: [ ]Yes [ ]No [X]N/A INITIALS__________

SUBMITTED BY:

______________________________________________________________________________ ______________________________________________________________________________

Lance Hillis, Finance Director Jack Lewis, City Manager





RESOLUTION 97-2014

A RESOLUTION
ADOPTING THE 2015

HOLIDAY SCHEDULE



STATE OF COLORADO
COUNTY OF GILPIN

CITY OF BLACK HAWK

Resolution No. 97-2014

TITLE: A RESOLUTION ADOPTING THE 2015 HOLIDAY SCHEDULE

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF ALDERMEN OF THE
CITY OF BLACK HAWK, COLORADO, THAT:

Section 1. Pursuant to Section 304 of the City of Black Hawk Employee Handbook, the
Board of Aldermen hereby adopts the 2015 Holiday Schedule attached hereto as Exhibit A, and
incorporated herein by this reference.

RESOLVED AND PASSED this 10th day of December, 2014.

_______________________________
David D. Spellman, Mayor

ATTEST:

______________________________
Melissa Greiner, City Clerk



CITY OF BLACK HAWK
REQUEST FOR COUNCIL ACTION

SUBJECT: 2015 Holiday Schedule

RECOMMENDATION: Staff recommends the following motion to the Mayor and Board of
Aldermen:

MOTION TO APPROVE Resolution 97-2014, A Resolution Adopting the 2015 Holiday Schedule

SUMMARY AND BACKGROUND OF SUBJECT MATTER:

AGENDA DATE: December 10, 2014

WORKSHOP DATE: N/A

FUNDING SOURCE: N/A

DEPARTMENT DIRECTOR APPROVAL: [ X ]Yes [ ]No

STAFF PERSON RESPONSIBLE: Melissa Greiner, City Clerk

DOCUMENTS ATTACHED: 2015 Holiday Schedule

RECORD: [ ]Yes [ X ]No

CITY ATTORNEY REVIEW: [ ]Yes [ X ]N/A

SUBMITTED BY: REVIEWED BY:

__________________________ __________________________________
Staff Name, Staff Title Jack D. Lewis, City Manager



2015 HOLIDAYS

The following is the list of approved holidays from the current Employee Handbook, and the
proposed days these will be celebrated in the year 2015.

New Year’s Day Thursday, January 1, 2015

Martin Luther King Jr. Day (Third Monday) Monday, January 19, 2015

President’s Day (Third Monday) Monday, February 16, 2015

Memorial Day (last Monday in May) Monday, May 25, 2015

Independence Day Friday, July 3, 2015

Labor Day Monday, September 7, 2015

Thanksgiving (Fourth Thursday) Thursday, November 26, 2015

Day after Thanksgiving Friday, November 27, 2015

Christmas Eve Thursday, December 24, 2015

Christmas Day Friday, December 25, 2015

New Year’s Eve Thursday, December 31, 2015

Section 304 of the Employee Manual, states on the preceding Friday. “A recognized holiday
that falls on a Saturday will be observed the proceeding Friday. A recognized holiday that falls
on a Sunday will be observed on the following Monday.”



RESOLUTION 98-2014

A RESOLUTION
ADOPTING THE 2015 CITY

COUNCIL REGULAR
MEETING SCHEDULE



STATE OF COLORADO
COUNTY OF GILPIN

CITY OF BLACK HAWK

Resolution No. 98-2014

TITLE: A RESOLUTION ADOPTING THE 2015 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR
MEETING SCHEDULE

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF ALDERMEN OF THE
CITY OF BLACK HAWK, COLORADO, THAT:

Section 1. Pursuant to Article II, Section 11 of the City of Black Hawk Home Rule
Charter, the Board of Aldermen hereby adopts the 2015 Regular Meeting Schedule attached
hereto as Exhibit A, and incorporated herein by this reference.

RESOLVED AND PASSED this 10th day of December, 2014.

_______________________________
David D. Spellman, Mayor

ATTEST:

______________________________
Melissa Greiner, City Clerk



CITY OF BLACK HAWK
REQUEST FOR COUNCIL ACTION

SUBJECT: 2015 City Council Regular Meeting Schedule

RECOMMENDATION: Staff recommends the following motion to the Mayor and Board of
Aldermen:

MOTION TO APPROVE Resolution 98-2014, A Resolution Adopting the 2015 City Council
Regular Meeting Schedule

SUMMARY AND BACKGROUND OF SUBJECT MATTER:

AGENDA DATE: December 10, 2014

WORKSHOP DATE: N/A

FUNDING SOURCE: N/A

DEPARTMENT DIRECTOR APPROVAL: [ X ]Yes [ ]No

STAFF PERSON RESPONSIBLE: Melissa Greiner, City Clerk

DOCUMENTS ATTACHED: 2015 City Council Regular Meeting Schedule

RECORD: [ ]Yes [ X ]No

CITY ATTORNEY REVIEW: [ ]Yes [ X ]N/A

SUBMITTED BY: REVIEWED BY:

__________________________ __________________________________
Staff Name, Staff Title Jack D. Lewis, City Manager



2015 CITY COUNCIL MEETINGS
2nd Wednesday of the month at 3:00 p.m.
4th Wednesday of the month at 3:00 p.m.

January 14 July 8
January 28 July 22

February 11 August 12
February 25 August 26

March 11 September 9
March 25 September 23

April 8 October 14
April 22 October 28

May 13 November 4*
May 27 November 11*

June 10 December 2*
June 24 December 9*

*First meetings in November and December will be held the 1st

Wednesday of the month and the second meetings will be held
the 2nd Wednesday month as need or determined by Council.



RESOLUTION 99-2014

A RESOLUTION
ESTABLISHING A

DESIGNATED PUBLIC
PLACE FOR THE POSTING

OF 2015 MEETING
NOTICES AS REQUIRED

BY THE COLORADO OPEN
MEETINGS LAW



STATE OF COLORADO
COUNTY OF GILPIN

CITY OF BLACK HAWK

Resolution No. 99-2014

TITLE: A RESOLUTION ESTABLISHING A DESIGNATED PUBLIC PLACE
FOR THE POSTING OF 2015 MEETING NOTICES AS REQUIRED BY
THE COLORADO OPEN MEETINGS LAW

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF ALDERMEN OF THE
CITY OF BLACK HAWK, COLORADO, THAT:

Section 1. Black Hawk City Hall shall constitute the public place for the posting of
meeting notices as required by the Colorado Open Meetings Law. The City Clerk shall be
responsible for posting the required notices no later than twenty-for (24) hours prior to the
holding of the meeting. All meeting notices shall include specific agenda information, where
possible.

RESOLVED AND PASSED this 10th day of December, 2014.

_______________________________
David D. Spellman, Mayor

ATTEST:

______________________________
Melissa Greiner, City Clerk



CITY OF BLACK HAWK
REQUEST FOR COUNCIL ACTION

SUBJECT: Establishing a designated public place for the posting of 2015 Meeting Notices as
required by the Colorado Open Meeting Law

RECOMMENDATION: Staff recommends the following motion to the Mayor and Board of
Aldermen:

MOTION TO APPROVE Resolution 99-2014 Establishing a designated public place for the
posting of 2015 Meeting Notices as required by the Colorado Open Meeting Law

SUMMARY AND BACKGROUND OF SUBJECT MATTER:

AGENDA DATE: December 10, 2014

WORKSHOP DATE: N/A

FUNDING SOURCE: N/A

DEPARTMENT DIRECTOR APPROVAL: [ X ]Yes [ ]No

STAFF PERSON RESPONSIBLE: Melissa Greiner, City Clerk

DOCUMENTS ATTACHED: N/A

RECORD: [ ]Yes [ X ]No

CITY ATTORNEY REVIEW: [ ]Yes [ X ]N/A

SUBMITTED BY: REVIEWED BY:

__________________________ __________________________________
Staff Name, Staff Title Jack D. Lewis, City Manager



RESOLUTION 100-2014

A RESOLUTION
AUTHORIZING THE
PLACEMENT OF A

VETERANS’ MEMORIAL
PLAQUE AT DORY HILL

CEMETERY



STATE OF COLORADO
COUNTY OF GILPIN

CITY OF BLACK HAWK

Resolution No. 100-2014

TITLE: A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE PLACEMENT OF A VETERANS’
MEMORIAL PLAQUE AT DORY HILL CEMETERY

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF ALDERMEN OF THE
CITY OF BLACK HAWK, COLORADO, THAT:

Section 1. The City Council hereby authorizes the placement of a plaque at Dory Hill
Cemetery by the Mountain Rendezvous Chapter of the Daughters of the American Revolution
honoring the deceased veterans interred at the Dory Hill Cemetery.

RESOLVED AND PASSED this 10th day of December, 2014.

_______________________________
David D. Spellman, Mayor

ATTEST:

______________________________
Melissa Greiner, City Clerk



CITY OF BLACK HAWK
REQUEST FOR COUNCIL ACTION

SUBJECT: Placement of a Veteran’s Memorial Plaque at Dory Hill Cemetery by the
Mountain Rendezvous Chapter of the Daughters of the American Revolution

RECOMMENDATION: Staff recommends the following motion to the Mayor and Board of
Aldermen:

MOTION TO APPROVE Resolution 100-2014, A Resolution Authorizing the Placement of a
Veterans’ Memorial Plaque at Dory Hill Cemetery.

SUMMARY AND BACKGROUND OF SUBJECT MATTER:

AGENDA DATE: December 10, 2014

WORKSHOP DATE: N/A

FUNDING SOURCE: N/A

DEPARTMENT DIRECTOR APPROVAL: [ X ]Yes [ ]No

STAFF PERSON RESPONSIBLE: Melissa Greiner, City Clerk

DOCUMENTS ATTACHED: Memo from Kay Lorenz on behalf of the Mountain
Rendezvous Chapter of the Daughters of the
American Revolution

RECORD: [ ]Yes [ X ]No

CITY ATTORNEY REVIEW: [ X ]Yes [ ]N/A

SUBMITTED BY: REVIEWED BY:

__________________________ __________________________________
Staff Name, Staff Title Jack D. Lewis, City Manager





RESOLUTION 101-2014

A RESOLUTION
APPROVING THE

AGREEMENT FOR THE
MANAGEMENT AND
OPERATION OF THE
TRANSPORTATION
SERVICES FOR THE

BLACK HAWK TRAMWAY
BETWEEN MV PUBLIC

TRANSPORTATION AND
THE CITY OF BLACK

HAWK



STATE OF COLORADO
COUNTY OF GILPIN

CITY OF BLACK HAWK

Resolution No. 101-2014

TITLE: A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE AGREEMENT FOR THE
MANAGEMENT AND OPERATION OF THE TRANSPORTATION
SERVICES FOR THE BLACK HAWK TRAMWAY BETWEEN MV
PUBLIC TRANSPORTATION AND THE CITY OF BLACK HAWK

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF ALDERMEN OF THE
CITY OF BLACK HAWK, COLORADO, THAT:

Section 1. The Agreement for the Management and Operation of the Transportation
Services for the Black Hawk Tramway between MV Public Transportation and the City of Black
Hawk, attached hereto as Exhibit A, is hereby approved, and the Mayor is authorized to execute
the same on behalf of the City.

RESOLVED AND PASSED this 10th day of December, 2014.

_______________________________
David D. Spellman, Mayor

ATTEST:

______________________________
Melissa Greiner, City Clerk



CITY OF BLACK HAWK

REQUEST FOR COUNCIL ACTION

SUBJECT: Execute the agreement with MV Public Transportation to provide the Management
and Operation of the Transportation Services for the Black Hawk Tramway.

RECOMMENDATION:
If City Council chooses to approve Resolution 101-2014, the recommended motion is as follows:
“Approve Resolution 101-2014, A Resolution Approving the Agreement for the Management and
Operation of the Transportation Services for the Black Hawk Tramway between MV Public
Transportation and the City of Black Hawk”

SUMMARY AND BACKGROUND OF SUBJECT MATTER:
The City utilizes a subcontractor to provide the driver team for the Tramway operations. MV
Public Transportation has been successfully providing this service to the City for several years. The
new agreement was negotiated to include options to renew for the subsequent four years subject to
appropriation and both parties wishing to continue the relationship. The agreement would hold the
costs for 2015 the same as 2014. The following years would each have a 2.7% increase.

Staff has had good success with the driver team MV has provided and we have some long term
drivers up here for our service. Staff is recommending approval of the agreement.

FUNDING SOURCE: 010-3105-431-58-10 Contracted Bus Service

WORKSHOP DATE: 10-Dec-14

ORIGINATED BY: Tom Isbester

STAFF PERSON RESPONSIBLE: Tom Isbester

PROJECT COMPLETION DATE: December 31, 2015

DOCUMENTS ATTACHED: resolution & agreement

CITY ATTORNEY REVIEW: [ ]Yes [ ]No [ ]N/A INITIALS__________

SUBMITTED BY: REVIEWED BY:

Thomas Isbester, Public Works Director Jack D. Lewis, City Manager



























































RESOLUTION 90-2014

A RESOLUTION
ADOPTING AND

ENTERING INTO THE
TRUST AGREEMENT FOR

THE COLORADO
FIREFIGHTER HEALTH

AND CIRCULATORY
BENEFITS TRUST AND

TAKING OTHER ACTIONS
IN CONNECTION

THEREWITH (continued
from November 12, 2014,

recommend tabling
indefinitely)



RESOLUTION 102-2014

A RESOLUTION
APPROVING THE

COMMERCIAL LEASE
FOR THE PROPERTY

LOCATED AT 211 AND 221
GREGORY STREET

BETWEEN 5B1S, LLC AND
THE BLACK HAWK
URBAN RENEWAL

AUTHORITY



STATE OF COLORADO
COUNTY OF GILPIN

BLACK HAWK URBAN RENEWAL AUTHORITY

Resolution No. 102-2014

TITLE: A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE COMMERCIAL LEASE FOR THE
PROPERTY LOCATED AT 211 AND 221 GREGORY STREET
BETWEEN 5B1S, LLC AND THE BLACK HAWK URBAN RENEWAL
AUTHORITY

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF ALDERMEN OF THE
CITY OF BLACK HAWK, COLORADO, THAT:

Section 1. The Commercial Lease for the property located at 211 and 221 Gregory Street
between 5B1S, LLC and the Black Hawk Urban Renewal Authority, attached hereto as Exhibit
A, is hereby approved, and the Chairman is authorized to execute the same on behalf of the
Authority.

RESOLVED AND PASSED this 10th day of December, 2014.

_______________________________
David D. Spellman, Chairman

ATTEST:

______________________________
Melissa Greiner, Authority Clerk


	12-10-2014 Agenda
	2014-11-12 Draft Minutes
	Recreactional Marijuana Cover
	Request for Council Action
	Preliminary Findings

	Reso 92 Budget Cover
	Resolution 92
	Budget Summary
	2015 Proposed Budget Book

	CB26 Mill Levy Cover
	Ordinance 2014-26

	Reso 93 301 High St Cover
	Resolution 93
	Request for Council Action
	Staff Report

	Reso 94 401 Chase St Cover
	Resolution 94
	Request for Council Action
	Staff Report

	Reso 95 211 Gregory St Cover
	Resolution 95
	Request for Council Action
	Request for Change of Use 

	Reso 96 260 Gregory St Cover
	Resolution 96
	Request for Council Action
	Request for Change of Use

	Reso 97 Holiday Cover
	Resolution 97
	Request for Council Action
	2015 Holidays

	Reso 98 Council Schedule Cover
	Resolution 98
	Request for Council Action
	2015 Council Meetings

	Reso 99 Posting Place Cover
	Resolution 99
	Request for Council Action

	Reso 100 Veterans' Plaque Cover
	Resolution 100
	Request for Council Action
	Request Memo

	Reso 101 Tramway Cover
	Resolution 101
	Request for Council Action
	Agreement

	Reso 90 Trust Agreement Cover
	Reso 102 Urban Renewal Cover
	Resolution 102


